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Australian history is almost always picturesque; indeed, it is also so curious and strange, that it is itself the chiefest novelty the country has to offer and so it pushes the other novelties into second and third place. It does not read like history, but like the most beautiful lies; and all of a fresh new sort, no mouldy old stale ones. It is full of surprises and adventures, the incongruities, and contradictions, and incredibilities; but they are all true, they all happened.

Mark Twain, 1897




Preface

In a chance lunch conversation with my two then publishers, Shona Martyn and Alison Urquhart, late in 1999, they mentioned the seventeenth-century story of the shipwreck of the Batavia and how it might possibly lend itself to a great book. That afternoon, I went back to the library of the Sydney Morning Herald and dug up some stuff on it. I was instantly and totally absorbed. Among other things, I was stunned to read of the grandeur of the ship herself and that when her replica had sailed into Sydney Harbour a couple of months previously, to get to her berth at the Maritime Museum in Darling Harbour, she had needed to do so during an exceptionally low tide so the top of her mighty mast would fit under the Sydney Harbour Bridge. And this was a ship that was originally built nearly 400 years earlier. Staggering!

The true wonder of the story, though, had little to do with the physical dimensions of the ship and everything to do with the personal dynamics of the Batavia’s company once she got into strife. Sure, a lot of the details might have been well known to many Australians, particularly in Western Australia, but they were totally unknown to me – and I remember thinking at the time that the whole astonishing saga made the story of the sinking of the Titanic look like a Sunday School picnic. I frankly couldn’t believe that such a fantastic story wasn’t as well known in this country as Ned Kelly or the Eureka Stockade and decided then and there to write a book on it.

In short order, I had a contract to do exactly that, and I began my research. A lot of water has passed beneath the bridge since then – I have been involved in many other projects, including many other books, and have changed publishing houses – yet I have returned again and again for further bursts of work on the Batavia story before dedicating myself to its completion. What you hold in your hands is the result.

Over the last 400 years or so, many other authors have also been bitten by the bug of the Batavia, with the first accounts of the 1629 shipwreck appearing in the 1647 Dutch work Ongeluckige Voyagie, Van’t Schip Batavia (Unlucky Voyage of the Ship Batavia), published by Jan Jansz. A bestseller of its time, this book was predominantly a third-person treatment of the original journal of Francisco Pelsaert, Commandeur of the fleet in which the flagship Batavia made her maiden voyage, which explains why it was frequently (and incorrectly) known as ‘Pelsaert’s Journal’.

Pelsaert’s actual journal describing this sorry saga from beginning to end is now kept in the Netherlands’ National Archives in The Hague, and it was a special thrill in the researching of this book to have held it in my hands. I am indebted to Lennart Bes of the National Archives for facilitating my access to it.

 

The first of the more modern Australian books on it, The Wicked and the Fair, was a fictionalised account written by Western Australia’s Henrietta Drake-Brockman and published in 1957. Her seminal non-fiction book Voyage to Disaster (1963) came out of her research for The Wicked and the Fair and took ten years to write. Her tireless research helped lead to the actual discovery of the Batavia by Max Cramer and his little band, working with Hugh Edwards and local fishermen, in the same year. Edwards’s Islands of Angry Ghosts came out in 1966 and, among other things, describes the wonderful tale of how the two men finally came to pinpoint the site of the wreck. All of us who follow owe Henrietta Drake-Brockman, Cramer and Edwards a great debt, and I am grateful for the extent to which the two men were able to assist me in my research.

Hugh squired me around the Abrolhos Islands, where it all took place, showed me things that only a man of his deep background in the subject would know and, thereafter, was constantly steering me towards different pieces of information. As to Max Cramer, who organised the trip for Hugh and me, his eyes were the first to see the Batavia in 334 years, and he became an acknowledged world authority. Max, too, was wonderfully generous in sharing his knowledge, and he and his wife, Ines, were also warm hosts when I visited Geraldton, the nearest mainland town to the Abrolhos Islands. I was in constant touch with Max throughout the course of this book and was deeply saddened when he died in mid-August 2010. Vale, Max.

And then there is the craggy cray fisherman who wishes to be known only as ‘Spags’ and actually lives on those islands, loving and caring for them with an abiding passion. I met him on my visit with Hugh Edwards, and he, too, couldn’t have been more generous in sharing his deep local knowledge.

In recent years, interest in the Batavia has slowly grown, and a slew of books on the subject appeared just after the millennium, as did a well-received Batavia-related opera. Yet, generally, the passion of the writers for the wonder of the story has not been remotely matched by the awareness and enthusiasm of the reading public. As I speak at various events around Australia, I frequently ask for a show of hands as to how many people know of it, and, on the east coast particularly, it is usually between five and ten per cent of the audience. The story of the Titanic is a thousand times better known.

How can this be? The most obvious answer is that it is very difficult for the modern writer to breathe life into a 400-year-old story that relies on just two primary documents for its base, being firstly Pelsaert’s Journal and, secondly, a sketchy retrospective account of the terrible drama by the Batavia’s preacher, which he addressed to his relatives. Known as the ‘Predikant’s Letter’, it was written on 11 December 1629, just a short time after the saga’s conclusion.

This very problem of how to successfully resuscitate the tragedy was identified by the Dutch-born Australian Willem Siebenhaar. In an article for Perth’s The Western Mail on 24 December 1897 – an article that for the first time in Australia provided a broad translation for the 1647 work Ongeluckige Voyagie – he wrote:

 

The story has been used by Mr. W. J. Gordon as the basis of a novel entitled The Captain-General, but still awaits the coming of someone who will put permanent life into its dry bones. If there is any ambitious Australian poet who desires to emulate, say Browning’s ‘Ring and the Book’, he may find in these records something that will afford more scope than the old parchment-bound tale of Roman murder and the trial of Count Guido, on which that great poem was reared.

Ahem. (The author is heard to rather nervously clear his throat.)

I am not an Australian poet, but I certainly am in possession of a small poetic licence, which I have long felt was always going to be the key to making the Batavia story resonate for the wider audience. In his meticulously researched book of 2002, Batavia’s Graveyard, Cambridge-trained English historian Mike Dash makes the legitimate claim that there is not one line of dialogue in his work not corroborated by primary documents. While Dash’s Batavia’s Graveyard is, and will remain, far and away the most authoritative work on the subject, I make no such claim for this book. It seemed to me from the beginning of writing this book that, while not embarking on flights of fancy that take the reader well away from the documented storyline, limiting the protagonists’ dialogue to the few broken shards of conversation that have survived would make it very difficult to convey the emotional depth of this tragedy and do justice to a story of such shocking spiritual and physical magnitude.

I have previously likened the writing of other ‘creative non-fiction’ books that I have done, such as Kokoda, Tobruk, The Ballad of Les Darcy and Charles Kingsford Smith and Those Magnificent Men, to having 50,000 pieces of a jigsaw puzzle at one’s disposal . . . with space for only 1000 pieces. In these cases, the challenge was to find the right 1000 pieces, so that the picture I finally drew was illustrative of the whole.

In this case, however, the challenge was different and, for me, intellectually absorbing. For, nearly 400 years on, only a few scattered pieces of that original picture have survived – about 500 by my count. Thus, the challenge is to be able to have a strong-enough grasp of what is known and do enough research on both the time and the people involved to give one the necessary confidence to fashion another 500 pieces that fit, without distorting the true picture.

In trying to make those pieces as authentic as possible, I have been greatly helped by Dutch experts in their field: Diederick Wildeman, curator of navigation and library collections of Amsterdam’s Scheepvaart Museum; Vibeke Roeper, of the Cultureel Erfgoed Noord-Holland; Jan Piet Puype, formerly of the Leger Museum, the chief expert on guns in the Dutch Republic during this period of history; Jaap van der Veen of Amsterdam’s Rembrandt House; Lennart Bes of the National Archives in The Hague; Aryan Klein, project manager of the Batavia Werf, shipyard, in Lelystad; and, most particularly, Ab Hoving of the Rijksmuseum in Amsterdam, who was a notably wonderful source of fine detail on seventeenth-century Dutch maritime history.

 

In Australia, author Paquita Boston gave me greatly valued advice on ancient Aboriginal culture, and I was constantly calling on Helen Wilder’s skills in the Dutch language. I drew on the expertise of Stephen Jackson and Alex Whitworth when it came to the conditions of the various oceans, and on all matters of medical history my dear friend Dr Michael Cooper was a fount of information. Now, if all of these experts agreed on every detail of what is historically correct, my life would have been a lot easier. As it was, when they disagreed – and they frequently did – on just which way the nautical world worked 400 years ago, I had to make a decision.

My aim has been to be able to confidently say that, ‘While many of the original pieces from this puzzle have not survived, based on the shape of all the surviving pieces, it almost certainly looked just like this.’ By way of example, though there is no record in the primary documents of the Batavia’s surgeons employing the medical methods I describe in this book, expert research informs me this is the way it was done at that time. And, though there is little record of the precise words that Pelsaert spoke to Jeronimus when they reached the Abrolhos, the dialogue I have constructed is entirely consistent with both their established characters and the other bits of their dialogue that have survived. On several occasions, such as when they left Texel and arrived at Table Bay, I have adapted detailed dialogue from roughly contemporaneous accounts to illustrate the likely scenarios aboard the Batavia.

And yet, if I have taken some latitude, it is under strict conditions. From 1617 on, when Dutch ships were rounding the Cape of Good Hope on their way to the East Indies, they were instructed to keep between the latitudes of 36 and 42 degrees south as they headed east – the chosen karrespoor, cart-track, across the ocean. Similarly, I have framed this book so as to keep between the tight latitudes of the historical record, while still affording myself a little room to manoeuvre within those parameters.

This approach will likely attract criticism. So be it. The important thing for me is that all the key events described in this book are documented in the primary sources, all the machinations and dynamics between the protagonists laid down in black and white. Wherever possible, time and time again I have returned to and referenced Pelsaert’s Journal, bearing in mind that it is a one-eyed account of events by a man under enormous pressure.

A good 113 years on, I have accepted Willem Siebenhaar’s challenge to put permanent life into the story’s dry bones. I have been aided by the fact that far more has now become known of the saga than in his time, and even in the time since Henrietta Drake-Brockman’s fictional account The Wicked and the Fair was published in 1957.

In his review, Mike Dash criticised Drake-Brockman’s non-fiction take on the subject, Voyage to Disaster, on the grounds that her ‘book has no real narrative and fails, really, to convey the unprecedented drama of the Batavia’s wreck and the appalling events that followed it . . . It is not a narrative history, nor an easy book to read.’

 

I make no such criticism of his great book but do note that my intention is to try to go one step further. That is, I want to accurately ‘convey the unprecedented drama of the Batavia’s wreck’ by making it read like a novel, while not limiting myself to only the few precise details of the story that have survived the four centuries – most particularly when even those primary documents are sometimes contradictory as to what happened. I have included notes at the end of the book indicating where I have departed significantly from the documentary evidence along with my justification in so doing.

While struggling to work out how best to tell the Batavia story, I was fascinated to note that I was not alone, and that similar struggles have been going on for 350 years. In a closing note to the first edition of the Ongeluckige Voyagie in 1647, Dutch publisher Jan Jansz wrote:



Exactly.

In the course of writing Batavia, I have travelled to India to see the real spice markets that are still in operation, to the Abrolhos Islands off the coast of Western Australia, to the remains of the citadel of Batavia, which can still be seen in the old city of Jakarta, and, of course, to Amsterdam, from where the ship Batavia set out, and The Hague, where the records of her voyage are kept.

In the Shipwreck Galleries at the Western Australian Museum in Fremantle, I devoured the wonderful Batavia exhibit, including the skeleton and facade of the shipwreck, just as I loved the museum in Geraldton with its own Batavia exhibit. Those displays are masterpieces of recovery, conservation and reconstruction, due in no small part to the hard work put in by the museums’ staff, led by Dr Jeremy Green, who in 2007 won the Rhys Jones Medal in acknowledgement of his pioneering work in the development of maritime archaeology in Australia. The Western Australian Museum could not have been more helpful to me, particularly staff members Dr Michael McCarthy and Patrick Baker, the latter supplying some excellent images for the book.

 

For her help in all things to do with the form and texture of the book, I offer my deep appreciation to my treasured colleague at the Sydney Morning Herald Harriet Veitch, just as I do to my long-time researcher Sonja Goernitz, who was a great help across the board. Let me particularly acknowledge the work of my dear friend, and principal research editor on this book, Henry Barrkman. I have never worked as closely with anyone in the writing of a book, and, by its end, he was more familiar with the primary documents than I was. He was a constant sounding board as to how I might extrapolate from them, how the principal characters interacted, what the most likely chronology was for various events, and, when information conflicted, which account was the most likely. My debt to him is enormous.

I thank all at Random House, particularly Margie Seale, Nikki Christer and Alison Urquhart, for backing the project from the first, and my editor, Kevin O’Brien, for his meticulous approach and keen dedication.

Peter FitzSimons

Neutral Bay




Author’s Note

References

As described in the Preface, in telling this story I have strictly adhered to the two primary documents: Pelsaert’s Journal and the Predikant’s Letter. Both have been thoroughly referenced throughout and, together with my secondary sources, appear at the back of the book in the Notes and References section. Additionally, I have included comments in this Notes and References section to not only indicate where I may have taken liberties in departing from the primary texts – for example, in the creation of dialogue or the extrapolation of events from evidence given in those texts – but also, and I believe uniquely, provide justification for so doing. I believe all such departures are soundly underpinned by the documentary evidence and/or information from expert consultants and will add to the reader’s overall enjoyment without significantly compromising historical accuracy.

Pelsaert’s Journal

Frequently, a reference to Pelsaert’s Journal will postdate a section’s dateline, or a sequence of references to the Journal will appear chronologically out of step. This is because Pelsaert’s Journal is not a strict, day-by-day account but contains many retrospective references and also narrates certain events and testimonies in a different order from that in which they occurred.

Naming conventions

 

Writing this book put me on intimate terms with the difficulties of Dutch nomenclature. Because surnames did not exist in the Dutch Republic in the early part of the seventeenth century, a man’s full name comprised his first name followed by a ‘patronymic’, derived from the first name of his father with the letters ‘zoon’, son of, added to the end to indicate descent. For example, ‘Claas Gerritszoon’ defined a man as Claas, Gerrit’s son, the ‘s’ being possessive. Because this ending was a bit of an eyeful, it was common practice to drop the ‘oon’ and abbreviate the patronymic, in this case to Gerritsz (although the ‘oon’ is always pronounced in spoken Dutch). Strictly speaking, a full point should be used after the ‘sz’ to highlight the abbreviation, but I have followed the example of those who have gone before me, such as Drake-Brockman, in omitting the punctuation mark in favour of ease of reading.

A man would never have been referred to by his patronymic alone, rather by either his title and first name, in this case Opperstuurman Claas, or simply his first name, Claas. But, to my twenty-first-century ear, referring to a rough sailor type as Opperstuurman Claas or simply Claas sounds less apt than the more manly-sounding patronymic Gerritsz. Also, using a person’s full name on each and every occasion is cumbersome and repetitive. Accordingly, although historically incorrect, when not giving a name in full I name men according to their shortened patronymic. The only real exception to this rule has been that of the central character Jeronimus Cornelisz, whom I have referred to mostly as simply Jeronimus, because that name and mode of address struck the right note in terms of personality.

The naming convention adopted in this book has presented problems, given the number of men in this story who have identical patronymics. In such cases, I have distinguished lesser characters by using their full names (title and first name), country of origin, or, where all else has failed, including the ‘oon’ ending in their patronymic.

A woman’s full name comprised her first name plus the patronymic ‘dochter’, daughter of. For example, Lucretia Jansdochter translates as Lucretia, daughter of Jans. The female patronymic was frequently abbreviated to ‘dr’. For all women, who are few enough in this book to avoid confusion through shared first names, when not including an abbreviated patronymic without the ‘dr’ – for example, Lucretia Jans – I have used solely their first names.

Measurements

I have avoided using both modern measurements, such as kilograms, kilometres and metres, and seventeenth-century Dutch measurements, such as a mutsken, equivalent to around a quarter of a pint, or kannen, equivalent to around one and three-quarter pints, and have instead used imperial measurements such as tons and miles, for ease of storytelling while still retaining an old-world feel.




INTRODUCTION

The Spice Trade


Jesus Christ is good, but trade is better.

Unofficial motto of the Dutch East India Company

Our story is set in a time of strangely overlapping cusps.

For it takes place as the era of exploration is gradually giving way to the age of colonialism. It is a time when, as one powerful empire is destroying itself through religious zealotry, another is rising fast through its own fervent embrace of a new creed: corporate power. It is at the end of an epoch when most people live their entire lives within 20 miles of their birthplace, and on the leading edge of an age when events on one side of the planet can have an impact on even the most far-flung, seemingly inconsequential crag of rock on the other. And such is the strange symmetry of this story that even the particular crag of rock that will feature in these pages, the Abrolhos Archipelago, is two things at once: the southernmost group of islands in the world defended by coral reefs and the northernmost group of islands in the southern hemisphere populated by sea lions.

And it all comes together in this saga, which, by any measure, is one of the most stunning stories the world has known. It combines in just the one tale such momentous elements as the world’s first corporation, the brutality of colonisation, the battle of good versus evil, the derring-do of seafaring adventure, mutiny, love, lust, bloodlust, greed, treasure, criminality, a reign of terror, murders most foul, sexual slavery, natural nobility, survival, retribution, rescue, first contact with native peoples and so much more.

To do the story justice, thus, and put it all in context, let us begin some 135 years before its principal events occurred...

 

 

In 1492, it wasn’t just the Italian explorer Christopher Columbus who was sailing the ocean blue. Christoffa Corombo, sailing for Ferdinand II of Aragon and Isabella of Castile, was just one of many mariners heading out from Europe, looking for a route to the place known as the Spice Islands.

While gold may have been the common obsession of mankind since antiquity, the thing that ran it close and then surpassed it in the 1500s and 1600s was spice. Cinnamon, particularly, was so vaunted for its extraordinary medicinal powers that it was considered a cure for nothing less than the plague – ‘No man should die who can afford cinnamon’ was a saying of the time – and it was also regarded as an aphrodisiac, as were cloves. The reputation of cloves was particularly widespread, with the Chinese believing that, as well as being the base of perfumes, cloves mixed with milk vastly improved the pleasures of sex.

Other spices, such as nutmeg and mace – both derived from the same fruit – were valued for their medicinal qualities and as preserving agents. Most importantly, these spices, along with pepper, were prized for their extraordinary effect on the flavour of otherwise bland food. Even an amount sprinkled more sparsely than parsley could make a meal taste fit for a king, and the rich people of Europe were therefore prepared to pay a king’s ransom for it.

Pepper was so valuable it was sometimes referred to as ‘black gold’. And, while one could buy a small barrel of nutmeg weighing ten pounds in the East Indies for as little as the equivalent of a penny, in London that same amount was worth 50 shillings – 600 times its original price.

Very few traders, other than those who conducted their business near the point of origin, actually knew where the spices came from. In order to preserve the commercial advantage of those in possession of the truth, the locations were kept a closely guarded secret – keeping the Europeans, in particular, wildly guessing.

Some said they came from tiny, exotic islands far, far to the east, protected by a monster of ‘devilish possession’ that liked nothing better than attacking passing ships. Others talked of a faraway land peopled by warriors whose special delight was displaying the rotting heads of their victims upon the walls of their huts. Still others believed that spices came from, or near, the Garden of Eden, which was a real place located somewhere in Asia. The point that all these stories had in common was that the spices came from a place very far away and very dangerous to reach.

The Portuguese were the first to truly locate and settle on the Spice Islands, or Moluccas. In early 1512, the Portuguese navigator António de Abreu led two ships there – specifically, to the Banda Islands – practically smelling their way for the last ten miles, as the delicious scent of nutmeg was carried to them across the waters. Their initial relations with the natives were friendly. For a pittance, they were able to fill their holds with both nutmeg and the cloves that came from the islands of Ternate and Tidore just over 300 miles to their north. They safely returned to Lisbon with their precious cargo, along with something equally valuable: charts directing their countrymen to the bounteous islands.

 



And yet, a particularly significant breakthrough followed in the early 1590s, when two Dutch brothers, by the names of Cornelis and Frederick de Houtman, were sent by a consortium of nine Dutch merchants to Lisbon to begin trading relations and find out as much about the location of the Spice Islands as they could. With precisely the latter in mind, they stole the Portuguese’s closely protected seafaring charts and were imprisoned for their trouble.

No matter. Once back in Amsterdam after three years in prison, Cornelis de Houtman managed to raise 300,000 guilders to build four ships designed specifically to get to the Spice Islands.

After engaging a crew and purchasing merchandise for trade, the de Houtmans set sail on 2 April 1595 with the Amsterdam, Hollandia, Mauritius and Duyfken – all under Cornelis’s command – for the port of Bantam, situated in the Sunda Strait, on the western tip of Java.

In many ways, it proved to be a disastrous trip, more to do with murder and pillage than with trade, but the bottom line – and that was the very line the Dutch merchants always looked to, regardless of human cost – was that when the surviving vessels got back to Amsterdam two years later, on 11 and 14 August 1597, missing two-thirds of their original crew but carrying some spice, all of Amsterdam was agog. The sale of those spices covered the 300,000 guilders invested, with a little left over.

And so it began. In March 1599, a fleet of eight ships under Jacob van Neck reached the Spice Islands. Over the next six years, eight different companies dispatched a total of 65 ships spread over 15 fleets, most of which returned laden with lucrative spices – although, again, there proved to be a serious commercial problem. It was one thing to have broken the Portuguese monopoly at one end, but the trade could only be truly lucrative if the Dutch merchants could establish their own monopoly at the other end.

There were simply too many merchants competing with each other, which drove up the price of spice in the East Indies and drove it so far down back in the Dutch Republic that it began to defeat the purpose of getting it in the first place.

Could something not be done?

To this point, Dutch merchants from six different Dutch towns had combined their resources to fund and then divide the profits from individual ventures, with this commercial union being dissolved the moment their cargo came back. But now, suddenly, a different idea, a revolutionary idea, took hold. Why not stay together? Why not form a ‘company’ of merchants that could establish a Dutch cartel over both the purchase and the sale of the spices? This would allow all investors in the said company to share both the risk, which would be minimised, and the profits, which would be maximised. Investors in the company could even have a certain number of ‘shares’ to register what proportion of the company they owned, shares that could rise or fall in value according to the profit being made.

 

Right from the beginning, those investors in the shares were drawn from all walks of Dutch life, from wealthy merchants to labourers, housemaids and clergymen. Their names would go into a registry and they would get receipts acknowledging how much stock they had and what they had paid for it. Now, to help those who wished to buy or sell their parts in the company, there soon developed a lively trade in those receipts, where, effectively, the stock was exchanged – so lively that a whole separate institution was soon established, called a ‘stock exchange’.

The truly revolutionary part, though, was that the members of the public who invested in the company would be able to receive regular dividends once the profits rolled in. And yet another new concept was that the company would effectively be ‘multinational’ – a business that would transcend many national borders. It would be an entirely different way of doing business.

And so, following the lead of the English, who had formed their own East India Company two years earlier – even though the English had not embraced the full corporate model – on 20 March 1602 the Dutch formed the Dutch East India Company (Vereenigde Oost-Indische Compagnie, or VOC), with the full force of the Dutch Government behind it.

The VOC was granted by its government not only the sole right to Asian trade but also the right to engage in areas of activity usually reserved for the state: establishing colonies, coining monies, maintaining private armies and navies, fighting the enemies of the Republic, signing treaties with Asian potentates, building forts in the islands they were trading with and even subjugating entire populations. Not for nothing was it known as a state within a state. In fact, it was one destined to soon be more powerful than the state that had fathered it, as it had the entire world in which to expand.

The leadership of the VOC, known as the Heeren XVII, the Lords XVII, directed everything from the shipbuilding activities in their six trading towns (Amsterdam, Middelburg, Hoorn, Deft, Rotterdam and Enkhuizen) to determining precisely where those ships would sail, who would man them and who they would trade with. Each ship proudly flew the company’s own flag from her stern, with the initial of the originating town worked into the company’s logo – the first logo of the first public company. Henceforth in Dutch national life, any reference to ‘the Company’, of course with a capital ‘C’, was ever and always a reference to the single most important institution in the country, the VOC.

With such extraordinary profits on offer, wasted time was wasted money – and, as a secondary consideration, wasted lives. Many men could be expected to die in a gruelling year-long journey to the East Indies, and the majority of those deaths typically came in the last months. If a quicker way to travel could be found, there would be far less bother about always having to find new employees to replace the perished ones.

 

A notable breakthrough came in 1611 when a brave captain with the VOC, Hendrick Brouwer, decided to try something new. Up until then, having passed the tip of South Africa heading east, one tightly adhered to the sight of land then bobbled roughly north-eastwards up along the east African coast, via Mombasa, meandered across the Arabian Sea to India, then on to Ceylon, before at last heading over to the East Indies via the Strait of Malacca.

Brouwer had no patience for this ‘slow boat to China’ method, which required around 12 months’ sailing to get from Amsterdam to the East Indies, and wondered what winds might be out in the open ocean that – despite the risk of being well away from land – would make the trip quicker. Thus, having rounded the Cape of Good Hope, instead of navigating nor’ by nor’-east to keep the east coast of Africa off his port quarter, he headed east and . . .

And he was soon near blown away by what he discovered. Once he was out into that open ocean, there proved to be a consistent enormous wind blowing from right behind him, a wind they called Westenwindengordel, west-wind-belt. Captain Brouwer and his crew were soon hurtling eastwards at a speed never before imagined possible. The Westenwindengordel, it was found, was at its strongest and most constant in the latitudes between 40 and 50 degrees south – a region that would become known as the Roaring Forties.

Brouwer’s plan at this point was to keep close estimation of the distance travelled each day so he would be able to work out when he was due south of the East Indies, on a longitude some 4000 miles east of the Cape, at which point he intended to turn north towards the Sunda Strait.



It all worked perfectly. Brouwer made his calculations, turned to the north at the right time and his ship arrived in Bantam a staggering six months earlier than predicted – what’s more, with a crew that was much healthier than normal. A new era in international maritime trade had begun.

It was not always so easy, however, to calculate the right time for turning north, as a Dutch captain by the name of Dirk Hartog discovered while testing it in 1616. He left Texel – the island north-west of Amsterdam used as a roadstead for a lot of Dutch shipping – on 23 January in his ship the Eendracht on her maiden voyage, carrying ten money chests loaded with 80,000 reals, the silver Spanish coins also known as pieces of eight. They reached the Cape of Good Hope on 5 August and stayed there for just over three weeks, before heading out on Brouwer’s route.

Now, likely because of the vagaries of the currents, Hartog turned his ship north at a later point than Brouwer had, and, while crossing the line of roughly 26 degrees south on 25 October 1616, he suddenly came upon ‘various islands, which were, however, found uninhabited’. After dropping anchor, Hartog was rowed ashore and briefly explored the main island, staying there for three days and naming it Eendrachtsland, after his ship.

 

There was little to keep him there. The island held no treasures, no peoples, nothing of particular interest – and he still had to get to the VOC’s key port in the East Indies, Bantam. Famously, however, before leaving, Hartog took a pewter plate and nailed it to a post, a plate on which was inscribed in Dutch the words:



After leaving the island, Hartog kept sailing north and was amazed to suddenly come across a massive, previously undiscovered coastline extending for hundreds of miles! It looked, with no exaggeration, to be the most inhospitable coast in the world, and Hartog and his crew shuddered to think what would happen to a ship’s company that foundered upon it, even in the unlikely case that they survived the initial impact. For this was not a coast of bays, harbours, rivers or beaches, with fields gently sloping down to the water’s edge. Rather, it was an interminable coastline of sheer cliff faces, dust storms and vistas of fly-blown, arid land that was clearly of no use to anyone.

Prima facie, there were no treasures to be had here, no cities worth plundering, no land worth conquering. From time to time, Hartog’s men could see the odd plume of smoke, indicating the likelihood of human habitation on these shores, but those plumes were so sparse it was equally obvious that such savages as there might be there – and savages they would surely be – would be too few in number to bother pursuing with missionary zeal. It was clearly a godforsaken land, inhabited by a godforsaken people, and they were welcome to it.

The main thing for Hartog was to chart it, and as he swept up what would one day be known as the Western Australian coast he did exactly that, to the latitude of around 22 degrees south, at which point the coast veered to the north-east and he veered nor’ by nor’-west to get to the Dutch East Indies, arriving first at Macassar in Celebes in December 1616.



Only a few months later, in April 1617, another ambitious employee of the VOC arrived in Bantam. Francisco Pelsaert was a quietly spoken 20-year-old, with long, black, silken hair and a carefully coiffed goatee beard. He hailed from Antwerp in the Southern Netherlands and had joined the Company three years earlier as an assistant trader, on a salary of 24 guilders a month – close to the lowest rung on the VOC ladder of officialdom.

 

Nevertheless, the fact that he had a keen intelligence helped, as did being the brother-in-law of none other than Hendrick Brouwer, who was now one of the VOC’s most respected figures. Perhaps the most important thing, however, was that young Pelsaert had courage enough to head to the East Indies in the first place, where the mortality rate for Europeans was devastating, and he advanced remarkably quickly. This was despite the fact that he was a Catholic in a Company generally populated by Protestants. Even that could be forgiven if it was clear that an employee had the potential to make the Company a lot of money, and that described Pelsaert perfectly.

Having arrived in Bantam on the Wapen van Zeeland, Pelsaert was pleased that he did not have to stay there for long. The port was near the western tip of the island of Sumatra and was a cesspit of disease, most of which came from the malarial mosquitos and women of easy virtue.

Pelsaert, mercifully, was able to escape to healthier moral and physical climes by moving from island to island, including the Spice Islands themselves, which lay 1000 miles to the east, and was able to learn the spice trade from the ground up – demonstrating a capacity with both numbers and people. He became familiar with how the whole Dutch operation worked in the region – how a constant supply of cheap spices from the Spice Islands flowed into the port of Bantam, from where they were sent on to Amsterdam.

By the time Pelsaert left the East Indies a few years later, in December 1620, he was on 60 guilders a month, nearly three times his salary when he had arrived. It was a good indication of how rapidly he had advanced and an even better indication of how much he had learned. From there, Pelsaert was promoted to the position of assistant merchant and sent initially to the port of Surat, which lay some 20 miles up the Tapti River on the north-west coast of India, where the VOC carried out much of its spice trade. He was not long there, however, before being promoted to upper-merchant and sent 650 miles north-east to the town of Agra, to the court of the most powerful man in all India, Mogul Prince Jahangir.

In short order, Pelsaert secured the position of senior merchant, which saw him in charge of the entire VOC operation with the Mogul courts, devoting himself to the lucrative spice, indigo and cloth trades. In this delightful city of Agra – all palaces, forts, temples and markets built on the banks of the River Yamuna – Pelsaert truly came into his own.

 

 

In the meantime, as Pelsaert had been making his way in the Company, many more Dutch seafarers had followed in the wake of Dirk Hartog, and trade to the East Indies continued apace. On 8 June 1619, the famed Dutch seafaring Captain-General Frederick de Houtman had left Tafelbaai, Table Bay, in the VOC ship the Dordrecht in convoy with another VOC ship, the Amsterdam, following Brouwer’s route. Frederick was, of course, a veteran of such voyages, and of life in the Dutch East Indies.

By mid-July, he and his fleet had arrived at a point they estimated to be sufficiently east to take advantage of the southern trade winds that here abounded and so turned nor’-east by north to reach the East Indies. But then, on 19 July, just two hours before dusk, at the latitude of 32 degrees 20 minutes south . . . ‘Land ho!’ There was too little time to get a closer look, so de Houtman steered a little to the west for safety’s sake, and with dawn on the morrow they again altered course and came in closer to the coast. What they saw was a vast coastline – not far from where the city of Fremantle now lies – running roughly north to south and continuing as far as they could see in both directions.

Was this the same coast reported by Dirk Hartog in 1616, of which all VOC captains were now aware? The same coast, albeit far to the south of what Hartog had seen? It would appear so, and yet, as Hartog had also reported, there was no obvious place to land, as the enormous breakers kept pounding the seemingly impregnable coast. Compounding the problem of landing was the unremitting gale, which kept pushing the two ships towards the potentially fatal shore, even breaking the anchor cables of both the Dordrecht and the Amsterdam in a passage of particularly mighty gusts on 23 July 1619.

The ships carefully continued to the north, charting the coastline all the way. On 28 July, the land to their starboard fell out of sight as their course towards the East Indies took them back into open sea.

The next day, at noon, they found themselves to be at the latitude of 29 degrees 32 minutes south, and continued north by east. These were uncharted waters, and de Houtman was proceeding carefully, which was as well. For, late that very afternoon, just three hours before dusk, the crow’s nest shouted a first sighting of what appeared to be crashing surf upon dangerous reefs and rocky islets lying dead ahead. De Houtman was able to bring his ship up into the wind, drop anchor in relatively safe, if shallow, waters and investigate the reefs and islet. As he subsequently wrote in a long report to the Heeren XVII in Amsterdam, ‘we unexpectedly came upon a lowlying coast, a level, broken country with reefs all round it’.

For a short time, the Dutchmen upon the two ships were able to explore the area, to establish, as before, that the islets contained nothing of any value and that they appeared incapable of supporting human life. No, the true significance of the place lay not in any value they possessed but in the terrible danger they represented to any ships that would follow them to these parts. De Houtman shuddered to think what would happen to a ship that chanced across those reefs unseen in the night, and with that in mind he carefully marked down their position on his map. He recorded the exact latitude and as close to the longitude as he could estimate so others did not founder upon it as he so very nearly had. He noted in his report:
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As to a name, he called them – for modesty did not forbid – Frederick de Houtman’s Abrolhos. If the source of the first words was obvious, the origin of the last word was less so – most particularly because de Houtman was Dutch. Yet, as legend would have it, he used a contraction of a Portuguese phrase he had perhaps learned years earlier: ‘abri vossos olhos’, or ‘keep your eyes open’.

It was an added warning – a literary lighthouse – to all mariners that these islands were extremely dangerous. So devastating were the potential consequences of hitting them, with so many Dutch ships obviously at risk, that after de Houtman arrived in Java on 3 September 1619 the information was immediately given to Dutch cartographers to be disseminated in their ever-expanding, ever-more-detailed maps.

De Houtman, meanwhile, had arrived in the Dutch East Indies at a singularly important, and brutal, time in its history, a time that would forever be associated with the merciless but unfailingly efficient nature of one man: Jan Pieterszoon Coen.

 

The newly installed Governor-General of the Dutch East Indies was tall, slim and ramrod erect. He boasted strong features – deep-set eyes, a prominent nose and cruelly thin lips – and was that newest of breeds, a ‘Company man’, right down to the marrow of his Company bones. Born and raised in Hoorn in the northern quarter of the Dutch Republic, he had begun his service with the VOC just five years after its foundation and risen thereafter, in no small part because of his sheer ruthlessness in executing both his duties and, all too frequently, any person or peoples who got in the Company’s way. On his appointment, Coen set out his views in an official report to the Heeren XVII:
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Coen was also of the view that the Dutch must have a total monopoly on trade with the natives and that any native or community found to be trading with another nation, such as Portugal or England, ‘should be punished with death, and that, should the community offend again in like manner, we should be at liberty to destroy their town and build a fort there’.

 

Only shortly after taking up his tenure as Governor-General in 1618, Coen became convinced that the time was right to move the VOC headquarters in the East Indies from the cesspit of Bantam to Jacatra. At this time, Jacatra was a small settlement on a big harbour that lay 50 miles to the east of Bantam, on a low plain on the north-western tip of Java, where eight years earlier the Company had built a small warehouse.

On 30 May 1619, Governor-General Coen led a fleet of 16 vessels and 1200 men to attack Jacatra. Typically, the thin-lipped one displayed no mercy. Leading from the front, Coen took his men ashore against a native population that might have outnumbered them by three to one but were no match for them in terms of either firepower or viciousness. And nor was there anything that the few remaining English could even begin to do to stop them.

By battle’s end two days later, hundreds of the locals lay dead, their buildings and fortifications, including the palace of the Pangeran of Jacatra, razed, with the Dutch now in total control of the port. In his report back to the Heeren XVII, Coen was exultant:
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But Coen, who now considered the Dutch nothing less than ‘the lords of the land of Java’, had little interest in establishing friendly relations with anyone, and in terms of assaults on the local populace he had not yet fully broken into stride.

In early 1621, the population of the Banda Islands, where the most lucrative of the spices grew, stood at about 15,000 happy natives, with a small sprinkling of Dutch officials of the VOC and other merchants from Java, England, Portugal, China and Arabia who lived there and helped organise trade.

Coen decided to crush them, and the first that the people of Lonthoir Island in the Bandas knew of his intent was on 21 February 1621, when 13 ships suddenly appeared off their shores and one of them began circling the island, apparently examining the defences and looking for the best spot to attack.

On the morning of 11 March 1621, Coen personally directed his 1500 Dutch soldiers – together with 80 mercenary samurai warriors he had hired from Japan for the purpose – where to land. In next to no time, they had swarmed ashore at a half-dozen different spots and were climbing the cliffs and attacking the Bandanese from all sides.

Though the Bandanese fought hard, in the end they simply had no answer. They surrendered the very day after the attack, but that did not mean the butchery ceased.

 

Even the Heeren XVII were appalled when they found out about the level of savagery Coen subsequently pursued, sending him an official rebuke, albeit together with 3000 guilders as reward for having secured the islands. However, those executions were just the beginning, a first few speckles of the rain of blood that would fall when the wholesale slaughter began.

By the end of the Dutch campaign in those islands, the entire native population had been all but wiped out, with just a thousand or so surviving. Most of these were only kept alive so they could be used as forced labour on the nutmeg groves, labour that actually knew something about how to cultivate the island’s half-million nutmeg trees.

The Governor-General’s focus was now on making his newly conquered islands as productive as possible, and the land on the islands of Lonthoir, Ai and Neira was divided up into 68 separate estates.

Though the settlers from the Netherlands never quite arrived in the numbers that were hoped for, still there were enough to make the system work. Dutch immigrants were paid 1 ⁄ 122 of the price that the nutmeg brought in the markets in Amsterdam, yet they still managed to make a handsome living, notwithstanding a lifestyle so dissolute it was said of them that ‘they begin their day with gin and tobacco and end it with tobacco and gin’.

As to female companionship, they did not lack it. As detailed by Charles Corn in his book The Scents of Eden, though there was a strict rule against marrying local women without the governor’s consent – on pain of being whipped at the flogging post in the public square – there were ways around that. One was to have a comely slave girl baptised as a Christian, in which case the governor would likely give his permission for marriage. The other, far more popular, method was to help yourself anyway, without parading your girl in public. Either way, the settlers were admirers of the women, particularly the Bugis women who hailed from the nearby island of Celebes. One settler memorably wrote of these olive-skinned beauties:
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Yes, for the new settlers, you could argue with the VOC about the price of spices, but not for too long – there were plenty of other things to keep you busy, provided you remained ‘constant’.

 

Meanwhile, other natives who had survived the war for the Spice Islands had been sent to Jacatra to act as forced labour on the settlement that Coen was furiously reconstructing on the ashes of the Javanese settlement his troops had razed in 1619. Coen named his new centre of trade in the Dutch East Indies ‘Batavia’, after the famed Germanic tribe the Batavians, who were the ancestors of the Dutch. (It was the stuff of myth and legend how this warrior race of Batavians had thrown off the shackles of the Roman occupation in the Netherlands and crushed their oppressors. The Dutch identified with their own efforts to free themselves of Spanish rule.)

Coen’s first measure after occupying Jacatra and marshalling the necessary labour was to have an enormous 24-foot-high stone wall constructed around where he planned to build a fortified citadel overlooking the harbour and a new town immediately behind it to the south. The inclusion of guarded gates and well-manned bulwarks across the citadel’s and the town’s perimeter walls at regular intervals would help ensure no one unlawfully entered or exited either precinct.

For added protection, a series of canals was dug around the entire perimeter of both the citadel and the settlement. So great was the amount of wealth envisaged to flow through the trade centre that six fortresses were to be constructed throughout Batavia to safeguard the VOC coffers.

Offshoots of the Jacatra River, 180 feet broad and flowing from south to north alongside the western wall of the settlement, enabled many additional tree-lined canals to be built within the town, making for a veritable miniature Amsterdam by the sea, the canals being an adjunct to the paved dead-straight streets that criss-crossed the burgeoning metropolis. Beside those streets, some 3000 narrow, tall houses and warehouses were built – all of them stuccoed brick, designed in the classic Dutch fashion – along with the odd tavern, church and school.

The dominant feature of the landscape was the massive, all-but-impregnable citadel. The political, financial and military nerve centre of the VOC’s entire East Indies spice-trade operation, at either of its four corners stood four towering bulwarks – named the Pearl, Ruby, Diamond and Sapphire – generously armed with cannons. One enormous gated entrance, the Water Gate, was constructed on its northern side facing the sea, while the Land Gate on the southern side faced the settlement, the only access being across a 14-arch bridge spanning the canal.

The intrusion of the Dutch into Java and their naked occupation of the land had enraged the wider population and its leaders. For his part, the Sultan of Mataram – the local ruler who controlled the eastern three-quarters of Java and had ambitions of uniting all the island under his own rule – had not minded, particularly, that Coen’s men had wiped out the wretched Moluccans, but the fact that the Dutch had dug in at Batavia was an outrage.

Unless the Sultan of Mataram could mass his forces and wrest back Batavia, Dutch control over all of the Spice Islands was now complete.

 

True, they did not have the same control of the northern Moluccan islands of Ternate and Tidore as they did of Ambon, but to make sure those islands provided no competition they stormed ashore just long enough to cut down every clove tree on them and proclaim that anyone caught growing one thereafter would be put to death. Henceforth, they would allow the production of cloves only on Ambon and instituted a system whereby the head of each Ambonese family had to be responsible for the planting and maintenance of ten clove trees.

With the subjugation of the Spice Islands and the building of Batavia, the Dutch had gone from being a major trading partner in the East Indies to nothing less than the sole, supreme occupying power.



The VOC’s rise was matched by that of many of its officials, and none more so than Francisco Pelsaert, whose upward trajectory through the ranks had been so startlingly rapid as to be almost without precedent. Testament to Pelsaert’s abilities, all of his recommendations had been accepted, trade and profits had expanded commensurately, and where there had once been a bare patch of dirt at Agra now stood an enormous VOC trading station. His salary had increased almost tenfold, from the mere 24 guilders a month when he had joined the VOC over a decade earlier all the way up to 200 guilders a month now. If he had not found a wife into the bargain, still, like many of the traders living in foreign climes, he had been able to enjoy the charms of many of the local women and even, on occasion, women of the Moghul nobles.

Not quite everyone was in his thrall, however, and a case in point occurred in mid-December 1627, shortly after he boarded the good ship Dordrecht in the Indian harbour of Swally, near Surat, to head back to Amsterdam. At this point, Pelsaert was entirely depleted after a stretch away from home now into its tenth year, and also ill, having contracted malaria. Though India had been the place where his career had taken off, he had vowed never to return to tropical climes, so exhausting did he find it, so ghastly did he feel.

The schipper, skipper, of the Dordrecht, Ariaen Jacobsz, was an enormous, rakish mariner who hailed from a small fishing village named Durgerdam, which was near Amsterdam. As it turned out, he and Pelsaert took a dislike to each other with an instantaneity matched only by its intensity, which started when Pelsaert expressed his fierce outrage upon discovering that Jacobsz was engaging in private commerce. That was strictly forbidden by the VOC and had to cease immediately! And yet that really was only the beginning. For although circumstance had brought them tightly together, they were a study in opposites that did not attract . . .

 

Pelsaert, a refined, diminutive man with a passion for music, had roughly the same physical proportions as Jacobsz’s left leg. While Pelsaert was a creature of the Company and gloried in the fact that he had risen so high among its official elite, Jacobsz’s principal passion was whoring and he had no particular loyalty to anything – certainly not to high VOC officials, whom he hated as a matter of principle. Jacobsz was friends with men known around the bars and brothels of Amsterdam by names such as ‘Scarface’ and ‘Hook’. If he had any artistic side, it was evident only in the creative way he rearranged the physical features of other men’s faces, while they often did the same to him, just before they died.

No matter that Jacobsz was a superb mariner, the truth of it was that, within the confines of a VOC ship, Pelsaert had nearly all the power and Jacobsz next to none, apart from that which directly concerned the sailing of the ship. A lesser man than Jacobsz might have swallowed his contempt for Pelsaert and everything he stood for, but Jacobsz, a skipper given to choleric outbursts of anger, could not. In fact, his first verbally violent confrontation with Pelsaert came so early in the voyage that . . . well . . . the Dordrecht was still berthed in the harbour at the time, getting ready to sail.

Pelsaert was not the only one scandalised by Jacobsz’s insolence. It is recorded that immediately after the confrontation, two senior VOC officers also on board addressed Jacobsz in the strongest possible terms and informed him that this was ‘not the manner in which to sail to the Fatherland. Jacobsz must behave himself differently toward Pelsaert.’ Seething, Jacobsz just managed to control himself, grumbled a rough apology and kept his distance from the infernally prissy and officious Pelsaert for the rest of the journey.

 

In the Dutch Republic, meanwhile, a man by the name of Jeronimus Cornelisz was becoming very nervous. Hailing from the northern province of Friesland, Jeronimus was a tall, exceptionally lean man with a delicate, almost feminine, face of the finely drawn variety, and the lazy, hooded eyes of a cobra. A refined, silken, louche man, he boasted long ringlets of hair that cascaded softly over his narrow shoulders and, strangely, always seemed to have the barest hint of perfume about him. Jeronimus was a dandy with a death’s head smile, a man with a malevolent and Machiavellian charisma, softly spoken and persuasive, yet entirely without conscience. In his late 20s, he had become a member of the intimate circle of the notorious artist Torrentius, whose name had become a byword for evil.

There was no doubt about Torrentius’s skill as a painter, as he was highly regarded for his still lifes and portraiture. That was not the issue. Nor was it just that Torrentius was a blasphemer. It was the terrible things that his lack of respect for the Lord made him do. In his life of drunken dissolution, he frequently and publicly expressed heretical views that there were no such things as heaven and hell. What is more, he claimed that since they didn’t exist, there was no risk in doing nominally bad things on earth. And besides, because God was omnipresent, and God was in us all, there was nothing one could do that wasn’t God’s will in the first place. Therefore, one was entirely free to do whatever one wanted, such as solely devoting oneself to the pursuit of pleasure, and Torrentius was certainly one to practise what he preached.

 

Perhaps worst of all in the eyes of the authorities, though, Torrentius was rumoured to be a member of the secret and sacrilegious Rosicrucian order, established some 200 years earlier by the German mystic Christian Rosenkreuz. Of course, any secret organisation composed of people of power and influence that was not only advocating the transformation of the entire social, intellectual, political and religious systems but also seeking adherents with equally heretical views was a threat to the Dutch state. It would, therefore, have to be dealt with by that state, using whatever means necessary.

In mid-1627, the authorities inevitably came for Torrentius. In early 1628, after months of torture and interrogation, he was sentenced to 22 years’ imprisonment. Now the authorities were hunting down all of his known associates.

As documented in Mike Dash’s book, Batavia’s Graveyard, Jeronimus was a man with many other pressing problems, independent of his link with Torrentius. In recent times, his business in Haarlem as an apothecary– a purveyor of potions, powders, poultices, plant life and products deriving from animals – had teetered on bankruptcy. He and his wife had recently lost an infant child to syphilis, though whether that was contracted from Jeronimus’s wife, as many claimed, or from the wet nurse, as the devastated couple insisted, was a moot point. Either way, there were too many people who believed the ‘Neapolitan scab’, as it was known, originated with the couple and therefore did not wish to purchase their pills and potions from one so disease-ridden. Consequently, the apothecary business of Jeronimus was soon decimated. Between his shattered reputation, penury and the authorities closing in because of his Rosicrucianism, Jeronimus came to the conclusion that Haarlem was no place for him to be.

With that, in early October 1628, he left the northern city without his wife to go to Amsterdam in the east, to look for an opportunity to start over. Yes, Amsterdam, Europe’s great city of trade, was the place for Jeronimus to lose himself and then find himself again, to seek out an opportunity to completely change his life. Well educated by the standards of the day, he was not without his prospects for gainful employment. However, with no money, no backing, few friends and no certainty that the authorities would not soon pursue him there, he was never going to find it easy.

With time of the essence, Jeronimus pressed on, looking for employment in any maritime venture that would take him far from the strictures of the Dutch Republic and perhaps allow him to start afresh in a new world, where there might be no strictures at all . . .

 

His timing was good. For, just a month before Jeronimus arrived in Amsterdam, the outgoing Governor-General of Batavia in the Dutch East Indies, General Pieter Carpentier, whom Coen had replaced, returned to the Dutch capital in triumph. Now the VOC’s commercial chief of the entire VOC fleet, in charge of overseeing and controlling all new trading opportunities and financial operations, Carpentier personally commanded the successful return to Amsterdam of five VOC ships, heavily laden with spices and worth a fortune to the Company. Clearly, the conditions were right at that time for importing ever more spices from the East Indies, and the mighty Heeren XVII moved quickly to send as many ships as possible to Batavia, which would, God willing, quickly return fully laden with the precious, lucrative cargo.

There proved to be 11 such ships available to leave at relatively short notice, the pride of which was the mighty Batavia. She hadn’t been built so much as crafted over the previous year and was just being made ready to launch on this, her maiden voyage. Constructed in the Amsterdam shipyards – the Peperwerf on the small island of Rapenburg – the Batavia was a classic retourschip, return ship, designed specifically for the journey to the East Indies and back. At 165 feet long and an even more impressive 40 feet wide in the beam and 16 and a half feet deep at the keel, this retourschip was three times the size of the Santa María, the ship in which Christopher Columbus had sailed in 1492.

The Batavia had three enormous masts of Scandinavian pine capable of holding ten sails with just under 9000 square feet of canvas to the wind. At a cost of 100,000 guilders, she was built by none other than the pre-eminent shipbuilder of the day, Jan Rijksen, who closely supervised the whole construction process. The heavy timber frame was composed of massive pieces of oak, specially selected because their natural shape suited the design. Each piece was soaked in seawater for a full six months before being further coaxed into precisely the desired camber, with planks of the finest Danish oak forming the shell of the round-bellied hull. For protection against shipworm – known as the ‘termites of the sea’ for their propensity for boring into all wood immersed in the ocean – Rijksen put a layer of tar mixed with horsehair on the outside of the hull and sheathed the whole thing with a thin layer of pine studded with thick iron nails, upon which no shipworm would make any headway, at least not for some time. Those nails had large square heads, hammered so close to each other that they formed another impenetrable layer of rusty iron. Still not done in providing protection, Rijksen saw that the whole outside layer was laboriously painted with a ghoulish mix designed to forestall any shipworm even beginning to bore – a concoction of lime, oil, resin and sulphur. If this ship ever sank, it would not be because of shipworm.

After five or so months, once that shell was completed, it was floated some 50 yards out in the Zuyder Zee, Southern Sea, a shallow bay of the North Sea that extends some 60 miles into the heart of the Netherlands. Here, the ship was ‘caged’ in a wooden enclosure of palisades set firmly into the river bottom. This meant that the Peperwerf could be freed up to build the next ship, while workers could continue within that shell, adding the three basic decks lying at the Batavia’s core.

 

In total, there was no fewer than 60,000 cubic feet of oak used in her construction, giving her an unladen weight of 600 tons, even before her 30 shining cannons were rolled on board and myriad supplies laboriously loaded in the hold. All of the cannons near the helm of the ship, where all of the navigation would take place, were made of bronze rather than iron, so they would not affect the readings of the instrument upon which the lives of her crew depended: the magnetic compass. All the implements used to ram the gunpowder into the normal iron cannons, meanwhile, were made of brass – to avoid any chance of a spark lighting the gunpowder before the cannonball was loaded and ready to fire.

Because of the need for speed to get the Batavia on her way, the Company urgently sought to fill the roster with VOC commercial officers and an expert sailing crew, not to mention carpenters, cooks, tailors and all the rest to keep the ship smoothly functioning. Also, the Company would need enough mercenary soldiers signed to five-year contracts onboard, firstly to ensure the security of the ship against internal and external attacks – the Dutch at this point were at war with both Portugal and Spain – and secondly, upon arrival in Batavia, to fill the garrison to compensate for its dreadful rates of attrition. There was, thus, a highly disparate set of skills required at short notice to man the large fleet.

As luck would have it, the desperation of the VOC to quickly fill that roster – and not be too particular about whom they took – was precisely matched by the desperation of those applying to fill the positions. The trip to the East Indies was long, fraught and poorly paid – particularly when compared with the staggering profits that the Company could make out of it. Should one actually survive the journey, then the chances of remaining alive for any period of time in the East Indies – against the many threats of malaria, dysentery, smallpox, cholera, typhoid, leprosy, yellow fever and other miscellaneous tropical diseases and ailments, not to mention the native attacks that constantly beset Batavia’s population – were as skinny as an Amsterdam street urchin.

Hence, the link between applicants turning up to the VOC’s East India House – the imposing building that stood on the corner of Amsterdam’s Hoogstraat and Kloveniersburgwal – and even those paying passengers who sought a berth to the East Indies was an obvious one: desperation. They could be desperately poor, desperate to escape the Dutch Republic for whatever reason, desperate to join a loved one in Batavia, or just generally a desperate.

Jeronimus Cornelisz, who could fairly be described as fulfilling three of those four categories, decided to apply. He was in the company of ‘all sorts of krauts, bumpkins, clodhoppers, haymakers and other raw kashoobs with grass still stuck between their teeth’. They were an odd collection of men, looking to make a very long journey.






CHAPTER ONE

Across the Seven Seas


Zo wijd de wereld strekt. . .

(As far as the world extends . . .)

The Royal Dutch Marines’ motto


27 October 1628, Amsterdam

It is a strange thing to finally live out, moment by moment, the realisation of a lifelong dream – to compare what is happening on the instant to how you repeatedly imagined it would be.

As the strengthening breeze on the Zuyder Zee pushes back the single wisp of blonde hair that has just escaped from beneath Lucretia Jans’s stylish blue bonnet, the lady carefully tucks it back in. And then she leans out over the bow of the kaag, the small sailing vessel that is bearing her towards the spot where the mighty East Indiaman
Batavia awaits her, and continues waving at the tiny stick figures back on the shore. They are her two sisters and her most intimate circle of friends, who, even now, are beginning to blend into the amorphous mass of well-wishers gathered around Amsterdam’s Montelbaans Tower.

Lucretia now stands still in the early morning light, before she comes back from the railing and takes stock. Because of Amsterdam’s shallow harbour, it is necessary for all ships of the Batavia’s grandeur and deep draught to go to Texel, at the far end of the Zuyder Zee, near the entrance to the North Sea. All passengers and supplies can be brought to the large ships berthed here in smaller vessels to load them up over a period of weeks before they set sail.

 



From Lucretia’s early childhood growing up in a grand mansion on the Herenstraat in Amsterdam’s bustling metropolis, always surrounded by a forest of ship masts, she has fervently hoped that she would one day journey somewhere exotic, across a hundred horizons to a land unknown. And yet, not even in her wildest fancy did she think she would be heading right out to the very edges of the known world, a place that can only be reached after approximately nine months of sailing and that has become the foundation stone of the Dutch Empire in the East Indies: Batavia.

As her childhood transformed into adolescence, she always imagined that she would be accompanied on her adventure by the one true love of her life. In fact, she is going to join her husband, Boudewijn van der Mijlen, who is pining for her – she hopes – in Batavia, where for the last two years he has been working as an Onderkoopman, UnderMerchant, for the VOC. They have suffered through tough times together since their marriage ten years earlier, when she was only 17, including the loss of all three of their children in infancy, and some financial setbacks, yet still she wants to be with him.

If the reality doesn’t quite match the dream in every detail, then still it is close enough that Lucretia feels as wonderful as she ever has in her life, as the last of the tall spires of Amsterdam start to merge with the rest of the receding buildings standing on the shores of myriad canals. And all around the foreshores of the Zuyder Zee as her kaag proceeds, she can see glorious new constructions of stone and brick where once were rickety wooden buildings only – imposing town halls, enormous warehouses, bustling shipyards and sparkling new homes of the suddenly prosperous merchants – all of which have sprung up in just her lifetime. It is amazing how much things have changed, with Amsterdam’s population having doubled in size for each of the nearly three decades of her life, to the point that there are now nearly 30,000 people living there and it has surpassed Venice to become, some say, the richest city in the world.

The day passes pleasantly enough as they continue along the foreshores, until finally here before them is proof positive of just how prosperous the Dutch Republic has become: the mighty, sparkling ship Batavia herself, with her towering three masts and shining sails. The closer they get, the more enormous the ship becomes, her hull bursting from the water and towering so far above all in the kaag that they have to crane their necks skywards to take it all in.

Around and about the ship, half-a-dozen smaller craft are playing tiny cygnets to her glorious mother swan, with dozens upon dozens of men scurrying up and down rope ladders as they unload their wares into the bowels of the massive ship, as sailors haul on pulleys to lift loads from one ship to another even as others high up in the rigging are proudly unfurling the Batavia’s sails. There is a frenzy of activity about this ship, an enormous sense that a long and grand voyage is soon to begin and there remains so much to do in so little time.

 

As busy as the nigh-on 200-strong crew are, however, there are many sailors and no few of the embarking soldiers who take pause as this handsome blonde Dutchwoman boards the vessel for the first time. Something in her regal yet achingly sensual bearing is nothing less than intoxicating, and they watch closely as she is hoisted onto the ship’s deck courtesy of a ‘bosun’s chair’ – a plank with four holes to allow for lines attached to a pulley suspended from the mainstay.

She is closely followed by her buxom maid, who is obvious by her black dress, white lace cap and apron atop heavy clogs, and by the fact that, unlike her mistress, this ’un must climb one of the steep ladders going from the kaag to the mighty retourschip. And with them both come some grand and ornately designed sea chests, undoubtedly containing all of this beautiful lady’s jewels and finery.

Such luggage is in strict contrast to that of the crew, who have come aboard in recent weeks with little more than their humble chests containing only their plate, mug, knife, tobacco, pipes, tinderbox for making a flame, a hammock or mattress filled with horsehair, rough pillow . . . and the stinking rags they happened to be wearing at the time they were recruited.

Yes, they are rough, but she is fine. She is likely, many of them reflect, the most beautiful woman they have ever seen, which fits well with the fact that she is coming aboard such a beautiful vessel.

But to work, lads, and keep loading!


28 October 1628, Texel

All through the next day come the last of the supplies onto the ship, destined for her copious storerooms, including 3000 pounds of cheese, 20 tons of hardtack (a long-lasting type of biscuit), 34 tons of meat in tight barrels, 27 tons of herring, eight and a half tons of butter, 37 tons of dried peas, 17 tons of dried beans, three and a half tons of salt and 250 barrels of beer – the basic provisions required to see the soldiers, sailors, crew and passengers through their nine-month voyage. Enormous barrels of fresh water are stored in the hold, each one containing over 65 gallons. There are supplies of other foodstuffs, plus yet more barrels of wine, beer and spirits, making many hundreds of barrels in all, but these latter are not for the consumption of those on the ship; rather, they are supplies that the settlement at Batavia is in urgent need of.

 

Make way, make way, I say, for these pieces of finely crafted furniture destined for the hold! These are intended to help furnish the ever-increasing number of houses in the new settlement, as well as these boxes of gold and silver plates for its finest pantries, and whole bales of the most delicate fabrics and lace to dress both its women and other important ladies throughout the Indies. There are additional bales of the finest wool, velvet and linen, with trimmings of gold and silver lace, all of it purely for trading in India. (Even though the settlement of Batavia is a lot further from Amsterdam than India, the ship will not be stopping in India, for the Javanese outpost is the hub of this vast trading empire, and everything – ships, people and goods, imports and exports – must pass through it first.)

As it has long been established that ships are faster and more stable when they are well balanced and trimmed, the heaviest cargo is stored in the hold. This includes the spare cannons and anchors, the cannonballs, the 137 disassembled stones of a massive portico that is to stand at the entrance to Batavia citadel, the spare timbers for repairs to the ship and thousands of yellow ballast bricks, small paving stones that, upon arrival, will help to pave the streets of the settlement. The heaviest thing of all, ingots of lead, for the roofs of Batavia, are also stored there. As to just where in the hold to place this particularly heavy cargo, that is part art, part science. Too high and the ship risks keeling over in heavy weather. Too low and the ship becomes ‘laboursome’, hard to move through the water. Long maritime experience has taught that the heaviest cargo is best placed somewhere just below the most central part of the ship, and to that effect the carpenters have built a great deal of scaffolding to hold it there tightly.

Beyond that, there are many objets d’art and precious jewels to flatter potentates in their trading regions, along with baubles of various descriptions, including elaborately designed crockery and mirrors to impress those who are a little lower down on the trading scale but still important to the Company. Oh, and not to forget, the muskets and their ammunition must also come aboard, as must tons of neatly bundled wood to keep the stove in the galley going for the next few months. Much of this has been carefully loaded into the ship over the previous weeks, and they are now adding the last bits and pieces.

But at noon on this, the day before departure, comes the most important cargo of all, unloaded from the wharf onto the ship under armed guard.

Terug, ga terug, zeg ik. Back! Get back, I say!

It is 12 money chests, each one filled with around 8000 silver coins worth some 250,000 guilders and tipping the scales at 500 pounds of dead weight. These coins are intended as a means of trade for all of the VOC’s many activities throughout their entire East Indies empire, stretching from India’s Bay of Bengal, along the coast of Java, through all of the Spice Islands and all the way to Japan.

This, the most valuable piece of cargo ever sent from the shores of the Dutch Republic, is way too precious to be stored in the hold and is instead held in the Great Cabin – the virtual nerve centre of the entire ship. Here, the Batavia’s commercial and maritime officers will eat, meet and make all of the key decisions affecting the course of their venture – all of it entirely sealed off and secured from the rest of the ship by an armed guard. The Great Cabin also provides sleeping quarters for Skipper Ariaen Jacobsz.

 

Happily, to help both safely transport and defend such a tempting treasure on board the Batavia, there is a collection of 190 ship’s officers and seamen – far more than are needed to run the ship over 24 hours, but they expect to have a few die along the way – together with 100 mercenary soldiers in direct employ of the VOC.

And that is the last of the soldiers streaming aboard this very afternoon. They are bound for a tour of duty in the colonies, where their job will be to defend the citadel in Batavia and put down whatever native insurrections might occur throughout the East Indies. Their presence, of course, means they can also protect the ship’s cargo and enforce the iron rule of the Company during the long voyage.

Finally making up the ship’s complement are some 50 passengers, including a few Vrijburgers, the free settlers looking to make a new life in the East Indies. Some of them are accompanied by their families, while others are women and children travelling solo to Batavia, where the father of the family is seeing service. All up, there are 341 souls aboard the Batavia, of whom 22 are women and 16 are babies or children, all of the non-crew members staying well clear as the final arrangements are put in place. By dusk, the loading is finally complete and all is secured. Everything is in readiness for departure the following morning, provided the fair winds blow.


29 October 1628, Texel

And so they do! With the morning breeze coming from the required north-east – the usual wind is from the southwest – and the tide going out from the Zuyder Zee to the North Sea, the Batavia makes ready to move off from Texel at just after nine o’clock.

At a nod from the skipper, the opperstuurman, upper-steersman, Claas Gerritsz utters the words all the sailors have been waiting for, words that sound like a nautical prayer. ‘We have a strong, fair breeze,’ he announces. ‘Drop the foresail, drop the main and main topsail, unleash the mizzen and let it hang in clews, also the spitsail and the mizzen topsail, unleash the sprit topsail, also the fore and main topgallant sail, unleash the fore tack, heave the sheets . . .’

With each order, the sailors scamper up the rigging and across the spars, unfurling sails, pulling lines and attending to the tasks that the first mate keeps doling out. And, sure enough, from the moment the anchors are hauled up and the sails are set to the wind, the mighty ship, at first tentatively and then with increasing confidence, begins to move off. Within minutes, she is heading towards the entrance to the North Sea at a rate of three knots. It is a sight to behold.

 

From all three of her mighty masts fly the red, white and blue flags with the large, black VOC symbol embossed in the middle, indicating that this is the flagship of the fleet. All of the flags flap brightly in the reflected light from the pristine sails as yet unsullied by long contact with sea air. From the gay wash of her blunt-nosed bow hurtles the carved figure of a magnificent scarlet Lion of Holland, leaping out at all those who would dare get in her mighty way.

And, appropriately on this glorious autumnal day, all the other craft on the Zuyder Zee do indeed fall back in fear and awe, as this wondrous ship heads out towards the open sea on her maiden voyage. Yes, the Batavia has four mighty anchors strapped to the sides of her blunt bow, but they seem superfluous, for this looks to be a ship made for travelling fast, not for stopping.

The more experienced of the mariners on those lesser craft admire both her size and her contours as she begins to rhythmically ply the waters, this acme of Dutch maritime design setting to sea. From the long and complicated construction of her beakhead – the small platform that extends out over her bow, a fifth of the length of the body of the ship – the lines elegantly step down to her midships and then all the way back up again to her towering stern, some 40 feet above the waterline, with exclusive cabin space dedicated to the elite officers and passengers just beneath the curved poop deck.

All of that upper superstructure on the stern is ornately painted in pale green, with red and gold ochre trimmings all over. From bow to stern, around the entire ship on both sides, intricately carved gargoyles with grotesque expressions and bulging eyes – all of them based on the beliefs of the ancient Batavians – keep the evil spirits at bay. Her complicated rigging, though a baffling spiderweb to the uninitiated, is nothing less than a masterpiece of logic to true mariners. There is not one more line than necessary, and not one less. This is a powerful ship in every sense of the word; she carries a total of 30 cannons, 12 heavy guns a side on her lower deck, ranging in size from eight-up to 24-pounders and individually up to two tons in weight, and if that weren’t sufficient three either side on her upper deck. No, it is not just those who gaze upon her from afar who are impressed.

Skipper Ariaen Jacobsz, on his quarterdeck, is surveying his new ship and the whole scene with great satisfaction. Notwithstanding the bitter, bitter cold on this choppy sea of late October, with winter fast approaching, he always feels at his best at this very moment – when a ship under his command is once again heading out to sea and he can look forward to long uninterrupted months on the oceans. And this is far and away the finest ship he has ever skippered.

 

Not that the Batavia will be alone for all that; she will be the flagship of a fleet of eight. There are three other retourschips – the Dordrecht, Galiasse and Gravenhage – smaller versions of the Batavia but all of them large enough to be able to make regular trips to the East Indies and back carrying heavy cargo. There are the Assendelft and the Sardam – a fluyt and a jacht respectively – small, very manoeuvrable trading ships designed for carrying smaller amounts of cargo between the Spice Islands. There is also a heavily armed man-of-war, the Buren, there to fend off any of the pirate ships frequently found off the coast around Dunkirk, and thereafter whatever enemy ships they might come across. And, finally, there is the fastest and most manoeuvrable vessel of all, the jacht Kleine David, whose purpose is to act as a messenger and transport between all the ships.

In Jacobsz’s possession are the VOC orders commanding him to guide his ship, and with it the fleet, down through the North Sea and the Kanaal, English Channel, before continuing down the French and Portuguese coasts, past the Strait of Gibraltar and all the way down Africa’s west coast to Sierra Leone before taking advantage of the north-east trade winds to head out into the Atlantic Ocean. He is to continue southwest until he is just off the coast of South America, where he is to do a turnabout to catch the winds and currents that will quickly propel the ships to the southern tip of Africa. At this point, they can take their first break to rest and revictual, before heading on to Batavia, following the Brouwer route.

The departure from Texel in late October has been designed to ensure that the small fleet will catch the Roaring Forties trade winds when they are at their strongest. If all goes according to schedule, the ships will be in Batavia by early July the following year, some nine months hence, propitiously at the very time the freshly harvested spice crop will be ready to load.

The only thing not to the liking of Jacobsz at this point is the presence of the slightly wan man standing just five yards from him on the upper-deck – far too close for the skipper’s liking, and, in his view, a serious intrusion. The man is Commandeur Francisco Pelsaert, who travelled back to the Netherlands from India on Jacobsz’s ship earlier in the year, and with whom the skipper had a time most turbulent, pompous prig that he was . . . It was the sincere hope of both men once they had parted on the docks at Texel that they would never see each other again, but now, by a malicious twist of fate, here they are.

While Skipper Jacobsz has nautical command of this ship, Commandeur Pelsaert has commercial control of both the entire fleet and the whole exercise on which they are embarked. Despite Pelsaert’s previous vow to himself to never return to tropical climes and the fact that he has not yet fully recovered his health, the VOC managed to tempt him once more with its offer of, first, being the Commandeur of this fleet, and then of great advancement within the VOC’s hierarchy in the Dutch East Indies. His brother-in-law, Hendrick Brouwer, even whispered to him that there was every chance he would be appointed to the immensely powerful and prestigious East Indies Council once he arrived in Batavia – an extraordinary honour for one so young.

In his own pocket, Pelsaert has a letter from the Heeren XVII, addressed to Governor-General Jan Pieterszoon Coen, recommending him for higher office once he arrives in Batavia:

 

Click Here


Pelsaert is a good officer, with a highly developed sense of loyalty to the Company, and yet he is not leaving the shores of the Dutch Republic with any sense of rising joy. One reason is that he is uncomfortable at being engaged in common project with one he detests as much as the skipper. Another is that the very thing that makes Jacobsz so joyous at the beginning of this voyage is the same thing that makes Pelsaert heavy of spirit. Jacobsz is an old sea dog who is only truly in his element when well out to sea, whereas Pelsaert is a commercial man whose natural element is terra firma, organising trade deals advantageous to the Company. And though the Commandeur has no loving family that he is agonised about leaving behind – he has never married, nor even engaged in long-term relationships, as that would have interfered with his work – still his glumness matches that of even the most devoted family man leaving his loved ones behind.

For the Commandeur, the long journey ahead is naught but something to be endured, so that he can get to his true work in the East Indies, where he first journeyed a decade earlier when very junior in the Company. One bit of solace, at least, is that if all goes well, this trip will make him a very rich man. Notwithstanding the fact that Pelsaert’s original falling out with Jacobsz was over the former’s discovery that the skipper was engaging in private trade, Pelsaert is travelling with a chest containing four bags of jewels, together with an extremely valuable foot-long agate cameo that is over 1000 years old.

The cameo comes from the Eastern Roman Empire and was created early in the fourth century to celebrate Constantine the Great’s coronation (it depicts his family in a classical scene). It is rumoured to be owned by the great Flemish painter Peter Paul Rubens, and the famed Amsterdam jeweller and agent Gaspar Boudaen has had it mounted within an enamelled frame of silver gilt encrusted with precious stones. Pelsaert thinks it will likely find favour at the Mogul court, where he will hopefully be able to sell it at a profit of 50 per cent. That profit will have to be shared with both Boudaen and the VOC itself – for Pelsaert has at least been careful to inform the Company of it, and it has allowed it. For all aboard the ship, the authority of the Company is like a palpable force, an unseen presence that extends from bow to stern.

It is not only the Batavia’s officers who are obliged to swear fealty to the VOC at the moment of taking up their commission; it is the crew too. Just a short time before departure, a high Company official with the post of Monster-Commisaris came aboard to ensure that every post on the ship was filled, to read to the crew the ship’s articles – the regulations they must obey and the severe penalties they face if they breach those regulations – and to hear each crew member swear their own oath of allegiance before him.

 

Now, when anyone high in the hierarchy of the Company gives an order to someone lower, he does so in the total confidence of having the full weight of the Company behind him. This applies to none more so than Pelsaert, who is the very embodiment of Company power. And if soldiers and sailors complain about anything at all to do with the VOC – their terms of employment, the ship, the skipper, Pelsaert himself, anything – the reason they whisper such complaints only to their closest confidants is that it is understood by everyone that the Company is among them at all times, that the walls, the decks, the very hatch doors themselves have eyes and ears, and any disloyalty to the Company risks severe punishment.

And yet, during these first glorious hours of the journey, there is no complaint from anyone. All aboard are aware that this is not just another trip to the East Indies, on just another ship. Apart from being one of the finest ships that the Dutch Republic has ever constructed, she also bears the richest cargo ever assembled. And they are on her!

 

For all of those new to life on the high seas, their education starts early. The first and most important rule, of course, is to always expect the unexpected . . .

At two o’clock on the afternoon of their first day at sea, the Batavia, with her fleet close in behind, is heading sou’ by sou’-west on course for the Kanaal, the Dutch coast still on her port quarter and a strongish breeze blowing from aft. The first clue Pelsaert has that they might be in for a spot of trouble comes when he is on the poop deck trying to get some fresh air to counter his rising nausea. Here, he sees Skipper Jacobsz gazing worriedly westwards at the thick black clouds that have suddenly appeared.

Whereas the instructions to the sailors were previously so obvious that the first mate could do them on his own, now Jacobsz takes over the entire operation and barks orders nineteen to the dozen: ‘Bear a hand, heave ’round! Boots, boots, get those men on deck, everybody up, sailors all, may lightning strike you, come up, you cursed dogs.’

While those sailors who are within earshot jump to it at these commands, most receive them via the bosun, Jan Evertsz, who relays them to the dozens all around the ship, who once again go shinnying up and down the masts and across the spars to reset the sails. And, to ensure that even those in the farthest reaches of the ship’s rigging can follow these instructions, the chief trumpeter, a man by the name of Claas Jansz, and another man known to the crew as Cornelis de Dikke Trompetter, Cornelis the Fat Trumpeter, hover close to Evertsz and listen carefully.

 

Following the nautical fashion of the day, for every command coming from the captain, Claas and Cornelis the Fat Trumpeter have a brief signal, which they instantly blare out, pointing their trumpets to all three masts so that all will hear. No sooner has the order ‘Alle hens aan dek!’, all hands on deck, come than Claas and Cornelis emit a toot toot toot-de-toot-toot toot, resounding from one end of the ship to the other and down the hatches, as the 40 sailors who are on watch dance to their tune.

When the captain shouts, ‘Heave to, heave to, I say! Take down the top and the mainsails, you schobbejakken, bastards!’ they spot the relevant command, to haul in the mainsail, and a toooooot-toot-toot, de toot-de-toot-toota does the trick. And so it goes. All put together, each sailor is an integral part of a system that is as comprehensive as it is cohesive.

True, Jacobsz is not kind in his commands to those sailors who are nearby – ‘You there, you slothouten, piece of wood, get that cable-rope or I will give you a beating so you will shit your soul’ – but no one takes particular offence, because that is just the Dutch-mariner way of speaking.

In a similar fashion, Jan Evertsz, he with the heavily scarred and weathered visage of one who has spent equal amounts of time at sea and in tavern brawls, is rough in his manner but still respected by the sailors, who follow his orders without question. He has risen to the position of high bosun because of his ability to organise his sailors quickly in complex operations, and being rough is simply part of the way things are done.

‘Come,’ Jacobsz continues to cry, ‘move like one man, and to the health of all zwartinnen, black women, in the East Indies, and all Dutch girls. Come, move like one man!’

And move like one man they do. As if by magic, the sails suddenly diminish to just a quarter of what they were, which is as well, for only minutes after that the skies darken and the light swell develops into battering waves. Now the Batavia and her fleet are in the middle of a murderous maelstrom that old salts would later say was one of the worst experienced in that part of the world. (Pelsaert will have to take their word for it. Having retired to his cabin well before the worst of the storm hits, he spends most of its duration lying on his bunk groaning.) If the Batavia is somewhat steadier in the storm than the other ships, less prone to being bounced around by the waves and winds, this is due to both her size and the amount of heavy cargo she is carrying, as well as the expertise of Skipper Ariaen Jacobsz.

In such a ship, and under such captaincy, for many hours it seems probable that the Batavia will be able to weather the ferocity of even this storm without bad damage. This continues to be the case right up until the hour before the storm blows itself out, when, with one last mighty effort, a fiercely focused gale from the west suddenly propels the Batavia onto the Walcheren Banks, the sandbars just off the Dutch Republic’s Walcheren Island, which guards the approaches to the port of Antwerp.

 

With the ship stuck in the sand, the Batavia’s heavy load, which has been an asset to their safety, now becomes a major liability. The wind howls and the ocean roars – nearly, but not quite, as loudly as Jacobsz as he continues to yell orders to his sailors and imprecations to the nautical gods in equal measure. And, in the end, it is a close-run thing. A lesser captain would likely have foundered, but in a crisis like this Jacobsz is as good as it gets, and this time he also has fortune on his side. For what aids the skipper and his sailors greatly is that the Batavia has hit the banks near low tide, and when the high tide comes in the added buoyancy lifts them off.

Alas, other ships in the convoy are not so lucky, nor so expertly skippered or crewed, and the Gravenhage is badly damaged. Once the storm has abated, that ship is only just able to limp into the Dutch port of Vlissingen, to be repaired in the VOC shipyard in nearby Middelburg, where she will remain for many months.

November 1628, Atlantic Ocean

With the Batavia at its head, the fleet again sails on, continuing down through the North Sea, then the Kanaal, before heading south down the coast of France, then Portugal, and then down the coast of Africa, which appears to be nearly as green as their water.

After the initial excitement of the departure and the early storm, the sense of adventure starts to dissipate now that the long journey proper has begun. A voyage of some 15,000 miles awaits, no less than two-thirds of the world’s circumference, at an average speed of just five knots – not a whole lot faster than walking pace.

Lucretia, like all those new to sailing on a retourschip, is learning how it all works. While Skipper Jacobsz sleeps in the grandest room on the ship, the Great Cabin, Pelsaert’s quarters lie between the Great Cabin and the Steering Galley, and her own quarters are just above them, high in the aft of the ship, and right there is the first lesson. Broadly, the elite members of the ship’s company can be found in this very area, while the lower classes are well fore of the mainmast, and the lowest of the low – a misbehaving sailor, perhaps, being punished for breaching regulations – can be found in the foremost and lowest compartment of all: ‘the hole’, a small cell in the for’ard part of one of the lower decks that is too small to either stand or lie in.

Also near to Lucretia’s cabin is the Predikant, the esteemed preacher Gijsbert Bastiaensz, with his wife, Maria Schepens, and their family of seven children. Their ages range from their oldest son, Bastiaen, who is 24, through their oldest daughter, Judick, 21, Pieter, 19, Willemyntgien, 14, Johannes, 13, Agnete, 11, and their youngest son, Roelant, who is just eight – and with so many of them they are packed into the cabin as tightly as a school of herring coming up the Zuyder Zee.

 

And, though so fine a lady as Lucretia would never venture there, whole different worlds of the Batavia lie well beneath her feet. One deck down from the Great Cabin is the gun deck, where, all among the many guns, reside those whose job it is to maintain and fire the cannons and sail the ship. They sleep on their small mattresses of canvas filled with horsehair on the oaken deck beside their sea chests containing their belongings, or on hammocks above the same. All up, there are no fewer than 180 of them, crammed into a tiny space stretching from the galley to the bows. Never are the common sailors allowed to move from their position for’ard of the mainmast to aft of it, where the constabel, master-gunner, and his under-officers hold sway.

The constabel is ultimately responsible for all of the weaponry on board – the muskets and cannons – and all of the gunpowder, which is to be found in the armoury. If ever there is a battle, it will be his men who will fill the kardzoen, the paper sacks, with that gunpowder, to be delivered to each cannon as it is needed, and it is he who is ultimately responsible for the security of that armoury. Hence, the particular insistence that none of the common sailors venture aft, to get even remotely close to that armoury. If they breach that strict regulation, a lashing is a bare beginning to the punishment they can expect. It is equally verboden, forbidden, to wander to any other part of the ship, and even up to one of the top decks if it is not their watch, without being escorted by a petty officer.

At least the sailors can get some fresh air and light when the gun ports are open, but those ports have to be firmly closed at the first sign of foul weather. They must void their bowels through one of two latrines – small holes in planks cantilevered over the bow of the ship, entirely public in nature and exposed to the elements. An optional extra is to haul up a line that trails in the seawater below and, through assiduous application of its frayed end, roughly clean one’s nether region before tossing it back in the sea. As desperately uncomfortable as this process of allemanseindje, literally ‘all men’s end’, may be, there is no alternative.

The gun deck has the only open fire on the entire ship, which is to be found in the galley, right near the middle, where the mainmast finds its way through to rest on the keel far below. This galley, filled with shining copper cauldrons, is heavily lined with firebricks to stop a stray spark escaping and setting fire to the whole wooden vessel. It is here that nigh on a thousand meals a day are cooked.

Just opposite the galley is a small room where the daily amount of food required – brought up every morning from the storerooms in the hold – is put to be prepared. A little along from that room is the surgeon’s room, and though it is not necessarily a reflection of the VOC’s view that the food produced by the galley is likely to make the ship’s company sick, it is still a propitious proximity.

The role of the sailors is of course to raise and lower the sails at the skipper’s command, set them to the wind, swab the decks, repair the sails and the lines, and do those myriad things necessary to keep the ship moving around the clock through all weathers and climes.

As to the sailors who are also gunners, theirs is primarily a defensive role, to repel any attacks from those hostile Portuguese or Spanish ships they might encounter. The gunners may even, if the occasion warrants, be required to fire upon the Javanese, who have reportedly been troublesome of late, around the citadel of Batavia.

 

The various craftsmen necessary to maintain the ship share cabins that are scattered all over her, often below the gun deck. They are the carpenters, constantly checking, repairing and replacing the Batavia’s multitude of wooden fittings, from deck board to stump atop the mainmast, from the truck at the taffrail to the head of the prow, not to mention all the stays and the yardarms, the halyards and braces; the caulkers, to pack the seams of the hull with pitch mixed with oakum (unpicked rope) or moss, to ensure that it remains absolutely watertight; the sailmakers, to constantly repair the set of the ship’s sails not currently in use, together with their attendant lines, which are always wet and always rotting; the cooks and their helpers, to turn the ever more rancid stores into three hopefully palatable meals a day; and the Commandeur’s secretary, bookkeepers and clerks, who will formalise Pelsaert’s many deliberations and ideally be always at his right shoulder in the waking hours.

And finally, way down in the depths of the ship, on the orlop deck, which runs with an extremely low ceiling for most of the length of the vessel, in a spot that smells and feels like the inside of the bowels of a massive beast, are the hundred-odd soldiers – mostly Dutch, though many from Germany, a few from France and a scattering from other European countries, including one from England – all on their way to do a tour of duty in the East Indies.

The separation of the soldiers from the rest of the ship is by strict design, as the VOC has learned to its cost over the years that, like gun oil and saltwater, soldiers and sailors do not mix well. This natural enmity is worsened by the fact that, during bad weather, when the gun ports are closed, all is dark and it is too dangerous to use the latrines, it is not at all uncommon for the sailors to use the open hatches down to the soldiers’ deck as an alternative spot to void themselves. The soldiers have come to feel a bit grim about it, but such is their lot.

As the soldiers are mercenary men of martial but not nautical skills, it means that unless the Batavia is attacked by another ship – or an exceedingly unlikely attack comes from within – there is little use for them until they reach the East Indies. Fresh air? Only when all the hatch doors between decks are occasionally thrown open does the bravest air hazard below to confront the outrush of fug most foul. But with even the mildest bad weather, the hatches are battened down to protect the ship, and the soldiers have to live, just, with the air they already have. Sometimes, however, the soldiers do manage to rig up a special apparatus called a ‘windsail’ – a large open bag in the rigging connected to a kind of hose, with the whole thing designed to get some fresh air into the lower parts of the ship. Occasionally, it even works.

 

Mostly, though, the soldiers on the orlop deck are doing one of three things. Primarily, they are sweltering in the dark rancidness, together with burgeoning colonies of rats, weevils, lice and other disgusting vermin. Sometimes, after arriving on the deck amid a waft of stench – exacerbated by the fact that, as there is no spare water for washing clothes, they often use their own urine, to provide that extra shine – furiously blinking from the sudden burst of light, they are seen to do training exercises in preparation for their tour of duty in Batavia. And, very occasionally, they are undertaking their own watches at key points on the ship. This includes mounting an around-the-clock watch on the armoury, the powder room and the Great Cabin.

While the mercenary soldiers are the manifestation of the VOC’s iron rule, this watch-keeping responsibility takes up very little of their time, as they are so many and the role requires so few at any given time. They are therefore broadly treated much the same as dumb cargo. They live and sleep in the darkness of the orlop deck, below the waterline.

At least one comfort for quite a few of the soldiers and a sprinkling of the sailors is that they have their wives and mistresses with them – and some even have children, too. The nominal leader of the soldiers, for example, Corporal Gabriel Jacobsz, has both his wife, Laurentia Thomas, and his seven-year-old daughter by his side. It is their intention that, once they reach Batavia, they will all live in the garrison together. Gabriel Jacobsz’s daughter is very good friends with six-year-old Hilletje Hardens, whose father, Hans, is one of Gabriel Jacobsz’s soldiers, and whose mother, Anneken, is also on the voyage. Notwithstanding the incredibly small space allowed them, it really is possible to have at least the rough vestiges of family life, and the sounds of the two girls constantly giggling as they play with their dolls is pleasing to all. Sometimes, to the great delight of the girls, they get to play with a real baby, as one of the women on their deck, Mayken Cardoes, gave birth not long after leaving Amsterdam, and she occasionally entrusts her little one to the girls to look after.

Upper-Trumpeter Claas Jansz is accompanied by his wife, Tryntgien Fredericxs, and she is in turn squiring her younger sister Zussie out to the East Indies on the reckoning that in those climes, where European women are only a small part of the population, she may well find the man of her dreams.

For such are the times that, while these women and children, and the other wives and mistresses, are neither paying passengers nor doing any work to keep the ship going, the Company is prepared to tolerate their presence. The fact is, it encourages the men to make the trip in the first place, and it also helps to get much-needed decent Dutch women into the Batavia settlement. The VOC is delighted that the gunner Jan Carstenz has brought his own notably beautiful wife, Anneken Bosschieters, with him, because they are precisely the kind of people who might, after Jan has served his time, become Vrijburgers, perhaps on one of the 68 estates in the Spice Islands.

 

Finally, there is a scattering of other women living among the sailors and soldiers – some even disguised as men to inveigle their way aboard the ship. They are women of adventure, lured by the dream of getting to the exotic East, in the only way they know how. Some are of easy virtue, some not, but in both cases the Company takes a less benign view of their presence. So numerous do they become on voyages to the East that within a year of the voyage of the Batavia, the Governor-General of the East Indies will write to the Heeren XVII of a recently arrived fleet:

Click Here


The likes of Lucretia, of course, will seldom see such women, not even from a distance. For all the people travelling on the Batavia, a strict segregation policy applies. Rarely would such a lady as she demean herself by going down to the lower decks, amid the stench of vomit, excreta and filthy clothes, and among all those toothless sailors on the gun deck – and still less would she venture into the even darker and more putrid netherworld of the soldiers on the deck below. Nor would such women as the strumpets who lived in that world ever set foot in such regal areas as the Great Cabin, the poop deck or the other cabin areas.

Yes, there are the occasional times when Lucretia is out on the quarterdeck herself, but never at the same time as those from below. To begin with, any kind of regular ‘promenading’ is out of the question. That would require a stretch of bare deck, and there simply isn’t any, covered as it is in endless coiled lines, men repairing sails, carpenters sawing, soldiers patrolling and other passengers just like her, simply occupying a precious bit of space in the open air. To move through them is out of the question.

It turns out that Lucretia is somewhat isolated on the ship. Gay chatter is in short supply for the belle of the Batavia, as it quickly becomes obvious that, while most of the men cannot take their eyes off her, most of the female passengers seem to have taken something of a set against her . . . perhaps for that very reason.

Of course, there is always her maid, Zwaantje Hendrix, to talk to, but one doesn’t really converse with one’s servant so much as command her. While it is possible to be on a friendly basis with hired help, that does not properly describe Lucretia’s relationship with Zwaantje, whom she frankly regrets employing. It was a last-minute thing, as was Lucretia’s decision to come to the East Indies in the first place.

It isn’t that Zwaantje is foul-mouthed around her mistress – for she wouldn’t dare – but certainly when the maid thinks Lucretia is out of earshot she is more than merely common and . . . and, well, the other thing is that Zwaantje attracts male attention like a mangy dog attracts fleas. Lucretia is, of course, well used to keen male attention, but it has always been of the most genteel kind. Zwaantje, however – who, it has to be said, has a body reminiscent of a ship’s hourglass – has about her the manner of a bawdy wench, and males are always competing for her interest in the most outrageous manner. And she appears to love every second of it. Lucretia can barely bear to be around it.

 

No, the only person whom Lucretia really enjoys talking to during this first part of the long voyage – and he appears to return the compliment – is Commandeur Pelsaert.

A man of her own class, with an eye for the ladies, the good Commandeur always treats her with elaborate respect, never fails to make time for her and continually enquires as to her health and whether anything can be done to make her more comfortable. As to the Commandeur’s own health, Pelsaert appears to have departed Texel continuing to ail from his old Indian malady, and it is with increasing frequency that he confines himself to his quarters.

And yet, he is still not confined frequently enough for Jacobsz’s liking. Whenever Pelsaert comes out on the deck and is anywhere near the skipper, the latter bristles, feeling invaded and trying desperately hard to remain polite, but not always succeeding.

For all of his ongoing illness, Pelsaert is not so sick that he cannot sometimes arise, and on one occasion he finds the captain all at sea on the fo’c’sle deck, passing around a bottle of Oude Jenever, old Dutch gin, and regaling some sailors with stories of the south-sea strumpets he has had. Enraged at the breach of protocol, Pelsaert upbraids Jacobsz before his men in the strongest of terms.

‘Skipper Jacobsz,’ he begins, struggling for control, ‘why are you unable to conduct yourself with the dignity that your rank merits? May I remind you, you are no common seaman but a captain of the premier ship of the VOC? This is your preferred company?’ He gestures towards the common sailors with no little disdain, before continuing, ‘I suggest you forthwith retire to the Great Cabin.’

At the end of this terse conversation, both men stalk off in opposite directions, each clearly struggling to control himself.

Observing the exchange from a discreet distance, far enough away that it cannot be said he is intruding but still easily close enough to hear every word, is one Jeronimus Cornelisz.

Despite having no experience working for the VOC, by virtue of his education and charm Jeronimus has surprisingly been appointed as an Onderkoopman. Even though Pelsaert and Jeronimus only met for the first time on boarding the retourschip, he is now the Commandeur’s commercial second in command, in charge of procuring and selling cargo – the very meat and potatoes of the Company. Working closely with Pelsaert over the past weeks, Jeronimus has never seen the Commandeur remotely this agitated, and thinks he could stand to know more.

Skipper Jacobsz is also someone Jeronimus is still getting to know, but he smoothly engages him in conversation. ‘All is well, Skipper?’

‘Ja, ja, well, well,’ replies Jacobsz carefully, unsure just how honest he can be with a man such as Jeronimus, who, though he seems approachable enough, is still of the cursed VOC, and high up at that. One disloyal word about the Commandeur to a high Company official such as Jeronimus, if it is reported, could see him clapped in irons.

 

Jeronimus decides to alleviate his obvious fears. ‘The Commandeur can be a . . . difficult man . . . ja?’ he offers to Jacobsz with a smile. It is an invitation. Unburden yourself. You are safe with me.

And yet, while appreciative, still Jacobsz does not fully take the bait. ‘Ja, sometimes difficult,’ he says carefully in return, ‘but then, so are we all sometimes.’

They begin to talk, tentatively at first but then with greater vigour, as they execute a difficult pas de deux. Jeronimus encourages Jacobsz to express more and more of his distaste for Pelsaert while offering up just enough of his own criticisms to assure the skipper he is safe in being so forward. By conversation’s end, the two have formed something between a bond and an alliance. At the very least, they know they are of broadly the same view. Neither of them is a Company man, and both look with disgust on those who are, who define themselves only in terms of their employment by the VOC, of whom the pompous Pelsaert is a prime example. It is something of a relief to know that, in the other, they have an approximate equal with whom they can be frank.

 

The sun rises, the sun falls. The wind she blows, and the swell rolls on. The Batavia proceeds south at the rough rate of five knots, or 120 nautical miles a day. The only things for the ship’s company to gain perspective from are the Batavia’s faithful dogs, the convoy of other ships that are still on her heels, always essaying to keep roughly in position astern as the endless horizon stretches out its constant arms in every direction, making the once enormous Batavia and her sister ships look like mere model boats on a pond. There is little direct contact between the ships in the fleet, yet for many aboard the Batavia it is of enormous comfort to know they are there for them, most particularly at dawn’s first light, when it is certain they have not lost contact through the night. There is similar relief, after the passing of each storm, to count the six sets of sails in the distance and know that none of their companions have been lost.

For those not born to the sea, unlike stingrays, sharks and Ariaen Jacobsz, shipboard life is for the most part devastating tedium interspersed with irregular dollops of pure terror. For many, the experience is further worsened by long bouts of debilitating sickness, including the cursed mal de mer.

One who is particularly hard hit by seasickness is a VOC assistant from Middelburg, Andries de Vries, who, though blessed with a sensitive nature, has been cursed with an equally sensitive stomach. While others tend to recover from their zeeziekte, seasickness, after just a week or so, it never really leaves Andries, particularly when below decks. The only partial relief comes when he is allowed above and into the fresh air. Here, he ventures to stand in the middle of the ship, where there is least movement, looking towards the bow with the wind full in his face, while taking tea liberally laced with ginger – a remedy that traces all the way back to the first of the Arab traders on the spice route.

 

But there are pitfalls in being up on deck, too, stemming from some of the things he is privy to seeing. One time, he is up there and starting to feel roughly normal for the first time in many days when, before his very eyes, one of the ship’s butchers grabs a squealing pig from one of the pens and cuts its throat. With an opening mighty spurt that splatters Andries’s clogs, the pig’s artery starts shooting out blood as if it is water rushing from a heavy bilge pump, all of it with a force only matched by the force with which Andries, an instant later, is projectile vomiting green bile across the railing to the ocean blue below.

Those on deck watch him closely as he does so, because, whatever else, it is something different, a tiny break from the sheer boredom of it all. There is the swell of the sea as it always is; there is the horizon stretching out in all directions as it always is; there is the clear blue sky without a cloud, just as it mostly is . . . and there is Andries vomiting. I shall watch him.

Coenraat van Huyssen and Lenart Michielsz van Os, both from noble families, are the officers in charge of the rough soldiers two decks below, whom they will command once they arrive at the Batavia garrison. For now, they have very little to do with them apart from the occasional visit. Both men are young, good-looking and have a swagger to them entirely out of kilter with the minimal achievements they have registered in their lives to this point. Just like Lucretia, they too are learning quickly about shipboard life, but, unlike her, they move freely around the whole ship.

It is, they discover, almost a tiny version of the Netherlands afloat. Throughout the ship, merchants, butchers, bakers, soldiers, sailors and candlestick makers are all well represented, as are rich men, poor men, beggar men and thieves. And, just as a thriving city like Amsterdam has foundries, workshops, restaurants, taverns, tailors, apothecaries and doctors, the Batavia has versions of all of these aboard.

For music, there is, among others, Cornelis the Fat Trumpeter, who sometimes entertains the ship with his merry playing and renditions of seafaring shanties, which the sailors invariably sing along to:

In Amsterdam there lived a maid.
Mark well what I do say!
In Amsterdam there lived a maid,
And she was mistress of the whoring trade.
I’ll go no more a-roving with you, fair maid.

True, in terms of music it is not quite what those on the upper decks are used to hearing in the finest salons in Amsterdam, but for those on the lower decks it provides precious relief from the sheer dullness of it all, and for all of them it is a sound of home, of civilisation, of the world they have come from, and it is greatly appreciated.

 

As to the Netherlands justice system, it, too, is represented on the ship, by the provost marshall, Pieter Jansz, who is responsible for discipline. Even a relatively minor offence such as blaspheming, drunkenness or defecating or urinating where you shouldn’t can result in a public flogging or confinement in the hole. For worse transgressions, the penalties are very serious indeed, with most of the regulations devoted to keeping the peace on the ship and maintaining order.

If, for example, a sailor or soldier is found to have engaged in a fight resulting in bloodshed, then the punishment is clearly prescribed in the VOC regulations. The aggressor is to have one hand strapped behind his back while the other hand is nailed to the mast. And there he will stay until he tears himself loose, ripping his own hand apart. If the fight, however, has resulted in the death of another, then the aggressor can look forward to being bound to the victim and thrown overboard. As all sailors and soldiers know, if you refuse to obey an order from the captain you face either the death penalty or, if you are lucky, a keel-hauling – literally being hauled on a line under the width of the keel while the ship is moving. Some survive a keel-hauling, many do not. Meanwhile, all of murder, mutiny and sodomy bring a certain death sentence – with the one restraint being that all punishments meted out have to be accounted for once back in port.

For matters where it is not clear who the guilty parties are, the VOC’s regulations allow the Commandeur to set up a court of inquiry composed of members of the ship’s council, consisting of himself, together with the skipper, the provost, the bosun, the opperstuurman and the Predikant.

On the happier side of things, even the Dutch countryside is well represented on the Batavia, as the ship carries everything from roosters, goats, sheep and heavily pregnant sows in narrow enclosures on the deck and deep in the hold to plants and vegetables such as onions and carrots, which are carefully nurtured on the foredeck in the hope of providing fresh fare for the captain’s table for as long as possible.

Of course, the work entailed in keeping all such systems going is immense, and while the soldiers and the passengers might have a great deal of free time on their hands, the rest of the ship’s company do not. The busiest are the sailors, but they are not alone in being constantly in demand.

In the dispensary on the ship’s gun deck, right by the mainmast – a space slightly more than five feet square – the ship’s kindly surgeons, Maistre, Mr, Frans Jansz and his assistant Aris Jansz, keep their enormous supply of powders, pills and potions. Each day at 9 am, they have a consulting hour, where all those ailing from maladies, wounds, ulcers, boils, broken limbs and smashed digits can come forward to receive whatever help they can give. Often, the two surgeons are to be found applying such things as Egyptian ointments to cuts in the hope that they will heal more quickly, or ‘bleeding’ people in an attempt to cure their fevers.

 

The two men’s other duty aboard is to act as the ship’s barbers. (Both roles involve razors, after all, and at least it is some consolation that they are surgeons first and barbers second, as opposed to the other way round.) Frans is a decent, quietly spoken man with a kind word for all – a rare quality for one relatively high in the VOC’s employ – and Aris, though much quieter and self-contained, is equally highly regarded.

Meanwhile, down in the galley, the cooks are nearly always preparing for, or cleaning up from, a meal, while the cabin boys, some of whom are as young as ten and 12 years old, are scurrying every which way – both up and down and around and around – on errands of fetching, cleaning, shining, emptying chamber pots and taking messages.

None are busier than young Rogier Decker, the cabin boy whose province of operations includes caring for the needs of the Onderkoopman, Jeronimus Cornelisz. Despite the wide chasm separating master and servant, in terms of age as well as status, something of a bond has been established between the two in these early days of the voyage. This does not extend to sodomy – a common enough occurrence between high officers and cabin boys, despite the extreme penalties for being caught – but is more a meeting of the minds.

In conversations, Jeronimus has detected in the young man a certain naivety, a lack of gravitas, which attracts him greatly. It has been his experience that lads like this are a fairly blank canvas upon which he can work, ideally to steer him towards becoming a man of whom Torrentius himself might be proud. Behind closed doors in Jeronimus’s tight cabin, thus, the two often sit on the Onderkoopman’s cot together, the older man sharing with the lad the broad outline of his Rosicrucian philosophy. Flattered by the attention and fascinated by the idea of ‘no heaven, no hell, no consequences’, young Decker soaks it all up like a sponge. Day by day, Jeronimus is amused to see a new confidence growing in him, a certain contempt for others being expressed, a loss of respect for authority simply for authority’s sake. It all is very promising.

The key punctuation points of the day, apart from changing watches, are mealtimes. For the common herd below decks, salted beef and pork, dried fish, apples and prunes, beans, buckwheat and peas, and the hardtack biscuits manufactured in bakeries north of Amsterdam – all of them prepared to last a long time – make up the basic diet. Early in the voyage, it is not bad. But, while the ship’s hull has been fiercely protected against the shipworm and other parasites, the same cannot be said of the food. Put simply, although the bread-room, where they store bread and cheese, is lined with a thin layer of tin, there is little protection against maggots, weevils and beetles, and as the voyage goes on, just as bedbugs and cockroaches abound in the bedding, a constant part of eating is clearing as much of these vermin away from the food before consuming each mouthful. (It is for this reason that sailors in the city are always recognisable to the rest of the population for their notorious habit of automatically tapping their bread on the table, to make as many worms and weevils as possible fall out before eating it.)

 

Breakfast for those below decks usually consists of bread and porridge washed down by servings of low-alcohol beer (het Engels, the English, otherwise referred to as ‘small beer’). The porridge is served out in enormous wooden bowls, to be shared between six or seven mess-mates holding large wooden spoons, who go at it like ravenous dogs on a small piece of meat, each eager to get at least their share. ‘When the sailors are done feeding like animals,’ a roughly contemporary account runs, ‘for they don’t eat like people, they say: “There, he who can’t fart has to clean out the bowl.”’

And so he does, while the rest take their place ahead of him in the queue to get their beer. Each man is allowed half a quart from the barrels kept near the mainmast, and each serving into his individual cup is strictly marked off against his name. Those with the rank of bosun and above are allowed double this ration. While the supplies hold out – usually for the first six weeks of the voyage – the beer is safer to drink than the water. (Even the beer deteriorates, however, and begins to stink after a month. Water is even worse. The VOC buys its supply from an orphanage on the island of Texel, which boasts many freshwater wells with a high iron content. The iron helps stop the water from becoming slimy too quickly, but still, after some months, sailors are obliged to suck their portion between their teeth to filter from it both algae and a variety of tiny beasties that delight in making such slimy water their home.)

As to lunch, served at noon, it varies between half a pound of ham with beans on Sundays and such things as fish or pork with beans on the other days – also washed down with beer.

At the sound of four bells signalling the beginning of dog watch at 6 pm, dinner is generally a much lighter meal, usually consisting of leftovers and followed, too, by beer.

Among the elite of the ship in the Great Cabin, meals could not be more different to the fare served below decks. This is partly because the soldiers on the orlop deck are eating in near darkness, whereas those privileged to eat in the Great Cabin are in the only chamber on the whole ship that has genuine lattice windows, throwing an ethereal light on proceedings. It is also partly because those eating there don’t have to fight for food from a common bowl like those below.

But mainly it is because, here in the Great Cabin, there is full table service, with polished silver cutlery, crystal decanters and all crockery embossed with the official seal of the VOC, all of it served by cabin servants. The meals are without rationing of any kind, and during lunch and dinner particularly there may be as many as a dozen courses. These rely on meat from the freshly slaughtered chickens, pigs and lambs, or perhaps the fish caught that day, together with salads and vegetables grown on the upper poop deck, leavened with spices, cheeses, dried fruit and the like, followed by fine wines drunk from crystal glasses.

 

Most meals begin with the Predikant saying something that is meant to be merely grace but often turns into something close to a full-blown sermon, as the religious man meticulously ticks off all those parts of their voyage that the Lord might help them with, pausing only to regularly mop his brow as the perspiration simply pours from his jowly face, like water from Moses’s struck stone . . .

Of course, as the Predikant intones, his two hands lift high towards the heavens, as if to funnel his voice to the very ear of the Lord. In response, nearly all those gathered around the table – the likes of Commandeur Pelsaert, with his favourite notary beside him, Salomon Deschamps, the particularly pious opperstuurman Claas Gerritsz, and so on – have their own hands clasped as tightly together as their eyes are shut, with their heads bowed, their yawns stifled. But there are always two exceptions to this demonstration of piety.

Jeronimus has long ago come to believe that all such invocations to the God above are a complete waste of time. Though, under the circumstances, he feels obliged to follow form well enough to clasp his hands and roughly bow his head, it is sometimes beyond him to resist slyly glancing around with amused contempt at all this holiness gathered so tightly together. Frequently, thus, his eyes lock with those of Skipper Jacobsz, who has himself not a scrap of religion left in him. The little religious instruction in his upbringing has been knocked out of him in his travels through bars and bordellos across the seven seas in the company of sailors more familiar with filth than faith.

It is a rare grace from the Predikant in which a shared glance and smirk do not pass between Jeronimus and Skipper Jacobsz . . . and when their eyes move off each other, they always settle on a common point.

Lucretia.

For it is at such meals that both men are able to gain precious close-up looks at Lucretia Jans. She is a beauty, and, no doubt about it, a lady. Superbly coiffed, fine-featured, with stylish clothes that nevertheless don’t quite succeed in hiding the bountiful curves beneath, Lucretia is no less than breathtaking in her beauty – an opinion shared by every man aboard who has been blessed enough to get close to her.

A different kind of skipper than Jacobsz, a more proper gentleman, would keep a very respectful distance from this very virtuous Dutchwoman, who is married, to boot. But not Jacobsz. For, however much puritanical rectitude is a trademark of the VOC, it is not one immediately apparent in the captain of its leading ship, the Batavia.

Notwithstanding the fact that he has a wife back in the Dutch Republic, Skipper Jacobsz has long been in the practice of trying his luck with any attractive female who comes his way, and – given that he is not without either a roguish charm or rank – he has met with at least his fair share of success in this regard. And while Jacobsz is fully aware of Lucretia’s marital status and elevated position in society, he sees no reason why that should be an impediment to their enjoying each other’s charms to the full. With that in mind, he continues to insinuate himself into her company and engage her in conversation, trying to warm her up a little.

 

He gets no further than a gnarled old turkey might in trying to mate with a gorgeous young swan – it is certainly good for lots of laughs for everyone watching but that is the only tangible result.

While Lucretia remains formally polite, she is still able to make it quite clear that she has no interest in having anything other than crisply proper conversations with him, and even that is a stretch. There is about her a bearing of ‘I am a beautiful lady of high breeding, while you are an old sea dog of an indeterminate father and an all-too-familiar mother’. Or something like that . . .

A different man than Jacobsz would have tempered his attentions at this point. And yet still he tries, meal after meal, striving to impress the beauty with tales of his voyages across the globe, the places he has seen, the storms he has survived, using seduction techniques he has employed to great and unsurprising effect in dozens of brothels across the globe, from Bremen to Batavia itself. In response, Lucretia doesn’t so much listen as sit there stony-faced, as if she is silently willing him to stop, while certainly not uttering a single word that might encourage him. When even this position can no longer be sustained, she asks him to desist forthwith . . . before outright insisting that Skipper Jacobsz not address one more word to her. Not one more word! And she means it, too.

For his part, Jeronimus Cornelisz watches the daily interaction between Lucretia and Jacobsz with acid amusement, sometimes dabbing his lips with his still scented handkerchief to hide the smile he simply cannot repress. At one point, when a twinkling Jeronimus playfully chides Jacobsz for pursuing a lady so far above his rank, the skipper replies that he cares not; this particular lady is so fine he desires to tempt her to his will, and if she will not be tempted by himself alone, then he will tempt her with gold!

Jeronimus likes Jacobsz but is under no illusions as to where the skipper’s talents lie. For all his great abilities as a mariner, he is clearly a buffoon in matters of seduction, and in the person of Lucretia he is continually crashing upon a shore that bears him no welcoming harbour between two friendly outreaching peninsulas, and never will.

Personally, meanwhile, Jeronimus puts himself not only at the top of the list of those who want Lucretia but, more importantly, of those who deserve her. Is he not a sensualist almost by profession, who knows better than any man not so much how to please a woman – for who cares about that? – but how to please himself with a woman? And no matter that, to this point, he has himself fared no better than Jacobsz in his own careful advances towards her – she is as cold as a frozen Amsterdam canal to him, too – it is still only early days.

Jeronimus has long ago learned in his amorous career that, when pursuing a woman, even a seemingly unattainable one, it is amazing how opportunities sometimes present themselves, once circumstances have changed. Quite how the circumstances might change on this journey, he knows not, but there remains a good six months until they are due to arrive in Batavia, and anything could happen . . .

 

In the meantime, however, there is something that galls both Jacobsz and Jeronimus about Lucretia. While she has been fully resistant to their own charms, she soon becomes quite taken with those of that endlessly irritating cur, Pelsaert!

Oh, how gaily she laughs at the Commandeur’s stories, how deferential she is to his views, how interested she is in everything that being a long-time official of the VOC entails, as Pelsaert expounds at great length a broad range of subjects: his dealings with the Moguls at court in Surat; his rapid rise within the VOC while previously in the Indies; the intricacies of the indigo industry; the seductive properties of certain spices and scents; what they can expect when they arrive in Batavia; and so forth. And even helping him in his wretched spiels is his infernal notary, Salomon Deschamps, who was with him in India for nigh on eight years. He is sitting to his right now, knows all the best stories by heart and is constantly steering the Commandeur to his advantage, to make him look and sound even more impressive.

Glowering, Jacobsz tries to disguise his irritation the best he can, yet he only partially succeeds. He simply cannot believe that it has come to this, that this delectable Dutchwoman can see anything in Pelsaert. And yet it is true.

Either by way of refuge or out of simple compassion, Lucretia is progressively more drawn to Commandeur Pelsaert as the journey continues. He is a refuge to her because he is one of the few men on the ship who does not overtly leer at her, and she feels compassion for him because his illness has now developed to the point that he frequently has to retreat to his cabin for days at a time, and Lucretia has adopted the role of a quasi-nurse.

Just as Pelsaert is isolated from the men on the ship by his ill health, and also by his exalted rank, Lucretia is rather isolated from the women, and not nearly as isolated from the men as she would wish . . . so, like Jeronimus and Jacobsz, she and Pelsaert fit well together.


3 December 1628, Batavia

For those hardy souls living in Batavia in the East Indies, the towering citadel in the north-eastern section of the settlement is a source of enormous comfort. No matter that they have now effectively been under siege for the last two months, just a look at the well-fortified castle makes them feel stronger for the fact that if they are overrun, here is their shelter of last resort.

In the daytime, the citadel is visible from ten miles away, a profound statement of strength to potential assailants that they are wasting their time, for such a battlement could never fall. After sunset, its brooding silhouette cuts out a vast swathe of the night sky and reiterates precisely the same statement, albeit in a somehow more forceful way.

 

On this particular night, the silhouette of the citadel is also notable for the fact that – unusually – lights are burning on high, in the quarters where the Governor-General resides.

Perhaps he is entertaining?

He is.

It is a night to farewell one of the VOC’s most faithful servants in the East Indies, Admiral Willem Jansz, who has decided to retire and return to the Netherlands. Jansz first ventured to the Indies some 30 years earlier with the second fleet, was the captain on the venture that first mapped het Zuidland, the Southland, which lay below New Guinea and roughly 40 days’ sail to the east of Tafelbaai, and was beside Coen when they stormed Jacatra. He advised Coen on how best to subsequently defend the nascent settlement of Batavia, was the governor of the Banda Islands for three and a half successful years and went on countless diplomatic missions throughout South East Asia on behalf of the VOC, where he always proved himself to be a singularly valuable servant of the Company.

It is appropriate, thus, that on this, his last night in this key part of the Dutch Empire that he has done so much to build, he sits in the place of honour, right beside Governor-General Coen at the head of the long table at which sit all the senior VOC officers in Batavia. Toast after toast is made to his health, his wealth and a safe journey home.

The following day, late in the afternoon, Jansz gives the orders for the admiral’s flag on his ship to be hoisted and for the anchor to be raised. Taking advantage of the wind that nearly always blows off the land at this time of day, he sails out of Batavia on his way towards the Sunda Strait, to thereafter pick up the southeast trade winds that blow at that time of the year all the way to the Cape.

As Batavia recedes into the distance, the lucky sailors selected to make the long-dreamed-of return voyage sing what has become an almost traditional song in the prior ten years: ‘Vaarwel, Batavia, zeilen wij nu thuis’, farewell, Batavia, we’re now sailing home.

Tapping his foot to the tune, Jansz continues to gaze back on Batavia until it finally sinks below the horizon, at which point he sighs with both regret and relief. In some ways, he is sorry to be leaving, while he is still joyous to finally be heading home. Despite Batavia’s formidable defences, he wonders just how long the Dutch outpost will be able to hold on the next time the Sultan of Mataram attacks, for he has little doubt that another attack will be coming.

Early January 1629, aboard the Batavia, off the coast of Africa

They sail on.

 

By now, the Batavia has gone so far down the coast of Africa that they are very close to Sierra Leone, where they will briefly stop before heading sou’ by sou’-west, crossing the equator mid-Atlantic before entering Brazilian waters, enabling them to roar back across the Atlantic to the Cape of Good Hope. Working out their latitude on any given day – how far to the north or south of the equator they are – is a relatively easy matter, at least when both the sun and the horizon are visible during the day, or the Polaris star is visible at night. At noon, Jacobsz ‘shoots the sun’ – that is, while standing steady on the poop deck, he ensures that his marine astrolabe is absolutely level by pointing at the horizon and then measuring the angle of the sun above that horizon. Of course, the closer they get to the equator, the higher in the sky the sun is, and by consulting his carefully calibrated charts Jacobsz can work out precisely what latitude they are on.

In fact, highly experienced mariners such as Jacobsz and many of his crew can make a good estimate of their latitude even without using the astrolabe. At night, the closer the stars get to rising directly from the east and then moving up to straight overhead, the closer they are to the equator. Old hands know that, at the equator, the stars rise straight up, and the further they progress into the southern hemisphere the more the stars drift to the north as they rise in the sky.

As to longitude – how far to the east or west they are on the planet – that is far more difficult to assess, and the results a lot more approximate. Broadly, the only way it can be done is to estimate the average speed and therefore distance travelled during each watch and then chart their progress on the map. To do this, they use the time-honoured method of dropping a triangular piece of wood attached to a line overboard and having the sailor who dropped it count the knots that go through his fingers in the precisely measured minute.

Putting it all together, each day at noon, after the skipper has shot the sun, he then looks at the calculations of the previous six watches as to course and distance travelled to try to work out what their longitude is and therefore their actual position on the globe.


1 February 1629, heading southwest, Atlantic Ocean

Despite Jacobsz’s frustration at the way things have turned out with the belle of the Batavia, there is at least consolation to be found in the charms of her delightfully voluptuous maid, Zwaantje. For it takes just one raised eyebrow from the skipper when he and Zwaantje happen to meet one evening after dinner in the passageway near his quarters before, that very night, the ship is rocking a little more easily as she continues on her southwestward course across the Atlantic.

No ongoing relationship on a ship can remain secret for long, and, in the case of Jacobsz and Zwaantje, the skipper doesn’t even bother trying. Why should he? Pelsaert aside, Jacobsz is master of his domain, and he doesn’t mind the ship knowing that Zwaantje is his mistress.

 

Besides the many delights of Zwaantje’s body and her extraordinary dexterity, a bonus for Jacobsz is that his carry-on with her is clearly upsetting to Lucretia. Zwaantje being in the Great Cabin night after night further isolates the once high and mighty Dutchwoman on the ship . . . and as to Zwaantje herself, she is positively proud that she is the skipper’s conquest and doesn’t care who knows. She may have come aboard this vessel as a humble servant of a grand lady, but look at her now! As the skipper’s lover, in her eyes at least, she is second only to him in importance. She doesn’t care how furiously the fans of some of the fat wives aft of the mast are set a’flurry as she passes, what scandalised whispers they pass to each other, and she particularly doesn’t care what Lucretia thinks about it.

‘For shame,’ Tryntgien audibly comments as the skipper’s mistress flounces and bounces and makes her way inelegantly past.

‘Quite the lady then, aren’t we?’ Zussie mutters in agreement.

And yet, although the two sisters are caught between tut-tut and titter-titter, between being appalled and amused that Zwaantje is presuming a station so very far above her actual level, the truth is that just like her they are hugely enjoying Lucretia’s obvious discomfort at this development.

For the moment, Zwaantje still continues, nominally, as Lucretia’s ‘servant’, but she is done with bowing and scraping, and if Lucretia wants any primping she can do it herself.

Jacobsz – who has let it be known that if anyone even makes a sour face at Zwaantje he will not let it go unpunished – is further able to wreak revenge on both Pelsaert and Lucretia by putting it about the ship that this so-called ‘lady’ is herself doing a lot more in the Commandeur’s cabin than administering cold towels to his fevered brow. And this is not through love or even passion, he claims, but because Pelsaert is paying her!

Yes, Lucretia, for all her fine clothes, her airs and graces and educated accent, is little more than a common whore. It is an intoxicating bit of gossip, and the fans of the wives beat ever faster to its timeless rhythm.


10 March 1629, off the coast of Brazil

At last, at long last, the Batavia reaches the first major turning point on this trip to the East Indies. That is, some 18 weeks after leaving Amsterdam – including eight or so weeks heading west across the Atlantic – they are now off the coast of Brazil, and it is time to turn the ship’s bows towards the southeast and head back across the Atlantic to the southern tip of Africa, borne along by the currents and prevailing winds.

As is traditional when reaching these tropical latitudes before making the turn, the Commandeur and skipper celebrate the occasion in a number of ways, from doubling the crew’s beer rations to allowing concerts with accompanying dancing to be performed on the deck and having the ship’s company play games.

 

On this sparkling day, just after lunch, when all have bellies full of beer, the crew decide to play their favourite: the horse-thief game! After much debate, Jacobsz is prevailed upon to be ‘judge’, with the cadet van Huyssen and assistant David Zevanck as his ‘council’, who will sit in judgement on the ‘thieves’ – young cabin servant Jan Pelgrom de Bye and soldier Mattys Beer.

Jacobsz, crowned with a mop head as a wig, is seated on a regal chair situated on the upper deck with his two councillors seated beside him, as the ‘horse owner’, none other than Jeronimus Cornelisz, gives evidence that his best horses have been stolen by these two thieves. Ah, how the ship’s company, gathered all around on the upper deck, laugh and thrill to this play-acting as Jeronimus gives his aggrieved testimony. Judge Jacobsz and his councillors nod gravely to hear it, the thieves quake in their boots as they near the punishment they know is coming, and several other ‘witnesses’ – all of whom are leading members of the crew – follow up on Jeronimus and corroborate his testimony.

And now they near the climax. Having conferred with Zevanck and van Huyssen, Jacobsz gravely pronounces both of the accused ‘guilty’, and the punishment for Mattys Beer is to be hanged, while Jan Pelgrom will have his head cut off.

And here is the truly fun part! As the crowd begins to chant ‘Paardendief! Paardendief!’, horse-thief, horse-thief, a particularly enormous sailor by the name of ‘Stonecutter’ Pietersz, who has been appointed hangman, grabs Beer, ties a line around his midriff, throws it over one of the spars off the mainmast and then pulls him up approximately four feet above the deck. Now to the other prisoner . . .

For his part, Pelgrom is blindfolded and walked back and forth along the deck, with Stonecutter all the while pressing him to repent or else, before the thief is obliged to kneel and present his neck to the swordsman.

The climax approaches – ‘Paardendief! Paardendief!’ – as Stonecutter is gravely handed by his assistant, Allert Jansz, a ‘sword’, which is in fact a rolled piece of paper in which lies at one end, yes, a newly laid piece of human excrement.

‘PAARDENDIEF! PAARDENDIEF!’

Now, as the yelling and cheering rises to a crescendo, Jansz takes the excrement in his bare hands and whacks it all over Pelgrom’s callow neck. Pelgrom, too new to ship life to know this is what was coming, but still enjoying being the centre of attention, puts his hands to his neck, grabs a handful of excrement and then runs around smearing everyone within reach, as they all fall over each other trying to get out of his way!

How Mattys Beer, still hanging above the deck, cackles to see it all, yet the second-worst joke is on him. Once the fun with Pelgrom is over, Mattys is lowered, so the crew can pull his dungarees down around his ankles while a tar pot is produced – ‘PAARDENDIEF! PAARDENDIEF!’ – and as the crowd howls with laughter to the point of tears, his genitals are smeared with thick tar, which will take him weeks of scrubbing to get off.

 

Oh, how they fall about laughing, all of the ‘judge’, the ‘council’, the ‘witnesses’, the ‘executioner’ and the ‘horse-thieves’ themselves, reliving the highlights, mocking Pelgrom at that moment he realises the nature of his anointment. It has been a wonderful break from the tedium of it all and will provide a talking point for days to come.

Late March 1629, South Atlantic Ocean

Soon enough, however, the excitement of the horse-thief game fades and the tedium returns as never before. It hits hardest those of the ship’s company not raised in the nautical culture, to whom it all seems so unchanging, so seemingly endless. Day after day, on and on and on, with each minute dragging its weary way forward until enough of them are assembled for another hour to slowly slip away . . . whereupon another desultory, uninterested group of minutes begins to reluctantly gather.

And yet, nearly unseen, things are in fact changing ever so slowly the further southeast in the Atlantic Ocean they proceed. For, just as the barnacles are growing on the hull, and the wood weevils are gradually burrowing their way through the outer layer of oak, so do the vermin that have long been flourishing on the lower decks begin to go forth and multiply, making their way ever higher into the individual cabins, through the sickbay, steering room, surgeon’s cabin and, their favourite, the galley and storerooms, where they are soon all through the food and water.

The ship itself is slowly deteriorating – the once supple sails now salt stiff, the previously sparkling decks now worn dull by a thousand footsteps. So, too, is the health of all those on board under the unnatural conditions, for man properly resides on the land and not the sea. This decline is, of course, particularly marked among the soldiers on the lower decks, who suffer the worst diet of all, with the least exercise. Nearly all fall foul of the seafarer’s disease: scurvy. On their thighs and legs, splotchy blotches of purple appear that often turn into suppurating sores. Teeth fall out and skin turns pale even as prolonged bleeding comes from the nostrils, lips, ears, genital area and anus. As joints swell, sufferers find it increasingly difficult to walk. Terrible cases of diarrhoea – never welcome at the best of times but a disaster in the confined spaces of a ship – run like a scourge through the ship’s company.

 

Added to that, the temperature is starting to soar as the Batavia crosses the torpid tropics. The clinging, sapping humidity is slowly suffocating them all, making every breath a conscious effort. From the dawn onwards, the sun beats down, scorching all in its way and resulting in serious cases of sunburn for all who are exposed to it. For the elite aft of the mast, it is a hard choice between the cloistered, insufferable stillness in their cabins and the direct sun but relatively fresh air of the deck. Little relief is afforded by the shape of the sails, for most of their shadows fall on the water, or from a rough canvas awning that has been set up on the quarterdeck. And no matter how much the wives still furiously flap their fans, it only succeeds in making them hotter. For the VOC officers, hot is the only condition they know, dressed as they are in the heavy black woollen coats designed to withstand an Amsterdam winter but still in use in the tropics! The only exception is Pelsaert, who, as Commandeur, is dressed in a beautiful red coat of far lighter material. And, of course, the crew are steaming, too.

Most of those not engaged in the actual sailing of the ship choose to lie listlessly below, willing the day to pass so that the relative cool of the evening will return once more.

Under such trying conditions, there is little to mark one day from the next, save, perhaps, for the spotting of whales or dolphins or, more frequently, the sad occasion of someone dying.

In the latter case, in accordance with the custom of the VOC, one of two things happens. If the deceased is high in the ship’s pecking order, an effort is made to preserve the body – sometimes by soaking it in jenever, gin – until such time as landfall is next made and it can be given a proper burial in consecrated ground. But, if it is a person of the lower orders, the process is swift. The shrunken, suppurating body of the deceased is taken with his sleeping mat to the main deck, where the horsehair padding of the mat is emptied and the body placed inside it, with perhaps a couple of ballast bricks or cannonballs to give it extra weight and ensure it will sink quickly out of range of the sharks that would otherwise tear it to pieces. Then it is sewn up, with the crucial last stitch being put through both the fabric of the mattress and the dead person’s nose. This is a precaution against throwing overboard one who is merely in a deep coma. If there is no reaction to the final stitch, the person is deemed to be properly dead, at which point he is carried to the deck and taken three times around the mast. Then the Predikant takes over, often looking inordinately pleased to be the centre of attention as he solemnly intones the funeral prayer over the unfortunate newly departed. After the Predikant reads from the Bible, and the ship bell tolls and the drummer drums, the body is rolled from a plank over the side and committed to the loving embrace of the ocean. It is important, however, that the whole thing be done properly, as there is a powerful superstition among the sailors that a badly conducted funeral will see a restless soul returning to them, perhaps in the form of a storm or a monstrous wave. It has to be done right.

There remains one more part of the ritual. All of the dead man’s personal effects, the contents of his sea chest and the chest itself, are immediately auctioned off right there on the deck to whosoever would like to buy them, with the proceeds collected and kept to be later given to the man’s family. Usually, before the body has hit the seabed, the man’s personal effects have been redistributed, and the ship sails on.

 

At first with these funerals, there is some commotion attending them as people express their grief. As the weeks pass and the funerals become more frequent – no fewer than ten of them occur in these first months of 1629 – there is less emotion all round, as they are ever more part of the routine, and others of the ship’s company have little energy to spare to cry out anyway. Everyone is beyond exhausted, though at least, as they proceed south and leave the southern tropics, the days are getting shorter, the nights a little cooler and the days a little less blisteringly hot.






CHAPTER TWO

Cry Mutiny!

He often showed his wrong-headedness by Godless proposals . . .

but I did not know he was Godless to such an extent . . .

The Predikant, much later, looking back upon the conversation of
 Jeronimus aboard the Batavia

Jan Evertsz came to them, saying, ‘Men, there is an assault on

our hands, will you help to give the prince a pleasant outing?’

Pelsaert’s Journal

14 April 1629, the approaches to Tafelbaai, on the southern tip of Africa

Finally, after five months at sea, Jacobsz first spots the white Cape gannet birds with their black-tipped wings, which indicates they are close to land. Not long afterwards, they round the Cape of Good Hope. A full month ahead of schedule, they proceed towards Tafelbaai, a vast harbour at the northern end of the Cape Peninsula that has the Cape of Good Hope as its southern extremity.

Arriving here means that some two-thirds of their long, arduous journey is completed and that there should be at least a fortnight’s break from the sailing. In fact, however, it is not so much that they arrive at Tafelbaai as Tafelbaai comes out to them. As the ship blow-bobs forward, the gaping maws of the harbour reach out to swallow her whole.

 

Proceeding carefully, the opperstuurman, Claas Gerritsz, supervises a sailor on the side of the ship dropping a solid weight of lead attached to a line over the side to fathom the depth. It hits the water with a satisfying kerplunk and is rapidly consumed. ‘Zes . . . zeven . . . acht . . . six . . . seven . . . eight . . .’ the sailor calls as the leather marks run through his weathered hand, before the sounding line grows slack. ‘At the deep . . . eight fathoms,’ he shouts back to the ship’s officers on the quarterdeck, reassured that there is ample depth for the Batavia to continue cruising into the natural cove. As they carefully make their way past the several tiny islands dotted around the harbour, the first and most stunning object of their attention is the massive Table Mountain, looming over half a mile high with a flat, bare top and steep cliffs on each side. It towers over the whole bay, a brooding presence standing sentinel to the entire African continent, which stretches out for thousands of miles to their north.

And then there is the water. On this day, the wind is blowing hard from the north-west, making their entrance into the harbour difficult, and the water is a curious dirty red, almost as if a massive underwater beast is bleeding beneath them. By the time they make their way close to the shore and drop anchor, though, the wind has swung around to the southwest and the water has become so delightfully crystal clear that they can plainly see the anchor cable arrowing away to the seabed eight fathoms below.

It is wonderful to have finally arrived. Since early in the previous century, the bay has been a way station for European ships en route to the East. It is a place where supplies can be replenished after trading with the natives, the ship can be cleaned from top to bottom and basic repairs can be executed.

And now their attention is drawn to the shore, where they can see, for the first time, that some of the local tribe are gathered. These people – known to the Dutch as Hottentots – look to be very primitive. All but naked on the shore, gazing at the travellers, they look as small as children and as black as a coal mine at midnight. In the far distance, those on the Batavia can see what must be some of the huts the Hottentots live in, which appear to be a bunch of sloping long sticks angled so they come together at the top, bound by vines and covered in grass for protection from the wind and rain.

No matter. The most important thing is that these are a pastoral people, caring for flocks of goats, sheep and cattle, and it is possible to trade with them to get that livestock for the ship. The added benefit is that, as opposed to other possible bays and harbours within a few days’ sailing along either direction of the African coast, this port has a plentiful supply of water.

Within a few hours, all of the fleet that set out from Texel – less the unfortunate retourschip Gravenhage, which was damaged in the storm just after leaving – has made its way into Tafelbaai and dropped anchor. All of the ships then send longboats to the shore, loaded with the sickest of crew and passengers in the hope that a fortnight or so spent on land, resting in the tents that are quickly set up onshore, will help to restore their health.

 

Pelsaert, meanwhile, has a task that is even more pressing. As commercial Commandeur of the entire fleet, it is his role to go ashore and begin negotiations to secure from the Hottentots the animals they need for the lowest possible ‘price’ – as in, for the fewest trinkets, fans, plates, knives, small tools and pieces of metal they can get away with in return for the maximum amount of fresh food the fleet can carry. If the trading goes well over the next few days, the fleet will be able to take on board drinking water, meat slaughtered on the beach by their own butchers, a great deal of fish that the natives have caught and some fresh fruit.

To do the job properly – which is the only way Pelsaert does any job – it is necessary for him to be away from the ship for a couple of days, so as to travel a short way into the hinterland of this southern tip of Africa, where he can hopefully negotiate with some of the cattle herders living just back from the coast.

Though maintaining a relatively respectful expression the best he knows how, Jacobsz watches Pelsaert being rowed to the shore with no little satisfaction. While this particular excursion by the Commandeur is to be only a brief one to establish contact, before he goes on the major trading excursion, still the skipper cherishes it. Such sweet relief! He intends to make the most of Pelsaert’s absences and already has plans in mind. True, he is not getting any younger, and he isn’t quite sure just how much carousing he will be able to get through in just one big night . . . but he intends to find out.

But first things first . . .

Only a short time after the Commandeur leaves the Batavia, Jeronimus makes the mistake of entering the officers’ privy without first knocking, only to find that the skipper and Zwaantje are . . . extremely busy. Breathing a silken apology, Jeronimus closes the door firmly and moves on.


16 April 1629, South African hinterland

Dealing with the natives a couple of days later, Pelsaert does not even try a few words in the most basic form of the Hottentot language, as that is impossible. To the Dutch ear, their curious language sounds like nothing so much as a duck quacking, and he knows from his previous time spent there that, despite his own proficiency with such languages as Persian and Hindustani, even after weeks in these environs it is impossible to pick up a single word. Yet commerce has a spirit – if not a language – all its own, and somehow he manages. To indicate cows, Pelsaert makes a mooing sound; for sheep, he baaaas, and so on. Though the natives have no use for money of any description, they are particularly interested in all things metallic, which they refashion into their own implements, spears and body decoration.

 

16 April 1629, Tafelbaai

Generally, ships moored in Tafelbaai lie quietly at anchor through the night, gently bobbing up and down on the limited swell as the exhausted crew and passengers get some well-earned rest, at last free from the sheer exhaustion of being out on the open ocean and perpetually battered by the elements. At midnight on a moonless night, a passing Hottentot on the shore usually would not know that any ships were there at all, if it were not for the enormous lanterns – each one nearly as big as a man, containing candles inside opaque Moscovian glass – that are still kept alight, hanging above each stern and looking like a bunch of giant fireflies hovering in the distance.

But on the occasion of the Batavia and her attendant fleet being there in the middle of April 1629, it is different. On this particular evening, someone on the shore would have heard first an enormous commotion coming from the jacht the Sardam, and then, a couple of hours later, a similar brouhaha exploding from the man-of-war, the Buren. On both occasions, the commotion is at first somewhat muffled, as if it came up from the bowels of the ships before rolling to them across the water, and then it is much, much louder, as if the source of the noise has suddenly moved out into the open air.

From a distance, it is hard to work out quite what the trouble is, but even for the Hottentots, who understand nothing of the language being used, the tone is clear enough: a combination of drunken exuberance and outrage pure. And to those on ships close to the source of the noise, the words are all too clear.

‘Get f—d, you lowly dog who dares speak to me thus!’

‘Cur! Rascal! You would remove from your tiny toy tub of a ship one whose own ship would swallow it whole?’

In short, in the prolonged absence of the Commandeur, Skipper Jacobsz is indeed making a good night of it, eager both to drink and to show off his latest conquest. With Zwaantje by his side, and taking his newfound friend Jeronimus along for the trip, he has first gone ashore to promenade and after that rowed out to the Sardam. There, he has proceeded to get drunk to the point of total inebriation with that jacht’s skipper, at which point, in his usual way, Jacobsz is just getting warmed up. When he becomes querulous, he is asked to leave by the Sardam’s skipper. With Zwaantje and Jeronimus still in tow, Jacobsz then goes on to the Buren, where the same thing happens and he is again thrown off – though not before engaging in an open brawl with some of the crew and generally behaving, as it is recorded, ‘very beastly with words as well as deeds’.

17 April 1629, Tafelbaai

 

In the morning, Jacobsz can barely remember any of it, but that is okay because, once he has returned, Commandeur Pelsaert, armed with strongly worded notes from the scandalised skippers of the Sardam and Buren, is not long in bringing his attention to it. For the genuinely outraged ships’ skippers have not been long in making a full report of it, and Pelsaert, angered beyond measure that this drunken idiot has once again disgraced himself, cannot contain his fury.

While he is not remotely surprised that Jacobsz has been drunk, he is truly appalled by the progressively more aggressive manner in which the skipper conducted himself while paying visits to the other VOC ships in the bay. It is all the worse for the fact that Jacobsz is of the Commandeur’s own flagship, so this behaviour reflects dimly on his own leadership of the fleet.

It is an outrage that must be addressed, and it must be done immediately – the more so because, while the Batavia is in port, Pelsaert’s authority is paramount, while that of Jacobsz is at its lowest ebb.

Within earshot of those hovering outside the Great Cabin, and in the presence of Jeronimus, who has sadly been led astray by this buffoon of a skipper, Pelsaert unburdens himself of his considered view that Jacobsz is a complete disgrace to himself and the VOC. In fact, Pelsaert says, he has never heard of such behaviour from a VOC skipper, and Jacobsz must understand that he, Pelsaert, will be writing a full report on his ignominy, which he will submit when they get to Batavia, and the skipper will have to answer for it to higher authorities still.

Jacobsz listens the best he can but wishes to be anywhere but here right now, hoping only that the infernal Pelsaert will sometime soon shut his prissy mouth. Jacobsz’s own mouth tastes as if several rats have laid turds in it overnight, his eyes are blurred from the pain and somewhere inside his skull a large African man is pounding on a drum. In his own defence to Pelsaert, he can offer only that he was so drunk he did not know what he was doing, and that he had no idea that Pelsaert would take it all so seriously.

 

But the Commandeur is serious, as serious as syphilis. He is so serious that he now puts Jacobsz on his last warning. He either entirely behaves himself for the rest of the journey or severe measures will be taken against him. Those measures are not specifically spelled out by Pelsaert, but, as other VOC measures for ill-discipline start at flogging and work their way towards keel-hauling and then being broken on the wheel, Jacobsz is left in little doubt as to the extent of Pelsaert’s fury. In fact, these punishments are as nothing to the humiliation and fury the skipper feels at being so upbraided by a lowly cur for whom he has no respect, a cur who wouldn’t know a mizzen mast from a bowsprit. Without a word, he storms off to the ship’s interior, and is some time in emerging.

It is an hour or so before sundown when Jacobsz appears once more on the poop deck, and it is not long before Jeronimus, who has been waiting for him, is once again by his side. ‘All well, Skipper?’ Jeronimus breathes lightly.

No, all is not well, and the skipper does not bother to dissemble with Jeronimus, who, after all, was with him in the boat when they visited the other ships and can be expected to be on his side. ‘By God!’ Jacobsz finally explodes. ‘If those other ships were not lying close I would treat that miserly dog so that he could not come out of his cabin for a fortnight . . . and were I a bit younger I would very quickly make myself master of the ship.’

Whereupon, after his own due consideration of the skipper’s powerful words, Jeronimus asks softly, ‘And how would you do that?’

. . .

This time, it is Jacobsz who pauses, as the small swell of Tafelbaai continues to gently rock the masts of the Batavia in small arcs, back and forth, as if it is a giant cradle. How far can Jacobsz go, how much can he trust Jeronimus? In the end, he decides to pull back, to mull over what he has already said, rather than going any further.

In the meantime, after the initial lull in activity since mercifully arriving in this blessed shelter, it is time for the serious business to begin. The first thing is to gently take the ship into shallow waters at high tide, so that as the tide falls away much of the exterior of the hull can be exposed. And then to work! It is time to rid the ship of the weeds and algae that have grown over the preceding months, in parts forming a layer of mush nearly half a yard thick.

Once that is removed, the crew attack the barnacles that have also grown on the hull. Topside, meanwhile, other sailors scrub the decks with vinegar and sand them with ‘bibles’ – flat stones the size of the good book – to clean the wood. The lower decks are then smoked with gunpowder and juniper berries in an effort to kill the vermin, while all the bedding is dragged up into the strong sunshine to be aired, even as the artisans get to work caulking the leaks.

In this manner, the days at Tafelbaai pass relatively pleasantly for nearly all, bar Jacobsz, who continues to fester in fury. For most of them, it is simply a great pleasure to be away from the open sea and in the shelter of a bay.

 

As to those lucky few involved in the commerce ashore or tending the sick, they feel blessed to be able to spend a little bit of time on solid land. For them, the Hottentots are a source of endless wonder and even great amusement. One thing is to have the natives ‘dance’ – jumping up and down with their legs pressed tightly together while they rhythmically chant ‘Hottentot brukwa . . . Hottentot brukwa’, Hottentot dance . . . Hottentot dance, over and over again – and this they readily do for the simple price of a pipe filled with tobacco. Another amusement is to have the males show off the length of their genitals by saying to them ‘ karos naar de zijde’, sheepskin to the side. And, though the female Hottentots are a little more reluctant, they, too, can be persuaded. It is a great delight for the sailors to say to them ‘kutkijken’, c—t looking, with which the women would generally say ‘tabakum’, at which point if you handed over a small piece of tobacco they would lift their own piece of sheepskin and allow you a good long look. As to taking it further with the women, that is out of the question. Not only are they generally unwilling, but even if they weren’t, you risked having their husbands, fathers or brothers wearing your balls for earrings. No, the best you could do was hand over your tobacco in return for a quick look. It is something, anyway.

18 April 1629, Tafelbaai

Dusk is beginning to fall after this stunning African day and Skipper Jacobsz is just taking pause on the poop deck, surveying the ongoing scrubbing of the decks by the sailors, when he looks up with something of a start to see that a lightly smiling Jeronimus has suddenly materialised beside him. Strange, this man’s ability to do that, almost as if he is a spirit . . .

‘And so . . .’ Jeronimus begins, resuming immediately their conversation of a few days earlier, ‘you were going to tell me precisely how you could best and most easily make yourself master of the ship.’

Jacobsz is not surprised at the prompting. The way they left it last time, it was understood they would come back to the subject, and he has indeed been thinking it all over and has decided to trust the Onderkoopman. So he tells him . . .

To seize control of the ship, he explains to Jeronimus, it would need only a small number of committed men in the right positions. Once control was established, enough of the others would join the mutiny to ensure success.

Jeronimus, without himself saying anything that could be incriminating or binding, starts to press the skipper for details of his plan. It is true that in the entire history of the VOC there has never been a mutiny on any ship bound for the East Indies, but on the other hand there has never been a prize as rich as the one they are travelling on now. But, Jeronimus wonders, could Jacobsz really pull it off ?

 

The first key, Jacobsz explains, would be to separate the Batavia from the accompanying fleet, so Pelsaert and whatever loyalists he could muster would get none of its support. Then he and the mutineers would have only the ship’s company to worry about. The interest of Jeronimus quickens. It makes sense. Without the attendant fleet, the Batavia, carrying the richest cargo ever to leave Amsterdam, would be without any external protection and really would be defended only by the fealty of the crew and the loyalty of the soldiers berthed far beneath them on the orlop deck. But who, precisely, would help to seize the ship herself?

‘Let me have my way,’ Jacobsz replies grimly. ‘I am sure most of the officers will follow me and the principal sailors.’ He has particular faith in his bosun, Jan Evertsz, a maritime man after his own heart – fond of drinking and whoring – who may even be a skipper himself some day in the future. Evertsz is to those before the mast every bit as powerful a man as Jacobsz is to those aft of the mast.

Jacobsz continues to quietly sketch out a rough plan, as Jeronimus listens intently. Apart from Jacobsz’s enduring fury at Pelsaert, and the promise of the riches they will all share if the mutiny can be brought off, there is another factor inclining the skipper to see it through. Given his severe falling out with the powerful Pelsaert, and the fact that the Commandeur has promised to make a report once they get to Batavia, there are sure to be consequences. ‘I am still for the Devil anyhow’ is the way the skipper puts it. ‘If I reach Batavia, I shall get into trouble whether or not.’ Jeronimus gravely agrees that the skipper has nothing to lose and everything to gain.

Little by little, over succeeding conversations in the next couple of days, what has started as a bit of whimsy between the skipper and Jeronimus turns serious, as once vague and wafty sentiments begin to crystallise into a serious, hard-edged plan.

Though all knowledge of sailing a ship is well beyond the ken of Jeronimus, the more he talks to the skipper the more convinced he becomes that it really could be accomplished with very few. When he started out with Jacobsz on the subject of mutiny, he had just been testing him, seeing how far he could take him down that evil track, more by instinct than intent, more to pass the time than time an uprising . . . but now, now it is different.

 

Jeronimus first boarded the Batavia principally to get away from the Amsterdam authorities and to look for opportunities. He is now away from those authorities and this, he suddenly realises, is the opportunity of a lifetime. When he, a bankrupted man, looks at it – being on a ship with such a rich cargo, led by a disaffected captain who is promising to take all the risks and manage the mutiny – it seems to affirm that there is a God, and God is good, no, God is great! If God had not wanted him to engage in such a thing, He would not have set the circumstances exactly as they are – which is absolutely perfect for a mutiny to take place and for Jeronimus to suddenly be rich beyond his wildest dreams.

As one who spends an enormous amount of time in the Great Cabin, Jeronimus knows all too well exactly where the money chests are and just how full to the brim they are with astronomical wealth. Now, he and Jacobsz agree that if they can pull it off, they will both be richer than Claas Compaen, the most famous pirate of their time.

20 April 1629, Tafelbaai

The ship’s company has been notably happy at Tafelbaai, but, as is so often the way with those involved in maritime life, it is not long before the siren of the sea calls once more, when the crew of the Batavia must prepare to leave behind the safety of the harbour, the pleasures of the land, the delights of kutkijken and head once more to the open ocean.

As April is just starting to wane, thus, the Batavia becomes a hive of activity as all is made ready. The focus in the last day or so has been bringing aboard the supplies, including the freshly slaughtered meat, most of it now tightly stored in barrels. While it is the sailors who sweat and strain, hauling on pulleys to lift those barrels from the ship’s longboat and yawl up, over and down into the hold, the high VOC officials are also working hard, ensuring that all is properly documented. As this process of revictualling the ship is a commercial operation, it must all be carefully accounted for.

While Commandeur Pelsaert watches from the poop deck, it is Jeronimus and the Commandeur’s favourite bookkeeper, Salomon Deschamps, who are busy recording the net number of barrels, their contents, their cost and their position in the hold. With his decidedly elongated quill and his steady hand, Deschamps is a study in efficiency as he carefully writes it all down, constantly cross-checking against all the other documentation before him.

For his part, Jeronimus is supremely bored, but for form’s sake he knows that he must be seen to take some sort of interest. Personally, he finds both Pelsaert’s favouritism towards Deschamps and Deschamps’s extreme obsequiousness to Pelsaert as loathsome as they are laughable, but he must bite his tongue. Pelsaert had all too recently expressed his great disappointment to Jeronimus that he was present with Jacobsz when the skipper had so disgraced himself, and there is something of a strain between the two. It would not be wise to add to that now.

 

Nevertheless, as the hold continues to fill with fresh supplies, Jeronimus contrives to spend less and less time with Deschamps and more with the young VOC assistant also involved in the whole process, David Zevanck, who, it becomes clear, shares a view similar to his own. There is a sneering, cynical quality to Zevanck that Jeronimus greatly enjoys. Whereas Rogier Decker has been a blank canvas on which he can work, with Zevanck the drawing is already half-complete, with large streaks of blackness throughout, and he likes what he sees . . .

22 April 1629, leaving Tafelbaai

Just eight days after berthing in Tafelbaai, the Batavia sails on to her fate. At dawn of this gorgeous day, the anchor is weighed and the massive ship gently makes her way out into the open ocean once more, dutifully followed, as ever, by her attendant fleet.

Now, following closely the course set by Jacobsz, they all head first to the south and then steer to the east. Sticking closely to VOC instructions, for once, Jacobsz sets a course right within the karrespoor, cart-track, heading east between the latitudes of 36 and 42 degrees south. Their departure the previous October was timed to get them to the Roaring Forties when that wind is at its strongest, and his instructions are then to run within the karrespoor for 4000 miles before steering north-east until reaching the latitude of 30 degrees south, at which point they will turn directly due north and proceed to Java.

24 April 1629, Indian Ocean, entering the Roaring Forties

From the beginning, the Indian Ocean is different to the Atlantic. The water is more azure, the current beneath them stronger and more to their advantage, the dolphins and whales more plentiful and the bird life, while they are still not too far from the African shore, more abundant. And, of course, there is the promised massive wind, coming from dead astern just a couple of days after they leave Tafelbaai, and it continues to blow hard. It is as if, having escaped the torpor of the West African coast, with all its heavy air and dull days, the wind, the water and life itself have suddenly awoken and are rejoicing.

At least, mostly. For while most of the ship’s company on the Batavia are buoyant from the respite they have just enjoyed, and delighted to have such a strong wind behind them as they skim the waves towards their destination, that joy is not universal.

 

A couple of days at sea has not calmed the outrage of Jacobsz, and if anything his fury has grown. By now, the entire ship is aware of his humiliation at the hands of Pelsaert, and the skipper continues to thirst for revenge – perhaps even the ultimate revenge. After his brief discussion with Jeronimus back in Tafelbaai on the subject of separating themselves from the fleet, the plan has matured. In secret discussions with Jeronimus late at night in the Onderkoopman’s cabin, he has begun to look at the actual logistics of seizing the entire ship and all its treasures, killing Pelsaert and those who would remain loyal to him, and thereafter sailing whither they liked, from the Malacca Coast to the Coromandel and Madagascar, perhaps even as far as the island of Saint Helena in the South Atlantic – to all places that are beyond Dutch control. To accomplish that, they would need enough men willing to risk their lives to join the mutiny, but both feel it can be done if handled right.

To begin with, Jacobsz’s certainty that he would have the support of his high bosun, Jan Evertsz, is quickly confirmed. Jacobsz no sooner mentions to Evertsz the barest bones of the plan than the latter’s eyes light up and he announces that he is with the skipper in whatever he wants to do. Evertsz is a man earning just ten guilders a month, doing his bit to escort a treasure worth 250,000 guilders. To have his chance at sharing in that kind of wealth – to break free from the infernal yokes that the likes of Pelsaert are always placing upon him – is worth taking risks for. It is even worth risking your life for.

Late April 1629, Indian Ocean

Whispers on waves – the number of mutineers begins to grow in a silky series of hushed conversations, yet only Jeronimus and Jacobsz are in on who is on the list, who can be counted on when the clarion calls. In short order, Evertsz breathes to Jacobsz late one night on the quarterdeck that cadet officer Gijsbert van Welderen can be counted on, as can the gunner Ryckert Woutersz . . . the latter of whom Jacobsz is particularly pleased to hear about.

For Ryckert is a handy, stout man, known to have an ever-ready disposition towards violence, as witness the scars on his face, which show he has been on the wrong end of a broken bottle. He has the air about him of one who wants to even the score with the world – which is to the good for the job they need him to do.

Another wonderful recruit is the cadet officer Coenraat van Huyssen, who instantly proclaims himself eager not only to join but also to help in recruiting others. Coenraat has precisely the kind of persuasive skills and lack of conscience that they are looking for. And, sure enough, van Huyssen comes back not long afterwards and reports that Cornelis ‘Boontje’ (Little Bean) Jansz has also committed himself to the mutiny and will act whenever Jacobsz gives the word.

 

Ideally, Jacobsz and Jeronimus would like to have the leader of the soldiers, Gabriel Jacobsz, with them, but the word that comes back from van Huyssen is that it is not even worth trying. Gabriel is with his wife, Laurentia, a woman as tough as she is proper, who dreams of a new life with her husband in Batavia and who would have no interest in anything so unlawful as what they propose. Gabriel would not have been allowed to join a mutiny, even if he’d wanted to.

Far more promising, however, is Jacobsz’s second in command, Lansepsaat, Lance Corporal, Jacop Pietersz, known to the men as Steenhouwer, Stonecutter, for his extraordinary size and strength and the fact that he not only has been a stonemason but also looks like he could break rocks with his bare hands. On land, Stonecutter was known to ever and always be ready for a brawl, and as a mutiny is close to the biggest brawl there is when it comes to life on ships, he accepts at the first tentative approach.

Stonecutter soon reports, in turn, that two of his soldiers, two German mercenaries, Jan Hendricxsz and Mattys Beer – both in their early 20s – have pledged to him that if there is an uprising they will follow him. The hulking Hendricxsz, the biggest man on the ship by a good two inches, is a particularly worthy recruit, as he is intimidating just to look at, let alone to have to fight. Jeronimus counts him as the equivalent of having recruited two men.

Jeronimus, meanwhile, is able to recruit the gunner Allert Jansz, whom he has come to know in the course of the journey and has come to believe there is an extremely promising streak of evil in – and so it proves! No sooner has Jeronimus asked than Allert Jansz commits to the planned mutiny.

For the skipper and the Onderkoopman to continue to expand their list, it is now paramount that only those who are all but certain to join the plot are approached. They are acutely aware that if just one person is approached who refuses and then turns informant, all their lives will be forfeit. Another three men whom they would love to approach but do not, for there is such little chance of success, are the provost, Pieter Jansz, the opperstuurman, Claas Gerritsz, and his deputy, Gillis Fransz. Jansz, who is accompanied on the voyage by his wife, is a good, decent man whose prime job in life is keeping discipline on the ship and preventing the very thing they are planning, and he is second only to Pelsaert in terms of whom they want to keep their plans well away from. As for Claas Gerritsz and Gillis Fransz, they too would be prize catches but so profoundly do they pray at every grace, such devoted attendees are they at all of the daily services held by the Predikant, that Jacobsz and Jeronimus take the view that it is not worth trying. The rule is ‘If in doubt, leave them out’ – secrecy has to be everything, and there are to be very few approached directly by the skipper and the Onderkoopman.

 

Their one chance of survival, should rumours start to run, will be to deny all knowledge of it. And yet, given how many mutineers they have in powerful positions, it would take a brave man indeed to denounce them. And what could the Commandeur do if they are so denounced? With the skipper, the bosun and the Onderkoopman firmly against him, not to mention some of the most violent men on the ship, it is unlikely their accuser would live to make old bones.

Against that, it is important not to move before they are ready. And that is why the Onderkoopman and the skipper only meet in strictest secrecy, late at night, and only sometimes with those in the innermost circle of the plot – Evertsz, Stonecutter and van Huyssen being foremost among them.

 

On the afternoon of the fifth day out of Tafelbaai, the very thing that Jacobsz has been hoping for occurs. On the eastern horizon, an enormous black cloud appears, complete with flashes of lightning, and they are heading straight towards it.

Perfect.

Jacobsz is on the watch from midnight, right when the storm is at its most powerful – raging and cursing and hurling its worst – and just below where he is situated stands the helmsman in the steerage cabin, with his hand on the whip-staff. Just in front of the helmsman is a small compartment called the binnacle, in which the compass is housed. Now, though the helmsman can see the compass clearly, and some of the sails for’ard, he has no vision of the sea ahead and is entirely dependent on Jacobsz, or whoever commands the watch, for his direction. As Jacobsz tells him ‘starboard the helm’, the order is obeyed without question. Far below, the rudder slowly makes an angle to the stern of just on 19 degrees, and the mighty Batavia gradually alters course.

With that new course now set, Jacobsz moves to his next task. After assigning those on watch with him to various tasks that will take them below decks for a short while, he ensures that he is alone. That accomplished, he climbs the stairs to the poop deck, bends over the hakkebord, the carved top of the decorated stern, opens the canopy of the stern lantern and, reaching in with the rag he has with him for the occasion, snuffs out the light. In an instant, the poop deck is in near-total darkness.

 

On the trailing jacht, the skipper of the Sardam is suddenly apprehensive. One minute, he has the great stern lantern of the Batavia in his sights, and she is about two miles east by southeast off his starboard quarter. Then, he has lifted his head after lighting a pipe with his hands cupped against the wind and she has simply vanished! How can that have happened? For all of the fleet, the stern lantern of the Batavia ahead has been almost a talisman of the voyage, a sign that all is well. And now that it has disappeared in the storm, it is anyone’s guess what has happened. It is far from unprecedented for ships like the Batavia just to disappear in the middle of storms and sink within minutes. One huge wave, hitting at the wrong angle and flowing into the gun ports, and it can be over in seconds. Is that what has just happened?

A similar apprehension grips all those on watch on the other ships. On this, yes, dark and stormy night, there is no hope of discerning the shape of the Batavia in the moonlight, for there is none – it is completely dark. Straining to see ahead, wondering if they might soon perhaps come across the flotsam and jetsam of a vanished ship, and survivors clinging to wreckage or secure in one of the ship’s longboats or yawls, the rest of the fleet continues on its course, but there proves to be no sign. The Batavia seems simply to have vanished.

On the Batavia herself, spray from the storm-tossed waves keeps whipping over the deck, and the thunder of tons of water crashing into the hull is constant, but she holds her way, heavy enough to knock the top off some of the waves and streamlined enough to careen down the other side while remaining relatively stable. At her bow, the ship’s thrusting figurehead of the proud red Lion of Holland continues to leap into the storm, confident it can take whatever the elements can throw at it.

The same cannot necessarily be said for the other ships in the fleet, which soon fall far behind in the heavy weather, even allowing for the fact that they are now on an entirely different course to their flagship.

And, sure enough, come the dawn, Jacobsz is delighted to see that all other sails have disappeared from the horizon. Pelsaert is a lot less thrilled, but the skipper shrugs off his concerns.

‘Commandeur,’ Jacobsz says softly in his raspy voice, somehow managing to sound patronising despite the use of Pelsaert’s formal title, ‘you must understand that these things happen in stormen, storms. It is simply not possible for a fleet to stay close together when the wind is blowing. In any case, they follow the same course as us, and we will likely soon pick each other up.’

Pelsaert turns away without a word. Ja, Jacobsz is a good seaman and navigator, and he is no doubt the best captain the Company possesses – which is why he’s been given command of the flagship – but as a man he leaves a lot to be desired. Based on long experience, Pelsaert simply does not trust him.

He returns to his cabin, feeling ill. Will this cursed fever never leave him? It is, of course, the return once more of the sickness he picked up in India and has never properly shaken. Its regular reappearance comes at times when he is physically run down, and, having spent most of the last six months at sea, with poor food and little settled sleep, the Commandeur is not surprised that it has come back now. Not that it makes it any easier to bear for all that. All he can do is retire to his cabin, get as much rest as he possibly can and hope that this dreadful sickness will leave him.

 

Attending him are three people: the ship’s surgeons and Lucretia. Frans Jansz, the surgeon and upper-barber, who is in overall charge, confesses he is somewhat baffled as to how to cure the Commandeur. As a qualified medical practitioner, he knows that the body is composed of four basic ‘humours’, as in body fluids: blood, black bile, yellow bile and phlegm. Sickness occurs when those fluids are out of balance, and steps must therefore be taken to restore that balance.

And, of course, because this is the Commandeur, the surgeon is more than usually attentive to his ills and tries every cure he knows of. First, he doses up Pelsaert with an array of drugs and herbs, including a mix of some of the spices – cloves and nutmeg – that have come from the very part of the world they are journeying to. When this treatment fails to have any effect, alas, Frans tries ‘bleeding’ – taking a razor, cutting a vein in Pelsaert’s arm and collecting his blood in a bowl. It is his hope that this will let out some of the toxins in him that are clearly making him so ill. Alas again, there appears to be little improvement, so after a couple of days Frans moves on to ‘cupping’, which means, with Aris Jansz’s and Lucretia’s help, carefully heating small glass jars that they then place upside down on various parts of Pelsaert’s body. As the jars cool, the Commandeur’s skin is sucked up into them to the point that, when the surgeon takes them off, Pelsaert is left with many perfect round bruises that show the spots where the poison has hopefully been sucked out . . . But still he appears to be just as ill. Frans then tries purging – giving Pelsaert drugs to empty his bowel and his entire body of all the evil vapours and miasmas. All it does is double Pelsaert over with pain for hours at a time as his body tries to rid itself of what is effectively a low-level poison. Finally, it is time to try the last remedy in his repertoire. Yes, for the ailing Commandeur, the most powerful man of the entire fleet, it is time to blow smoke up his arse.

Frans uses a klisteerspuit, a big pewter needle, one end of which is carefully inserted into Pelsaert’s anus, while the under-surgeon, Aris Jansz – who has himself been heavily involved in trying to find a cure for the Commandeur from the beginning – takes a deep draught on a lit pipe of tobacco. Then, via a tube, Aris blows smoke to fill the instrument, before Frans Jansz presses the plunger down. Pelsaert groans, and his rectum is filled with smoke.

The idea is that the smoke, applied like this to the internal organs of the body, will have a cleansing effect, and the surgeons can only hope it will work. But not even this extreme method seems to make any difference, and, though Frans continues to closely monitor the Commandeur’s health and do what he can, in the end he decides that on the slim chance Pelsaert is going to recover it will have to come from within, as there is little more he can do for him.

 

As for Lucretia, she does not have anything like the surgeons’ huge amount of medical knowledge but believes that by attending the Commandeur, mopping his brow when he is feverish, bringing him water when he is thirsty, even cutting his meals into small pieces and feeding them to him as if he were a baby, she can help him immeasurably, and she is very happy to do it. Not only does she enjoy his company, as always, but it keeps her far removed from the hateful atmosphere she finds wherever she goes on the rest of the ship. If it is not the leers from much of the crew or the furious fanning of the officers’ wives whenever she passes, it is the sniggers from Zwaantje and Jacobsz as they talk behind their hands about her at mealtimes.

By this time, Jacobsz has entirely removed from Zwaantje the yoke of ‘servant’ and declared that, as his mistress, she is no longer to serve her own mistress. Zwaantje has joyously complied, and – most particularly without Pelsaert being able to assert his authority to protect her – Lucretia is powerless to do anything. And yes, of course Lucretia knows that the more time she spends with Pelsaert, the more she fans the rumours running around the ship that she is to the Commandeur what Zwaantje is to Skipper Jacobsz. But so be it. The kind Commandeur desperately needs her help, she is happy to provide it, so let them say what they will . . . for they surely will anyway.

Consequently, between Lucretia and the two surgeons, Pelsaert is never alone, and every time he emerges from his coma-like state there is someone there to mop his brow, dribble some water into his parched mouth and gently feed him spoonfuls of hot broth and small solids.

Early May 1629, Indian Ocean

In the meantime, in the absence of Pelsaert, the seed that Jeronimus helped to germinate in Jacobsz’s soul continues to flower. The skipper likes being the unchallenged master of his ship once more. There is something of the natural order about it. He likes sitting at the head of the table at mealtimes in the Great Cabin and not having to defer all the time to the Commandeur. Yes, he has given up on Lucretia, surly slut that she is, but now he likes lording it over her and inviting her former servant Zwaantje to sit at his side at the top of the table – something that Pelsaert strictly forbade when he was in the Great Cabin.

 

Jacobsz loves the discomfort this clearly causes Lucretia on the rare occasions she joins them from the long hours spent with the Commandeur. And when Jacobsz does humiliate Lucretia, he loves the particular reward that Zwaantje generally offers him straight after the dinner is over. For Zwaantje, he has come to feel more affection than for any other woman he has ever been with, and, entrusting her with the skeleton of their plans for the mutiny, he has promised that not only will her former mistress be brought well down – should they allow Lucretia to live, that is – but that Zwaantje herself will live as a great lady, with more jewels than she knew existed in heaven or on earth. Again, whenever he talks to her of it, Zwaantje is wonderfully expressive in the manner she chooses to show her deepest appreciation. And so dexterous . . .

Over the coming days and then weeks, the plan for the mutiny continues to slowly take shape, as the number of confirmed mutineers grows, first to a dozen and then a handful more. While that is not remotely enough to sail the Batavia, Jacobsz is confident that once they have secured and demonstrated their control of the ship, many of the sailors, in particular, will immediately join them. The most important thing is that they already have many of the key people. Jeronimus is second only to Pelsaert in terms of seniority within the VOC on the Batavia, Jacobsz is the skipper and Evertsz his high bosun. Stonecutter is the second in command of the soldiers. Whatever they lack in manpower to run the ship, they certainly have the requisite ability to manage it, and to navigate it once the takeover is complete.

The chief problem identified with seizing control is the soldiers on the lowest deck, whose job is to defend the Company’s interests at all times. The soldiers are not only a force to be reckoned with but also a force unto themselves. And whereas Jacobsz knows many of his own crew well enough to predict which of them might be prone to joining the mutiny, the soldiers he carries on the ship change with every trip and he really doesn’t know any of them. And while Stonecutter, as their second in command, at least knows them better, it is not by much. The soldiers have come together for this trip only, and he has never truly commanded any of them in a battle, or done much to form a bond with them, let alone know which ones would risk their lives in the course of a mutiny.

The way to counter them, then?

‘Why not,’ High Bosun Jan Evertsz suggests in hushed tones late one night on the quarterdeck, ‘simply nail the hatches shut?’

 

And the problem is solved. For there are only two hatches leading up from the soldiers’ orlop deck to the decks above. In the middle of the night, all the soldiers are asleep on that bottom deck, and well away from the armoury, where all the muskets are secured. So, by simply nailing the hatches shut, the soldiers will be trapped and unable to prevent the mutiny from taking place. Once the ship is secure and the other sailors have joined them, the soldiers can be dealt with – and again, Jacobsz is confident that once the soldiers are presented with a fait accompli, most of them will join as well. When presented with a choice of death or a share in the Batavia’s bountiful treasures – which they would add to by becoming a pirate ship devoted to robbing other ships of the Company – what else could they choose?

As to what to do with the passengers and Pelsaert, this also is the subject of heated, if hushed, discussion. Most of the passengers, it is felt, can be spared and, if they behave, dropped off on the first island or settlement they come to. But Pelsaert, of course, will have to be killed. If he is alive, he will always be dangerous, as he will present a rallying point for those who might not want to join the mutiny.

For his part, Coenraat van Huyssen is most insistent that once the mutiny is launched, he personally wishes to be the first to rush into the cabin with a sword, kill the Commandeur by slicing him wide open and then throw his body overboard. Another who is most eager to use blades of any description on whoever might get in their way is Ryckert Woutersz, who takes to sleeping with a sword beside him in his hammock so his weapon is readily available should he be given the word in the middle of the night that the time for attack is now.

The Predikant is troubled. Something has changed in Jeronimus during their conversations at mealtimes, and this is never more apparent than now, when Pelsaert is not at the table. In his whole life, the Predikant has never met a man so cavalier in his attitude to God, who does not speak of Him with reverence, who does not acknowledge the existence of heaven and hell, nor the primacy of the ten commandments as given by the Lord – at least when not engaged in trade on behalf of the VOC. And though he can’t quite say that Jeronimus holds such blasphemous views, there is no doubt that he runs them close. Time and again, whenever the subject turns to religion, which is nearly always the Predikant’s topic of choice, Jeronimus says something to the contrary, lifts an eyebrow, challenges a particular point and gives all to understand that it is not simply because the Predikant, or even the Bible, says something is so that it is.

As the Predikant would later describe it, ‘He often showed his wrong-headedness by Godless proposals . . . but I did not know he was Godless to such an extent . . .’

For nearly a fortnight now, Pelsaert has been laid up in his cabin, and so lacking is any restraining influence that Jacobsz has even taken to appearing arm-in-arm with Zwaantje Hendrix on the quarterdeck whenever the weather is fine – sneering in belated response to those who once sneered at their nascent relationship. Fast may the fans of the wives flurry as they pass, but neither Jacobsz nor Zwaantje cares.

And yet, for every pleasure does there not come a price? Just over two weeks after leaving Tafelbaai, Zwaantje has that paramour’s conversation with Jacobsz that is as anathema to him as it has been to many generations of men before him. Alas, the young lass believes she is with child. Verdoemenis! Damnation! Despite such events being considered the sole responsibility of women, this is not what Jacobsz wants or, somehow, expects. What to do, what to do?

 

Ever a practical man, Jacobsz is not long in deciding on the appropriate course of action. That very evening, he invites Zwaantje to one of the few truly private places on the ship, a place that only he and a very few others have the authority to enter, so sensitive is it: the constapelskamer, gun room.

Jacobsz and Zwaantje have just entered when, hello, who else should be there but Jacobsz’s long-time friend and fellow mariner, the gunner Allert Jansz. Hail fellow well met, and Jacobsz brings from under his coat three bottles of the Commandeur’s finest wine for them all to share, almost as if he was expecting Allert to be there. The skipper now proceeds to ply the two with generous amounts of alcohol before announcing with regret that he has to leave to check on the watch upstairs and he might be away for as long as half an hour. With a meaningful glance to Allert Jansz – all yours, my worthy – he takes his leave. A generous woman, Zwaantje is as liberal with her favours as Allert Jansz is to avail himself of them, and, just as Jacobsz knew would be the case, it is not long before the two drunken souls are engaged in time’s enduring act.

‘Pregnant, did she say?’ muses the skipper staring far out to sea. ‘And whose child do you suppose it might be, then?’ He smiles without mirth, drawing deep on his golden brown meerschaum pipe.


13 May 1629, Indian Ocean

‘And then, of course, once we have control . . .’ Jacobsz is saying to Jeronimus, before stopping mid-sentence and staring open-mouthed over Jeronimus’s shoulder, almost as if he is seeing a ghost.

And in many ways he is.

For there, wavering on the quarterdeck, suddenly back from the dead, is Pelsaert, closely attended on one side by Lucretia and on the other by his only real friend on the ship, Salomon Deschamps. The Commandeur has a drawn look about him. It is clearly an effort for him to stay upright, let alone move his body at all – he can only do so by leaning heavily on his elegant wooden cane – and his previously fleshy face is now so haggard that his rather bulging eyes have begun to take on the aspect of a dead fish. He looks, in short, nothing less than cadaverous, as if he has just arisen from his coffin, with his pale white face getting its first bit of sun in four weeks.

 

But he is upright, and walking, and even talking to Lucretia and Deschamps, and the very fact that he is here is a clear indication that he is stronger today than yesterday, and will very likely be stronger again on the morrow. His crisis is past. (Even if he does turn rather green around the gills when Jacobsz lights up his pipe and starts puffing smoke.)

Jeronimus and Jacobsz once again have Pelsaert to contend with when it comes to getting control of the ship. They are running out of time, and Pelsaert’s return among them changes the entire dynamic of the operation. Had he died, as they were expecting, Jeronimus would have been the highest VOC official on board and Jacobsz entirely unchallenged in his authority over the ship. With that joint authority, taking control and plundering it would have been a far easier matter. But now that Pelsaert is on deck, the Commandeur once again has all the authority invested in him, and it will now have to be wrenched from him by force.

But how? At this point they total just 20 committed mutineers and have not bothered to continue recruiting in previous weeks, because it did not seem necessary. They have signed up all the men they can without venturing into the very risky territory of asking those who may or may not be interested. And while 20 mutineers is good, it is not nearly enough now to seize control of the ship.

The problem is that most of the sailors and soldiers simply aren’t unhappy enough with Commandeur Pelsaert. To most of them, he has been a relatively reasonable, if mostly ineffective, leader of the fleet. He has not mistreated any of those under his command, not abused his position and not called for the flogging or keel-hauling of any aboard, which might have generated a bit of hatred. If anything, he is simply irrelevant.

What is needed is to find something that will turn the whole ship’s crew firmly against him, something that will make them rise up as one in protest over some brutal injustice he has visited upon them all. But what? What single thing could they do to guarantee Pelsaert punishing the whole crew in an effort to get at just a few culprits?

After furtive discussion late at night in the Great Cabin, the skipper, Jeronimus and Jan Evertsz come up with a plan. At Jacobsz’s insistence, they decide to involve many men in a job that could easily be accomplished by just two – on the grounds that the more men involved, the wider the Commandeur will have to spread his net, and the higher the chances that the ship’s company will be roused against him. The men will be led by Evertsz and include the likes of Ryckert Woutersz and Allert Jansz.




14 May 1629, Indian Ocean
Zwaantje is making Lucretia uneasy, something of a habit of late. This is not because of what Lucretia’s former maid says, because they no longer speak, but because of the way she looks at her. Usually, Zwaantje would stare straight through her, or scowl, but on this day she has been positively beaming at her in a malicious kind of way. It is unnerving, almost as if she knows something that Lucretia does not.

Lucretia is troubled and can’t follow the ins and outs of Zwaantje’s relationship with Jacobsz. A fortnight ago, their ardour seemed to have cooled, yet a week ago they were back together more closely than ever. (Unbeknown to Lucretia, Zwaantje had discovered she wasn’t pregnant after all, and from that moment Jacobsz’s passion for her had instantly reignited.)

Regardless of the Zwaantje trouble, however, the wonderful news is that the Commandeur is back on his feet and appears to be rapidly getting better. There is even a chance he will appear at dinner this night, and for this reason Lucretia is intent on taking more care than usual with her make-up, which is an exacting process. For the foundation, she mixes together chalk, egg-white and vinegar, and then pastes the concoction over her face before smoothing it out with a small spatula. Now, she turns her attention to reddening her cheeks, which is achieved through application of her specially procured Spanish paper coated with red dye. She then applies cochineal to her lips to make them redder and copious dabs of perfume between her breasts from one of the many glass phials she keeps in her sea chest. Finally, she puts her dress on before heading to dinner, where she is immediately disappointed to see that Pelsaert is not there after all.

Zwaantje, however, is there, sitting in her customary position to the right of Jacobsz, and once more seeming gleeful for reasons best known to herself.

At dinner’s merciful conclusion, Lucretia decides to go straight back to her cabin and thus must momentarily head out onto the open deck, to gain the stairs that lead to her abode. As soon as she steps into the passageway on her way out, in a terrible instant she finds herself gripped from behind, with one filthy hand covering her mouth, preventing her from screaming, while a forearm has her hard across the throat.

Uselessly, she kicks out with her feet to try to break free, and she is dragged from the relative darkness of the passageway to the all but complete darkness of the night, as the wind roars and the swell mounts.

It is as if she is being attacked by a giant octopus that is all hands, hands that are now all over her body, tearing at her clothes, pawing at her womanhood. It is a nightmare without end. Through all the animal grunting going on around her, she manages to discern one intelligible phrase – ‘Hold her legs, lads’ – and even perhaps to recognise the voice. She tries to see, but in the darkness, in all the foetid fury of the assault, it is impossible to discern anything but avenging shadows.

 

The assault continues. When, momentarily, the hand is removed from her mouth, again she tries to scream, but out of the shattering night a closed fist hits her in the side of the head and she is immediately, perhaps mercifully, knocked into semiconsciousness. Then, according to a contemporary account, they proceed to ‘hang overboard by her feet the lady Van den Mylen and indecently maltreat her body’.

And now for the ultimate humiliation. After Lucretia is hauled back on board, a bucket is brought forward and each of the eight assailants is handed a rag. As the men half-gag at the unspeakable stench of it all, Lucretia is smeared from top to toe with a mixture of human waste and pitch, all over her face, her hair and her clothes.

A short time later, one of the officers on watch is doing his rounds when he hears – above the slap of the swell against the hull and the hum of the wind across the taut rigging – the barest whimper of a sound. At first, he thinks it must be one of the pigs that has been sick, and so ignores it, but then he hears it again. It sounds almost . . . human. Investigating, he cocks his ear to the wind and listens again. At the next whimper, he determines the direction it is coming from and walks towards it. There! Down at the base of the mizzen mast, he spies in the moonlight what at first appears to be a rumpled old pile of women’s clothes, but then he looks closer and sees there is a woman beneath them!

Uttering a small cry of surprise, he bounds forward and tries to help the woman to her feet, but it is hopeless and . . .

And what is that smell, that appalling stink coming from her? In an instant, he knows only too well. Though the woman’s clothes are torn all asunder, the rags that remain are besmirched with human waste, as is her face, hair and hands.

‘Men!’ he cries. ‘Over here! I need hulp, help!’


15 May 1629, Indian Ocean

On this day, just three weeks after leaving Tafelbaai, and still a little under two months from their final destination, the Batavia explodes at the terrible but exciting news – something has happened amid all the dreadful tedium! The first reports of the atrocious assault on Lucretia dart around the ship like a crazed rat in a maze, going from the officers on watch to the sailors on duty, and down to the cooks in the galley, who pass it on to the stewards in the mess, who tell the young aristocrat cadets having their breakfast, who tell the steersman and provost, who tell their wives, who reach for their fans and discuss it at such length that the cabin boys soon have every last detail and pass it on to the gunners, and so on as the news spreads right down through the sailors on the lower deck, and even to the soldiers down in the bowels of the ship.

 

All – at least those who did not plan or perpetrate it – are completely stunned by the calculated savagery of the act. While assaults on women on land are not uncommon, such crimes aboard a ship of this nature are something far worse, as they are an assault on the Company itself! The VOC has long prided itself on good order in all of its domains, from its warehouses to its ships to its markets to its headquarters, and this is an open attack on precisely that order, an open slap in the face. In its history, the VOC has never taken slaps in the face well and has usually reacted with cannon-fire. Everyone knows that the outraged Pelsaert will have to act.

There are no more interested observers than Jeronimus and Jacobsz, who look forward to seeing exactly what the Commandeur will do. The assault by eight men was the idea of Jacobsz, while Jeronimus thought the best thing was for one assailant to take a knife and to cut her facial muscles, rendering her ugly for life. Such is the response to the attack, with the whole ship like a volcano about to blow, that Jacobsz feels vindicated that his way was the right way. The only question is what exactly Pelsaert will do about it.

Their dearest wish is that he will order the provost to have soldiers arrest a large number of sailors, hopefully innocent ones, which will provide precisely the kind of environment they need. Such a move from Pelsaert would set the body of sailors against the soldiers, as well as against Pelsaert, and it would not be difficult to get the falsely accused, to begin with, to join the mutiny. After all, are innocent men really to be punished simply so Pelsaert can quell the anger of his adulterous whore, Lucretia? Who is to say she was actually assaulted, anyway? Perhaps she faked the whole thing, just to earn more of Pelsaert’s sympathy and care than she has acquired already!

Jan Evertsz manages to not only put such stories about the ship but also let it be known that if Pelsaert does try to punish anyone for this so-called attack on his slut, then Jacobsz himself will step in to protect those who stand accused – for the skipper simply will not stand by and see innocent men punished.

In preparation for this move, all of the mutineers are quietly armed with cutlasses and daggers to be secreted somewhere near at hand, ready to move at a moment’s notice. Once the word is given, the hatches to the soldiers’ deck will be nailed shut, Pelsaert will be carved up, and Jeronimus and Jacobsz, backed by Evertsz, Stonecutter and the men they bring with them, will have control of the ship and its treasure.

 

But Pelsaert, although furious to the point of apoplexy and well beyond, stays for the moment in his Great Cabin considering his position from all angles. One of those angles is that the whole disgraceful episode might well be viewed by the Company as a stain on his own name. Fleets with good Commandeurs make uneventful journeys, with all aboard respecting the peace. But not only has a high-born lady passenger of his fleet been attacked, it has happened on the flagship of the fleet, while he is on board! On a purely personal level, it is deeply embarrassing, and for the life of him Pelsaert cannot work out the true agenda of those who carried it out – though it will help immeasurably to find out who they are.

In long conversations with Lucretia in his cabin, again inflaming the rumours about the two of them, the only thing the good lady can affirm with Pelsaert is that one of the assailants’ voices she recognised as that of Jan Evertsz. Beyond that, she has no clue.

This creates an enormous problem. No fool, Pelsaert can sense the dangerous mood of the ship, even though he has no idea how far the plans for mutiny have proceeded. He knows Evertsz to be close to the skipper, and, as unearthly evil as it may be, the more he examines it the more he even suspects Jacobsz to be the author of the whole terrible attack. If he arrests the very popular Evertsz, he risks pushing the crew to open revolt. Yes, his duty to the Company is to maintain order, and the assault on Lucretia will have to be avenged. But, for the moment, his highest duty of all is to comport himself in a manner whereby the Batavia will continue on her appointed course and arrive before the portals of the citadel of Batavia on schedule, with all of her cargo intact.

For this is not just another voyage. This is an enormous ship with fully one-fifth of the net capital of the VOC in the East Indies lying in her holds. He is in overall command, and doing anything to heighten the risk of failing to complete the voyage is completely unthinkable.

At this time, the ship is in the open ocean, well removed from the safety that the citadel of Batavia would provide, where all the power and authority of the VOC could be brought to bear on these criminals. Better, Pelsaert decides, to wait until they are either at Batavia or at least much closer before arresting Evertsz, at which point Batavia’s torturer would be encouraged to engage in some of his finest work and extract from the high bosun exactly who his accomplices in the outrage were, starting with Jacobsz. In the meantime, thus, Pelsaert decides to do . . . precisely nothing.

Jeronimus and Jacobsz are flabbergasted. The assault on Lucretia has gone exactly as planned, yet Pelsaert has failed to act. What now? Should they launch the mutiny with just the men they have, or take the risk of recruiting more?

For the moment, they decide to bide their time. They still can’t believe that Pelsaert won’t make a move sooner or later, which will make their mutiny all the easier to organise. They will lie in wait until then. If Pelsaert does not make his move, surely they will make their own and fully launch the mutiny.






CHAPTER THREE

The Shine of the Moon o’er the Waves

I did not sleep, but watched out very well, for when I saw the breakers in the distance I asked Hans the gunner, what can that be?

Skipper Ariaen Jacobsz


4 June 1629, Indian Ocean

For Jacobsz, while midnight is his favourite time for being in a bar onshore, offshore there is no doubt that this is the best time of the sailing day, and these are the best conditions imaginable. On this clear night, three hours before dawn, the Batavia – flagship of a proud and mighty Dutch fleet – has all of her sails completely filled with bounteous winds from the southwest, her three pine masts and bowsprit creaking happily under the strain of it all. On this, her maiden voyage, she arrows through the aquatic realm, the moonbeams shining brightly upon the delightful phosphorescence in her wake, the majestic train of this newly crowned queen.

By Jacobsz’s estimation, the ship is close to her maximum speed of about eight knots as she rides the swells, skidding down one wave and quickly climbing the next, her bulbous bow tucking the water beneath her like a duck’s breast. There is a purity to sailing like this, a mesmerising rhythm to it as the top of the mizzen mast slices graceful arcs through the night sky and the bow rises and falls on the swell. It all takes him back to his childhood, learning sailing at the hands of his father on the Zuyder Zee, a joyous exercise so far removed from all the adult complexities that come with making sailing one’s life. And the wonderful thing about being out in the open ocean like this – according to his calculations at noon the day before, they are about 600 miles off the coast of het Zuidland – is that they need have no fear about the speed they are travelling. A few days earlier, he turned the Batavia to port, to head towards the Sunda Strait far to their north, and they are now heading nor’ by nor’-east.

 

Still, notwithstanding the fact that Skipper Jacobsz is so confident of their safety that he does not even bother to have a man in the top, he knows he can never relax too much, as long experience has taught him to expect the unexpected when at sea. Standing on the quarterdeck just above Claas Gerritsz, the opperstuurman in control of the whip-staff, Jacobsz grows instantly alert when he sights what appears to be a slightly strange water configuration dead ahead, something different from everything he has seen in his last few hours on watch. He instantly knows: difference is danger.

Across the thin stretch of water in front of them, there is something that could possibly be the white froth of waves being agitated against cruel coral reefs – the very thing that every ship’s captain has to be most on the lookout for. Worse, though the wind is blowing from aft, it is just possible that the sound coming his way is that of waves crashing on reefs . . . or is it just the normal surge of water slapping against the bows? Even after all these years at sea, it is sometimes not possible to tell, and you have to go by instinct alone.

On this occasion, however, neither observation nor instinct is giving him a clear guide, but he at least knows he needs to get another opinion. With that in mind, he asks the ship’s lead gunner, Hans Bosschieter, standing beside him, to have a look. This ’un – who, like most on watch in the middle of the night, is completely exhausted – leans forward, squints his eyes as he strains for detail and, at last satisfied, reports back. What the captain thinks might be the sign of potentially fatal froth caused by waves hitting a reef, he says, is actually simply ‘the shine of the moon o’er the waves’.

Skipper Jacobsz is mightily relieved – half-suspecting that to be the case but glad to have the confirmation – and the Batavia holds her course northward, propelled by the strong wind that has been blowing from astern all night. Onwards, onwards, onwards . . .

Almost directly behind where Jacobsz and Bosschieter stand, Commandeur Pelsaert sleeps fitfully. So too does Lucretia in her own cabin, with her heavy door firmly chained against intruders. As to Lucretia’s erstwhile maid, Zwaantje, the one whom Jacobsz has promised to very soon make into a great lady, she is sleeping in the Great Cabin, and he is looking forward to getting back there shortly, once he hands over the midnight watch.

Below decks, and all around, the better part of another 330 or so souls are sleeping, rocked by the back and forth motion of the ship rising and falling on the ocean’s swell. They are 219 days out of Texel and have less than 20 days remaining to reach their destination of Batavia.

As the oaken hull pushes through the ocean, it creates a delightful swishing that interplays with the flapping of the canvas sails and the low, growling voices of the men on watch. It is no less than a symphony of smooth sailing . . .

 

And then, from completely out of nowhere, comes a sudden explosion of sound: grinding wood, followed by a long, low groaning shudder, followed by an even bigger series of bangs, as the higher extremities of the top masts simply snap off, all as the Batavia goes from eight knots to a dead stop in what seems like less than a second. In that moment, all standing on deck are thrown hard forward and to their left, while those few lucky enough to have bunks or hammocks fall out of them and the rest are suddenly hurled about where they lie on their straw-and horsehair-filled sleeping mats, with many of the gunners being thrown hard into their cannons, and many cannons coming loose from their moorings and crushing whoever lies next to them. As the bow of the ship suddenly rears up, those cannons, which were initially thrown forward, come roaring back. The air is filled with a shattering cacophony of oaths, cries of dismay and the thunder of furiously flapping sails going nowhere. What has just happened?

The bow of the ship has suddenly run into, and then partially up and over, a reef . . . for a reef it is. And it is not just bodies and cannons flying, as barrels also come loose from their moorings and start to roll, crockery and glassware come crashing and shattering to the deck, and anything and everything not entirely bolted down seeks to continue its journey northwards to Batavia, even though the ship herself has stopped.

The sea-sprayed air is filled with the sounds of shouting, cursing, screaming, crying children below decks and at least one woman wailing in the wind in a long, low-pitched cry from the soul that seems to go on without end. Maybe it is a woman . . . or maybe it is the Batavia herself, moaning in agony. And she is not the only one.

Through all the din now can even be heard the terrified sows and goats in their pens on the deck, squealing in panic and kicking out against their tight wooden enclosures. Down among the soldiers, in complete darkness, there is a catastrophic confusion as all strain to work out what has just happened.

In the Commandeur’s quarters adjacent to the Great Cabin, the shock has been severe, and Pelsaert has gone straight from having a troubled dream about being hot and sick at home in Amsterdam to flying through the air and landing in a crumpled mess against the bulkhead. Gathering himself, Pelsaert gets up and gropes nearly blindly forward, fortunate at least that his sleeping quarters are directly beneath the quarterdeck. In no more than 20 seconds after the crash, he bursts out onto it, still attired in a rather absurd nightshirt, complete with nightcap. Even in the extremity of the situation, with soldiers, sailors and merchants now also bursting onto the deck and falling over each other as the whipping sea-spray stings their eyes . . . still, still the ship’s company takes pause to see the Commandeur so ludicrously attired, when they are accustomed to only ever seeing him in full regalia.

Just as no one ever considers kings or queens performing their ablutions, there is many a man who has never imagined that the Commandeur, the very personification of Company power and dignity, is ever so attired, even in the middle of the night. But here he is, an odd-looking man in stockinged feet, his nightgown flapping around him. Strange, he looks so small, so insignificant without it all and . . .

 

And, of course, there is little time to reflect upon it, as another wave crashes into the stricken timbers of the Batavia, jolting her from stem to stern as the foamy brine now pours in over the fo’c’sle deck and quarterdeck, and the freezing sea-spray from the angry waves lashes the shattered ship again and again so thickly that those gathered high at the stern on the poop deck can no longer see the bow in the fading moonlight.

Even a man with as little sea experience as Pelsaert can surmise that the Batavia has hit a reef in the middle of what was meant to be a clear ocean and is now stuck on it. The sails that only a short time earlier were gloriously full and pulling them powerfully through the ocean are now all angry impotence, furiously flapping in the strong wind to no effect. And now he sees Jacobsz screaming imprecations at the gunner, something about ‘Dat vervloekte maanlight?’, the f—g moonshine?, ‘rif’, reef, and ‘Godverdomme het is een totale ramp!’, total f—g disaster. Typical Jacobsz vulgarity, but accurate.

And it certainly concurs with Pelsaert’s preliminary view of things. Though almost always a quietly spoken and considered man, such are the extremities of the situation that he momentarily loses control and wheels on the Batavia’s captain. ‘What have you done,’ he screams at Jacobsz, ‘that through your reckless carelessness you have run this noose around our necks? How in God’s name have we been brought to this?’

Jacobsz will have none of it. ‘Me, Commandeur?’ the skipper roars back over the thundering waves. ‘By God, this is not of my doing!’

‘Who else but you? ’Tis you who was on watch this very nacht, night, and it is you who will stand before God responsible for us all!’ Pelsaert fulminates. ‘Who else but you, Skipper, has scuppered us?’

‘I did not sleep but watched out very well and make no mistake! As God be my witness, I watched well, for when I saw the breakers in the distance I asked Hans the gunner what can that be?’

To Pelsaert’s bark of contempt, Jacobsz continues, harder now. ‘I swear the gunner promised it was but the shine of the moon o’er the waves,’ hisses the skipper, barely bothering to hide his contempt for whatever the Commandeur thinks. ‘It is my only sin, trusting his youthful eyes!’

Grabbing the skipper by the arm, Pelsaert sinks his nails into the old salt’s leathery skin. ‘Let’s hope,’ he mutters darkly, ‘you can soon put your case in a more formal environment. But now what advice? Where do you think we are? Not a man aloft – you said no need – then where are we? And what depth of water do we founder in?’

‘God alone knows!’ Jacobsz explodes. ‘Some koraal rif, coral reef, miles from het Zuidland. I’ll put out a kedge anchor astern so we may haul her off the reef. If ’tis low tide, I’ll warrant it will be a simple affair.’

It is time for Jacobsz to reassert control, and as quickly as possible, as the whole ship is in danger of breaking up. ‘God deliver us all from the Devil!’ Jacobsz roars. ‘Pull down the sails. Bare poles, bare poles, I say.’

 

In an instant, sailors are scrambling up and down the masts, and most of the ship’s company have pushed their way up on deck. Women are continuing to scream and wail, the less stouthearted of the men are openly shaking and some of the children are still sobbing. In the midst of all this confusion, six-year-old Hilletje Hardens and her newfound friend cling to each other, frozen with fear, as all around them the ocean is roaring in exultation at its fallen prey, even as it rushes up, around and over that prey, seeking to devour it whole.

Jacobsz continues to shout his commands while gunners, sailors, soldiers and even passengers jump to it, though one who seems completely oblivious to whatever Jacobsz says is the Predikant. The 52-year-old Dutchman, with his ubiquitous black leather Bible under one arm and his three youngest children holding grimly onto him, seems half-dazed as he gazes skywards uttering prayers unknown, as if the same God who has put them on this rock might now have mercy on them and get them off. Jacobsz has no time for such nonsense and roughly pushes the preacher aside with an oath to the effect that if he values his life he will stay out of the way . . . as dozens of seagulls wheel around above, gazing with mild curiosity at these strange new arrivals in their ancient world.

Jacobsz now focuses his attention on the remaining terrified passengers, standing there with their mouths agape. ‘Clear the deck, you fools, or be cleared yourselves.’ And then, to the other men pouring up from below decks, ‘Move! Move! We’ll haul off yet. Let the yawl loose and sound round the ship.’

With which, Claas Gerritsz, whose job it is to determine the depth of the ocean beneath them at all times, drops a lead line both fore and aft, which establishes that while there is around 18 feet of water astern, there is not a third of that for’ard. In short order, by lowering the sloep, yawl, over the side of the ship – using a system of pulleys suspended from a spar on the mainmast – and putting Claas in it, they are able to take further soundings with the lead, establishing that at the distance astern of a pijlschot, arrow’s shot, the water is seven fathoms deep but there is not enough water to fill a bucket for’ard of them.

For the moment, the wonder is that, despite being stuck fast, the mighty hull of the Batavia has remained intact, though with all the grinding on the coral it is obvious that it can only be a matter of hours, at best, before it is pierced and all is lost.

One small hope is to lighten the load of the stricken ship by as much as possible so the added buoyancy might lift them off, and it will be all the easier if there is a high tide coming. Jacobsz now orders the throwing overboard of all the heavy cannons, having the men slash the lines that bind them, then opening the gun ports and pushing them through, using all of the crew and soldiers who are still willing to follow orders.

One of the gunners, Abraham Hendricxsz – who has so lovingly polished his brass gun all the way from Texel that the others joke he is near married to it – is seen to weep as he pushes his beloved overboard.

Alas, alas, the ditching of the guns appears to make no difference whatsoever, as the Batavia remains stuck fast.

 

The second hope is that by taking the longboat and dropping the Batavia’s anchor 50 yards astern, where it will hopefully hold firm, they can haul on the circular winch of the capstan to pull the ship back towards the anchor. Before they can manage this, however, the waves breaking over the Batavia are now so strong that a rogue one carries away the longboat, and, as the sullen dawn begins to break, it is all they can do to retrieve it with the yawl.

Worse still, by the first strains of light, the true grimness of their situation becomes clearer, as they see the jagged rocks and seething shallows all around. They haven’t hit at low tide; they have hit somewhere near high tide. It is impossible for anyone to stay upright for long on the deck, as the whole thing shifts and bumps alarmingly with every wave. Now, the ocean recedes around them even more, and they begin to see the cruel teeth of an entire reef emerging from the waves, extending out on both sides from the bow of the ship, as she starts to tilt over alarmingly to her starboard side. The breakers are hitting that reef for some two miles to port and one mile to starboard. The only gap in the reef appears to be about half a mile to port, where the force of a millennia of waves has carved a deepwater channel. If they were just a little more than a mile to their starboard, they would have missed the reef entirely, but that was not to be their fate.

Jacobsz now has at least a rough idea of what has happened. Perhaps they are further to the east than he thought and they have run aground on the Houtman Abrolhos Islands, which the VOC has warned all skippers to stay clear of. Jacobsz believed they were still 600 miles to the west of them, but in fact it seems they are now . . . well . . . right on top of them. The skipper – perhaps because the Batavia has proven to be faster than most retourschips – has seriously miscalculated.

It means, at the very least, that Jacobsz’s captaincy career is finished there and then, but there remains a far more pressing issue for him to worry about. This is, simply, surviving long enough to have the luxury of being punished and losing his command.

And that is not going to be easy.

As the light of dawn continues to illuminate the seascape, they can see, even through the now pouring rain and still howling wind, that north-west beyond the reef are apparent the dim outlines of nearby lowlying islands, the nearest of which looks to be about a mile away. It is, to be sure, an enormous relief to know there are islands lying close and the ship has not simply hit a reef in the middle of the ocean, but the fear is that those islands might be covered when the high tide returns.

 



By now, a kedge has been rowed out and dropped astern, but, despite 30 men hauling with every ounce of their strength on the capstan, the ship fails to move a jot. They are well and truly caught, and as the tide continues to fall each movement of the sea causes the Indiaman’s hull to see-saw upon the reef, with the for’ard part landing with shocking blows. At the fulcrum of this macabre pivot is the mainmast, now turned blacksmith’s hammer. With each passing wave, which comes about every ten seconds, the mast rises to its full height, only to crash back down upon the cruel anvil of the reef. Each mast blow causes the whole ship to shudder in pain, right down to the base of her very keel.

It is now time to take the most extreme measure of all: the mainmast itself will have to be cut down. This will hopefully prevent it from pounding the ship to pieces and lighten the vessel to such an extent that, once the high tide returns in nine hours or so, the men might just possibly be able to refloat her. They would then get her to the shallows of one of the nearby islands and, after giving the carpenters the chance to repair enough of the damage, they could possibly still limp into Batavia.

Such are the severe ramifications of cutting down the mast, so heavy is the responsibility of doing it, that long Dutch tradition holds that only the skipper can strike the first blow. And so it is that, once the sailors have slashed all the rigging connected to it, Ariaen Jacobsz himself steps forward, spits on both of his hands, grips the axe with intent and, with one last look skywards at the mighty mast that was the pride of Amsterdam and the entire Dutch seafaring people, strikes a tremendous blow. The mast, of course, barely quivers, its many tons of timber only shivering a little.

The blow is more of a signal than anything else, and four sailors now step forward and begin hacking away with ever more frantic strikes of their own. In such circumstances, with the wind howling, the ship listing and the base of the mast continuing to pound down on the keel, it is never going to be easy to make the mast fall where they want it to – cleanly over the side and into the sea – so all they can really do is hope.

When at last, after 15 minutes of chopping, the mast finally gives way with a wrenching roar, such is the day, so malevolent are the maritime and nautical gods, that the mast with all its spars and sails and rigging falls exactly where they don’t want it to fall – straight down the length of the ship.

The massive mast destroys everything in its way and only narrowly misses a small knot of the ship’s company clinging on to the poop deck. Its impact on the deck pounds the ship harder than ever, and as the waves wash over the lower decks for the first time it is now obvious to all that the last glimmer of hope they have been holding on to – that the Batavia might still be able to get off the reef – is now dead.

‘The Lord our God has chastised us with many rods,’ laments Pelsaert. ‘Our back is as surely broken as the Batavia’s.’

 

With a series of frightening cracks, more of the spars on the mizzen mast now give up the unequal struggle and themselves break in sympathy, also roaring down to the deck below in a tangle of wood, canvas and rope.

Pelsaert and Jacobsz decide that the most urgent thing for now is to get the more manoeuvrable of the boats, the yawl, through the gap in the reef and into the channel to establish whether the two nearest islands can be used to safely deposit people and goods for the short term. Around and about them, as they make ready to launch once more, the seabirds continue to dive and whirl, caw-cawing with vague concern over these strange proceedings. At last, all is ready.

For such an important task as this, and at Pelsaert’s behest, Ariaen Jacobsz himself climbs down into the yawl, being held steady by several sailors already on board, and finally succeeds in getting away from the stricken Batavia, so they can reconnoitre.

Forlornly do the rest of the ship’s company watch them go, as they huddle on the deck with as many of their belongings as they can salvage pressed tightly to them. In the near distance, they watch the clearly visible sail of the yawl as it travels from a spot close to one of the small islands to another spot close to the other island – both of them are tiny puddles of land in an otherwise unbroken sea – and then at last comes back towards them just before nine in the morning.

With hope in their hearts again, they see Jacobsz return and clamber up the lee side of the Batavia. ‘Ja, ’tis possible,’ he reports to Commandeur Pelsaert quietly, as the sailors – who in these extreme circumstances have stepped up in the hierarchy aboard the ship – huddle close to hear him. ‘There is nowt of shelter or fresh water on either isle, but both will be safe from the high tide. Neither is easy to land on, but ’tis possible.’

At least this is one small mercy, for there is now no denying it, the whole ship is beginning to break up. The timbers so carefully crafted and joined by the teams of master tradesmen back in the Amsterdam shipyard are coming apart plank by plank, as every heave lessens the Batavia’s resistance.

At ten o’clock, it finally happens. With one last agonised groan, and then a fearful crack, the for’ard part of the ship below the waterline on the port side bursts asunder as the ocean – denied access for eight months – has its final revenge on the Batavia and crashes through the splintered oak and into the hold. Some of those closest to the breach in the hull, including several carpenters and caulkers who are right at the spot trying to prevent from happening the very thing that has occurred, immediately drown, while others manage to scramble up to the higher decks just in time. Among those parts of the ship that will now forever be underwater is the broot-kamer, bread-locker.

As the hold fills with water, the ship shifts position, with the stern starting to sink ever lower and gravity beginning to grip everything not fixed in place and slide it downwards. This includes people.

 

Jacobsz, aghast, now gives orders that the priority of those still on the ship must be to salvage food and water first, and everything that is still dry must be brought up to the deck in great haste. He has high hopes of getting most of the ship’s supplies and people onto the sad, barren little strips of land substantially intact, but everything – heaven and earth and the very gods themselves – seems to be against them.

Any traces of cohesion and discipline among the crew have long since disappeared with the moon, replaced by something far closer to the heavy storm clouds that have now gathered overhead. It was one thing to take strict orders from someone in authority when all was calm, when the presence of the Company was felt in the air they breathed and the penalty could be as high as death for disobedience. But it is quite another when all seems lost, and when this same authority has guided you onto this godforsaken reef. Suddenly, the Company is not there any more for the common sailors and soldiers, and those who do obey orders are doing so more because they understand it is their best hope of redemption than because of any lingering loyalty.

On the deck, some people have become so desperate to get off the ship that they hurl themselves into the surf in the hope of swimming to the island. No fewer than a dozen of them are grasped by the capricious claw of this raging animal of an ocean. They are cast up, then flung down upon the reef, and thereafter drown.

In this weather and these waters, no one can truly hope to swim to the nearby islands, and nor does it seem possible that anyone can stay for long on the Batavia, as the ocean continues to pound her and the wind to howl.

They are where they are, and there they will stay until they are either rescued or able to launch the other boats. Obvious to nearly all, the 32-foot yawl and the 40-foot longboat – both of which have oars and sails and can carry, respectively, ten people and 35 people comfortably – are all that stand between the ship’s company and certain death.

As tiny as the closest island is – just three times the length of the Batavia and not a lot wider, with no vegetation to speak of or even soft sand to rest on – it is at least solid land, above water, which is a very good start in the circumstances. With this information, the sailors and some of the soldiers set to with a will, making ready to begin ferrying people to dry land. In the time since the mast has fallen, the situation on board has continued to deteriorate, and time is now of the essence.

At this point, had they been left entirely to their own devices, both Jacobsz and Pelsaert may well have tried to start ferrying their precious cargo to the island, leaving the people till last. By this time, however, it is obvious that if they even attempt such a thing while the panicking, howling people on the deck clamber to board the boats even before they are in position, there will be an open revolt.

Thus, despite the appalling conditions, they begin to ferry people to relative safety, while several of the ship’s senior officers start to laboriously bring the precious cargo of money chests and other valuables to the main deck and secure it.

 

Some of the sailors and soldiers help in this process. Others are either too panicky or now believe it doesn’t matter what they do, for all is lost – and so refuse to cooperate. Still, though, there are just enough sailors and soldiers remaining at their posts and staying relatively calm to keep up the difficult operation of getting passengers from the deck of the Batavia into the yawl and longboat whenever they come alongside.

Notable among these are two Dutch soldiers, Wiebbe Hayes and Wouter Loos. Pelsaert has already noticed Hayes, in particular, quite a few times on the trip, and he has not noticed many other soldiers. There is a way this man carries himself that marks him as a cut above, even though he remains humble, something about his quiet, competent manner that is appealing and lends confidence to those around him . . . and never more so than on this occasion.

Every time the boats pull alongside after transporting more people, Hayes is there on the deck of the Batavia, helping passengers down, passing supplies, offering soothing words and doing whatever needs to be done to accomplish the hazardous task as safely as possible.

And, so, the day wears on. By the time the afternoon deepens and the light begins to fade, Jacobsz and his men have managed to ferry 180 people to the closest and tiniest island, along with ten casks of bread and several barrels of fresh water. In the madness of it all, husbands have been separated from wives, and children from parents, but the main thing is that over half of the ship’s company has been transferred, along with Pelsaert’s exceedingly heavy casket of jewels and the cameo – together worth well over 50,000 guilders.

After the final trip to the tiny island, however, Jacobsz returns to the Batavia somewhat shaken and angered. He declares to the Commandeur that it is no use their taking more water and bread onshore, since it is all devoured in the most lawless and ravenous manner, and everyone drinks as much as they can get their hands on. The most shocking thing to Jacobsz is that his own orders have no force or effect upon these panicky people. Reluctantly, thus, Jacobsz now asks the Commandeur to come with him in the hope that Pelsaert’s authority might help to calm the throng.

The Commandeur duly jumps into the yawl and goes with Jacobsz, intending to return to the stricken ship as soon as possible. He leaves the dozen money chests on the deck, secure in the care of the Onderkoopman, Jeronimus, as Pelsaert has decided to bring the money ashore on the next journey, once he has restored calm to the people on the island and made it safer for the Company’s precious cargo.

 

For the moment, Jeronimus remains on the ship with a largish group of some 120 others. This is not through some high-minded notion that, as the highest-ranking man on the ship, he should be the last to leave. It is because he is hampered somewhat by the fact that he can swim no better than a large rock and does not fancy getting into small boats in wild surf, particularly when there are so many desperate passengers trying to do exactly the same. As has always been Jeronimus’s wont, he bides his time, still nurturing some hope, as he confides in a fellow Mutineer, that the ship can in fact be refloated. With the ship’s hull now fully resting on the bottom, and waves regularly breaking over the side, it is as clear a measure as any of Jeronimus’s total lack of seafaring knowledge.

Meanwhile, others of the ship’s company are just about beyond caring what the future might or might not hold and are only interested in having what fun they can right now. For no few of the sailors and soldiers, convinced that they will shortly meet their deaths anyway on this reef on the outer reaches of the known world, have already stormed the liquor stores and begun drinking themselves into oblivion. They are led by Zwaantje’s one-time lover and Jacobsz’s fellow Mutineer, Allert Jansz of Assendfelt, a drunkard on the shore who is meant to be a gunner on the ship. Now that the ship is effectively on the shore, he desires to be a drunkard once more and so heads to where the liquor lies, near the officers’ quarters in the hold behind the mainmast.

Wielding a knife and slashing it back and forth before him, he snarls at the steward trying to defend the honour and virtue of the liquor store against the claims of the lower orders. ‘Out, cats and dogs,’ he roars, even as he slashes steward’s mate Lucas Gerritsz across the back for his trouble. ‘You have been masters here long enough, now I for a while.’

The terrified steward scampers, glad to escape with his life. And, as Jansz settles down to drink, it is not long before he is joined by his comrades. A serious session begins, as they raid the officers’ stores for cheeses and fine victuals. In terms of drinking, it has been over eight months since they’ve been able to indulge themselves to this level. As to food, they’ve never been able to wolf down so many fine things. This is almost worth getting shipwrecked for! Some of the women who smuggled themselves aboard also now join them. It is not long before the stricken ship begins to rock with drunken shrieks of laughter coming from its belly.

There is also a lot of fun to be had, clearly, with those money chests tied down on the deck. The boldest of the lot of them, or perhaps the drunkest, Jean Thiriou, takes an axe to the nearest chest and splits it wide open, spilling silver coins onto the briny deck. Plunging both hands into the treasure, the 38-year-old Thiriou gathers up dozens of the coins and begins flinging them at his nearly as drunken companions, just as if he were sowing seeds.

There is, however, just enough authority left on board, reposing in the breast of the few calm men remaining, to beat Thiriou and his fellow thieves off for the moment. A carpenter is found to nail a piece of wood over the axe hole, though God alone knows what Pelsaert will do when he finds out. If he finds out . . .

In normal circumstances, what Thiriou has just done would bring on a swift sentence of death, followed by his slow and painful realisation of it while being flogged to within an inch of his life, and then half an inch. That, however, requires somebody senior to have witnessed what Thiriou has done, such as Pelsaert or Jacobsz, and as it happens both of them already have their hands full . . .

 

No sooner have Pelsaert and Jacobsz left the ship than, by God’s truth, a very strong southerly wind begins to blow, making it obvious that there will be no return to the wreck that day. In fact, so powerful is that wind, so strong the current and high the swell, that it is all they can do to land on the lee shore of the tiny island, where . . . chaos reigns supreme.

Just as Jacobsz has described to Pelsaert, in their absence there has been a free-for-all to get whatever food and water the new islanders can for themselves and their cohorts. They have gorged, gorged, gorged as if nothing else matters . . . because it doesn’t. It is all that Pelsaert can do to re-establish some semblance of basic order, so that with at least some food and water in all of their bellies they can begin to pass an extremely uncomfortable night on the tiny island, hard shards of coral for their bed as the wind continues to shriek. For those who cannot sleep – and of course there are many – the constant temptation is to look back to the Batavia, where, intermittently through the sea-spray, they can just see a small light twinkling from the Great Cabin, which only 24 hours earlier was occupied by the Commandeur. What could be happening there?

 

An ancient Dutch dictum states that ‘Als de kat van huis is, dan dansen de muizen op tafel’, when the cat is not home, the mice dance on the table, and this is a case in point. From the moment that Pelsaert left the Batavia late that afternoon, Allert Jansz’s assault on the liquor stores and Thiriou’s outrage on the money chest have been just parts of a veritable general uprising, as the last shreds of restraint have slipped away.

Now, all who remain on the ship feel free to roam around it and do whatever they like – and none more than the Mutineers, many of whom have stayed on board with Jeronimus. After all, given what Jeronimus promised them, the conspiracy he led, the Onderkoopman could hardly protest if they continued to raid the liquor stores, help themselves to the finest victuals in the galley or hysterically throw silver coins at each other, could he? And, of course, Jeronimus does not protest at all.

Though a little aloof from their childish joy in dancing on the tables, the Onderkoopman is delighted to give his men the run of the ship, while he is interested in only one thing: installing himself in the Great Cabin. Throughout the voyage, he has admired both its spaciousness and its luxury, from its enormous oaken table to its Persian rugs and brass lanterns, all of which are in stark contrast to his own humble cabin.

 

Now nearing midnight, nearly 24 hours after the wreck, here he is in the finest abode on board, having taken his rightful place at last as the unchallenged master of the dying ship. Surrounded by the tightest coterie of the Mutineers – Coenraat van Huyssen, Allert Jansz, Cornelis ‘Boontje’ Jansz, Ryckert Woutersz and the cadet Lenart van Os among them, all of whom are roaring drunk – Jeronimus has already helped himself to the pick of the Commandeur’s wardrobe, selecting one of his superb velvet cloaks, and is leaning back in his ornately carved chair, feet up on the desk, drinking Pelsaert’s finest Spanish wine.

Far from being outraged at the Mutineers’ presumption, at their betrayal of the Company, nature herself appears to have calmed for the moment, and instead of shuddering with every wave, the Batavia is merely being lightly prodded. Fluttering around excitedly, Jan Pelgrom de Bye, the cabin servant, is able to bring them the finest food from Pelsaert’s private larder without stumbling, even though the whole ship still lies on an unnatural angle and does rock from time to time.

‘And now we’ll see!’ roars Allert Jansz, as he breaks into the Commandeur’s desk to upend all its drawers, before none other than Ryckert Woutersz breaks open the principal of the Commandeur’s personal sea chests. To the happy roar of the Mutineers, the once-pristine cabin is instantly awash with everything from Pelsaert’s underwear to letters from home and religious medallions, which they, in high hilarity, distribute among themselves. And here . . . here is his journal!

Had Jansz been able to read, he would have regaled the gathering with some of its choicer entries, but schooling was not a feature of his long and troubled past, nor of most of the Mutineers’, so the journal is passed to the only one among them who can figure out what sounds all the squiggly little lines should make. With something of a theatrical air, mimicking Pelsaert’s pompous tones, Jeronimus reads out the account from 14 May 1629:



(Ah, how they cheer at that line, clapping each other on the back and shouting, ‘Bravo! Bravo!’)

Click Here


 

Such entertainment! In the end, it is the sailor Cornelis Boontje Jansz who comes up with the perfect way to bring their merry evening to a head. Grabbing Pelsaert’s journal the instant Jeronimus has put it back on the desk, he ceremoniously rips the pages from it before hurling it out the window. Still not done, he grabs one of Pelsaert’s gold medallions, this one embossed with an image of Prince Frederick Hendrick of Holland, puts it in his hat and throws it out, too. ‘There goes the rubbish,’ he cries, ‘even if it be worth so many thousand guilders!’

On the small island, meanwhile, where sleeplessness reigns, people remain panicked. After the only supplies have been devoured by the strongest and most desperate, thought quickly turns to questions of survival – where is the next portion of food and water to appear from, given the island is so obviously devoid of both? When, if ever, will they be rescued?

Two people who have not lost their calm are the Predikant and Lucretia – though for different reasons. The Predikant is professionally accustomed to counselling those in despair and walks from group to group providing solace, assuring the survivors that God will surely save them all if they can only place their faith in Him.

As for Lucretia, after all she has endured aboard the Batavia – the advances of men, the humiliation of her attack, the sullying of her fine personage – she is well used to suffering and keen to alleviate it in others. On this cold and blowy night, she is doing what she can to ensure that those who have been injured are made comfortable, and that the infants and children receive what morsels of food and water remain. This is all notwithstanding the fact that, because of the strict segregation of the ship, she has not seen most of the people before, and nor have they seen her.


5 June 1629, on the small island

From well before dawn, Jacobsz is on the move, together with his best men. Today, the most urgent tasks are to get the bulk of the people off the tiny island and onto the much bigger island just half a mile away, as well as seeing if they can get the rest of the survivors off the stricken Batavia. True, the bigger island offers similarly little in the way of shelter, but, at almost twice the length and width of the first island (in the rough shape of a triangle, it is 500 yards long at its maximum and 300 yards wide), it does have space.

With a little vegetation on it in the form of low scrub, it is marginally more hospitable than the bare island they are on, as that scrub offers some slight protection against the wind. With his team of men, thus, Jacobsz begins the job of ferrying the people to the larger island – something slightly easier this time as the island has two small beaches, next to deeper water, on which they can land.

It is done. Following the plan that they worked out together, Jacobsz, in command of the longboat, and Pelsaert, in command of the yawl, have now landed a total of 180 soldiers, sailors, men, women and children on the larger island with a few barrels of water and several boxes of food. The barrels are particularly crucial, as when they dig on the island in the hope of reaching water, they get only two feet down before hitting solid coral.

 

Also keeping to their plan, all of the 24 senior ship officers and a dozen or so sailors, coopers, carpenters and blacksmiths of the VOC – the men they are still confident of being able to control – stay with Pelsaert and Jacobsz on the smaller island, together with some navigational equipment, Pelsaert’s casket of jewels and 80 kannen, jugs, of water and food.

The numbers on the larger island have been boosted by the fact that Jacobsz succeeded in making one more trip to and from the Batavia to get another 40 survivors, but at the moment, for Jacobsz at least, further trips look impossible as the westerly wind suddenly blows harder than ever, and he and his men return to the small island.

Still out in the yawl after several hours, Commandeur Pelsaert is fighting a rising sense of desperation. From the falling of one moon to the rising of the next, his entire world has been split asunder, and, even though the fault for the shipwreck clearly rests with the wretched Jacobsz, there is no doubt that as Commandeur he will be judged by the VOC on his cleaning up of the mess, and most particularly on how well he manages to salvage the Company’s treasures.

To this point, though, he has salvaged only the one chest he had in his cabin, filled as it is with the agate cameo and all the jewellery and silver he intends to trade in India. (And even that was a close call. His personal chest was so heavy that it threatened the stability of Jacobsz’s yawl, and the skipper only managed to get it to the island with great difficulty.) Nor does Pelsaert look likely to salvage much more any time soon, with the weather suddenly so bad. But, even though Jacobsz has been unable to fight the waves and return to the Batavia in the late afternoon, Pelsaert and his men are intent on approaching the ship once more, where still some 70 souls are left on board. Though the waves crash and the wind howls, Pelsaert exhorts his men to keep trying, tacking back and forth in an effort to pull alongside.

Alas, now that the high tide has returned, the breakers pouring over the Batavia and the reef make it nothing short of suicide to get any closer than 30 yards or so, and they have to haul off. Just as Pelsaert is trying to work out what to do next – unable to get to the Batavia but unable to leave – he is stunned to see a man on the stricken ship’s for’ard deck dive into the waves and begin to swim, powerfully, towards them. For a good five minutes, the survivors on the Batavia and those with Pelsaert on the sloop really are as one, as everyone watches, awed and aghast, as this tiny figure battles his way through the enormous swell and sometimes crashing waves. At last, the gasping swimmer claws his way to the sloop and is pulled up by many willing hands.

‘Egbertsz!’ some of the sailors cry. ‘It is Jan Egbertsz, the carpenter from Amsterdam.’ It is, though it is some two or three minutes before the carpenter has sucked in enough air and expelled enough water to be able to speak. He has come with a message for Commandeur Pelsaert.

 

‘Het spijt me, excuse me, Commandeur,’ he gasps, while still prone on the deck, ‘but the Onderkoopman, Jeronimus Cornelisz, wishes to advise that it is no longer safe on the ship and he and 70 other men need to be rescued, sir.’

Of course – Jeronimus! Pelsaert is relieved to hear that the very capable Onderkoopman, his second in charge, has survived, and is not at all surprised to hear that he has taken command of those left on the ship. It gives him some confidence that the money chests and other treasures will have been properly looked after. His only regret is the impossibility of the request.

Even in the time it has taken for Egbertsz to swim to them, the swell has increased, and another attempt to get in close to the ship is out of the question. All the Commandeur can do is to send back a message with Egbertsz that this is not possible for the moment, and to convey some further instructions. These are to throw overboard five or six planks so that his men can retrieve them and, back onshore, fashion them into either oars or leeboards for their boat, so they can lift the gunwales and hopefully overcome the swell to rescue those on board the wreck the next day. Jeronimus is also advised to organise the men on the Batavia to build some rafts, so that if the ship should entirely disintegrate they will have the means to save themselves and the money chests and be able to drift and paddle towards the islands. Finally – and this is most important – the Onderkoopman must secure the Company’s goods in a safe and high spot, and have them ready for easy transfer to the yawl when the rescuers return tomorrow.

With such firm instructions in his mind, the brave Egbertsz again dives into the swirling maelstrom, and once more Pelsaert and his sailors on the yawl watch intensely to see if he makes it, as do Jeronimus and his men on the Batavia. As Egbertsz gets close, however – an extraordinary effort, as this time he is swimming against the swell – it is no certain thing that he will get onto the wreck. Waves that have crossed the entire Indian Ocean to arrive on this craggy reef are not to be thwarted by the wreck of one ship that the ocean is efficiently claiming back for its own, so they crash all over and around it, making the currents on the lee side of the wreck extremely tricky for Egbertsz to negotiate. At last, however, it is almost as if the ocean burps, as a surging wave throws the brave swimmer up onto the swirling deck and he is able to grab onto a line and haul himself to the higher, dryer point where Jeronimus and some sober soldiers await him.

To the news that the Commandeur will not attempt to rescue them on this day, and that they must spend another night on the seething wreck, there is general consternation and drunken outcry that they have been betrayed, but Jeronimus holds up his hand for silence, so as to hear the rest of the instructions above the roar of the waves.

Keeping his own counsel, Jeronimus at least thanks Egbertsz for his bravery and instructs that the six planks indeed be thrown overboard, which they are. It takes some time for those planks to be retrieved by those in the yawl, but, the instant they are, the sloop ceases its struggle to remain close to the stricken ship and allows the wind and the swell to quickly carry it away to the islands.

 

Yes, for those still on the Batavia, there are no doubt sound reasons why the yawl has left them, but it is still hard not to feel abandoned by the Commandeur, sailing away to the relative safety of solid land while they are left like drowning rats on the disintegrating ship. At least they have Jeronimus with them, however. He will not abandon them. He will be the means of their salvation.

For his part, Pelsaert steers for the smaller of the islands, where Jacobsz and his men await them with the majority of the food and water barrels that have been salvaged. The mood there is relatively calm, if entirely despondent, and the Commandeur is at least heartened to see that one of the carpenters has already begun to fashion an oar out of a piece of topmast that has floated ashore – a tiny piece of industry amid the sullen suffering. A little further along, another carpenter with lacerated feet from the coral and thorns is busy making a leeboard out of another piece of topmast that has floated to the island.

What is clear at this point is that there is to be no respite from the weather, as a regrettably rainless storm blows in extremely hard from the north-west, so strong that as they look out to the Batavia, about a mile away, she is more often than not entirely buried beneath waves. As each wave passes, it seems extraordinary that the ship can possibly still hold together and that anyone can be surviving on her, but of the former, at least, they are assured when, in the brief interval between the thundering breakers, when the sea-spray momentarily diminishes, they can see that the Batavia endures.

The fact that only 20 casks of bread and a few barrels of water have been landed, meanwhile, means the vast balance of provisions must remain in the stricken vessel’s belly, even if a fair portion will already have been ruined by the seawater. For the majority of people, whom they have got safely to shore, there is less than half a gallon of water per person and scant food, and unless that can be replenished in some way, and quickly, everyone will surely perish.

That afternoon on their tiny island, Pelsaert appoints a guard to watch over their small stock of provisions, including some of the ship’s finest silverware and his personal chest of jewels. Others in the ship’s company might have swiftly switched their attentions from gold, silver and jewellery to water, but in Pelsaert – a Company man to the end – the instinct to protect the VOC’s interests simply runs too strong. In the exceedingly unlikely scenario that they can ever get one of their small boats all the way to the settlement of Batavia – for that is beginning to be discussed as a possible course of action – he knows that the Company’s first concern, even before the fate of the survivors, will be to retrieve the precious cargo. And Pelsaert intends to be able to reassure them.

 

What is of far more immediate concern to Jacobsz and his men, however, is searching the other nearby islands for fresh water and, hopefully, some source of food. When Jacobsz puts this obvious course to the Commandeur, he prevaricates, preferring to first return to the wreck to finally retrieve and secure the money chests. And he also wants to visit the bigger island to give the survivors some more of their water.

Jacobsz is aghast at the very suggestion of going anywhere near the large island, as that would be madness, commensurate with the madness to be found thereon. On their own tiny island, they have boats, food, water, navigational equipment and only a small number of people to share those crucial supplies with, most of whom are sailors. On the larger island, the one they have taken to calling Eylandt van Bataviaes Kerckhof, Batavia’s Graveyard, there is hunger, thirst, insanity and 180 people, most of whom are of no use whatsoever. Any contact between the two groups of people, thus, is fraught with danger for those on the tiny island.

Both Jacobsz and his men are of the strong view that if Pelsaert arrives with the yawl on the island then he and anyone accompanying him will be overtaken by the panic of the people and not allowed to leave again. Jacobsz therefore tells Pelsaert straight, ‘They will keep you there and you will regret it. Secondly, there is no one who will sail with you. You actually have no choice, mijn Commandeur. Neither you nor I have the control of these men that we did. If we do not agree to do what they want, they will do it anyway, without us.’

So it is; so it has always been. When a mass of men is standing within rough earshot of two men having a strong conversation about a matter that deeply concerns them, that mass has a way of communicating its views . . . without the need for explicit statements to be made. This is just such an occasion. Though none of the mob of sailors around Pelsaert and Jacobsz cries out, it is clear from the expressions on their faces, from their muted rumbling, that they fully support Jacobsz. They want to go and explore those higher islands they can see in the distance, and if Pelsaert tells them that they can’t and that they must instead go back to the wreck or visit the dangerous rabble on the other island, well, then . . . he will likely be finding it very hard to do so.

Sucking the air between his black stumps of teeth, Jacobsz continues. ‘What counts now, Commandeur,’ he says, pointing to the two modest vessels innocently bobbing up and down upon the seas like pleasure craft awaiting a Sunday-afternoon cruise, ‘are those two boats. They will be our only salvation.’

Still Pelsaert demurs, maintaining that if he is not immediately borne to the other island he will report to the people on that island whenever the first opportunity arises that the sailors have abandoned them and left them to their fate. This time, the sailors standing a little way off break out laughing among themselves – and not in a kind way – baring their own yellowing teeth and gesturing towards Pelsaert in a manner most unbefitting.

It is a stand-off.

Yes, Jacobsz and the sailors could simply say ‘Good luck, do what ye will’, but if the sailors survive and the Company subsequently finds out what they have done, all of their lives will be forfeit anyway.

 

Or, it is just possible that the Mutineers among them could kill Pelsaert on the spot, thus forestalling him telling anyone. But, they would also have to kill all the non-Mutineers, and the truth is that the latter far outnumber the former. Besides, Pelsaert is a valuable asset to all the sailors. While he is with them, he carries the imprimatur of the Company, meaning that he takes the responsibility, and the blame, for whatever they do, thus absolving them of their actions. If the Commandeur says it is all right to take the boats away from the islands, then who are they to argue?

Further tipping the stand-off in Pelsaert’s favour is that it has been just a little more than 36 hours since the shipwreck, when his command was law, and he thus retains just enough authority to have his way, at least for the moment.

Reluctantly, thus, Jacobsz orders six of his men and his bosun, Jan Evertsz, to accompany the Commandeur in the yawl to Batavia’s Graveyard. It is also agreed, however, that if the people do indeed seize the Commandeur, they are free to leave him to his fate without repercussions.

5 June 1629, approaching Batavia’s Graveyard

Exactly as Jacobsz has predicted, no sooner have Pelsaert and his sailing party approached the shore of the larger island than a mob of men, women and children appear, all of them clearly desperate.

At this vision, Jan Evertsz is as abrupt as he is clear in his barked warning to Commandeur Pelsaert: ‘They will keep you and us there. We don’t wish to go nearer. If you have anything to say to them, you can call out. We are not going to run any risk for your sake.’ Just two days earlier, such an utterance to the high and mighty Commandeur would have been every bit as unthinkable as the refusal of sailors to follow orders – cause for their keel-hauling and torturous death. But things have changed. Pelsaert is entirely powerless to enforce his will on men who are not only facing the likelihood of their impending deaths but also, as rough sailors in a rough aquatic world, are more capable of forestalling that death than he is.

And yet, Pelsaert is still so outraged at the impertinence of the bosun that he decides to jump overboard and swim ashore towards the mass of people. He would have done so, too, had the bosun not suddenly gripped him tightly, even while telling his men to row away.

Finally, Pelsaert, though it goes against the grain of everything he has learned as a member of the VOC over the last 20 years, knows he has no choice but to accede to their demands and so ceases his struggle. The boat continues to pull away as the men haul rhythmically on the oars, the only sounds being their heavy breathing, the gurgle of the waves slapping against the sides of their boat and the splash of the oars as they simultaneously hit the water. Pelsaert gazes forlornly back at the mob on the shore, wondering what can they be thinking?

 



On that shore, the gathered mob stare at the departing boat in stunned fury. The Commandeur is abandoning them! The Commandeur . . . is . . . abandoning them! He was right there, right about to land . . . and now he has simply left! It is incomprehensible. It is devastating. It is unforgivable. Women weep. Men stare with glassy eyes at his receding figure. The children – though they are growing up fast in these extreme circumstances – look closely at their frothing parents, trying to work out what has just happened to make them so desperately angry and so devastated, all in one.

Slowly, the group on the shore break up. They return to their primitive hovels, which they have fashioned out of whatever they were able to bring with them and whatever has washed up on the shore – mostly pieces of sail held up by broken spars and loose bits of timber. The one who is perhaps the angriest of them all is Ryckert Woutersz, the Mutineer who for so long slept with his sword beside him in his hammock, primed to move at Jacobsz’s command. He has been ready to back the skipper at the risk of his own life, ready to attack Pelsaert at a single nod of Jacobsz’s head, yet these two now look as if they are combining forces to abandon the likes of him on this godforsaken bit of coral at the edge of the world. It is treachery of the highest order!






CHAPTER FOUR

Batavia’s Graveyard


At present the pack of all disasters has moulded together and fallen on my neck . . .

Commandeur Francisco Pelsaert


6 June 1629, smaller island

It is time for Jacobsz and his men to do what most of them have wanted all along. They will head off this morning in search of water, first on the higher islands, then, failing that, on the coast of het Zuidland, which they know must be only a short way to their east.

Now, even though Pelsaert would be only a dead weight, he must decide whether or not to accompany them. On the one hand, he tells himself, as the VOC’s senior man in the midst of this disaster, it is his responsibility to make a full report of what has occurred to the VOC authorities in Batavia and to oversee the rescue. What, however, of the people he is leaving behind? Surely, if he stays, his authority will help to keep them calm? Surely he will be able to organise them to better assure their survival? Then again, he thinks back to the scene on the island the day before – could that rabble be organised? Yet, there is the agreement he has come to with Jacobsz and the crew that if they do find water on the other islands or the vaste landt, mainland, they will take it back to the survivors. If he is not with them, will they honour that?

His mind is at sea, his thoughts surging through him like the rolling surf through the battered bones of the Batavia – no sooner does the Commandeur land on one decision than it is flushed away by another quickly taking its place. One final factor that he cannot deny is that, in a choice between staying on islands with little food and water, with an abundance only of starving and thirsty people, and getting into a boat that at least has a chance of eventually turning towards the only outpost of civilisation in this part of the world, the latter option is always going to be the most attractive.

So, finally, he decides to go. The only problem is Jacobsz’s point-blank refusal to even countenance the possibility of his trying to take his heavy chest of valuables with them, on the grounds that it would cause the longboat to lie too low in the water, making the vessel unstable. As this is squarely within Jacobsz’s province of responsibility – and what he says is no more than logical, anyway – Pelsaert must cede.

So it is that not long after the sun comes up, Pelsaert along with Skipper Jacobsz, Opperstuurman Claas Gerritsz and everyone else who was on the tiny island proceed into the gloriously dark blue of the deepwater channel, passing right by Batavia’s Graveyard once more. This again arouses furious protest from the survivors there, who wave, shout and beckon them to come ashore. ‘Brood! Brood!’ they cry. Bread! Bread!

Alas, as Pelsaert learned the previous day, they could not approach the island even if they did have bread or water to spare. In a vain attempt to forestall any accusations of abandonment, the Commandeur has left a message for those survivors back on Batavia’s Graveyard. Just up from where even a high tide might be expected to reach, there is, in clear view of the first person to land there – and it would be possible for a strong swimmer to get there from Batavia’s Graveyard – a bread barrel, albeit now empty, under which there is a note, penned by Pelsaert.

Click Here


 

As the people on Batavia’s Graveyard cry out once more when the longboat passes them by, Pelsaert averts his eyes. Not all of his men follow suit, however. One of them, Claas Jansz, the chief trumpeter, has just seen his wife, Tryntgien Fredericxs, on the shore, screaming for him, as she stands by her sister Zussie, who is doing the same. He and his wife became separated in the madness of the ferrying from the wreck, and they now lock eyes for the first time. But what can he do? Like many who make their living aboard ships, he cannot swim, and within a few seconds the longboat has pulled so far into the deepwater channel that it is simply out of the question for him to try jumping off the boat to get ashore. Besides which, he consoles himself, they will hopefully find plenty of water on the higher islands, and soon husband and wife will be reunited.

It is not just those on the larger island who are appalled to see the longboat disappear. There are those still out on the Batavia herself, watching them go and entirely unaware that Pelsaert has succeeded in insisting that, for the moment at least, the yawl should stay behind so it can help get more survivors off the ship once the weather has calmed. If it ever calms. For the huge waves continue to pound into the Abrolhos reef from the west, just as they have done for millennia.

For those souls still aboard the ship, it has been a tragic thing to see how quickly the once mighty vessel could be destroyed. Already, the Batavia is now a mere shell of her former self. The 70 survivors who remained aboard on the first afternoon of the wreck have now halved. One by one, the majority have tried their luck at drifting towards one of the two islands in the distance, clutching on to pieces of wood to help them stay afloat. Some drowned nearly immediately, the ocean swallowing them whole, squeezing the life out of their lungs and returning them to the surface, bloated and purple. Others appeared to have made it, though it is far from sure.

What is obvious is that, sooner or later, everyone will have to make the attempt, because each day sees a greater deterioration of the ship, and it will likely be only a few more days before the whole thing sinks beneath the waves. And yet, now, the one boat that can get nearly all of them off in the safest fashion is leaving them, heading north and already disappearing over the horizon! No one is more appalled than Jeronimus, watching closely from the poop deck, his half-lidded eyes taking it all in. What new game is this?

Quite what Jeronimus is going to do to survive, he isn’t yet sure, only that it will not involve him willingly throwing himself into that swirling and angry water. He will remain with what limited shelter the ship can provide right to the end.

 

 

Desperation is now Commandeur Pelsaert’s constant state. The only thing that changes, hour by hour, day by day, is that which he is desperate about. On this, the third day since hitting the reef, he is in the longboat with the 36 other crew members, all of them equally desperate to find water on one or both of the two larger, higher islands that lie west by nor’-west. From a distance, neither looks promising, as they are anything but green. But at least they are much higher above the sea than the two tiny islets they have come from, and there does seem to be some scraggly vegetation on them. Clearly, there is more chance of finding water there than anywhere else around them – where there is no chance at all.

There is, however, no deepwater channel beside these High Islands, and the boat is still nearly a mile off shore when its bottom lightly crunches upon rough rocks in the shallows. Reluctantly, they have to get out and wade forward, with great difficulty, half-lifting and half-dragging their boat to the shore.

At last ashore on the easternmost of the islands, their first impressions are dispiriting. With the apparent lack of a creek, or a spring, or pools of fresh water, they begin to dig, endeavouring to get down to water that they hope will be just a few feet or so below the surface. But their holes reveal only more sand beneath. The same happens when they venture a little further onto the island. The soil three feet down is marginally moister than the soil on the surface, but there is not the slightest indication that digging a lot deeper will yield a different result. True, at this point the obvious thing to do is for all of them to spread out around the two islands – it proves possible to wade between the two – but under the circumstances no one is keen to wander any distance from the longboat. That boat is the sole difference between them standing on a desert island and being stranded on a desert island, and everyone wants to keep it in sight at all times.

In the end, all they can find are some brackish pools of rainwater left in some of the small hollows on the cliffs of the larger island. Alas, sea-spray has made it so salty that it is only marginally closer to drinkable than ocean water. Sustaining themselves, thus, on only the supplies they have brought with them, they pass what proves to be a typical night in these parts – desperately uncomfortable.


7 June 1629, High Islands

The following morning is occupied with some more desultory searching for water, but with the same result. Things are looking grim . . .

 

Just before noon, Skipper Jacobsz engages in an extremely important task. As the skies have momentarily broken to reveal a half-hearted sun, it is time to use his astrolabe to calculate the position of his wrecked ship. It is something that must be accomplished quickly, as the sun comes and goes and there are a dozen other things he must attend to – most of which concern placating his sailors and ensuring that he remains in control – so he abandons his usual method. Instead of proceeding slowly and carefully, and checking all his calculations three times through, he does it just once.

With his tongue poking through pursed lips, he looks along his sights to read the angle between the sun and the horizon and quickly does his other calculations. He arrives at an estimation of their latitude as 28 degrees 20 minutes south and marks it down on a piece of paper, which he then folds and tucks securely into his pocket.

7 June 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

The large group of survivors gathered on the shores of Batavia’s Graveyard continue to stare balefully out across the expanse of ocean whence the longboat disappeared the day before. Despite the overwhelming evidence, they cling to the hope that there has been some mistake, that they are not to be left on their island without contact with either the skipper or the Commandeur.

Some are getting on with making the best of it. A stand-out in this regard is the soldier Wiebbe Hayes. Over on the western side of the island, he is busy with some of his fellow soldiers constructing rough shelters where they can gain respite from the belting wind. While, at the time of the voyage of the Batavia, Hayes has not been with the VOC long enough to rise high, still leadership comes naturally to him, and he has the even happier knack of being able to exercise it without getting others in the company of men offside.

It is he who is first to set up a small piece of sail in such a fashion that it will both provide shelter from the elements and collect whatever rain might fall, funnelling it down into a barrel – and all the others follow suit. It is also Hayes who organises the other soldiers to begin a systematic search for water on the island, digging everywhere. No matter that there are no early signs of success in this venture, he insists they all keep at it.




7 June 1629, High Islands
For Francisco Pelsaert, Ariaen Jacobsz and those with them, it is clearly time for . . . a committee meeting. There is simply no point in returning to the ship’s company upon the two islands to tell them that there is no water. And it is equally obvious to all that their best hope is to get to het Zuidland, which – if they are indeed on the Abrolhos – must lie only half a day’s sailing to their east, the coast to the north having been partially charted by Hartog a decade earlier. And, if still they could find no water there, then they should sail without delay to Batavia, to inform the authorities, with God’s grace, of their sad, unheard of, disastrous misfortune.

There is no dissension – for the only alternative is to return to the madness of the islands – so Pelsaert reluctantly gives the order for the preparations for the long journey ahead to begin. The three carpenters they have with them on the longboat busy themselves by starting to build strakes to lift the gunwale of their craft, to make allowance for the extra weight they will be carrying and render their vessel more secure against the open sea. Taking the planks that were thrown over to them from the stricken Batavia, they bring them close to the fire and bend them into the required shape before carefully nailing them into place on the vertical frame of the boat, which has been lengthened for the purpose. Thereafter, they use their caulking hammers and – in the absence of their favoured horsehair and pitch – apply torn pieces of cloth to start to properly seal it.

And then, suddenly, a shout goes up. A boat is coming their way! It is, of course, the only boat it could be, the yawl. In it are Third Steersman Gillis Fransz – known to the other sailors by his nickname of ‘Halffwaack’, Half-Awake, for his ever-sleepy, relaxed attitude – and ten other sailors, one of whom has brought his wife and their two-month-old baby with them. Pelsaert’s previous orders to Fransz to go to the wreck notwithstanding, they, too, are now in search of fresh water and have arrived on this shore by virtue of exactly the same reasoning that has propelled Pelsaert, Jacobsz and their men. Though happy to see the people of the longboat, Halffwaack and his men are devastated to realise from all the diggings that the search for water has been fruitless.

Fransz reports to Pelsaert and Jacobsz that it is still impossible to get to the wreck and that the situation back on Batavia’s Graveyard – which they could see and hear as they passed – looks to be grim and getting grimmer. He says that chaos reigns and the last of the survivors’ water on the island also appears to have gone. Fransz and his men also refused to land.

The earnest request of Gillis Fransz now is that he and everyone else in the yawl be allowed to accompany the expedition to het Zuidland, which makes a certain amount of sense. Among other things, Fransz is an expert sailor, as are his men, and his presence on the boat will increase their chances of success.

 

After discussion, just as the sun goes down, it is decided that Fransz and his ten men – plus the two women and baby they also have with them – will all travel in the longboat while they tow the yawl behind them, against the possibility they will need the lighter craft to get through difficult surf in search of water. It will be as tight as soused herring in a barrel, as there will be 48 of them in a boat designed to carry just 35, but a quick test, when they all pile in, shows that it is just possible for the boat to remain stable provided no one farts.


8 June 1629, High Islands

On this sparkling morning, from first light, the carpenters continue to work feverishly to make sure the extra strakes to heighten the gunwale are sealed and secure, while the sailors mostly simply watch and wait. One who stands a little aside, however, in an agony of indecision, is Chief Trumpeter Claas Jansz, who accompanied Pelsaert and Jacobsz to these islands on the reckoning they would be away for no longer than a day. He has left his wife, Tryntgien Fredericxs, back on Batavia’s Graveyard and she is expecting him to return! But everything has changed so rapidly. There will be no return to Batavia’s Graveyard in the near future. And he has no means of getting back to Tryntgien. What can he do? Stay behind, alone on this seemingly waterless island? Finally, he comes to the conclusion that he has no choice. He will have to go with them and trust that Tryntgien will be all right.

Before finally leaving, Pelsaert is more troubled than ever. The act of abandoning the 200-odd souls on the islands is such a dire, devastating thing to do that – against the day they will have to justify their actions to the Company – the Commandeur insists that everyone takes collective responsibility for the decision and signs a document to that effect. Carefully, he draws up the said document and then reads it out to the assembled company, before asking all the men to sign, which they do readily – at least those who are capable of writing more than an X. After all, there really is no alternative. To refuse is to make the case for being left behind on these waterless islands, and that would be an all but certain death warrant.

In order of precedence, thus, they sign the piece of parchment that Commandeur Pelsaert offers them:

 

Click Here


It is done. Pelsaert carefully folds the parchment and puts it in his inside coat pocket. And, with that, all 48 people climb into the longboat and set off in the name of the Lord, into the open sea and towards the mid-morning sun, steering north-east. Pelsaert most certainly does not approve of the fact that Jacobsz has brought his whore, Zwaantje, with him but is powerless to stop it. Their endeavour, which may well see them make an attempt to reach Batavia across 2000 miles of open sea, is one that will require extraordinary seamanship. This puts it squarely in the domain of Jacobsz’s responsibility, and if the skipper wishes to bring Zwaantje then so it must be. In any case, now that the frantic activity of the last few days has subsided, Pelsaert is beginning to return to his normal state – feeling as sick as two dogs – and knows that he simply does not have the strength to struggle with Jacobsz on this one.

So Pelsaert leaves with a heavy heart, still beset by cruel doubts as to whether they are doing the right thing. His most earnest hope is that once they reach the coast of het Zuidland, they can find a place with plentiful game and water. If they do, it might even be possible to lighten the load and drop off many of those currently aboard the longboat, then return to the Abrolhos and ferry the remaining survivors there. If all could be secured there, he and Jacobsz, with far fewer men than they have with them now, would be able to continue up the coast and on to Batavia to secure a rescue ship.

 

For his part, Jacobsz is beset by no such doubts as they leave. It is clearly the best thing for him and Zwaantje personally, as it maximises their chances of survival, and he also feels it is the best chance for the ship’s company back on the small islands. Instinctively, he pats the small piece of paper in the pocket of his pants, where he has written down the latitude of where the wreck is to be found.

8 June 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

A sail!

At least the top of one, right on the far horizon to their north. The 200-odd souls gathered on Batavia’s Graveyard can see that the Commandeur’s longboat, which brushed so close to them two days ago before heading to the High Islands, is once again on the water. Surely, this time, the Commandeur will return to them and start to make things right. Surely, the sail, now moving from west to east, will soon veer to starboard and loom larger on the horizon, as the Commandeur makes his way towards them in the longboat now laden with full barrels of water and perhaps freshly killed meat from whatever fauna they have found on those islands.

To their horror, however, the sail keeps getting smaller, not bigger. It is moving away from them. The Commandeur really is abandoning them! The disgust of the people is palpable, their outrage incandescent. It is traitorous, so traitorous that from this day forth the smaller island that the Commandeur and his fellow traitors had spent their first two nights on is referred to as Verraders’ Eylandt, Traitors’ Island.


8 June 1629, in the longboat

Aboard the longboat itself at this time, the worry is all-pervading. Even with as shallow a draught as they have, it is a major exercise to get away from the shallows and into water deep enough that they may sail freely. And, even then, there are myriad reefs and shallows ahead that they must negotiate.

And yet, after an hour or so, they are finally, truly on their way, in water deep enough that they can set a full sail to the wind. Their longboat begins to buck forward, eager to be free on the open ocean, and they head north-east at a good clip. Looking back, Pelsaert is stunned, and momentarily disconcerted, to see how quickly all trace of the extremely low islands have sunk beneath the waves. They were there, a small brown patch marking the point where the blues of the sky and the sea met, and then they were gone.

In the early afternoon, in a latitude of 28 degrees 13 minutes south, and in 28 to 30 fathoms of water, with the westerly wind behind them, Pelsaert, Jacobsz and the others in the longboat sight the coast of het Zuidland to their north-east.

 

At first look, it does not seem hopeful. Carefully continuing on their course towards it, they are appalled to see what appears to be an unending line of massive breakers pounding into tall, stark cliffs – breakers so huge and strong that they surely make the cliffs tremble. There appears to be no break in those cliffs to indicate a harbour, a river or a needed refuge of any description from the forbidding wall that confronts them. And not the smallest sign of a beach.

What can they do? There is only one option: steer away from the land for safety’s sake, continue sailing along the coastline to the north and hope that on the morrow the shoreline will have changed and they will find water.

It proves to be a very difficult night. It was one thing to be packed so tightly into a boat designed to carry far fewer while it was still daytime, but it is quite another to try to sleep in it at night. Finding space to lie down is out of the question, so the best they can all do is to lean into each other, with the head of one man against the back of the man in front, until they drop into an exhausted stupor, punctuated only by the regular sounds of the baby crying. At around midnight, the sound of crashing breakers tells them that they are once again too close to the coast, and they haul off once more.


9 June 1629, in the longboat

At dawn, they find themselves about three miles from the shore, in a strong north-westerly wind that brings some blessed rain with it. At its first drops, all of them turn their faces skywards and hold their hands outstretched as they thank providence, even as they take in the precious drops falling on their tongues.

But the coast to their starboard looks every bit as unwelcoming as it did the evening before. Running southeast to north-west, it is bare and rocky, with no trees visible atop the sheer cliffs, cliffs that the more experienced sailors among them reckon to be perhaps twice as high as those at Dover, at nearly 750 feet. And yet, whereas when facing the white cliffs of Dover, one could see green hills in the distance, and even the spires of churches and the softly, slowly curling friendly smoke from hundreds of scattered dwellings . . . here there is nothing! No greenery, just arid red, ‘a seemingly dry cursed country without foliage or grass’, as Pelsaert later describes it. Not the slightest sign of any human structure. And no sign of any human activity. It seems quite likely that the place is uninhabitable, but still they have not given up hope of finding a people living in these parts who could give them some succour, who at least could demonstrate that it is possible to survive in such a land. As they continue up the coast, though, hour by hour, day by day, they see nothing.

 

Pelsaert, for one, has never experienced anything like it before. Off the coast of India, you could always spy signs of thriving civilisation well before you actually landed: the silhouette of grand structures, people on the shore, friendly fishermen in small boats casting their nets. And even on undeveloped African shores, there were signs of life. He has never imagined that a coast like this could exist! As before, there is only one option: continue to push up the coast in the hope that it will change and they will find water.

At one point later on, they sight what appears to be an inlet surrounded by low dunes, but, once they approach it, it becomes clear that getting to the inlet would be fraught, protected as it is by enormous crashing breakers. It might just be possible to survive those breakers and come out the other side, but it would be a near impossible task to get back out to sea again, trying to sail through that endless cavalcade of enormous waves. Reluctantly, thus, Jacobsz gives the order to haul away again, and they continue their slow, tortured journey along this infernal coast. As tough as it is, all on the boat are at least glad they are not back upon the wretched islands and shipwreck where they left 250 of the ship’s company. Often, they wonder just what is happening back there . . .

9 June 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

It is not just the physical discomfort, gnawing hunger and rising thirst that is bothering Lucretia this afternoon. It is that, whereas on the Batavia she had shelter from the leering stares of 300 men by virtue of the strictly segregated nature of shipboard life, and had besides always been able to retreat to her cabin, here there is no such segregation, no shelter. And she can feel them staring at her wherever she goes, even openly licking their lips as she passes, almost as if they would eat her. And now there is no Pelsaert to protect her, no authority who can call into line those who go too far.

At least there are a few exceptions, a few men who treat her with nothing but decency. One of these is the minor VOC assistant Andries de Vries. Circumstance placed the two of them together in the longboat that brought them from the wreck of the Batavia, and he was so solicitous of her comfort, so unthreatening in his aspect, so fraternal and entirely unsexual in his approach that she has gravitated to him thereafter. If anything, she feels protective towards him, such a sensitive and delicate young man is he, and on this afternoon the two are walking along the southern shore, talking quietly, when they notice a commotion up ahead.

 

There is a crowd gathered by the shore, and neither she nor Andries are surprised by what they see when they glance over the shoulders of some of the people. Sure enough, it is another couple of dead bodies. These particular ones look to be sailors and soldiers who have drowned in their attempt to get from the wreck to the islands without the benefit of boats. On other days, the bodies are those who have died on the island. People are falling all around them.

The supplies of fresh water on the island have quickly run out, and there has been no rain to replenish them. All around, beneath the withering sun – this is, after all, a place where the sun does not so much shine as beat – survivors are going mad, with thickening tongues, and, after sucking on pebbles gives no more relief, they are reduced to drinking the blood of meeuwen, gulls, and sea lions, along with seawater and their own urine. What little urine they have, anyway . . .

People look to the tiny baby of Mayken Cardoes with great jealousy. Despite suffering from thirst every bit as much as everyone else, Mayken still offers her withered teat to the infant, who somehow manages to suck tiny amounts of milk from its mother. Would that they could benefit from such a solution. Anything, anything for some sustaining moisture! The words of the Predikant, quoting Psalm 22 from the Bible, capture it well: ‘My strength is dried up like a potsherd; and my tongue cleaveth to my jaws; and thou has brought me into the dust of death.’

And then begins their long descent. For it is a dreadful thing to find yourself withering for want of water, the life-force within you slowly, torturously expiring as you become progressively more sluggish and terrible cramps set in. Whereas with hunger, the gnawing pain finishes after just a couple of days, with thirst there is no relief at all. First, the mouth becomes dry and the saliva thickens, then the tongue begins to swell and sticks to the roof of the mouth. Your whole being cries out for sweet moisture even as a lump grows in your throat and the skin on your face tightens to the point where you feel that your head will split open and you feel giddy if you try to stand. You hallucinate, dreaming of fresh ponds, of gurgling creeks, and now your tongue feels like a piece of wood, growing too big for your mouth. It is impossible to speak, and all that you can emit are low groans and moans as the sun still beats down, and now your tongue is sticking out through your teeth, almost as a root grows in its search for water. Your eyelids crack open and you start to weep tears of blood, as your dry throat renders it progressively harder to breathe. You even – and this is the most ludicrous part of all – feel like you are starting to drown. If only, if only that were the case, you would accept it, so long as the drowning involved fresh water that you could drink as you drowned, but there is no respite. Your head feels as if it is going to explode, and your neck glows in agony, as if the top of your spine is a red-hot poker, and your body crawls with an itch that no scratching can reprieve. Passing people, looking down upon you with pity, see that your lips seem to have disappeared, replaced by what appear to be simply burned bits of flesh, showing bleeding gums beneath, and the flesh of your body now blackens all over, with the exception of some blotches and streaks that appear, as all movement of your body ceases, the groans stop and your nose is so withered that it has turned back to reveal your blackened nostrils, almost appearing inside out, and your dull eyes stare out without blinking, and at last . . . u bent dood, you are dead. No fewer than ten of those who made it to Batavia’s Graveyard die in just this fashion in the first five days after the shipwreck.

 

From where can the survivors on Batavia’s Graveyard get the precious water they need to stay alive? No matter how much they dig on the island, there is not the smallest sign of any moisture that is not completely salt-ridden. Nor is there a cloud in the sky to offer the smallest possibility of rain. That leaves only one place where they can get it: the wreck. When they hit the reef, the Batavia had enough water supplies to get them through at least another month on the high seas, and the bulk of that water must still be upon the wreck. After all, in the previous few days, some of those barrels have washed up on the shore and been eagerly gulped down. It stands to reason that there are still a lot of barrels in the hold. Yet, without a skiff, or a sloop, or a raft, it is impossible to get to them.

Or is it? In the extremity of the situation, it is the Predikant’s servant girl, Wybrecht Claas, who volunteers to swim to the ship. And so she does! Before their very eyes, the brave young woman – a mere slip of a girl – enters the waters and swims towards the wreck. For some 45 minutes, they watch her, the splash of her stroke becoming ever smaller as she gets more and more distant. Sometimes, it seems she has disappeared and they fear she has drowned, but then they catch sight of the tiny splash again as she rises on a swell . . . before disappearing again in the subsequent trough. She is still going! Finally, about 40 yards to the right of the wreck, they see her climbing up and out, to stand upon the water! At first, it seems extraordinary, miraculous even. Of course, she is standing on the reef.

‘Gooi me een lijntje! Throw me a line!’ she cries to those gathered on the ship, gazing at her with awe.

From the highest part of the wreck – the beakhead – a line soon comes snaking through the air. She grasps it, ties it around her waist and is soon being hauled through the boiling surf towards the Batavia, before she rises from the water like a leaping frog and is standing, dripping, before the 30 men gazing upon her. She has made it!

What Wybrecht wants above everything else is fresh water, and the men on the Batavia happily give it to her – they have more than they can possibly drink, and many have been quaffing only wine for days anyway. She guzzles it down before answering their many questions.

Yes, it is true, the Commandeur and the skipper have gone with nearly 50 others in the longboat and there has been no sign of them since. She informs the men that there are about 170 of them now gathered on the biggest of the two islands they can see from the wreck. No, there is no water and very little food upon it, but there are still some supplies left, though they are going fast.

 

And Wybrecht in turn looks around at these sodden, mostly drunken men, standing on the shattered remains of what was once their proud ship. Apart from the unlimited wine and water, and a fair amount of food to consume, the conditions they have endured are appalling, and it is obvious that within days there will be nothing left of the ship for them to stand on. To a man, they are petrified of falling into the sea, as all those who are not struck with terror have long since jumped in with large pieces of wood and tried to kick and paddle their way to shore. Some have made it; many have not.

As to what she came here for, to get some water to take back to the island, there is of course only a limited amount that she can carry: a small barrel of only a few gallons, which she does not fill to the brim, so it will float. After tying it to one end of a rope, with the other end around her waist, she dives in and swims back to Batavia’s Graveyard. The small amount of water she has brought with her is instantly grabbed and drunk by the men who win the fight for it.

What is needed on Batavia’s Graveyard, of course, is leadership – someone with sufficient authority and clout to insist that whatever stores of water and food they have are shared equally, instead of merely being devoured by the strongest, leaving the weakest to die. However, in the absence of both Commandeur Pelsaert and Skipper Jacobsz, that leadership is lacking. In an effort to restore order, some of the more senior men on the island – including Gijsbert Bastiaensz the Predikant, Frans Jansz the surgeon, Pieter Jansz the provost and Salomon Deschamps the clerk – make a unilateral declaration that, observing VOC protocol, they will henceforth be the raad, the council. There is no dissent, but that is at least in part because dissension requires energy, which the survivors simply no longer have.

The council does the best it can to establish some organisation, but its control is absolutely minimal. For there they all are, a motley group of 170, right on the edge of the known world. They are dying, so what do they care what any council thinks they should or shouldn’t be doing? And what force does the council have to back up whatever decisions it makes? None at all.

9 June 1629, in the longboat, off the coast of het Zuidland

 

Ariaen Jacobsz can smell it, can feel it, well before he sees the distant flashes of lightning. As one who has spent the bulk of his life on the water, he has developed almost a sixth sense about approaching storms, and, on this night, with the barest breath of slightly cooler air coming from the west, he senses that they are in for a big one. Had he been on the Batavia at the time, he would have noted it only in the manner that he noted there was fish for lunch – something that is neither here nor there, it just is. But in this boat it is problematic. As they are so heavily overloaded, they are sitting extremely low in the water, even allowing for the fact that they have lifted the gunwale to allow them more clearance from the ocean.

All afternoon, Jacobsz looked to the shore in the hope that providence would send them just in time a beach, a river, an inlet, a reef behind which they could take shelter, but there was nothing. And now they are going to have to weather this storm, and they are not long in waiting. In less than an hour, the sky has darkened, the waves are increasing in frequency and volume and the wind is picking up. Suddenly, they are into the storm proper.

From out of the north-west come vicious gusts of wind that nearly capsize them, and a great wave of water leaps over the gunwale.

‘Three reefs in the mains!’ Jacobsz barks out in defiance of this implacable tempest. ‘The rest of you, bail for your lives! We must clear her before we take another wave! Make fast the supplies. We must bear away, east-south-east. We must run before it, riding wind and wave, else we are done for! Now trim the weight to the stern so she doesn’t bury her bow in the troughs!’

And God save us all, he says to himself, ignoring the gaze of his crew and the cries of his passengers. All 48 of them are facing the fight of their lives, as the wind shrieks, the rain falls – the blessed rain! – and the ocean awakes, seemingly intent on finishing the job of a few days before and this time wiping them out completely.

Manning the helm, Jacobsz expertly manoeuvres the boat with the wind, while his sailors trim the sail so there is just enough canvas to give them some propulsion but not enough, hopefully, to blow the boat over in a sudden gust. From the first, it is obvious their survival is going to be a close-run thing. Time and again, they breast one wave only to find the next one coming at a different angle. They hit the next wave the wrong way, and inevitably water bursts over the side and into the boat. Worse, by this time the wind gusts are becoming so strong that the sail has to be taken down almost entirely, meaning Jacobsz’s control over the angle at which they breast each wave is vastly reduced.

 

The boat’s company are far from passive throughout. Most are bailing, some are wailing, a few are doing both. Whichever it is, all are constantly shifting their weight from one side to the other, trying to keep the boat as level as possible against the many forces constantly trying to tilt it and cast them all into the raging ocean. And still the terrible storm has only just begun. As darkness falls, the wind picks up, the rain gushes down and the waves rise, and in that darkness it is only by the flashes of lightning that Jacobsz is able to see from where the next wave is coming. They are in constant danger of tipping over.

By midnight, the situation seems hopeless. They have taken on so much water that the boat is sitting even lower in the ocean, has become sluggish to steer and is growing ever more susceptible to just one big wave crashing over its lip, engulfing it and finishing them off. In this situation, Jacobsz is in total command while Pelsaert is no more than a common bailer and sometime wailer, and it is Jacobsz who gives the order without reference to him, ‘Snij de sloep los! Cut loose the yawl! Throw over the bread! Make room for the bailing and bend your backs, you dogs!’

For all of their journey from the Abrolhos, they have been towing the yawl – in hope of using it to get to a difficult shore – but now that they are in a life-or-death situation the yawl is filling with water, slowing them and tipping them towards the death side of the equation. With one stroke of his knife, a flash of a slash in the lightning, Jan Evertsz cuts the yawl free and it is instantly gone in the howling night.

As to the casks of bread and barrels of water, however, that is a far more extreme measure to take. To throw over their only source of food – apart from the odd fish that may be caught – when their journey has barely begun is a great risk. And yet it is all about having unfettered space to bail and also to get rid of some of their weight so the boat can sit higher in the water to avoid the crashing waves. As the boat is carrying only people and a few minimal supplies, and the load has to be lightened, one or t’other has to go. In an instant, thus, ten caskets of bread are flung into the stormy waters, as are five barrels of water, lifting the boat a little and making it easier for all on board to use their buckets and pannikins to keep bailing. Just two small barrels of water are kept.

By now, the constant drenching rain is an even greater threat than the waves in sinking them, the only good thing being that – as the Abrolhos are just some 100 miles behind them – it will be a godsend to the poor wretches they have left behind.

Meantime, they keep bailing through the night and into the next day, dying a thousand deaths as every large wave threatens them anew and the longboat is tossed about, rising and plunging, skidding sideways off one wave and nearly being engulfed by the next, little more than flotsam upon the merciless seas.

Somehow, though, they make it through long enough, may the Lord be praised, for the storm to begin to dissipate. As the wind changes to west by sou’-west, they are able to turn to the north once more. Though the seas remain high, they are not as perilous as before, and the exhausted crew and company settle.

 

10 June 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

The rain! The blessed rain!

Back on the Abrolhos, the heavens have opened up overnight, just in time to avoid major catastrophe. For many, on the point of expiry, it is all they can do to roll their faces skywards and open their mouths, in most cases leading to instant revival. All are delighted, but perhaps none more so than the Predikant, who takes it as proof of the power of his prayers, as he publicly expresses his gratitude to the benevolent God who has saved them all. His face upturned to the heavens, his hands spread wide once more, he intones over and over again, ‘Oh, blessed Vader, Father, thou gracious generosity be blessed, may we be forever dankbaar, thankful, for your benevolence and may you continue to hear our prayers. Oh, blessed Vader, thou gracious generosity be blessed . . .’

God is with them on this island after all! While most of the Predikant’s family are gathered tightly around him as he prays, many others among the survivors now spread out and are all but dancing, their faces ghoulish in the flashes of lightning, their teeth bared and their mouths open to the heavens as they gulp down every precious drop and glory in the feel of the fresh rain drenching the rest of their bodies.

However, not all those on Batavia’s Graveyard are so wanton in their joy. Over at the soldiers’ encampment, Wiebbe Hayes is simply busy. In the preceding days, in hopeful anticipation of rain, he worked out a system of suspending a large section of salvaged sail between eight posts and putting a stone in the middle to weigh it down. Via a small hole made next to that stone, they could fill their water barrels by placing them underneath the sail when it rained, using the contraption as a funnel.

And it is working. Under Wiebbe Hayes’s guidance, the soldiers in his immediate group carefully ensure that every drop of rain that falls on the canvas is running into empty barrels, and when each of those barrels is full they quickly replace it with a new one, without spilling any of the precious water. It is exacting work, which nevertheless has to be done. Their time for celebration will not come until the precious rain has stopped falling – at which point, they know, the only puddles of water that will be left will be tiny ones on the odd rocky surface, while the rain falling on the sand will be immediately absorbed, leaving no trace. For the moment, though the rain begins to dissipate a little, the storm itself, with all its thunder, lightning and howling winds, continues to rage.

11 June 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

Others, as it turns out, are having more problems with alcohol than with water.

 

In Ryckert Woutersz’s whole life, he has never had the access to alcohol that he does now. A barrel of wine that washes up on the shore of Batavia’s Graveyard is quickly retrieved by himself and two of his shipmates, and then secreted – and all three of them continue to drink enough to keep themselves in a stupor. Woutersz’s two shipmates fall into a drunken slumber, but Woutersz is not like that. When drunk, his tongue loosens, making him say things that, when sober, he would have kept as the closely guarded secrets they were meant to be.

‘Waar is Ariaen Jacobsz?’ he is heard to slur on the night after the rainstorm, as he staggers around the encampment. ‘It was all right for him to lead the mutiny we had planned when all was going well, to take down that dog Pelsaert, but once we hit the rif, waar is hij? Gone with Pelsaert in the boat to save his own hide, leaving the rest of us here to die!’

Unfortunately for Woutersz, he has said this within the earshot and cold stare of Coenraat van Huyssen, his fellow Mutineer. Van Huyssen does not take kindly to the open discussion of a plot that, in normal times, would see them all on the gallows. Yes, these are not normal times, but if the wreck’s survivors are to be rescued and those times return, the disclosure of the plot would lead to their deaths. As to Jacobsz and Pelsaert, Coenraat van Huyssen has some sympathy for the view that they are dogs, but nothing can change the fact that they remain the best, and in fact the only, chance of the ship’s company being rescued. As quietly as he can, thus, he hisses to Woutersz to hold his tongue, lest he have it ripped out.


11 June 1629, in the longboat

Had they looked hard at the landform just on their starboard quarter in the late-afternoon light, it is just possible that, way up high, the people in the longboat would have seen a curiously dull glint winking at them through the trees. Unbeknown to them, they are passing the island that Dirk Hartog and his men from the Eendracht landed on 13 years earlier, where he had left the pewter plate nailed to a post. And perhaps if they had not had their fill of rain just a short time earlier, they might have landed on the same island and found the plate, but, as it is, Jacobsz decides to push on.

12 June 1629, aboard the Batavia

 

Back on the Batavia, just after dusk, the entire port side of the ship – the one most exposed to the continuous battering of the waves – bursts open, and the sea hungrily hurtles in, roaring from chamber to chamber through all of the Batavia’s now fully uncovered innards, relentlessly tugging at her ribs and carrying away anything and everything not securely attached. The detritus, including boxes, barrels, rats and no fewer than 30 men, spews out into the ocean.

Most of the men drown, though some manage to grab on to driftwood and do indeed float to Batavia’s Graveyard. Jeronimus himself only survives because he is on the highest part of the ship at the time, right on the upper poop deck, but it grants him only temporary reprieve. For, around and about him, the ship continues to break up, every wave washing through the shattered carcass of the vessel and carrying progressively more before it. Jeronimus’s only means of staying safe is to keep climbing higher and higher onto the only parts of the ship still above water, but soon enough it is clear that even that is coming to an end. For, before long, all that is left is the ship’s bowsprit marsse, the mast-like timber that rises just above the horizontal and extends right out to the front of the ship. With great trepidation, Jeronimus climbs onto it, and wonders what to do next . . .


14 June 1629, in the longboat

His face now burned red by the searing sun, with never an ounce of shade for relief that the night itself has not provided, Ariaen Jacobsz puts down his mariner’s astrolabe just a couple of minutes after noon and quickly does his calculations. By his reckoning, they are now at the latitude of 24 degrees south. They have travelled further in the last day than he expected, with what has been a favourable wind. The rocks now seem redder than before, ‘entirely red stone hewn off without a foreshore’, indicating a small change of the landscape – any change is welcome after the banality they have seen – and a lot of those rocks have fallen into huge piles at the base of the still forbidding cliffs. The previous gentle breeze of the morning has now given way to a dreadful calm, meaning, to Jacobsz’s disgust, that the sail now has no more wind in it than a piglet’s fart. In such a latitude of lassitude, the longboat is at the mercy of the strong current that, against their desire, keeps pulling them too far away from the shore.

 

As they continue to meander along, following the coast nor’ by nor’-east, the lack of even the tiniest of sea breezes has made the heat even more intolerable, as the sun seems to simply stop high in the sky. The air is even filled with the acrid fumes of the tar that has been used to caulk the cracks in their boat, which is starting to melt. All up, while being driven onto the fallen rocks is a major danger for them, still it is not the most threatening one. That worst danger comes from above. And below. Both ways, the sun is, bit by bit, sucking the life out of all of them, as surely as a parasite sucks blood, weakening them and sapping their resolve with every passing hour. Those rays that don’t get you on the way down compensate by getting you on the way back, thrown at you from a hundred angles off the moving feast of mirrors that is the sea at any time of day.

When the sea is at its calmest, as it is now, it is as though their little boat is making its way north on one huge liquid mirror, with the sun managing to throw upon them all its firepower without fracture – they are literally roasting, turning redder by the minute as their exposed skin begins to peel, offering up the layers beneath for further cooking. Yes, their water was replenished two days earlier with the rain, but it still has to be severely rationed – two cups a day – against the possibility that it might not rain again for some time.

If in the first two days there was much groaning and wailing at this infernal fire, by this time, their sixth day at sea, that groaning has mercifully subsided – not because everyone has decided to make the best of it but because almost no one has the strength left for the wailing.

Except the baby. A constant sound through so much of their journey has been the pained cries of the infant. And on this day, as the baby’s wails are the only noise that accompanies the gentle lapping of the waves and the throbbing of the sun, it is Ariaen Jacobsz himself who at last voices the feelings of everyone in the boat: could the mother of the child please find a way laat het godverdomme ophouden, to make it stop, Goddamn it! How could such a tiny thing, weakened as it is, possibly make so much noise for so long?

In response, the mother of the unfortunate child begins herself to wail, and Jacobsz is just about to turn his fire upon her when, from up near the bow of the boat, Jan Evertsz cries out, ‘Rook! Smoke!’

As one, the entire boat looks to the front on the starboard side to where Evertsz is eagerly pointing to a thin plume coming from far on the northern horizon – at the point where the visible coast and the sea intersect. It is clearly coming from just one source, a single fire, so tightly does the column rise on this oppressively still day, and it can only mean one thing. Where there is smoke, there is fire; where there is fire, there are humans; and where there are humans, there is water!

A muted but optimistic buzz takes over the boat, as they all will their vessel forward. Within two hours of sailing, they are offshore of the point from which the smoke is coming only about a musket-shot or two inland.

 

If there are humans nearby, it seems unlikely that they are even a remotely maritime people, as the cliffs on the shore at this point seem every bit as forbidding as the rest of het Zuidland’s towering coast. There is no beach, no river, no smiling people coming out to meet the longboats in canoes proffering pineapples or the like, and certainly no bare-breasted dusky maidens as some had vainly hoped for . . . just that one thin plume of smoke a small way inland from the forbidding cliffs.

Landing the boat anywhere is out of the question, so, after discussion, six members of the crew who are strong swimmers volunteer to dive off and swim to the shore, in the hope of making contact with the people. As close as possible to the fallen rocks at the base of the cliffs, while still remaining safely beyond the breakers, the longboat is anchored in 25 fathoms, and those on the boat watch enviously, if somewhat fearfully, as the six men dive into the cool, green water and begin thrashing their way to the shore. The most stunning thing is when they go through the breakers and two of them are caught by a particularly large wave just as it breaks. All in the longboat lean forward, straining to see where they are and whether they will survive. And there they are! Staggeringly, they are nearly on the shore. The first of them climbs out of the sea and waves furiously back at the longboat. Far from being fearful, he almost seems . . . exhilarated. In short order, he is joined by all the others, who also haul themselves onto the rocks.



On this day, Mundooroo of the Yinggarda nation is happy. After four days’ hard hunting, living off only witchetty grubs and the odd goanna, at last Willarrangujithu, the spirit of the skies, has smiled upon them. Just an hour earlier, it was Mundooroo’s own mighty arm that threw the spear that had brought down their wonderful quarry.

Some half-day’s walk in the direction of the rising sun lies their people, waiting for them to bring back just such a piece of bounty. By first light of the following day, they will be on their way, carrying marloo back to their tribe – not a little cliff-face pigurda but a big kangaroo of the open plains – back to where their women and children and the tribal elders are awaiting them.

It is his brother Tondogoro who sniffs it first, coming from the shore, where Ngujithi of Wirriya, spirit of the saltwater, lives. From there, coming at them on the sea breeze, is something none of them have ever smelled before. It is only faint, true, but even the trace of it is clearly unpleasant, and, whatever it is, it is coming closer, the smell getting progressively stronger.

Silently, Mundooroo lifts his fingers to his forehead and makes the signs they all understand and are all expecting: shrink back, circle around and meet again further upwind at whatever point it is that the smell is coming from.

Silent as shadows, in as long as it takes a snake to dart down a hole, the four have extinguished their fire with sand and are gone into the bushes, Mundooroo being the only one delayed, as he first has to secrete their prize kill in a spot where it will be secure from marbanoo, the dingo, and punka, the great goanna.

 

What sweet relief it is for the swimmers from the longboat to once again put their feet upon solid land, on a surface that does not rise and fall, where they have precious space to move around! For a few minutes, they all stagger about like drunken men, until they get their ‘land legs’ back. But now to the task at hand – that is, for them all to safely climb to the top of the escarpment, look for fresh water and try to make contact with the hopefully friendly people who have the fire.

It takes some time to get to the top of the escarpment – after so long in the ship and then on the boat, they have been terribly weakened physically – but finally they all make it. Looking around at the arid red landscape, they despair of finding any water at all here, which makes finding the people who made the fire their top priority. Carefully, slowly, they make their way forward, confused by the fact that the thin plume of smoke seems to have suddenly disappeared. Nevertheless, they continue in the direction it was coming from, pausing only to forlornly dig here and there in the hope of finding fresh water.

Then, suddenly, a veritable clash of two worlds occurs. For 40,000 years and more, the people of the continents of Europe and this part of het Zuidland had developed in entirely different ways, with no contact at all between them. Now, for the first time, on this bluff bit of dirt, men from those two races come face to face. And neither side is impressed.

It is a moot point which of the two parties is more frightened, the whites or the blacks. The Dutch sailors were walking towards the spot where they thought the fire was when, suddenly, they looked up to see themselves surrounded by four men, three of whom were crouching as if they were about to spring, and one of whom is now up and coming towards them.

The whites, conscious that they are intruders in a strange land, break and begin racing back towards the cliffs . . . even as the four Aboriginal men race off in the other direction.

For the rest of Mundooroo’s life, he will tell the story to his tribe around the fire, to his children, and his children’s children, and all young ones alike. One day, their ancestral souls swarmed from the sea, all of them with the pale skin of the underworld, the mark of those back from the dead. They came, lost and fevered, roamed about willy-nilly, peering this way and that, before Mundooroo, Tondogoro and the others chased them away and they went back to the sea on a piece of the sun’s discarded headdress. So powerful is the story, and such a grip does it hold on the tribe, that even long after Mundooroo’s own spirit has gone to the ocean, the tribe acts out the event in their corroboree.

 

It is getting dark now. After their confrontation with the four naked black men, the six Dutch sailors keep close to the shore, unwilling to risk a second meeting and always wanting to have their means of escape – the water and the longboat – handy. They search for fresh water with one eye while keeping the other eye out for the natives, and the end result is they simply get thirstier and have nothing to show for it.

 

On the longboat, just before sundown, Jacobsz, Pelsaert and all the rest are relieved to see them reappear on the shore and start swimming towards them. For their part, the Aboriginal men on the shore, expertly hidden to the point that they have simply melded with the land, are stunned to see these six strange white beings, with their curious fur – the likes of which they have never seen – somehow propel themselves out towards the largest canoe they have ever seen, a real monster, and get hauled onto the boat by even stranger-looking beings.

‘Did you see them? Did you see them?’ the sailors cry as they rejoin the boat, dripping and bloodied from being thrown onto the rocks by the surf. ‘Monsters, they are – savages – with teeth like tigers and hands like gorillas. They ran at us like elks! Their skin is black, their hair wild and their limbs thin. They wear not the least clothing, not even a loincloth! We were wondering whether they were spirits or were really human beings when one of us frightened them. They stood up and ran away.’

All on the boat are agog at what the sailors report, while also depressed that they have come back without water. It means they will have to remain on the ration of just a half-pint of water per person per day. There is nothing for it but to weigh anchor and continue up the coast.

14 June 1629, aboard the Batavia

Out on the Batavia in the early morning, the waves continue to pound into the wreck, further weakening it with every blow and bringing the whole lot ever closer to the embrace of Neptune, who, of course, claims all ships in the end. For two days now since the ship broke up, Jeronimus has remained strapped to the only part still clear of the water, the bowsprit.

The act of so tying himself was his last rational one before falling into a terrified torpor, aided by the copious amounts of wine and brandy he has drunk to get him through these last terrible days. Whimpering, staring glassy-eyed at the water beckoning below, Jeronimus knows only that he has no choice. He cannot swim and is so terrified of the water and of drowning that it has been completely beyond him to do what others did in the days after the wreck, which was to grab something that would float and jump into the water. But it is no longer a possibility to stay on the ship, for it can now only be hours before the final break-up occurs. All he can do is wait for whatever gods there may be to decide his fate . . .

 

Finally, the gods do decide, and in the wee hours of this storm-battered morning, one last hammer-blow from a massive wave hits the wreck and finishes the last of it off. With an agonised scream from the ship, the bowsprit breaks free and starts to fall, followed by a shorter scream from Jeronimus that is terminated as he hits the water and immediately descends into the dark, briny depths of the boiling ocean.






CHAPTER FIVE

The Grip Tightens


. . . and the men who were still on the ship came gradually from aboard, some of them were drowned, others came ashore where we were, amongst whom was Jeronimus, Undermerchant of the ship Batavia, who has been elected Chief; and this Merchant in the beginning behaved himself very well . . .

The Predikant

14 June 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

On this morning, something appears in the distance, bobbing lightly up and down on the gentle swell and gradually getting closer and closer to their tiny island. With the survivors ever alert for supplies drifting their way from the wreck, it is spotted a couple of musket-shots distant from the shore, and a small crowd gathers. Whatever it is, everyone there wants, if not their fair share, at least whatever share they can get against the claims of everyone else who has the same attitude. Although the council has decreed that all supplies that drift ashore are to be carried to a central spot where they can be portioned out fairly, that decree has been entirely ignored, and, indeed, even some council members have gathered in this crowd, making sure they don’t miss out. Slowly, the thing forms up into something they recognise. Though they have all been willing it to be a barrel of bread, or perhaps red wine, it is in fact . . . why . . . it is a man lashed to a piece of wood!

When the man is some 70 yards from the shore, a couple of braver young men in the crowd wade into the water and swim out towards him, to haul him and the bowsprit pole in.

As one, the crowd gathers around the seemingly dead man. But then there is a gurgle, followed by a cough, and then a retching and shuddering from his whole body as water suddenly bursts from his mouth.

Hij leeft! He is alive!

They turn him over and are stunned to recognise none other than the Onderkoopman, the half-drowned Jeronimus.

 

The word quickly spreads around the island and reaches Lucretia in the sick tent – a place that has been set up by the council for those needing extra care (this is the one initiative the council has taken that has had a genuine, positive effect). In tending to the sick under the care of Frans and Aris Jansz, the kindly ship’s surgeons whom she has grown to know in the course of looking after Pelsaert, Lucretia has come into her own in a way she never did on the Batavia, where she was isolated from all bar Pelsaert.

When the news of the Onderkoopman’s survival and arrival comes to her, she is one of the few who do not react with excitement. She merely continues mopping the fevered brow of a young child with a rag and seawater. Since her own dreadful experience at the hands of her eight assailants, she has found an empathy and warmth, a humility, a common cause with the lower classes that she has never felt before. And the sick ones are now far more important to her than the arrival of the Onderkoopman, whom she never warmed to in the first place.

Groaning, unable to support himself after two days in the water, Jeronimus is carried by the other survivors up to the central camp on the north-eastern section of the island, where he is placed in the shade of a suspended sail and slowly brought back to full awareness as he is given small sips of water and bits of hardtack. Dry clothes are brought for him, and, after he has eaten enough of the wretched biscuit to get a tiny bit of strength back, he is even given a hot meal consisting of a bit of cooked sea lion. It is Upper-Surgeon Frans Jansz who tends to him personally, and his care and kindness is, as ever, an inspiration for all to see.

Not long after Jeronimus is truly aware and awake, he decides that what he most wants to do is sleep, and for the next few hours he sleeps the sleep of the dead and the dead exhausted.

15 June 1629, on the coast of het Zuidland

The morning after their first contact with the natives, those in the longboat find a reef running roughly parallel to the coast, on the land side of which the water is very calm. In their own rough swell, they look at that calm enviously, hoping to find an entry through the reef. Then, at noon, at the rough latitude of 23 degrees south, they have what appears to be a rare stroke of luck when just such an opening appears. Better still, they soon find a spot to land right next to some dunes, and for the first time in a week the whole lot of them are able to stand on solid ground.

 

Immediately, Pelsaert and Jacobsz set everyone to digging for water, but they find only saltwater. However, a small party of sailors who warily head to some nearby higher ground – always keeping an eye out for the dreaded blacks – are very fortunate to find some small cavities in the rocky surface that do retain some fresh water left over from the rain. After drinking themselves to the point of bursting, the sailors send a messenger back to bring the others, so they, too, can get their complete fill before they load up the small barrels to take back to the boat.

For the company of the longboat, the whole thing is a wonderful interlude – fresh water and firm land! – with only one particular worry. That is, they are clearly in a spot where savages have recently been, for dotted among the rock pools are the ashes of several small fires, in which the shells of crabs are apparent. When the first sailors arrived at the rock pools, the ashes were still warm.

Pelsaert and Jacobsz thus mount a strong guard around the perimeter of their rough encampment, while also ensuring that a strong guard remains on the beached longboat.

16 June 1629, on the shore of het Zuidland

The following morning, with water in their bellies and at least some food – for they have found some crunchy crabs and molluscs of their own – they begin to look around. This red country is absolutely flat, with neither trees nor vegetation, and not even grass. The only things that grow tall here are massive anthills, rising from the earth in a manner that reminds Pelsaert of Indian huts. They spread from the Dutch encampment right out to the distant horizon. And the only other things that live here in abundance are flies. Thousands of them. Millions of them. All over their food and the Dutch themselves, landing on their faces, crawling into their ears, their noses, their eyes and – anywhere for some precious moisture – their very mouths! It is infernal, intolerable, horrifying. The only way to keep them off is to continually wave your hands in front of your face, which means the damned insects all take off for as long as two seconds before instantly landing again.

The 40 or so Dutch are just so engaged when suddenly, at a distance of just beyond two musket shots, they look up to see eight savages, all of them naked men, each carrying in his hand a curious-looking curved piece of wood. The Dutch stop and watch. Slowly, the natives approach them and spread out – neither the blacks nor the whites certain of what is about to happen. Even at this distance, the Dutch are able to discern what appears to be terrible scarring upon the bodies and faces of these savages, yet their expressions are entirely unfathomable. They show neither fear nor aggression. They simply keep coming closer, until they are just short of a musket-shot away – about 100 yards – whereupon they stop.

 

At this point, encouraged by the savages’ lack of aggression, three sailors who have brought musquetten, muskets, with them begin to slowly walk towards the blacks. Still the sailors keep waving the infernal flies away, yet, strangely, these same flies appear to have no interest in the blacks, and the natives are able to stand there, stock still, propped up on their sticks as they balance on one leg, with the other curiously raised and resting on the other knee. Slowly, slowly, slowly, the sailors keep approaching.

When they are just 80 yards apart, suddenly, the blacks turn and move away again at a slow, loping run. The sailors cry out, hoping they will stop, but there is no stopping these men. Within no more than 30 seconds, they seem to have disappeared, almost melting back into the earth from whence they came.

16 June 1629, in the longboat, off the coast of het Zuidland

The morning’s search for any more waterholes in the range proves futile. Led by Jacobsz and Pelsaert, all of the Dutch are back in the longboat by noon and making to sea again – Jacobsz estimates their latitude to be 22 degrees 17 minutes south. Continuing slowly north, they are not long in finding another opening in the reef and are soon once again in the open ocean. At this point, it is Pelsaert’s intention to continue up the coast until they reach the one river that is marked on the sketchy map they have: Jacop Remmessens, named for one of the Dutch mariners who discovered it in 1618.

But a problem soon arises. The wind is from the north-east, so it is pushing them away from their desired course. It is time for a firm decision to be made. At this point, there is still the nominal notion among them that they are searching for water and food to take back to those on Batavia’s Graveyard. However, having found no water and now, according to Pelsaert's reckoning, being more than 100 miles away from the islands, and with limited water for themselves, if they are going to strike out from the coast and head for Batavia, this is the moment. Otherwise, they should turn the boat around and take back to the survivors what water they have.

But what purpose would be served by their returning? To be right back where they started? It does not make sense. The obvious thing is to head out into the open sea and hope they can survive long enough to reach the southern coast of Java, around 2000 miles away. And yet it is such a momentous decision. From the moment they set that course, there would be no going back. To this point, Pelsaert has always been able to comfort himself that they have not really abandoned the others, they are simply searching for water to help them. But now is the time to make a tough decision, as the sun beats down ever harder.

 

After a muted consultation with Jacobsz in the stern, Pelsaert addresses everyone. Their intent is to head to the open sea and do their utmost in the name of God the Almighty to reach Batavia. If anyone wishes to speak against that and return to the wreck site, they are to say so. But if they agree with him and Jacobsz, then he requires everyone to sign a document to the effect that it has been a joint decision.

. . .

No one speaks. Everyone signs.

Jacobsz sets course for Java, and before long het Zuidland has disappeared behind them. The mood of those on the boat is both excited and a little fearful. The fact that they have thrown off that infernal coast somehow gives them the sense that their long-dreamed-of destination is just up ahead. And yet, whereas the coast of het Zuidland was forbidding, at least it was land, and that gave them some comfort. Now, alone on the vast ocean in a tiny boat, all feel that the whim of nature could overwhelm and kill them at any moment. All they can do is pray that God will smile upon them.

Pelsaert by this time has completely withdrawn from the rest of the people on the boat. This is partly due to his continued fevers and ongoing physical weakness after travelling so far on too little food, water and rest. Another factor is that on this flimsy boat, on this vast ocean, he is entirely in the domain of Jacobsz – something that still does not sit well with him. But also . . . every mile further north brings him closer to Batavia’s notorious governor, Jan Pieterszoon Coen, a man to whom he will have to explain just why it was that the Company’s finest ship came to grief on a reef, and why he – as commanding officer – has abandoned the vast majority of the survivors there to their fate. These are the things that keep churning through Pelsaert’s mind as their tiny boat ploughs north.

16 June 1629, and several days thereafter, Batavia’s Graveyard

It has taken a remarkably short time for Jeronimus to recover, and soon he is up and about, walking the island, warmly greeting his fellow survivors and being haled in turn, as he gets his bearings.

As he wanders, his feet crush shells with every step, making a curious crackling sound, while so fine is the sand beneath – it reminds Jeronimus of talc – that the going is slow. As he makes his way around the southern shoreline, the bountiful small crabs scurry madly away at his every step – something that he finds curiously pleasing to his spirit.

 

The major impression Jeronimus gains is of the sheer desolation of the place. Here, on the opposite side of the globe to the Dutch Republic, it is hard to imagine a place more tragically different to the world they have left behind. On this whole wretched island, there is nary a tree to break the terrible flatness of it all and only scattered stunted shrubs in their stead; no creeks or pools of fresh water to please the eye and the spirit – there is nothing. It is as if a knob of the seabed itself has hesitantly emerged from the depths of the ocean and simply frozen there, refusing to go higher or lower and just sitting there for all eternity. There are a few small sand dunes on the eastern side of the island, while on the southern side are a couple of small beaches from where the survivors could easily launch their rafts – had any rafts been built. Not surprisingly, they haven’t.

For it is equally obvious to Jeronimus that, since the day the survivors landed here and set up their first rudimentary shelters on the northern part of the island, little has been done to alleviate its very bleakness. Scattered over a small area in desultory groups defined by blood, common callings and friendships, the survivors have basically scratched together whatever protection they can from the near-constant westerly and southerly winds and made their homes on the lee side of them. Their squalid, tatty little shelters are composed essentially of small walls of rock and driftwood and are mostly right alongside the stunted shrubs, which give an added bit of protection. Thin wisps of smoke coming from several small fires dotted around the island complete the sad tableau.

The only group that appears to have any sense of organisation is the soldiers, who have positioned themselves a little away from the rest, on the eastern end of the island, between the dunes. As men whose calling has long seen them bivouacking in rough country as a matter of course, they have adapted better than anyone else to the situation in which they find themselves and are, as they were on the ship, something of a force apart.

For the moment, this suits Jeronimus perfectly. In the plans he is already forming, having the soldiers a little out of the way in the first instance is crucial. The important thing for now is that the continued absence of the Commandeur and the skipper on the longboat can only mean that they have not found water on the nearby island, nor on the continent, so in all likelihood have decided to try to reach the city of Batavia, around 2000 miles to the north, in an effort to get help. That leaves, in terms of authority, him, Jeronimus, as the highest-ranking officer on the island – a fact that is quickly acknowledged by the other survivors, with his strong if still tacit encouragement.

 

And here are Frans Jansz and the Predikant now. In the time after the wreck and before Jeronimus’s arrival on Batavia’s Graveyard, they explain, a raad has been set up to provide some organisational authority on the island. It consists principally of themselves, Pieter Jansz the provost, Salomon Deschamps the clerk, and Gabriel Jacobsz the highest-ranking soldier. And so to the point. ‘Onderkoopman,’ the Predikant addresses Jeronimus formally, ‘we would like you to join our raad. After all, in the absence of the Commandeur and captain, you are the highest-ranking official of the VOC among us.’

Graciously, Jeronimus thanks the Predikant for his politeness and kindness and replies that he would be delighted to join them. And, of course, Jeronimus expected nothing less, but there is form to be observed, just as there is at the first council meeting, where he warmly thanks the council, adding that he only hopes he will be of some use in their deliberations.

And so it begins. From the moment of Jeronimus taking his place in the council, it is noticed by all on Batavia’s Graveyard that, suddenly, the Company is back among them. Once again, there is authority, there is organisation, there is discipline. Before his arrival, no particular person emerged as a leader in the council, simply because none of them, with the possible exception of Frans Jansz, has any leadership qualities to speak of – and all Jansz has really been able to do is to impose some rough order on the even division of their food.

The generally appalling conditions now immediately change with the arrival of Jeronimus, as he imposes control by force of his silken tongue, power of personality and genuine leadership ability. No sooner has he taken his place than new edicts emerge, which are immediately followed through. Pit toilets are to be dug. Hunting parties are to be organised. All stores that have already been retrieved from the wreck of the Batavia – many continue to wash up on the shore, as the island is directly downwind and down-current from the shipwreck – are to be gathered in the one storage tent, situated right beside the rather grand tent that has been especially constructed for Jeronimus.

The most important edict from Jeronimus and the council, however, is that the driftwood daily gathered from the southern shores of their island must not simply be burned by whoever finds it but added to a central store so that the carpenters can take their pick of the best wood from which to build skiffs and sturdy yawls. As two of the most experienced carpenters, Jacob Hendricxsz and Stoffel Stoffelsz, set to with a will, the frame of the first yawl starts to take shape. Using some of the pine decking that has washed up on the shore, they first make up the flat bottom of the boat by nailing together a few planks, before heating and bending other pieces of timber to form the frame, onto which other planks are soon added.

 

Once the first yawl is finished, Jeronimus and the council decree that the wreck itself must be systematically searched for goods and supplies that can be brought back to shore. The simple vessel will be manned by the most capable sailors, soldiers and divers, who will use a pole to get the yawl out into the channel, pushing on the shallow sea floor, before switching over to paddles from there. In the distance, the stricken outline of the Batavia is still apparent. As Jeronimus knows better than anyone, it is no longer possible to live on the wreck, as there is no horizontal part of it safe from the crashing waves, but the skeleton of its basic structure is still intact, meaning that at low tide the divers have a fair chance of retrieving stores and getting them onto the raft. And so it proves.

One of the first things recovered, to the infinite delight of Jeronimus, is his apothecary’s bag from his cabin, full of his bronze scales, his phials, potions and powders. Beyond that, a steady supply now comes back to the island of barrels of wine and water, salted pork and ham. There are cooking pots, knives, crockery and glasses from the galley; shovels, tools, wire, tacks, saws, hammers and nails from the workshops; linen, boots, hats, brocades, sheets of velvet, gold braid, sails, tents and tarred ropes from the storerooms; and gunpowder and guns from the weapons store. Some items, true, have been half-ruined by immersion in seawater, but many are in pristine condition, having been preserved in specially constructed watertight containers.

When Pelsaert’s familiar bandoleer with the decorated sword of the Kapitein-Generaal, Captain-General, is salvaged, Jeronimus asserts his right to it, and even wears it as, with his hands neatly clasped behind his back, he pays visits to his people, all the while dictating notes to Pelsaert’s clerk, Salomon Deschamps, just as the Commandeur might have done had he been there. (Though Jeronimus used to be supremely irritated by Salomon’s cringing obsequiousness around Pelsaert, he now quite enjoys it when it is applied to him.)

The people welcome the return of real authority to their daily life. They even doff their hats as he passes. He has the respect of nearly all, from the least to the most powerful people on the island. The one notable exception is still Lucretia, who has stayed entirely aloof from him, no matter that he has gone out of his way to greet her. Well, he has a growing confidence that he will get to her in the end. For now, there is plenty to occupy his attention.

At Jeronimus’s command, and with the blessing of the council, of course, the bulk of those things retrieved from the wreck, particularly the valuable ones, are put in a tent right beside his own. As for the best of the finery – the velvet, brocade and silk – that is all put squarely in one corner of Jeronimus’s own tent, his reckoning being that, as the VOC’s highest-ranking official, he is the only one who can be trusted with the Company’s most precious property. As a matter of fact, not only has Jeronimus cloaked himself in the authority of the Company but also he emphasises the point by actually wearing ‘a scarlet tunic brightly trimmed with galloon, gold braid, great silver buckles on his shoes and a hat with an ostrich feather’. He tops it all off by donning an expensive red cloak with gold trim that he has gathered from one of the cases that have washed ashore and begins to strut around the island, a veritable promenading peacock among mere men.

 

There is no complaint from the people. Jeronimus is the Onderkoopman. He has started to improve things. It is uplifting to see him in his finery walking around, organising things, smiling, always smiling beneath his lightly hooded eyes . . . even as he supervises more and more precious goods being brought to his tent. This includes Pelsaert’s personal chest, retrieved from the smaller island, which contains the extraordinary cameo with the gold frame. Now that Jeronimus is here, he insists that it is his right, nay, his duty, to have it in his own keeping.

And what of security for such valuable things? Jeronimus has thought of that, too. He makes it clear – and the council quickly agrees – that a guard must be formed to protect the Company’s goods. Jeronimus even personally undertakes to recruit the men who will form up this guard.

And wouldn’t you know it? As it turns out, the newly formed guard happens to be composed of the likes of Coenraat van Huyssen, Lenart van Os and others of the Mutineers who gravitated back to the Onderkoopman’s side as soon as he reappeared on the island. True, the planned mutiny has been thwarted by circumstance, but now that Jeronimus is again among them he takes his rightful place at their head, brothers in harms. Granted, there is no longer a Commandeur among them to mutiny against, and at this point it is not yet clear precisely what their course of action will be, but it is as well for them all to renew their previous alliance.

In fact, so keen is Jeronimus to nurture and refashion the Mutineers as a fighting force, it won’t be long before he will be able to arrange, with the cajoled backing of the council, to have this newly formed guard quartered in two large tents right next to his own two (one containing himself and the other containing the supplies), and they, of course, are allowed to keep their weaponry. They are even given some of the red velvet in which to attire themselves.

Jeronimus also organises for these same men to take the roughly made yawls and begin to explore the nearby islands, including the High Islands to the north-west, to find out what kind of resources there might be there.

 

And, sure enough, as each edict is carried out and the flow of supplies onto the island continues, life on Batavia’s Graveyard continues to get better. With improved organisation of the water and food – with the supplies of the latter having increased as resources are put towards systematic fishing and the subsequent sharing of the catch – the threat of death by starvation in the short term eases just a little, as does, to a certain extent, the possibility of dying of thirst, though fresh water remains extremely precious. Again and again, the people are thankful that Jeronimus has come among them, with the Predikant frequently and loudly attributing it to the fact that, ‘the Lord is smiling upon us, his children, to have sent us the Onderkoopman’. The people agree that it is the working of God and thank providence that the Lord Jesus Christ has sent them Jeronimus. In hearing of his own presence being attributed to a generous Lord, Jeronimus can do little but bow graciously and smile inwardly.

In the general celebration and veneration of the Onderkoopman, there is only one group that stands a little back from it: the soldiers. In no way do they challenge Jeronimus’s authority – for, as soldiers, obeying orders is paramount – but nor do they embrace it. The soldiers, it is true, are made up of several nationalities, but, loyal to their martial creed and placed in a real battle just to survive, they have suddenly become the most united group on the island, with the exception, perhaps, of the Mutineers, though the latter are yet to declare themselves openly.

In the way the soldiers live, the way they organise themselves, share whatever fish and other seafood they catch, and distribute tasks according to their respective strengths, they are proof that it is possible to prosper without being formally in Jeronimus’s thrall . . . and Jeronimus himself is not long in deciding that he wants their independence stopped. For, upon consideration, he has come to the conclusion that little has changed. Once, he and his Mutineers planned to take over the ship. Now, he decides, it is best for them to take over the island. It is just that the plan needs to be modified. The soldiers can no longer be battened down in the lower deck, of course, but they can be banished to another island.

The natural leader of the soldiers, it emerges, is none other than Wiebbe Hayes, a man with no authority over the group before the shipwreck but who has emerged after it as the one with the coolest head and the best ideas, the one who makes the others feel more confident simply by his presence. Although the highest-ranking soldier on the island is Corporal Gabriel Jacobsz, such is Hayes’s talent for leadership that the younger man has assumed responsibility for the group unopposed and without question. He is quietly spoken, has not asserted his own rule and has accepted the informal mantle of being the soldiers’ leader without going through any process of pacts, committees or the like.

Around and about the soldiers’ camp, for example, there are piles of dirt beside large holes. They have been digging wells, so far without success, but Jeronimus is amazed to find that it is under the insistence of this soldier, Wiebbe Hayes, that the digging goes on. For Jeronimus, this fealty to someone who is not him, and a fealty based on respect rather than formal authority, is an obvious threat.

 

Jeronimus starts to give considerable thought as to exactly how he is going to be rid of the problem of Hayes and his men. Although Hayes is not the only one he wishes to be rid of . . .

Despite the quick improvement in conditions on the island, it is obvious to him that the survival of all in the long term will simply not be possible. There are over 200 people on the island, since more have arrived from the shipwreck, quickly eating and drinking their way through much of the supplies that have been assembled. The colonies of sea lions and birds help to keep them going, but even after only a fortnight those colonies have been severely depleted and the once teeming sea lions, particularly, are now far fewer. As to the birds, the great crested tern – grey on top, white beneath, with a yellow bill and shaggy black crest atop its head – is the one most pursued because it has slightly more flesh than the other birds and also because its distinctive loud cries of kerrak and korrkorrkorr make its nesting places marginally less difficult to discover than those of the other birds. Also particularly sought after are the mutton birds, who are found to land on the island at night to make a nest for themselves by burrowing into the sand. If you know the signs to look for, it is possible to determine where to capture them – and the rich and oily taste of their meat is a delight. It remains, however, a skilled operation to catch any birds at all, and not nearly enough can be caught to feed everyone.

The problem for Jeronimus is a very simple one: there are too many mouths for the amount of food and water available. With just over 200 people eating and drinking daily on this island, famine or death by dehydration stalks them close in the not-too-distant future, unless a lot of those mouths can be . . . taken care of.

There is no solution to be found within the realms of the raad. When Jeronimus points to the certainty of their forthcoming deaths, no one else on the council will hear of anything other than simply sharing out whatever supplies they have. For the Onderkoopman, this is insane, even though for the moment he must remain circumspect in the way he expresses that view. What he does know is that it will take a strong man to ensure that at least some of them survive, and he is precisely that man. If he gets it right, moreover, they will not only survive but also be very, very rich.

So he starts to put in place his own plan. Guided by his strong will to survive, as well as his cult’s teaching that the only purpose on earth is to indulge one’s own pleasures, Jeronimus is never troubled by such an unwieldy and unworldly thing as a conscience. Clearly, for the plan he has in mind, he is going to need more manpower than the dozen or so Mutineers he currently has at his disposal, and something that encourages him greatly is the potential to expand this group.

 

While it was difficult to do that aboard the Batavia for fear of the possible consequences, here he is the authority, the law and the judiciary all in one. And a man who comes into his orbit early, who recognises both that Jeronimus is the power and that radical measures must be taken to ensure the survival of a few rather than the slow death of the many, is none other than David Zevanck, whom Jeronimus has personally come to know well over the previous months.

A wayward reprobate from an aristocratic family, fallen on hard times, Zevanck is a man of similar swagger to Jeronimus, with equally thin reasons for it, and Jeronimus has come to deeply admire his superb insouciance when contemplating evil, his apparent lack of a soul. Jeronimus has had to learn these things by embracing a philosophy, but Zevanck, well, Zevanck is an absolute natural. Even in repose, there is always at least a hint of violent menace about him, an indication that the young Dutchman is just waiting for the opportunity to bring harm to another – and this is precisely the quality that Jeronimus wishes to nurture in him, for the plans he is fomenting. So much does he like Zevanck, in fact, that he now brings him into the inner circle of Mutineers and asks if he would like to join them, an offer that the young aristocrat quickly takes up.

One of the first things that Jeronimus discusses extensively with Zevanck is the Ryckert Woutersz problem. Jeronimus was outraged shortly after arriving to hear that Woutersz was mouthing off about the planned mutiny and that a rumour of it was beginning to spread around the other survivors. The stupidity! Clearly, the risk Woutersz poses to them all is entirely unacceptable. If, perchance, they are rescued from this infernal piece of coral and it gets abroad that they were hatching a mutiny, their lives would be worse than forfeit – they would inevitably go through terrible torture before they were lucky enough to get to death. The Woutersz problem will have to be solved.

In the meantime, the most crucial thing, Jeronimus tells all the Mutineers, is to find out exactly what resources there are on nearby islands, in terms of water and possible food. The gang quickly set to exploring the Abrolhos. A trip to Traitors’ Island to check for what might have washed up upon it confirms an enormous amount of driftwood from the shipwreck, and they also find Pelsaert’s note of explanation for his departure under a biscuit barrel. This, however, is no sooner given to Jeronimus than the Onderkoopman secretes it. It suits his purposes for the people to remain angry at Pelsaert, and such a note might alleviate that anger.

Then, at the command of Jeronimus, David Zevanck and a few sailors take the small skiff that one of the carpenters has recently fashioned out of driftwood and explore the two High Islands some five miles to their north-west, to determine if there is water on them. On their way back, they also explore the long strip of land that lies just to their west across the deepwater channel, a streak of white misery which from the distance of Batavia’s Graveyard appears to be entirely arid, though it does have a lot of sea lions cavorting on its beaches. Zevanck is not long in presenting his full report . . .

 

‘No water on any of them, you say?’ Jeronimus queries, with a gleam in his eye. ‘Are you sure?’

At Zevanck’s solid assurance, Jeronimus responds with glee, clapping his hands together spontaneously in the manner of a small child who has just realised that the largest of the family presents is for him.

‘Wonderbaarlijk.’

Despite his joy, he insists that Zevanck tells no one. Instead, he must put it about that, on those islands, there is not just water but plenty of water! And all of it is just a little below the surface, only requiring strong men with barrels and shovels to dig down and secure it. ‘And I’ll tell you why . . .’

On Batavia’s Graveyard at this time, there are those who are already close to the rising power that is Jeronimus, and then there are those who clearly wish to be close, and so hang around him, offering their services in any manner that the Onderkoopman sees fit. One, in particular, is almost like a puppy dog, and that is young Jan Pelgrom de Bye of Bemmel, the slight lad who was a general cabin servant aboard the Batavia but has worked assiduously since Jeronimus arrived to look after him – running errands, emptying his chamber pot, bringing him his meals, washing his clothes. In doing so, he has entirely supplanted the role previously filled by young Rogier Decker. Still, that is not enough for Pelgrom, and, aware that something of a cabal has formed around Jeronimus in terms of the Mutineers, he does his best to wheedle his way into the group, the sanctum sanctorum of hard men.

By now, while not known by any name, the Mutineers have become a distinctly recognisable group on the island, not simply because of their red attire but also because, with their polished swords or swinging cutlasses by their thighs, they are constantly swaggering either with each other or on the shoulder of Jeronimus, and – surely there must be some mistake? – they even seem to have a slight hint of menace about them.

The Mutineers tolerate young Pelgrom, allowing him to run errands on their own account, catch fish for their table, prepare their meals, but it is as yet unsure if he is worthy of becoming one of them. Another of roughly similar age who is far more easily accepted by the older men is the young German soldier Mattys Beer. He has been close to both Stonecutter Pietersz and Jan Hendricxsz from the first – the two notably hard men of the Mutineers – and he also has the prestige about him of having been one of the first recruited to the mutiny. The VOC cadets Coenraat van Huyssen and Gijsbert van Welderen take their cues from Stonecutter and Hendricxsz, and accept young Mattys easily – something that drives the puppy, Pelgrom, wild with jealousy.

 

 

Beyond the constant cry of the seabirds, a new sound has come to the Abrolhos Islands for the first time in their history. Now that the immediate crisis has passed and things have improved under Jeronimus, this wonderful sound comes from Cornelis the Fat Trumpeter.

There are days when the elements are so calm that the ocean is as flat as a bolt of raw silk, there is nary a cloud in the sky and, of course, nothing, absolutely nothing, on the horizon in any direction, apart from the High Islands. On such days, as the sun begins to fall into the western seas, as the light turns to an exquisite mauve and the last heat of the day has given way to a turquoise cool, Cornelis takes his trumpet – of all his possessions on the Batavia, this was his first to salvage – sits upon on a rock on the southern shore and plays. His fat cheeks work like the bellows in a blacksmith’s forge as he plays happy tunes, mournful tunes, tunes beloved of those who frequent Amsterdam’s beer halls, and tunes long loved by Dutch children.

Those who have the strength sometimes gather around him, begging him to keep playing, asking him does he know this tune or that tune, and can he play again the one he played the other evening? If in the mood, which he mostly is, Cornelis obliges, playing his trumpet until it falls all but completely dark, whereupon everyone makes their careful way back to their shelters, with their upheld lanterns throwing the soft light before them. At such times as these, particularly if the day has brought them both food and water, it is even possible to feel momentarily uplifted, to have optimism that they will survive on this atoll, and that a rescue ship must eventually come for them. And then the darkness falls completely and they sleep deeply, dreaming of their lives back in the Dutch Republic, the times they used to have and would hopefully one day have again.

In the distance, the cry of the birds is unending, one wailing particularly loudly.

Yet was that cry a bird? It sounded strange, almost human. But after that one strange shriek . . . nothing. Stirring restlessly only a little, those on Batavia’s Graveyard settle down for the night.

19 June 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

Ryckert Woutersz has disappeared. His tent-mate, confused and worried, reports to Jeronimus that, the previous evening, Woutersz was drinking with David Zevanck and simply did not return drunkenly to the tent, the way he had on previous evenings. And now the mate can’t find him anywhere. He has searched the whole island and gone from group to group, yet there is not the slightest sign of him. Strangely, Jeronimus does not seem at all concerned and simply says he is sure Ryckert will turn up.

 

Which, oddly enough, he does.

That very afternoon, the six-year-old Hilletje Hardens is playing down at the water’s edge under the watchful eye of her mother, Anneken. She has found a small sliver of driftwood from the broken-up Batavia washed ashore and is amusing herself, as she watches her ‘ship’ floating in and out on the gentle shore break.

Her ship invariably comes all the way to the shore – always in a much happier fashion than the actual Batavia did – and then she throws it back out again, giggling delightedly as she watches it twist and turn.

And then, suddenly, little Hilletje screams in a manner that alarms not only her mother but also another 20 or so people within earshot, who all come running. On the shore, shaking, the little girl is pointing at something else the incoming tide has washed in.

It is Ryckert Woutersz.

His throat has been slashed from one ear to the other, his face is purple, his body bloated. Obviously, he has been murdered. The news spreads around the island within minutes, and most of the ship’s company is soon gathered on the shore. As two burly soldiers wade in to drag his body onto land, his flaccid, blubber-lipped mouth drops open to allow the exit of a soft-shell crab from its temporary home, revealing the blackened, stumpy vestige of what was once Ryckert’s tongue. The crowd reels back in horror. Ryckert’s tongue has been cut out – a clear indication to anyone of what happens to those who talk too much.

Seizing on the death of Woutersz, the Onderkoopman immediately calls everyone to a meeting in the makeshift square – composed of a cleared space, delineated by rows of rocks – outside his tent.

‘I regret to inform you,’ he gravely tells the gathering, for all the world as if they don’t already know and haven’t been discussing Ryckert’s fate for the last three hours, ‘that Ryckert Woutersz has been found washed up on the shore, most brutally murdered, with his tongue cut out as though he were a beast in the fields.

‘I promise you on behalf of both the VOC and the raad – which has just met on this subject – to do everything necessary to both find the perpetrators of this hideous act and protect you from such heinous crimes as these against Woutersz, such a good man. It is as if we do not have enough to worry about through lack of water and food that we have a murderer in our very midst.’

 

Jeronimus goes on to affirm that the raad commands any man or woman who has in their possession any weapon, be it sword, morgensterre, morning star (lethal lumps of lead on the end of a rope or stick, studded with iron nails at all angles), dagger or the like, to go back to their tents, collect such and return it to this place. It will all be held in Jeronimus’s safekeeping until such time as they are rescued from this living hell. Any person found to be harbouring any weapon from this moment forth will be subjecting themselves to the wrath of the council and the severest of all penalties.

In one fell swoop, the apothecary has concocted a plan to not only disarm the island but also provide his Mutineers with an array of killing tools. One final measure is to put a very tight guard on the boats that have been built and strictly limit access to Mutineers only. For what he has in mind, this is going to be extremely important.

20 June 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

As a young lad growing up in Friesland, Jeronimus studied Latin, and one famous phrase of that language, or at least its concept, is well known to him: divide et impera, divide and conquer. The notion is that when a small force faces a larger and more powerful force, the way to triumph is to manoeuvre so that the larger force can be broken up and thereafter beaten in successive parts.

‘And so,’ Jeronimus announces to all of the gathered survivors on Batavia’s Graveyard, ‘it is the decision of the council that in order to maximise our chances of survival, we must spread ourselves around nearby islands. This will allow each group to live better off such sea lions and water as there are on each island, and not strain the sea lions and water we have here.’

It makes a certain amount of sense – at least enough sense that when Jeronimus first presented the idea to the council the previous afternoon, it only took a small amount of forceful argument before they agreed to it.

Not that all of the survivors are delighted at the prospect of leaving Batavia’s Graveyard, as miserable a place as it is. For at least there seems some strength in community, in all helping each other to survive. Is it really wise to split up like this?

And yet, it is unthinkable to argue. When Jeronimus speaks, he does so not merely as a man among others but as a man among men, the man who has the full weight and authority of the Company behind him, as confirmed by the diktats of the council. So if he says they must shortly split up and go to different islands – even designating which people should go where, and which should stay on the main island with him (of whom, though he does not declare it, Lucretia is foremost) – then that is what they must do.

The first group to go is commanded by the nominal leader of the soldiers, Corporal Gabriel Jacobsz. Jeronimus insists it is nothing less than Councillor Jacobsz’s duty to take his wife, Laurentia, together with another 47 survivors over to the long strip of land across the channel to the place he has named Robbeneiland. (The Dutch word robben is used for all seal-like mammals, thus he has called it ‘Seals’ Island’, for the bountiful food supply that he says is there.) This group comprises a dozen or so men, the balance made up of women, children and nearly 20 of the Batavia’s cabin boys. It seems rum to some that if Seals’ Island is so plentifully supplied they are not all going there, but no one likes to say anything.

 

Since the murder of Woutersz, a rather chilling atmosphere has taken hold on Batavia’s Graveyard, an undefined sense of menace. The wind seems to blow colder, the nights are darker and the cry of the birds more strident. To be off this island and making a fresh start on another can be no bad thing.

So Jacobsz reluctantly agrees. It takes several trips on the yawls to ferry his large group with their immediate effects and supplies of water the half-mile distance across the channel to the long, desolate, sandy strip of land to be found there, but after a full morning of it the job is done. Jacobsz is told not to worry that they don’t have a great deal of water or food with them, for, apart from the sea lions they can easily kill, they will be regularly visited, so that any supplies they do need can be brought to them. Among those who settle now on Seals’ Island are Cornelis the Fat Trumpeter, Jacob de Vos the tailor and young Abraham Gerritsz, a deserter from another Dutch ship whom they had picked up during their brief stopover in Sierra Leone.

The next large group to go are the soldiers. The very afternoon that Seals’ Island has been effectively colonised, Wiebbe Hayes stands before Jeronimus, in the latter’s tent. It is the first time that Hayes has been so invited, and he is impressed. While other tents on the island are little more than hovels, with bits of canvas and cloth strung up against leaning bits of wood, this is a real room, one that has been constructed by the ship’s sailmakers at the Onderkoopman’s direction, with canvas walls stretched tightly between upright posts, and a peaked roof. The carpet on the floor is Persian and has come directly from the Great Cabin, as have the desk and the chair. In the corner, lying casually open, is Pelsaert’s valuables chest, with more jewels in it than Wiebbe Hayes has ever seen in his life, together with the most exquisite-looking agate cameo he has ever seen.

For this meeting, Jeronimus adopts the slightly bored drone that a high Company official uses when communicating to an underling a mundane chore that he must execute. ‘And so,’ Jeronimus tells the soldier, ‘by order of the council, who on these islands represents the authority of the VOC, you are required to gather to you a group of 20 of your best men, including the six French soldiers . . .’

 

Jeronimus doesn’t give a reason why he particularly wants the French soldiers gone and doesn’t care what Hayes thinks about it. The truth is, while the soldiers in general have been a little aloof, the French soldiers have been the most aloof of all. He wants rid of them. He goes on, ‘You will all be transported by rafts to the High Islands, where you will use your best endeavours to find and tank the fresh water that we believe will be relatively easy to find there. When this is done, you will light three fires separated by a distance of 100 yards and put green leaves upon them to create three long columns of smoke, which will indicate you are ready to again be picked up by raft, so we can bring the water back here.’

As Jeronimus speaks, Hayes gazes at him steadily. While many have found the eyes of Jeronimus unnerving, on this occasion Jeronimus finds it more than a little uncomfortable to look into Hayes’s eyes. There is something about the look that the soldier gives him that is different . . .

Others on this island look at Jeronimus with anything from trepidation to expectation to adoration, but Hayes looks at his boss with no more than frank assessment. The soldier is outwardly polite, even formally deferential as they discuss the forthcoming trip. But, as Jeronimus has learned from long experience, the eyes do not lie. Hayes is observing the form, but his eyes are saying clearly, ‘I am not in your thrall. I will do as you ask for the moment, but we will see.’

Jeronimus does Hayes the honour of holding his gaze, with eyes that seem to say, ‘Let us cut to the chase. The truth of it is, as we both know, you will be going to the High Islands because it is my request, and I assure you there is water there.’

After a few more minutes of discussion, Jeronimus nods to him that their meeting is over. Hayes rises to go and turns to the tent flap that serves as a door.

‘Two other things,’ Jeronimus tosses after him.

Wiebbe Hayes turns back. ‘Ja, Onderkoopman?’

‘It is extremely important that you return with as much water as possible, so you must travel with the absolute bare necessities. We will not be able to issue you with any muskets.’

This does not sit well with Hayes. He is a soldier, his men are soldiers, and a soldier without a musket is effectively no soldier at all. But what can he do? Jeronimus is his superior, and, with the authority of the council behind him, the Onderkoopman is commanding him to leave behind their arms for the very good reason that they will be able to bring back more water to their comrades, who are in desperate need of it. ‘Ja, natuurlijk, Onderkoopman,’ he replies. ‘And the other thing?’

‘Be sure to take Jan Carstenz with you. He is a good man, and I think he will be a great help to you on the island.’

 

Again, it is an odd request. While Jan Carstenz is a good man, he is also extremely protective of his beautiful wife, Anneken Bosschieters – the only woman close to Lucretia in terms of natural loveliness – and Jan would not be happy to be leaving her behind, even for a few days. But the same logic applies. If Jeronimus has made a special request for Jan Carstenz to go, then that is the end of it. And even Jan would have to understand that. For the sake of all, Jan must sacrifice personal interests and go and collect the much-needed water.

It is done. The upside for Hayes is that he can be fully independent on the High Islands and not even pretend to answer to anyone. And the soldiers, who like to be a law unto themselves, can be exactly that.


21 June 1629, High Islands

On the following morning, they leave in a flurry of farewells and pole-pushing from the shore, with Anneken weeping as she waves her husband, Jan Carstenz, goodbye. At least it should only be for a few days.

Twenty soldiers and several sailors fill the rafts under the command of David Zevanck, all of them volunteers, many of them there simply from the feeling that in the midst of this dreadful maelstrom it can be no bad thing to stick close to Wiebbe Hayes. He seems to know what he is doing and continues to radiate a calm confidence.

It is odd, thinks Hayes, as they head towards the High Islands, that no one, least of all Zevanck, has been specific about exactly which of the two High Islands the water is to be found on, but maybe that will be apparent once they get there. Maybe they are simply dotted with freshwater creeks and all you have to do is sink the barrels into one and they will be full.

But if that is the case, Hayes thinks, why is the raft dropping them and then leaving, instead of staying right there and waiting while they load it up again? It is with this in mind that he turns to Zevanck and asks for more specific directions as to where the water is to be found.

Zevanck does not like Hayes and does not bother to pretend otherwise. He growls in reply that Hayes and his men will see soon enough once they get there, and he makes it absolutely clear that he does not care to discuss it further. Hayes has to let the matter rest as they approach to within a mile of the High Islands. From this distance, it looks good, at least in comparison with what they have left.

 

While Batavia’s Graveyard is really naught but a strip of coral that just happens to be a couple of yards higher than the sea around it – and is not really an ‘island’ worthy of the name – this place they are approaching is obviously the genuine thing. The highest and more north-easterly of the two islands, which is the one they are landing on, springs out of the water to the height of at least 50 feet at its peak. Covered in vegetation of an indeterminate species – though it looks to be low, singularly disappointed shrubs, together with equally sad little trees that have been obliged to bow to the constant wind – East High Island looks to be about two miles long and is perhaps nearly as wide.

Offloaded, and after waving the quickly departing rafts goodbye, Hayes’s men immediately begin their search for water, not least because after their journey on the sea they are all especially thirsty. In the first instance, what they find is . . . not much. True, there are some brackish pools of water surrounded by dark moss up on the cliffs where they can sate their immediate needs, but there is no sign whatsoever of the clear and obvious supply of water that has been promised.

Disappointed, but not panicked, Hayes organises his men to continue a methodical search of the island, scouring it square yard by square yard, and marking off the places they have already searched as they go. It is thirsty work, but it simply has to be done.

They have only been at it a short time when Hayes and his men are suddenly stunned.

There!

What strange manner of creature is this? Just up ahead in a small hollow of ground, the people sight something the likes of which they have never seen before – some very odd-looking animals. They look to be cats, albeit with big ears pointing skywards, huge hind legs and tiny front legs, standing upright and . . . and . . . and now they are jumping! Jumping like no cat has ever jumped. Bounding, bouncing all over the place. And then the bouncing cats stop, the whole lot at once, looking back at the people . . . their whiskers quivering.

One of the men, Otto Smit – who as a cadet is nominally the superior of Wiebbe Hayes but is happily filling in as his number two, such is his respect for Hayes’s acumen and leadership – gives a joyous shout and runs towards them, and suddenly the cats take off all together, bounding away. Now all the men shout, running happily after the jumping cats, some of the soldiers with their swords drawn, and others hurling any stone they can find. One well-aimed stone hits one of the cats behind the ear and brings it down. A flash of a cutlass later and there will be some precious fresh meat to share tonight, cut into strictly divided portions that Hayes insists on.

When they cut up the animal, they are stunned to find that some of these strange creatures, the females, have openings in their chests, almost like little pouches. Inside are tiny, perfectly formed baby cats. Then the men chase some more cats and they even see some of the larger baby cats climb right inside their mothers, who then bound away! It is completely extraordinary – the most unheard of animal they’ve never heard of. And the most important thing, as the men quickly discover, is that their meat is more than merely palatable. An old Dutch dictum has it that honger maakt rauwe bonen proeven zoet, hunger makes raw beans taste sweet, and so it proves on this occasion. Perhaps when they were well fed in Amsterdam the gamey meat would not have appealed to them, but here it tastes like a precious delicacy.

 

Still, there is no water to be found by the end of the day, beyond some more brackish pools, but the fact they now have plenty of meat is a major breakthrough.

22 June 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

The morning after Hayes and his men have been dropped off, Jeronimus informs the provost, Pieter Jansz, that he, with his wife and their child, plus soldier Claas Harmansz of Maagdenburgh with his wife, Claudine Patoys, and her child, along with another eight people are to be immediately taken back to Traitors’ Island, the tiny islet on which most of the ship’s company spent their first terribly uncomfortable night after the shipwreck. Jansz, too, is a councillor and must set the example, as Jacobsz has done. Though the provost is uncertain that this is a good idea, because he knows how bleak that island is from the day and night he spent there immediately after the shipwreck, Jeronimus informs him that he needs him to do it because he has a specific and very important task for him. The southern shore of Traitors’ Island, he informs Jansz, now has a great deal of wood on it, and he desires the provost and his people to spend their energies building some rafts. They will be given all the materials and tools they need, and once those rafts are completed they will be able to join Wiebbe Hayes and his men on the High Islands, where water is plentiful. Though still doubtful, the provost agrees.

Once the provost and his party have been moved to Traitors’ Island, things at Batavia’s Graveyard are suddenly extraordinarily quiet. Over the previous three days – involving several ferrying trips on the barge back and forth – the island has been so emptied that there are just 140 souls remaining.

This is still way too many in the view of Jeronimus and his closest henchmen, but it is at least a good start.




22 June 1629, in the longboat, Indian Ocean

On this day, as every day at noon, Jacobsz uses his astrolabe to take his sights from the sun at its highest point and calculate their position. They are now at 16 degrees 10 minutes south, meaning – dot three, carry one, subtract two – in 24 hours they have rather neatly travelled 24 miles. Running with a southwest to south-easterly wind, together with a northerly current, they are now making excellent progress.


24 June 1629, High Islands

After three days of intensive searching, Wiebbe Hayes is now sadly certain that the island on which they have been landed contains no steady supply of water, beyond the odd brackish pool. That water has been enough to keep them alive for the three-day search, but there is no chance it will sustain them in the long term. Hayes thus orders his men to move at low tide the one-mile distance across the shallows of the muddy causeway to the neighbouring island, so they can begin another methodical search.

Ably assisting Hayes in the relocation of the 20-odd troops to the lower of the two islands is Otto Smit, who has proved himself to be something of a master of logistics. For although Jeronimus has done his very best to ensure the privation of the High Islanders, nevertheless, a store of hard-won goods and supplies – including humpies fashioned from driftwood covered in scrub, a reasonable supply of fresh ‘cat’ meat, and scant water collected from brackish ponds – has been built up over their short period on the first of the islands.

And, despite the fact the larger cay is only a mile away, given the difficult nature of negotiating the mudflats that separate the two islands it is Smit’s responsibility to coordinate the movement of men and supplies. Calling on his cadet training, Smit has worked out every detail: which man is responsible for which item; the time the tide will be at its lowest so they can most easily make the crossing; the optimum route to be taken; how to distribute the water among the men, and so on.

Within a short time, the men are efficiently relocated in their new home – named Hayes’s Island in honour of their leader – have re-established their shelters, and have gathered kindling and firewood to make a fire with which to dry out their washed clothing and cook their evening meal of grilled cats. Wiebbe Hayes and Otto Smit have a quick meeting to divide the men into two groups for exploration on the morrow.

 

And there is a lot of ground to search. For though this island is not nearly so high as the first, it is bigger – about three miles long and two miles wide. Blessedly, this island, too, is well supplied with wildlife, and they also discover that the fish are particularly abundant here, while the birdlife is teeming. Still, with only the water they have found on the original island so far, it is not going to be easy, and the need to find a reliable supply is, as always, paramount. Meanwhile, they continue to look towards Batavia’s Graveyard, hoping to see boats coming their way with the promised provisions, but day after day there is no sign. No one can work out why.



26 June 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

In his tent, surrounded by a coterie of his closest Mutineers, Jeronimus lets the last drops of his fifth glass of wine of the evening swirl around his mouth, before letting them trickle down, down, down . . .

At last satisfied, he leans back. Things are sorting themselves out admirably. It was a very good move indeed to insist that all of the key stores be kept in his tent, one of the many good moves he has made to this point. He is strengthening by the day – a fact attested to by the presence on this evening of one Wouter Loos, a soldier he has had his eye on for some time. A natural leader of men, rather in the manner of Wiebbe Hayes, Loos kept well away from the Mutineers in the early days on the island and remained his own man, but this evening he has accepted an invitation to dine and drink with them – a sure sign that he understands which way the tide is turning and wants to run with it.

 

For Jeronimus now stands all but unchallenged on his tiny patch of coral – at least temporarily – with only the need to have the raad sign off on his decisions acting as a slight brake. There does, of course, remain the possible problem of Wiebbe Hayes and his men, but hopefully they are all now dying of hunger and thirst, and even if they aren’t there would be a heavily armed welcoming party waiting for them should they try to return. Still, without a boat, or even the tools to build one, that possibility is remote. Whatever is happening to Hayes and his men, they are trapped there on the High Islands.

In these last days of June, some on Batavia’s Graveyard continue to gaze towards where Jacobsz, Pelsaert and all the rest disappeared – in their eternal hope that they might soon reappear, bringing water and food. But Jeronimus is not of their number. A realist, it is obvious to him that, if the skipper, the Commandeur and their men have not perished, they are making an attempt to get all the way to Batavia. If they succeed, a rescue yacht will likely soon be on its way, and, should that yacht arrive, Jeronimus’s plan is clear. He and his men will kill all aboard and take it over, before continuing with their previous plan of being buccaneers. And what rich buccaneers they would be, what treasure they would have in their hold, what lives they would be able to lead!

There is, however, another possibility that he and the Mutineers canvass. And that is that Jacobsz and Evertsz will seize the moment to throw the Commandeur overboard, take over the whole expedition and sail the longboat all the way to somewhere such as Malacca, beyond Dutch control, where they might very well be able to obtain a yacht and come to get their co-conspirators and the money chests.

Either way, they will have to be prepared, but it all depends on what is happening in the longboat . . .


27 June 1629, in the longboat, Indian Ocean

Sometimes, Jan Evertsz stares at a spot on the Commandeur’s back so intensely he is surely in danger of burning a hole through his coat. It is the spot where he longs to slip in a dagger, just to the left of the spine in the middle reaches, where it could be guaranteed to penetrate the heart. Alas, as tightly packed as they are, out on the open seas Evertsz simply cannot do it, night or day, without there being a grave danger that the subsequent disturbance – because there is no way it could be accomplished without an uproar – would overturn the boat, in which case they would all be lost. And even when they are on land, there is no occasion when the Commandeur is sufficiently isolated to make it a possibility. Further complicating it all is the fact that, while they have a lot of Mutineers on board, the ten men of Gillis Fransz who joined them just before departure are all loyalists, as is Half-Awake Fransz himself, and could not be counted on to join them. So, all Evertsz can do is stare intently and hope against hope that some opportunity might present itself.

 

On this day, however, it is beginning to look as if all of them might die, not just Pelsaert. After five days without a drop of rain, it is now going to be a serious struggle to get through the voyage without dying of thirst or madness. Each day, they are allowed just two small pannikins of water each, totalling half a pint per person, and on this day the barrel of water they have been drawing from is itself down to its last two pints. It is all anyone can talk about, including Zwaantje, sitting just behind the Commandeur, as the slumbering Jacobsz – who has guided the longboat through the night, always keeping a particular eye out for anything that merely looks like moonshine upon the waves – leans upon her, his head on her shoulder.

‘For this we have come all this way, Commandeur?’ she croaks quietly, for all the world as if it is his fault. ‘For this we have crossed the oceans, only to die for want of rain?’

Pelsaert does not seem to be listening.

Far, far ahead, amid all the fluffy white clouds that are slowly changing shape, he is focusing on one part of one cloud that seems not to be moving at all . . .

Could it be? Is it possible?

Could it be that the distant, unmoving cloud he is staring fixedly at is in fact no cloud at all but the peak of a mountain? Checking his calculations for at least the tenth time that day – he is not a mariner, but he at least understands the basics – Pelsaert realises it is indeed possible that Java could be up ahead, and the growing presence of steenkroos, seaweed torn from rocks, in the water confirms that they are at least in the general vicinity of some land.

Still, though, he keeps his counsel, unwilling to risk exciting the entire boat for no reason.

Within an hour or so, the choice is no longer his.

‘Land in zicht! Land ho!’ The caller is Third Steersman Gillis Fransz, in the prow of the boat, and he has been gazing north for just such an eventuality seemingly from the moment they left het Zuidland. And he is right. This time, there can be no doubt about it. Far to the north – perhaps some five miles – but clearly visible through the shimmering haze is the shining peak of a mountain. The base of that mountain, of course, is still below the horizon and thus not visible, but no one has any doubt that the worst of their journey will soon be over – so long, that is, as they can make a landing.



 

As it turns out, it is relatively easy. A bare four hours after that first sighting, the longboat is off the blessedly green coast of the island of Nusa Kambangan, lying parallel to the coast of Java. This fertile coast is such a contrast to the red and barren coast of het Zuidland they have left behind that they can barely believe they lie in the same part of the world.

For now, they continue sailing west by nor’-west along the Javan coast, looking for the best spot to land. Just before evening, the people onboard spot a knob of land in front of them with an islet covered with dark green trees. Carefully, as it is now getting dark and they have come too far to make a foolish mistake, Jacobsz steers the longboat behind a reef that protects the cape. Behind the reef, there is a deep inlet, almost a tiny bay, and in the darkness, still unsure what lies on the shore, the sailors drop anchor in eight fathoms of water. It is a safe place to rest for the night, in the hope that on the morrow they can make a landing.


28 June 1629, in the longboat, off Java

In the morning, it is the extraordinary, beautiful sound of cawing birds that awakes them, birds that turn out to be so extraordinarily patterned that it looks as if they have flown through a rainbow and taken pieces of it with them.

The Dutch survivors are clearly on the shore of a great and bountiful jungle, an earthly paradise the likes of which most have never seen before. For some, it even looks like the biblical Garden of Eden, which, it has long been rumoured, lies in these parts. And, best of all, they soon find an easy landing spot. Now taking up oars, they only need to row for a very short time before reaching the shore. There, they find, to their infinite delight, a beautiful pond that a sparkling waterfall is filling with gallons of the purest water imaginable, thanks and praise be to the Lord.

As one, the entire boatload of 48 souls frolic in and around the water, the baby gurgling with delight as its mother gives it the first sweet comfort it has known in the last three weeks.

Protestant prudence be damned on this occasion – some strip down to whatever is left of their linen undergarments, while others go in fully clothed, knowing that their outer garments are as badly in need of a wash as they are.

 

In the pure, bountiful joy of it all, the whole party forgets their woes, the privations of the immediate past and the potential problems of the immediate future. For several hours, it is as though they are children again hilariously splashing around on the foreshores of the Zuyder Zee after worship on a Sunday morning.

Skipper Ariaen Jacobsz, vindicated and puffed up in equal measure that, despite everything, they have made landfall on Java just as he predicted, due to his brilliant seamanship and navigation, sits on the edge of the stream. He luxuriously combs his long black hair, moustache and beard and laughs gaily at the antics of some of the more boisterous of the longboat’s crew around the water, taking running jumps and ‘bombing’ those already in there.

Even Commandeur Pelsaert, just ten yards away, has forgotten the burden of his own authority long enough to smilingly and gently stroke across the pool from one side to the other, occasionally dipping his mouth below the surface again to take one more long gulp until he thinks his belly will surely burst.

By noon, all of the people are back in the longboat with the water barrels as full as their bellies. They are heading back out to sea again on the gentle swell, though always keeping in sight of the coast. It is far and away the most pleasant part of their long journey to date, the wind blowing benignly, a relatively safe shore at hand and their destination now within reach. God is in his heaven.

28 June 1629, Hayes’s Island

Under Wiebbe Hayes’s direction, the soldiers keep searching for water, starting early and finishing late and eating just enough cats to keep them going. Fortunately, there has been a little rain in the preceding days, resupplying the pools they are living on and enabling the men to partly fill their barrels. However, water remains their abiding problem. It is now obvious that the stories Jeronimus has told them, courtesy of Zevanck, are just so many lies. Why would they have been told that when it is not true? For the moment, Hayes cannot work this out, but it troubles him deeply. What is obvious is that if his men can’t find water and are left on these islands, they will perish the first time the island goes two or three weeks without rain.

29 June 1629, Traitors’ Island

 

As confirmed by Jeronimus’s search party, Traitors’ Island has a dearth of both food and water but it does have driftwood in abundance. And so, under the provost’s command, the bosun Paulus Barrentsz and sailor Bessel Jansz, with the aid of soldiers Claas Harmansz and Nicklaas Winckelhaack, set about constructing the two rafts they intend to use when Wiebbe Hayes signals his discovery of water on the High Islands. After all, Jeronimus Cornelisz has made an oath to the provost that he and his party will be permitted to join Hayes in this event.

As the men hammer away at their craft, Claudine and her child sit close by, playing in the sand and watching the men go about their work. Meanwhile, the provost leads the others in their daily and mostly futile search of the barren island for any sustenance they can possibly scavenge – the odd mollusc here, a slow seabird there. (By throwing stones into a thick flock, it is occasionally possible to bring one down, but there is neither any soft sand nor sufficient shrubs for the birds to properly nest in.) Unequipped as they are to hunt and gather, their spirits dwindle as the fruitless days pass, and their already thin bodies grow even thinner. Adding to their discouragement and confusion is the fact that the Onderkoopman, knowing they have no supplies – no food, no water – has nevertheless made no contact with them in over a week. Has he forgotten about them, left them for dead? Surely not, the provost’s wife reassures her increasingly worried husband. Jansz wants to believe her, but he is deeply troubled.






CHAPTER SIX

Bloody Oath


Jeronimus Cornelisz is not only tainted with abominable crimes, but has moreover adopted a most abominable creed, maintaining that there is neither devil nor hell, and trying to inculcate this belief on his comrades, thereby corrupting them all.

Pelsaert’s Journal


2 July 1629, in the longboat, Sunda Strait

Over the last five days of blow-bobbing pleasantly westwards in the gentle wind, as the longboat makes its way towards the Sunda Strait on the western tip of Java – through which they must sail to get to Batavia – Pelsaert’s thoughts have focused ever more sharply on the issue that has been with him since the terrible night the Batavia hit the cursed reef a month earlier. That is, just what is he going to say to the high authorities about what has happened to their flagship? And how will he justify the actions he has taken since that time?

 

Skipper Jacobsz’s line of thinking has been much the same, though more specific: just how is he going to explain that he has been in command of a ship that hit a reef that all Dutch sailors to the East Indies have been warned about? The one thing he has going for himself in this regard is that, despite the inevitable fault that will be attributed to him because of it, at least he can claim the unprecedented feat of guiding an open boat through uncharted stormy waters over such a vast distance from the shipwreck without losing a single member of the company.

And Jan Evertsz? If he has been thinking anything at all, it is not apparent. Day after day, night after night, he simply sits in the prow of the boat, mostly scowling intently, though occasionally merely brooding darkly.

Sail ho!

As the red orb of the sun begins to set spectacularly on this second day of July, the longboat is at last in the Sunda Strait. Just off the small island of Sangiang, known to the Dutch as Dwars-in-den-Weg, In-the-Way, they see the top of a sail some ten miles to their south. Clearly, it is a ship entering the same strait as them on her way to Batavia.

In consultation with Pelsaert this time – because they are now coming closer to the province of VOC business matters, rather than pure seamanship – Jacobsz decides to drop anchor close to the shore to allow time for the equally slow-moving ship to catch up with them.


3 July 1629, in the longboat, Sunda Strait

Before daybreak the following day, they weigh anchor and make their cautious approach to the ship they saw the previous evening . . . and to the two other ships that they now see are just three miles or so behind her. Among other things, Pelsaert wants to ask them for some guns for their own defence, as they have no idea whether at this point the Dutch are at war with the Javanese or relatively at peace. If it’s the former, they are totally vulnerable.

When the first-seen ship has come within two miles of them, Pelsaert gasps in recognition. He is looking at none other than the Sardam, the very jacht that they left Amsterdam with eight months earlier! What extraordinarily whimsical and often vicious winds there are in this world that can blow two vessels from the same starting point through such different experiences, to join once again in the same place at the same time!

 

The highest VOC official aboard the Sardam, Jan Adolph van Dommelen, is at least as stunned. From the moment they saw the strange longboat bobbing dead ahead, the whole crew have been on alert, for they, too, could not be sure of the latest state of play with the Javanese, and it is always as well to be wary. When they drew closer, they were staggered to see so many people in such a small craft. The skipper hailed them in Dutch and one of them introduced himself as none other than his esteemed Excellency Commandeur Francisco Pelsaert!

Could it be? Could this wraith-like figure with the sallow complexion and sunken eyes, the wild hermit’s beard, dressed in rags, actually be the same man whom van Dommelen last saw in all his finery on the poop deck of the Batavia in Tafelbaai just three months earlier?

To his complete amazement, it is soon apparent that it really is.

Van Dommelen quickly invites Pelsaert on board, giving him the run of the jacht and advising him that the vessel immediately behind them is the retourschip Frederick Hendrick, and that on board he will find the highly esteemed official of the VOC and member of the Privy Council for India Hon. Crijn van Raemburgh.

When Pelsaert requests a meeting with Raemburgh – as he is precisely the kind of high official the younger man wishes to unburden himself to, before facing Coen – van Dommelen heaves to and waits for the Frederick Hendrick to come alongside. When she does, both Pelsaert and the longboat itself are taken onto the larger ship, while the rest of the survivors are divided up between the jacht and the ship.

In short order, Pelsaert is in private counsel with the high-ranking VOC official, the grey-haired Councillor of India, Hon. Crijn van Raemburgh, who treats him with nothing but kindness and understanding as, over dinner and drinks, late into the night, the whole story comes out: the horror of the wreck, the scramble to get the people onshore afterwards, the agony of the decision he was obliged to make to leave the people behind and go for help.

In fact, Raemburgh is so sympathetic that the esteemed Councillor of India even gives Pelsaert a glimmer of hope that Coen might have the same reaction. But it is only a glimmer. Pelsaert, while immeasurably relieved to be alive and now comfortable and safe, feels progressively more nervous at the reception he will receive from the Governor-General of the East Indies, once that infamously merciless man finds out that he has arrived in Batavia without the richest cargo ever assembled by the VOC.

4 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

Perfect.

 

On this fine morning, David Zevanck, who has emerged as the Onderkoopman’s chief lieutenant, informs Jeronimus that one of the gunners, Abraham Hendricxsz of Delft – formerly married to his brass gun that he had to push overboard – has been caught stealing wine from one of the barrels in the supply tent. Better still, after interrogation, Hendricxsz implicates a fellow gunner, Ariaen Ariaensz, saying that he drank some of the wine that Hendricxsz had stolen. This is precisely the kind of provocation that Jeronimus has been looking for.

Immediately calling together the raad, the Onderkoopman demands nothing less than the death penalty for both men. It is crucial, he argues, on two counts: first, to show that the Company’s property will be protected at all costs; and, second, to ensure that proper discipline on the island will be maintained, come what may. Yes, they are far from the Dutch Republic, but that is no reason that Dutch law should not be enforced as strictly as ever. Why, it is the very basis of their civilisation! In the name of justice and the VOC, thus, he insists that both men be put to death.

The council demurs. It is one thing to put Hendricxsz to death – they agree with that – but it is going too far to also take Ariaen Ariaensz’s life for simply having imbibed liquor that Hendricxsz stole.

Though privately pleased at this resistance, Jeronimus is publicly outraged. ‘How can you not let this happen?’ he explodes, in the face of the ashamed council, who now refuse to look him in the eye. ‘In any case, you will soon find yourselves reflecting on something quite different . . .’

His last words hang there, as none of the councillors can quite understand what he is referring to, but they will not have long to wait.

5 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

On the following morning, still loudly disgusted that the raad is not backing him, Jeronimus calls together all those on the island and addresses them. He regrets to say he feels very badly let down, and he is sorry but, as the VOC’s highest official on the island, he feels he has no choice. The raad, which has refused to impose law and order to defend the interests of the Company – the Company! – is hereby dismissed. Furthermore, Jeronimus declares the formation of a new council, composed of men who he knows will have the interests of the Company at heart. Those men are himself, Coenraat van Huyssen, David Zevanck and that burly bastard Stonecutter Pietersz.

 

Dismayed at their dismissal, the ousted councillors could, of course, strenuously object to Jeronimus’s high-handedness, but . . . which of them would speak up? Their former council member, the provost, Pieter Jansz, might have, of course, but he has been moved to Traitors’ Island. And the leader of the soldiers, Gabriel Jacobsz, might have too, but he is over on Seals’ Island. Of those who remain, Salomon Deschamps and the Predikant certainly have sufficient rank and moral authority to speak out against this outrageous act. And yet, with the Onderkoopman glaring at them, while over his shoulders the aforesaid van Huyssen, Zevanck and Stonecutter stand staring, with their hands on their swords, almost as if – but surely they are mistaken – they would use them on anyone who resisted, neither man protests. Instead, the Predikant sits wringing his hands, his eyes downcast. So, too, Salomon Deschamps. Of all people on the island, he is the one who could have claimed to most represent the will of the absent Commandeur – they worked together for nigh on ten years, starting back in India – but for the same reasons that the Predikant stays quiet, so too does he. At this most crucial of moments, the easiest thing is to do nothing, and the hardest and most dangerous thing is to speak up.

In the end, it is only the surgeon, Frans Jansz, who protests that this is not the way things should be run, but, with no support for his objection coming from anywhere, the move by Jeronimus is soon a fait accompli.

To prove that this new council stands ready to defend the interests of the Company at all costs, Jeronimus’s new councillors immediately back his view that Hendricxsz and Ariaensz should be executed, and even go further. There is a rumour that two other men, Egbert Roelofsz and Warner Dircxsz, are hatching a plan to steal one of the two yawls that these carpenters have made. This, the new council gravely intones, is a threat to them all, perhaps the worst crime that could possibly be committed against their community, and it would have to be punished . . . with death.

That very afternoon, the provost, Pieter Jansz, is on the northern shore of Traitors’ Island, gazing across the half-mile distance to Batavia’s Graveyard, when he notices what seems to be a guard of men with flashing cutlasses leading three other men with their arms seemingly bound behind their backs down to the southernmost point of the island. Then, with precious little ceremony, the cutlasses suddenly flash and thrust forward, and the three bound men fall to the ground! And they do not get up. The provost strains forward to make sense of it, but from the moment the three fallen men are then thrown into the ocean – presumably for the sharks to eat – he is under no doubt that he has just witnessed an execution. What on earth is going on over on Batavia’s Graveyard? He is not sure, but the cold grip of fear clutches at his very soul.

 

The man who has struck the first of the killing blows, to Warner Dircxsz, is a newly joined Mutineer, Daniel Cornelisz, and that evening in the tent of Jeronimus, where he gathers with his closest henchmen – many of whom are no less than councillors now – young Daniel is quick with his boasts. ‘My sword was so sharp,’ he says, ‘it went through him as if he was butter!’

Ah, how they all laugh . . . none harder than Jan Pelgrom on the outer circle, for still he is trying hard to be a fully fledged Mutineer, without quite getting there.

For the other Mutineers, the Pelgrom problem has not gone away, and if anything it is worse. For on many occasions, just as on nights like this, when they are full of wine and bonhomie, Jeronimus frequently regales the gatherings in his tent with his views that there is no such thing as either heaven or hell and, because they are only fables, there is no risk in doing nominally bad things on earth . . . ‘Where,’ he asks rhetorically, ‘is this devil, with all his devilish sacraments? What proof is there of his existence? Of course there is none, because he does not exist!’ Pelgrom is always seen to nod his head enthusiastically. When Jeronimus continues that because God is everywhere, and God is in us all, there is nothing in our hearts that we might like to do that God, who is perfect in virtue and goodness, has not put there, and, therefore, one is entirely free to do whatever one wants without fear of divine retribution . . . Pelgrom claps his hands together with all the glee of a sea lion who has just caught a tasty fish. While the other Mutineers are under the spell of Jeronimus, Pelgrom positively worships him and in recent weeks has even taken to referring to and addressing Jeronimus as Kapitein-Generaal, the rank of the departed Pelsaert. Seeing that Jeronimus does not protest this, and in fact actively encourages it, the practice of so addressing him begins to take off.

Further, noting that all of the men around Jeronimus tend to blaspheme and swear liberally and do things that would have seen them flogged on the Batavia, Pelgrom has started swearing and blaspheming more than anyone, but such oaths somehow don’t sound right in this puppy’s mouth.

Nonplussed, Zevanck and his Mutineer brethren always feign inattention and look in precisely the opposite direction to this mad boy, this poor man’s Jeronimus, all awry like a drunkard’s cap at midnight, and only tolerate him because he appears to be Jeronimus’s pet project – to turn such a callow youth into a full-blown killer.

And so to the task at hand. While they are off to a good start in the killings, the obvious question is just who else of the non-Mutineers should be culled?

This is the subject of much discussion between Jeronimus and his Mutineers on this very night. For the babies, there is no use at all. They distract the focus of their parents from the work at hand, and their incessant cries are a constant irritation for everyone else.

 

In a roughly similar position are the young children, who are not yet old or skilled enough to provide work, and the cabin boys – they had their uses on the ship, running errands and fetching meals, but on these islands they are little more than hungry mouths. Jeronimus would as soon be rid of them all, though the precise way to accomplish that has not yet come to him.

As to the women, they are generally only good for one thing, and while it has to be admitted that at that particular thing they are wondrous, it is equally obvious that, as one woman can service the needs of many men, there is no need to keep all of the women alive. Which ones will be saved and which ones will be killed will be a subject of many drunken discussions over many an earnest brandy in the nights to come.

And then there are the men. What is needed among the non-Mutineers are skilled but docile workers, to fish, to build boats at their command, to cook, to repair nets and tents, hunt sea lions and all the rest. Anyone capable of mounting any resistance against them must be neutralised. Anyone not providing an essential service to the community also has an existence that could be subject to review, and termination, at any time. As Jeronimus now makes clear to his gang, there remains a great deal of work to do to ensure that the numbers on Batavia’s Graveyard are further reduced.

‘And,’ Jeronimus says softly in conspiratorial tones, as they all lean forward to catch every word, ‘I’ll tell you how we’re going to do it . . .’

6 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

To the broad mass of people on the island, Jeronimus seems to have softened somewhat. On this morning, he announces that he wants people to join Hayes and his men in his search for water and is even happy to provide the vessels so they can be dropped off there. There are many keen volunteers.

In this first instance, Zevanck, with six of the strongest men, including Lenart van Os and Mattys Beer, immediately takes four of the lucky survivors – Hendrick Jansz, Thomas Wensel, Jan Cornelisz of Amersvoort and Andries Liebent – with their personal effects, out on the raft towards the High Islands. The four men are thrilled to have been selected. Despite the suddenly soothing words of Jeronimus, the fact is that three men, Hendricxsz, Roelofsz and Dircxsz, have met their violent deaths in the last 24 hours at his insistence. And, while Ariaen Ariaensz seems to have somehow miraculously escaped, or at least disappeared, that doesn’t change the common feeling. That is, if there is a chance to get to the High Islands – which are about as far away as it is possible to get from Jeronimus in the short term – then surely it has to be a chance worth taking.

 

Their raft duly travels along the deepwater channel, right to the lip of Seals’ Island, and then veers to the north towards the High Islands, taking them out of the line of sight of those who might be watching their progress from Batavia’s Graveyard. Then, things seem suddenly strange to the four men. Zevanck and his men, who have been chatting happily, suddenly stop talking. Despite the sunny day, a chill wind has begun to blow. And then something as stunning as it is frightening happens. At a nod from Zevanck, the six men suddenly fall upon the four men, and although the raft rocks violently, they soon have them trussed up like chickens ready for roasting. With their hands and legs tied tightly together, they are entirely helpless.

What now?

They don’t have to wait long to find out.

Upon a thin-lipped nod from Zevanck, the first three men are tossed overboard, and after just a little violent shuddering they disappear from view, as their lifeless bodies are consumed by the ocean. As to the fourth man, the cadet soldier Andries Liebent, he now tearfully pleads for his life, begging between sobs that they spare him. Zevanck considers it. He knows Liebent to be a willing worker and has previously detected a promising strain of cruelty in him. He decides to allow it on one condition. That is, that he joins them as a Mutineer and swears fealty to Jeronimus. Weeping with relief at his salvation, Liebent agrees to do exactly that.

That afternoon, the Mutineers return, and Zevanck reports to all on Batavia’s Graveyard that Wiebbe Hayes and his men are going well, that they are hopeful of soon finding water, that there is a lot of food and that they welcome more people from Batavia’s Graveyard coming over. If some think it is a little strange that Andries Liebent has returned, when he was meant to be one of the ones going to join Hayes, no explanation is considered necessary, and there is general rejoicing not only that Hayes and his men are all right but also that they want more people to join them.

7 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

The next lucky three who are announced to be going to the High Islands with David Zevanck and his men are the cadet Hans Radder, the trumpeter Jacop Groenewaldt and the clerical assistant Andries de Vries. Why them? The reason that Jeronimus gives is that they all possess skills that Wiebbe Hayes says are most needed on the High Islands. The real reason, however, is that the young soldier Mattys Beer has told Jeronimus that these three are ‘kakelaars’, cacklers, men with no loyalty who are quick to complain, and, should the Company send a rescue yacht to these islands, they would be the first to report any irregularity to the VOC.

This time, it goes almost as before.

 

The three men get onto the raft in the mid-morning with such possessions as they have and wave goodbye to those who farewell them on the shore, waves that continue until the raft disappears around the northern lip of Seals’ Island. And then, once again, the Mutineers suddenly fall upon the three men and they are soon tightly tied, hands and feet. The terrified men are then obliged to lie on the raft, all trussed up, while the Mutineers change course. After just 20 minutes, with one of the assailed now softly weeping, they arrive at another small island, which lies on the other side of Seals’ Island, beyond the sight of Batavia’s Graveyard.

And there is a job of work to be done.

As before, there is no need to go through any pretext of legality, of their execution being by order of the council, etc., for whatever imagined crimes. With no preamble, the Mutineers simply get on with it. First, Hans Radder is carried by the Mutineers into the shallows, just beyond the shore, and dropped in, his face to the sky. Radder’s scream is instantly drowned out as his head goes beneath the waves, and from there it is relatively easy. Though there is a good deal of thrashing and bucking, it is nothing that a grinning David Zevanck – for it is he who has stepped forward to do the honours – cannot handle with relative ease.

Barely interrupting his conversation about how they will have to bury them once they are dead, to prevent any chance of their bodies washing up on Batavia’s Graveyard, he simply places his foot on the man’s side and prevents him coming to the surface. True, with one furious buck Radder manages to briefly break free and even bring his head above the water for one last massive gulp of air before he goes under again, but this only peeves Zevanck. He quickly regains control and this time presses down harder with his foot, grinding the man down. And, sure enough, within a minute, the struggling has ceased. There is merely one last huge and momentarily foul-smelling bubble that comes to the surface . . . and that is it.

Zevanck takes his foot off, and then he signals for the other Mutineers to bring from the shore the weeping Jacop Groenewaldt, who is now pleading for his life. By the time the Mutineers have gripped the second man, the first has floated to the surface, his face purple and bloated. He is dead. With one look at him, all the fight goes out of the second man, and this time the whole drowning takes less than a couple of minutes.

And now it is Andries’s turn.

‘Nee! Nee! Nee!’ Andries de Vries screams. ‘Please! Please spare me! I will do anything! Anything!’

 

Zevanck holds up his hand, and the Mutineers pause for a moment. Anything? This could be very amusing, and an interesting experiment. On the spot, Zevanck has an idea and decides to spare Andries’s life, at least for now. After all, though Andries possesses no valuable skills, he is a weak man and will never present a threat to them. The sole downside of his continued existence is that his is another mouth to feed, which, though significant, can be counteracted if he eliminates more mouths. So he is taken back to Batavia’s Graveyard and, after Zevanck consults with Jeronimus, Andries is told that he will shortly have a meeting with Jeronimus, where they can discuss an important matter.


7 July 1629, Batavia

On the tail of this shining day, Commandeur Francisco Pelsaert, aboard the Frederick Hendrick, first sights Batavia in the distance before arriving there just an hour later. As the anchor is dropped, the rays of the setting sun illuminate the foreboding dark-blue coral stone of the citadel, the heart of Dutch power in the East Indies, which dominates both the harbour and the surrounding countryside. For Pelsaert, and most who have survived the long ordeal, it really is a matter of thanking God the Lord for His supreme mercy in having delivered them all from the very jaws of hell, to here, their long-awaited destination.



True, gazing shorewards, it is not remotely as Pelsaert remembers it from several years earlier, as the attacks of the soldiers of the Sultan of Mataram have left whole sections of the old settlement in complete ruins. But compared with the barren wilds of where he has come from it still looks to be the very height of civilisation. And yet, despite having finally arrived, Pelsaert decides to remain aboard and go ashore on the morrow. For the moment, he simply wants to savour the fact that their physical ordeal is over, before facing the new ordeal of explaining how it all occurred.

Notwithstanding the fact that Pelsaert’s own safety is now assured – at least in the short term – he cannot help but wonder, as he sips wine in the Frederick Hendrick’s Great Cabin, gazing into the twinkling lanterns of Batavia, just how those back on the Abrolhos Islands are faring . . .

 

8 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

On this wild morning, down by the beach, a sad little group of survivors is gathered around the Predikant as he holds his daily service. It includes, of course, all the members of his own family plus something of a graveyard gathering of those who still have the energy and will to attend his service, who still steadfastly believe, despite everything, that the Lord is with them even now.

‘My brethren,’ he pronounces, his voice rising to get above the now whistling wind, ‘I tell you all that Almighty God and all of His holy angels will come and take us all under their wings and . . .’

And suddenly the Predikant is aware of some chortling going on behind him, even as he sees a stunned expression on the faces of the gathering as they look over his shoulder. He turns to see several of the Kapitein-Generaal’s red-coated men, led by an insanely grinning Mattys Beer and Lenart Michielsz van Os, cavorting around and waving the bloody, severed flippers of sea lions above their heads as if they are the angel wings he is referring to.

‘There is no need,’ Beer sneers at him in a manner that he clearly thinks is hilarious, ‘for we already have the wings!’

The Mutineers fall about with laughter, as if this is the greatest joke ever told, but they are also serious: no longer will they have the Predikant talking of God, angels’ wings and such things.

The service instantly breaks up.

Within minutes, the outraged Predikant is before the Kapitein-Generaal, making a formal complaint at this outrageous behaviour. Yet, to his complete amazement, Jeronimus gives him short shrift. Not only does he refuse to punish his men, he also tells the Predikant that just this morning the raad has decided on a new edict: there are to be no more services of worship held, and not even any praying. The council has decided that such things are a luxury that can no longer be afforded, as all energies must be focused on ensuring their survival, not asking for God to ensure it. Never in his life has the Predikant been so appalled, and yet, again, it requires more strength (and less sense) than he has to protest too vociferously.

Jeronimus watches him go, amused at seeing the struggle in the Predikant’s soul between his outrage and his fear, with fear winning out in the end – as he was certain it would. The Predikant will not be a problem after all, which may well assure his survival. The main thing is that the Predikant’s services have now been entirely shut down. For things have to change.

 

Jeronimus is now fully intent on establishing, if not heaven on earth, then certainly his own kind of hell. Back in the day, Torrentius could only dream of having the opportunity he has now, of establishing an entire society without the fetters of God placing restrictions on behaviour. Already, he has encouraged blaspheming among the Mutineers as a way of liberating them and has talked extensively of his ideas that there is nothing they can do that God hasn’t first put in their hearts; the banning of all religious manifestations is the next step in the transformation. No longer will he have the Predikant talking of God, when it runs directly contrary to what he is endeavouring to create. On this island, at this time, the Kapitein-Generaal is determined that there is to be no God but ‘I, Jeronimus’.

 

Yes, Jeronimus is now a modern-day Caesar – his every word is law, and, if he chooses, de dood, death. Never in his life has he known power remotely like it, and he finds he adores every moment of it. But, render unto Caesar that which is Caesar’s – does he not need, at the very least, a comely concubine?

He does. And there can be only one choice. If Lucretia Jans, wife of Boudewijn van der Mijlen, thinks her own nightmare cannot get any worse, she is sadly mistaken. On this day, she is led to the Kapitein-Generaal’s tent by Coenraat van Huyssen and advised that, by order of Jeronimus, this is where she will be residing from this point.

‘Madam,’ Jeronimus essays to justify his actions to her, ‘after what happened to you on the Batavia, I simply cannot allow such a beautiful woman as you to remain unprotected among so many dangerous ruffians.’ In response to Lucretia’s sullen stare, he continues. ‘It is only in here, under my care, that you will be safe,’ he coos. ‘I urge you to avail yourself of my hospitality.’

Jeronimus’s words might sound like an invitation, but his henchmen have already made it absolutely clear that she has no choice. It is in this tent that she is to stay.

There were just 20 women originally on the Batavia, and between deaths and those who have been put on Seals’ Island and Traitors’ Island there are only a handful of them left on Batavia’s Graveyard, in the company of scores more men who have, for the most part, been without sex for over eight months. Lucretia believes it is no coincidence that, generally, it is the older wives whom Jeronimus has placed on the other islands, while the younger and fairer have remained here. It is also the reason why Jeronimus was so insistent that gunner Jan Carstenz accompany Wiebbe Hayes to the High Islands, thus leaving his beautiful wife, Anneken Bosschieters, alone and unprotected.

 

Already, many of the men, particularly those dressed in red velvet, hover around Anneken, as if she is a bitch in heat and they are sex-starved dogs. No matter that Anneken has made it very clear she wants nothing to do with them, still they circle closely, leering and making suggestive comments. For her own protection, Anneken washes herself only at night, wading into the waters, and even then she remains fully clothed.

Tryntgien and Zussie Fredericxs have been less successful in fighting off their attentions, as their former protector, Tryntgien’s husband, Claas the upper-trumpeter, has been long gone with the skipper and the Commandeur in the longboat and may never return. With so many men on the island and so few women, something had to give, and, among other things, that has been their chastity. Together with another woman from the lower deck by the name of Marretje Louijs, they have become, by force, ‘algemene dienst’, women for common service, and they must satisfy the sexual needs of some of the leading Mutineers.

As to Anneken Hardens, it doesn’t even make any difference that her husband, Hans, is right there among them and that they have a six-year-old daughter, Hilletje, always at her mother’s skirts. Still, many of the red velvets hang close. All the pretty, blonde Anneken – she with the long plaits always elegantly tied with red ribbons – can do is to try to get her husband, Hans, to calm himself and assure him that they will be fine.

The Predikant’s fair daughter, Judick, has been in a similar position, as the strutting Coenraat van Huyssen has acted with a threateningly proprietorial air towards her, notwithstanding the fact that the young woman wants nothing more than to be with her family.

And yet, though the presumption of the other women is that Lucretia has also totally succumbed to the threatening atmosphere that surrounds them all, that is not the case. She refuses to sleep in Jeronimus’s bed, preferring the discomfort of a mat beside it. In response, Jeronimus actually tries to woo her with his charms, proposing that she could play empress to his emperor – all of which moves her not a jot. When wooing fails, he tries anger, berating her for her supreme ingratitude to him, after he has done so much for her! How can she deny him, after he, the ruler of this island, the Company’s most highly esteemed official, has especially selected her to be with him for her own protection, has taken her from her small hovel to install her in his magnificent tent and offer her the only genuine bed on the island, no less, with real sheets and pillows (all of it salvaged from the Commandeur’s cabin)?

Alas, nothing seems to impress her. She sits still in his tent, barely speaking, not bothering to argue, refusing to engage with the silken-tongued beast and only staring bleakly outside, almost as if the only thing that keeps her sane is the thought she might one day be out there again, reunited with her real husband, and not in here with the disgusting Jeronimus.

 

The Kapitein-Generaal is at his wits’ end to know what to do. Rape her? He is too proud for that. Have her killed, then? Well, yes, but that would rather defeat the purpose, and the truth remains that she is such a beauty, even after everything she has been through, she is the only woman on the island fit to be his consort.

Coenraat van Huyssen, at this point, feels free to follow Jeronimus’s lead. If Lucretia is the prize beauty on the island, reserved for the Kapitein-Generaal, then the second prize is the Predikant’s oldest daughter, and he now moves to take her. Though demure in her dress, and her approach – with her eyes either looking up to God in the skies or down to the ground, where her essential shyness can find solace – there is a young and voluptuous womanliness about young Judick that van Huyssen cannot ignore. And nor does he care that his every approach has been firmly rebuffed by her, or that her two oldest brothers, Bastiaen and Pieter, and her father glare at him whenever he tries to talk to her.

Such rebuffs might have put an end to the matter in Amsterdam, but it is not the end of it here. For van Huyssen is keenly aware that, alongside Zevanck and Stonecutter, he is one of the most powerful men on the island after Jeronimus. Nee, he will not be denied the woman of his choice.

When Judick makes it absolutely clear that she would sooner die than be with a man out of holy matrimony, Coenraat’s confreres make it clear to her that this is no problem – and their behaviour in the last few days gives that threat some force. To soften it for her, Coenraat says he would be very happy to marry her at the first opportunity that they are off these islands, and would do so legally and before all the world as his witness. However, he does not think it fair that he should have to wait to be with her until such time as they could be so conjoined, and so insists that she move into his tent immediately and that their betrothal be consummated forthwith.

Such is the sense of malevolence now abroad on the island, and so powerful have Jeronimus and his red-velveted henchmen become, that after much but hurried family debate it becomes clear to all of them old enough to discuss it that she really has no choice. At least if she is with Coenraat, she will have protection from all the others and won’t have to become a woman for common service. Though deeply upset, both the Predikant and his wife understand that Coenraat is indeed their daughter’s best option. The Predikant asks only one thing of the henchmen – that his daughter Judick have just one more night with her family, in their family tent, before she goes to Coenraat’s tent the next day.

 

Permission denied. Only ten minutes after the Predikant puts this request to Coenraat via an intermediary, a posse of gold-laced and red-velveted armed Mutineers arrive outside the Predikant’s tent. Judick must accompany them to Coenraat’s tent on the instant, for he is waiting, or face the consequences. Those consequences are not strictly spelled out, but they would clearly involve violence of some description.

Tearfully, Judick understands that, for the safety of herself and her family, she must go with the Mutineers to Coenraat’s tent. But, please, give her at least a minute. The Mutineers grant their rough assent, and the flap of the tent is closed. For one last, precious minute the virginal Judick is embraced by all of her family, by her father and mother, by her strong adult brothers, Bastiaen and Pieter, by her young brothers, Johannes and Roelant, and by her two young sisters, Willemyntgien and Agnete.

Agnete, just 11 years old, cannot quite understand why everyone is weeping so, but she knows her adored oldest sister is about to leave them and will not be sleeping in their tent that night, and that is enough for her to soon lead the howling.

Shortly thereafter, one of the Mutineers, uninvited, opens the flap and the light floods in. It is time. Judick slowly disengages herself from her family’s embrace and goes with the Mutineers towards Coenraat’s tent . . .


8 July 1629, Batavia citadel

It is no small thing to look through a window and regard a fine view that first formed in your mind many years before, a dream that you have personally made reality by the power of your personality and the sheer force of your will. And, as is nearly always the case, Governor-General Jan Pieterszoon Coen is feeling well satisfied on this morning as he looks through the enormous bay window overlooking Batavia’s harbour, his gaze transfixed by a group of hard-working stevedores unloading yet more spices from the bond store three floors beneath him and loading them into the small boats that will take them out to yet another retourschip, soon to be on her way back to Amsterdam.

This year, as every year – and notwithstanding the terrible battle they underwent to beat back the forces of the Sultan of Mataram seven months earlier – Batavia is on track for a new record in terms of the amount of spices sent back, and the Company will be well pleased. The only thing that does not please him on this fine morning is the vision of the Frederick Hendrick, anchored just beyond the retourschip and bobbing gently in the sheltered waters. She arrived the afternoon before, and he was not long in hearing that she bears ill tidings, a terrible saga that has befallen the Batavia, though the details are still sketchy. And on that subject . . .

A knock on the door alerts him that he is shortly to have company.

 

‘Your Excellency,’ an aide breathes respectfully, after gliding to his side, ‘Commandeur Pelsaert, of the Batavia, has arrived and requests an audience.’

Coen nods, and takes his place. Sitting behind his huge oak desk, made from the finest timbers of Germany by the finest carpenters of the Dutch Republic, Governor-General Coen bids Pelsaert to enter with a languid hand of come-hither but does not rise from his desk, let alone offer him a handshake in welcome. The two men appraise each other in a few moments, one with trepidation bordering on outright fear, the other with the same cool disdain with which he greets most of his underlings, and indeed even some of his nominal superiors.

From the moment of meeting the Governor-General, Pelsaert is disconcerted by his eyes. It is not that they are cold, glassy and unseeing, for that by comparison would be relatively easy to bear. It is that they seem to see too much, focusing with barely a blink at a point that appears to be about two yards behind his interlocutor. It is as if he is looking right into the other man’s soul, ferreting for weakness, or, better still if he could find it, falsehood.

‘Uwe Excellentie, Your Excellency,’ Pelsaert begins, using the standard form of obsequiousness to far superior officers that the VOC in general, and Coen in particular, values so dearly. ‘It is a great honour to be in your august presence.’

Another man, under such circumstances as these, might have waved away such formalities and quickly asked him to get to the essence of the story, but not Coen. Coen always takes overt sycophancy as his due, the more thickly laid on the better, and never rushes anybody when they are in full flight. At last, though, there is simply nowhere else to go, and Pelsaert begins his formal report.

‘I only wish that I had better news to impart,’ he begins hesitantly. ‘In fact, I bring the most grave and unfortunate tidings of our voyage.’

Coen raises a disingenuous eyebrow and bids him continue, which Pelsaert does.

‘I beg to advise that the Batavia has been lost upon the Abrolhos Islands, that she has foundered upon a reef there . . .’

Oddly enough for a saga that is now in its tenth week – and the beginnings of which now seem to be at least ten years ago – Pelsaert does not take long to recount the whole thing. For what else can he say but that Skipper Ariaen Jacobsz made a severe miscalculation as to their proximity to het Zuidland; that the Batavia foundered on the very reefs that the venerable VOC was so gracious and specific to warn them about; that after deep consideration of their position, as Commandeur, he decided that the best thing he could do, both from the point of view of the VOC, first and foremost, and also of the survivors, was to make a trip to het Zuidland to look for water, and, failing that, to make the long voyage here to Batavia for help, with as many of the ship’s crew as the longboat could carry. There are many details to add to this, of course – that, at the start of the saga, Lucretia was attacked and named Jan Evertsz as one of her assailants; that Skipper Ariaen Jacobsz was on watch when they hit the reef; and not forgetting his key point that he is sure that much of the VOC’s cargo can quickly be recovered – but, all up, Pelsaert is through with his account in just a little under two hours.

 

For around 30 seconds, Coen does not speak. He simply sits there, looking straight through Pelsaert as he twiddles the tips of his moustache into particularly fine points. Little does Pelsaert know that, among other things, Coen is reflecting on his own experience. Just under two years previously, on his return journey to Batavia, Coen’s own ship, the Wapen van Hoorn, came perilously close to a similar fate, straying to within two miles of het Zuidland before – because it was during the day – the breakers were sighted and the ship was turned in time to avert tragedy. There, too, the skipper seriously underestimated the distance they had travelled, in that case by 900 miles.

Of course, Coen cares to share none of this with Pelsaert. Rather, after briefly clearing his throat, the Governor-General begins. ‘Tomorrow morning,’ he says, ‘you will address the full Council of the Indies and give them the benefit of this account.’ He goes on to express his deep disappointment with what has occurred, and most particularly that so many of the Company’s goods have already been lost. The primary concern for the moment, therefore, must be to work out the best way to return there as quickly as possible to salvage those goods. Between now and tomorrow’s meeting with the Council, Pelsaert is invited to turn his thoughts as to how that might best be achieved.

Coen utters the last sentence in such a way that it is clear his interview with Pelsaert is now over and it is time for him to go. Pelsaert immediately stands and manages to get through a few sentences about what an honour it has been to see Coen again, how instructive he has found the meeting and how he only wishes it could have been under better circumstances, before Coen lifts a languid hand and waves him away.

8 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

Jeronimus is at last close to solving the problem of the soldier Hans Hardens and his wife, Anneken. From the time of the wreck, or at least from the time that Jeronimus has been able to observe him on Batavia’s Graveyard, there has been a certain independence about this man, something that Jeronimus finds both admirable and troubling.

 

The admirable part is that, as an independent man who seems almost exclusively devoted to looking after his wife and their six-year-old daughter, he is forever going fishing to get his family food, hunting for sea lions, searching for wood to build them a fire or ferreting out whatever he can find to better equip their rough tent. This means that he and his family are less of a drain on resources than others on the island who simply want to eat their way through the limited supplies and drink whatever water has been gathered for them.

The troubling part is that all independent men are a clear threat to Jeronimus and his Mutineers. Those who are not with them could very easily turn against them, and though Hardens has never made the slightest aggressive move against the rule of Jeronimus – he is too busy looking after his family – Jeronimus has decided it is time to bring him to heel.

On this very evening, in fact, he has invited Hardens and his wife to his enormous tent, where they enjoy an evening entirely foreign to the couple’s experience. They are amazed that it is possible to dine on such fine delicacies – all of it on splendid silverware atop exquisite lace that has been retrieved since the wreck of the Batavia – washed down by more fine Spanish wine than they thought it possible to drink in one sitting. And all of this while they know many of the rest of the people on the island are half-starving. True, the fact that Lucretia remains nothing but a sullen presence at the table takes something away, but the wine continues to flow freely, and that makes up for it somewhat. Jeronimus himself proves to be a charming host, gay with his conversation and full of hope for the future and the prospect of a rescue yacht soon coming for them.

‘The important thing,’ he says, ‘is that we must all stay together and continue to support each other . . . come what may, otherwise it could be very dangerous for us all.’ Strangely, he seems to emphasise that particular statement, but there is little time to reflect as the ever-hovering Jan Pelgrom and Rogier Decker continue to bring them more, ever more, courses of food and wine.

The only real regret of the Hardenses is that their beloved daughter is not with them. They wanted to bring her, but the request has been declined without explanation. So, after the evening draws to a close, Hardens and his wife profusely thank Jeronimus for his hospitality and take their leave. Jeronimus waits, and, sure enough, just two minutes later – the time it takes for them to return to their tent – a wry smile crosses his face in response to hearing an agonised scream in the distance. If most on the island lie chilled in their beds wondering about the cause of this scream, Jeronimus does not. The reason he did not want the little girl there was so that, while her parents dined with him, the hulking Jan Hendricxsz could, on his orders, stab her dead.

 

More satisfying than Anneken’s scream is the fact that it is quickly muffled as Hardens, a realist, puts his hand over his wife’s mouth and holds it there until she falls to the ground in a near faint. Though as shattered as his wife, and outraged, Hardens knows that those who have done this – Jeronimus and his men, even if the former did not wield the knife – would not hesitate to do it to them. He loves his wife, just as he loved his child, and though he has lost the latter he is determined to do what he can to ensure his wife’s and his own survival.

The murder of his daughter is clearly a warning. Jeronimus and his men will stop at nothing. And you are either with them or you are against them. Over the blood of his daughter, which has turned the mud floor of their tent crimson – her body has been dragged away and likely buried, but it is all too obvious that she has been killed – Hardens decides he will have to be with them. The alternative is his and his wife’s certain death.


9 July 1629, Batavia

On this fine Sunday morning, the upshot of it all is as good as Pelsaert could have hoped for. Yes, in the massive meeting room of the citadel, before the Council of the Indies, he receives a certain amount of acidic questioning. And, yes, he is left in no doubt that at a later point he will have to answer in greater detail for his own role in the disaster. But instead of wasting too much time castigating him there and then, the Council impresses upon him the need to return as quickly as possible to the wreck to retrieve whatever of the Company’s precious cargo he can, as well as rescuing whatever survivors might still be alive. (For, as the Council also makes clear, while rescuing the survivors is important, nothing is more crucial than retrieving the Company’s lost wealth.)

On the spot, the Council decides that the yacht Pelsaert will be given to accomplish this is none other than the Sardam, which left Texel with him eight months earlier and picked him up in the Sunda Strait just a week ago. It will take a week to get the Sardam shipshape again – to scrub the barnacles off her tired hull, revictual, and install a new skipper and crew. The yacht is to be fully stocked with salvaging equipment. And, though there will be a minimal crew in order to leave room for the maximum number of survivors, that crew will include a special retinue of duijckers, divers – of whom the principals come from the Indian state of Gujarat – to retrieve the money chests.

No more than minutes, thus, after thanking the Council and the Governor-General for their wise deliberations, and for the fact that they have placed their trust in him again, Pelsaert takes his leave, so he can apply himself instantly to expediting the whole process. If he can just secure the precious money chests, he feels, it is possible – just possible – that he will have a future worth living.

9 July 1629, Hayes’s Island

Another day, another search . . .

 

The sun is climbing high in the sky and beating down upon Hayes and his men to the point that they should be perspiring profusely, if only they had any moisture left in their bodies to sweat out. Now, they are searching along the western side of the island, at a point where there is a large expanse of sandstone covered by various boulders and flat rocks. It does not look promising, as it seems every bit as arid as everywhere else, with the only leavening feature being the shrubs. But nowhere they have searched so far has looked remotely promising. Their mood is sombre, bordering on desperate. Though they have been able to eat well by killing the jumping cats and slightly assuaging their thirst by drinking their blood, the lack of water remains a severe problem. The only drops they can get lie in the brackish pools, and if it does not rain again soon they will be in real trouble.

Typically leading the way, with his men fanned out like ducks in flying formation behind him, Wiebbe Hayes is crossing a flat expanse some 200 yards back from the shore when he steps upon a large, flat rock . . . and stops. That sounded odd, beneath his wooden clogs. It was sort of . . . hollow. Motioning for the others to give him a hand, he shifts the rock aside to reveal a small, almost perfectly circular hole about a foot across. Leaning over it, he looks down and is confronted by a vision of . . . himself. His face and the bright blue sky above are reflected in the water below!

Excitedly, his men gather around and gaze down the hole. Scarcely able to believe it, one of them lightly tosses in a small stone, and an instant later they hear a wonderful, soft . . . plop, as their reflected image is broken up in so many ripples.

But is it going to be seawater or fresh water? One of the soldiers takes a cup he has been carrying more in hope than belief, attaches it to a piece of twine, lowers it until the twine goes slack and the cup becomes weighty, then carefully hauls it to the surface. It has clear water in it. The cup is handed to Hayes, their leader, who takes a tentative sip and then knocks back half its contents before handing it back to its owner, hugely grinning. It is fresh water! They are saved.

Weighting the cup with a rock, they are quickly able to establish that the water goes to a fair depth and that they are at no risk of running out – so, in short order, all the men get their fill, before moving on to the next project. Now, they all excitedly build a bonfire to send the agreed signal – three plumes of smoke with a hundred yards or so between each – to those on Batavia’s Graveyard. Water has been found, and the others should be coming quickly with their barrels to have them filled. How pleased everyone will be!

True, so strong is the wind that it is very difficult to get the fires going, but – just as they have done with their cooking fires – they lean three large, flat rocks against each other on the side of the cliffs to make each sheltered fireplace while gathering whatever green foliage they can to generate the smoke. And then, at Hayes’s signal, all three are lit, using flint struck on steel to first light the tinder, and soon the three fires are roaring, sending to the skies three billowing plumes of . . .

 

9 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

Rook! Smoke! And more smoke! And yet more smoke!

Back on Batavia’s Graveyard, it is the pale and still shaking Andries de Vries who sees it first, and he quickly points it out to all the others. Sure enough, there, about five miles to the north-west, can clearly be seen the three thin plumes of smoke emanating from the very islands on which Wiebbe Hayes and his 19 men were dropped 20 days before. Water! Oh mijn God, zij moeten het gevonden hebben! Oh my God, they must have found it!

The signal has worked. The survivors on Batavia’s Graveyard expect it will only be a matter of time before Jeronimus either sends boats to bring back freshly filled barrels of water and the men from those northern islands or relocates the whole lot of them there, where there will be plentiful water and maybe even food. All of the non-Mutineers on Batavia’s Graveyard are tired of the constant need to live on meagre rations of both food and water, so the smoke signal is greeted with great rejoicing. (And none is more jubilant than Anneken Bosschieters – as she receives a sign for the first time that her husband, Jan Carstenz, is likely still alive – even if, at the time the smoke is first spotted, she is otherwise engaged with Wouter Loos in one of the tents used by the women for common service. She, too, has now fallen.)

Surely, the Kapitein-Generaal will be thrilled, too.

In fact, however, not only is Jeronimus not happy, he is appalled and outraged in equal measure that, despite the firm assurances he received from his scouts that both of the High Islands are bereft of water, somehow, somehow, Hayes and his men have found some.

9 July 1629, Traitors’ Island

The instant the smoke signals are noticed by the 14 inhabitants on Traitors’ Island, the whole lot of them, led by the provost, are galvanised into action. Since being landed on the island three weeks earlier, life has been exceedingly difficult for Provost Pieter Jansz, his wife, child and the eleven others, including two women and two children, but they have managed to survive . . . just. Partly, this has been through sipping whatever water they could get from the brackish pools left over by the rain, and partly through drinking the blood, as well as eating the flesh, of the few sea lions they have managed to kill. But it has not been an existence that could endure for long.

 

The fact that there has been no contact at all with the Onderkoopman and those on Batavia’s Graveyard at first surprised the provost and then gravely concerned him. Something about the whole thing does not add up, and the more he has thought about it the more concerned and then afraid he has become – especially since he saw the three men trussed like turkeys and peremptorily executed on the southern shore of Batavia’s Graveyard only a few days before.

He has not been alone in his fears. Others on the island, led by his own wife, have had the same thoughts about their abandonment. Have they been put on this island to die? After all, for what other reason could they have been left on this barren outcrop of coral, removed from the larger island of Batavia’s Graveyard, where there are at least some supplies, and shelter, and a collection of skills to make life more sustainable? It seems unimaginable that this has been the Onderkoopman’s plan all along, yet the more they think about it and discuss it, the more it becomes clear that the building of the small rafts from the wood washed up on the shore is not just going to be the most likely means of their salvation, it is their only means. As a precaution, Jansz has had his men build two rafts on the southern side of Traitors’ Island, where they cannot be observed by those on Batavia’s Graveyard.

Even though those rafts have not yet been fully finished, the main thing is that they can at least float – as the signal from Hayes has changed everything. Where there is smoke, there is water – and there is therefore no reason to stay here any longer.

Now, how much water Wiebbe Hayes and his men have found, and what the conditions on those islands are like – for to have survived this long with that many people they must have found some kind of food – is not certain. But what is certain is that things simply have to be better than they are on Traitors’ Island.

So Jansz gives the orders. ‘Everyone into the rafts, and quick about it. The Onderkoopman has made an oath that we can join Wiebbe Hayes once our rafts have been built and we have seen the signal. Now is our moment!’

With great enthusiasm, thus, the provost divides the 14 survivors on the island between the two rafts, putting himself on the same one as his wife and child. Together, they make their way through the shallows towards the deepwater channel, where they soon come into full view of those on Batavia’s Graveyard. It is David Zevanck and Coenraat van Huyssen who are among the first to see them, and they quickly make their way to Jeronimus’s side to inform him. What should they do?

‘Pursue them,’ Jeronimus replies coolly, his face betraying not the slightest emotion. ‘Stop them.’

 

Zevanck heads off to do exactly that, pausing only to gather his favourite silver sword, the one he spends endless time polishing and sharpening. This will be the perfect weapon for the job. Jeronimus has said to ‘stop them’, and ‘stopped’ they will be. There is nothing else for it, lest the now potentially formidable, well-watered foes on the High Islands be further reinforced by the provost’s party.

On the rafts, the provost and his people have proceeded a mile from their starting point and are making reasonable headway through the channel alongside Seals’ Island when, as hot a day as it is, Claudine Patoys, with child in arms, notices something that chills her to her very soul. Coming out from Batavia’s Graveyard is a fast yawl, and it is heading in their direction! She quickly alerts the others, and they all stop their paddling to stare. Surely they aren’t being pursued, are they? It isn’t as if they are doing anything wrong, is it? Of course they are doing nothing wrong. But within a minute, as the sunshine glints off cutlasses and swords, it is obvious that not only are they being chased but also their pursuers are armed!

What can they do? Now taking up their poles and makeshift oars as if their lives depend on it – because there seems every chance that they do – they furiously push and paddle their way forward in the vain hope that they can outrun the yawl and escape these dire straits.

Within three minutes, it is clear that their quest is hopeless – not that they stop poling and paddling because of it. Within seven minutes, the pursuing yawl is just 100 yards behind their two rafts, easily close enough that those in the lead can hear the hot cries of anger coming from behind them across the water.

‘Waar gaat u naartoe? Where are you going?’

There is so much ominous portent in the question that neither the provost nor any of his people, all rowing furiously, reply.

So, standing in the prow of the yawl, David Zevanck switches from asking questions to issuing commands. ‘Blijf staan! Stand to!’ he bellows to them across the waves, through hands cupped around his mouth. ‘In the name of the Kapitein-Generaal, I command you to blijf staan!’

 

They do no such thing.

And now, in shaken horror, the 110 members of the ship’s company on Batavia’s Graveyard, and some of those 40 poor struggling souls on Seals’ Island, watch what happens next.

The yawl of Zevanck and van Huyssen has no sooner overtaken the two makeshift boats from Traitors’ Island than the Mutineers are leaning over and viciously swinging their swords at the provost and all the rest! The provost’s party is all but entirely defenceless, except for the oars, with which they are uselessly trying to parry the Mutineers’ brutal thrusts. When Jan Hendricxsz leads three others in leaping from their yawl onto the rafts, flailing their swords – nearly overturning the rafts from the weight of Hendricxsz alone – four of the provost’s men leap into the water, despite the fact they can’t swim. There follows a small amount of desperate splashing and then they are seen no more. Another four men, who are able to swim, take to the sea. Still trusting in Jeronimus, they head for the shore of Batavia’s Graveyard to seek refuge with the Onderkoopman. Surely he will stop all this murderous madness.

In an instant, all the fight goes out of the provost and his remaining party members. Zevanck’s cronies instruct that outraged but fearful man, standing in front of his cowering wife and crying daughter in an attempt to keep them safe, that both rafts must now make their way back to Batavia’s Graveyard, propelled by the remaining men. The instruction is followed.

At the approach to the shore of the yawl and the two makeshift rafts, the gathered crowd disperse like mice before approaching serpents. These men are killers, and if they can attack innocents like that, without even bothering to go through the pretence of a legal process, then it is clear that no one is safe.

Zevanck is first to jump ashore, and he issues strict instructions to his men that the provost and the survivors of his party must stay exactly where they are on the beach until he receives further orders from Jeronimus. From the beach, the provost watches with trepidation, his child’s arms wrapped fearfully around his legs, as Jeronimus emerges from his tent and consults with Zevanck for all of 30 seconds. What is to be their fate?

Zevanck turns and is running back towards them, shouting. The first shout is carried away by the wind, but the second is all too clear: Dood hen! Kill them!

Immediately, Coenraat van Huyssen and the other Mutineers, led by those most brutal of brutes, Jan Hendricxsz and Lenart van Os, fall upon them and butcher the provost, the two children and two of the men. Meanwhile, the four men who have been swimming to shore now arrive. Not having seen the previous conversation between Jeronimus and Zevanck, they run towards Jeronimus, thinking he is the one who can save them, who can put a stop to this cold-blooded murder.

‘Onderkoopman! Onderkoopman!’ they cry, unintentionally aggravating Jeronimus further, as he is now known exclusively as ‘Kapitein-Generaal’ to all in his domain.

Infuriated at the insolent attempt of these people from Traitors’ Island to save their own lives, it is Jan Hendricxsz, surprisingly fast for such a big man, who quickly runs down one of them and holds him underfoot so that another, newly joined, Mutineer, Andries Jonas, can ram his pike directly through his throat until the death rattle is heard. Not to be outdone, with two blows from his own trusty sword, another of Zevanck’s men, Rutger Fredericxsz, kills two more of the provost’s lowly curs.

 

What, then, of the remaining hapless three women, including the provost’s wife, all of them still on the raft and aghast at what they have just witnessed? Clinging to each other and weeping in complete futility, they have no choice but to wait until Hendricxsz and the other Mutineers return. Are they, too, to be killed?

It seems not, for the Mutineers now sheathe their swords, return to their yawl and, for a reason the women don’t understand, tow them on their raft back out to the channel. Ah, but they do have a purpose in mind. For when they are all mid-channel, the Mutineers overturn their raft and watch curiously – amid all the gasping, flailing of arms and brief resurfacing – as they drown. Everyone who was once on Traitors’ Island has been killed.

Of the murders to date, these have been the bloodiest, most merciless and most public. One who witnesses the whole thing, including the drownings, is Gabriel Jacobsz, along with several of his people on Seals’ Island. While they are at least relieved to not be on the same island as the murderers, what they have just seen is beyond alarming. At Jacobsz’s insistence, they redouble their efforts to build their own rafts. Clearly, things are now out of control on Batavia’s Graveyard – or maybe, even, all too firmly in the control of Jeronimus – and the best hope for them all is to get away and seek succour with Wiebbe Hayes and his men.

9 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

The Predikant’s daughter Judick – like her mother, a generally sullen if notably dutiful woman – stands stirring the stewing seal meat in her tent and waits and waits and waits . . . wishing that she could wait forever. Grote God, my God, if only it were so. But now the flap of her tent flies open, and there before her is her ‘husband’, Coenraat van Huyssen, returned from another day’s killing.

As a little girl, Judick, like all Dutch children, was raised on the legend of Boeman – the ‘bogeyman’ of the Netherlands – who had sharp claws, dressed in black and was prone to kidnapping naughty children who had not done what their parents had asked. Here and now, on the Abrolhos in 1629, it feels like she is married to him. Now, Boeman himself, Coenraat, towers before her, dripping from head to foot with both seawater and blood. Just who has he killed this time?

 

‘When is dinner ready?’ he asks matter-of-factly, as if it is the most normal thing in the world to be dripping with blood. (By now, it practically is.) Stifling a sob, Judick tells him that it will be perhaps half an hour and then helps the beast to remove his bloody cassock. She then gets a bowl of seawater boiling on the fire so she can hopefully remove the worst of the bloodstains and have the cassock dry again by the following morning. Coenraat always likes to look neat.

 

The macabre mass murder of the provost’s party has a profound effect on the survivors on Batavia’s Graveyard, who all stood by helpless throughout. Large globs of blood still stain the coral where the last of the men died. A pall of fear, of growing terror, hangs over the island, as each step in the night sounds like death on the march towards them, the shriek of the wind the sound of the souls of those who have just been murdered. Who will be next? What can they, as ‘Survivors’, do?

For, in the wake of these open murders, they, too, feel a formal bond with each other, in the sense that they are non-Mutineers and therefore, as Survivors, are all under common threat. On this island, there is no separation between the people ‘fore of the mast’ and ‘aft of the mast’ – there are only those who are with Jeronimus and those who are not.

10 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

And now, in the early evening, Andries de Vries is ushered into Jeronimus’s august presence in his massive tent. After some minimal pleasantries – none of which calm the deeply upset youth, still shocked beyond all redemption by everything that has happened to him in the last few days – the Kapitein-Generaal comes to it.

‘Andries,’ Jeronimus says softly to the tremulous young man, ‘I am sorry about that unpleasantness of a few days ago, and I am very glad that you were spared. But I am wondering if . . . you could perhaps render us a small service?’

Andries, wide-eyed and trying not to shake, nods eagerly that he will do anything they ask.

‘Good,’ Jeronimus replies. ‘Because we have something of a problem with the eleven people in the sick tent. They are all going to die anyway, otherwise they wouldn’t be there, but in the meantime they are only suffering, even as they eat precious food and drink precious water. Really, it will be a great kindness to all of them to stop their suffering immediately. So . . . Andries . . . I ask you now. Would you be prepared to take a knife tonight, and quickly and quietly cut all of their throats? We would take it as a sign of your great friendship to us. Andries, would you be prepared to do that?’

 

Andries starts weeping pitifully and is unable to speak.

In a harder tone now, Jeronimus asks again, ‘Andries, would you be prepared to do that?’ He leans forward, interested on an intellectual level, apart from everything else, just how this youth will react to the deal he has put before him. Andries is not naturally bad like Zevanck or Pelgrom, but how far could a good man be pushed to do not just evil but the worst kind of evil? For a while, Andries just sits there shuddering with the horror of it all. Finally, though, Jeronimus gets his answer.

For Andries nods his head.

Yes, he will do even that, if only they will spare his own life.

And yet there is still one more thing. Jeronimus has noted that Andries likes to talk to Lucretia. The Kapitein-Generaal does not like this. Does Andries understand that, ‘If ever in your life you talk to her again, you will have to die?’

Again, the young man nods miserably. Yes, he understands that.

Good. With a languid hand of dismissal from Jeronimus, he is allowed to leave.

Shortly afterwards, the still-shaking Andries is escorted to the sick tent by David Zevanck, Gijsbert van Welderen and Coenraat van Huyssen. It is a night of yet more shrieking wind, and their eyes sting from the sand whipping off the top of the surrounding dunes like spume from the surface of a swollen sea.

Zevanck now personally hands Andries a very sharp knife, before he is given some quick instruction by van Huyssen on how to cut a human throat. Ideally, you see, you must have the victim face down and then pull the head up, exposing the key vein, which, once cut, will cause the victim to die quickly and relatively silently, if bloodily. Not to worry about the blood, that cannot be helped. The bonus is that, if done right, the victim cannot even scream, which should be useful if Andries is to quickly get through 11 of them in this tent.

Can Andries do it?

There seems to be another pitiful nod, although so badly is he shaking it is hard to tell. But yes, Andries steals into the tent while the trio of Mutineers waits outside and listens carefully. There! First, they hear a cough, then a gurgle, and then the curious ripping sound that a knife makes when it slashes a throat . . . and then a small sob.

But that is all right, that is just Andries being a hoerenjong, son of a whore.

The main thing, as the next coughs, gurgles and ripping sounds come to them, is that he is clearly getting on with the job, and silently at that, preventing an outcry that could have woken the whole island and been very upsetting.

 

Ten minutes later, Andries emerges, with the dripping knife hanging loosely by his side. More butcher than bookkeeper, he is covered in blood from head to toe – whole streaks of it drench his shirt, as if he had himself been slashed six or seven times with a sword across his torso.

Job well done, Andries. Fine handiwork indeed.

The butcher cannot speak, just nods mutely and wanders, as if drunken, alone to the small beach in the vain hope that he can wash the blood from his clothes, if not his soul.

11 July 1629, Hayes’s Island

Wiebbe Hayes just cannot work it out. It is more than passing strange that their smoke signals have drawn no response. For the last two days since they discovered the water, they lit their bonfires, sending the smoke spiralling skywards and thereafter peering out hopefully towards the southeast, expecting to see David Zevanck or Coenraat van Huyssen returning with the promised yawls to fetch them. But there has been not the slightest sign.

Were it not for the fact that in all their time on these islands they have regularly seen smoke coming from the fires of the people on Seals’ Island and Batavia’s Graveyard – though, strangely, no longer on Traitors’ Island – Hayes would have feared that the people left there had been wiped out by thirst or hunger. Yet that is clearly not the case. So what is the explanation? For the life of him, Wiebbe Hayes cannot make sense of it. Nor can any of the other men, though it is a subject of constant discussion. For now, all they can do is continue to establish themselves in their new base, right by the water supply, and wait to see what happens.

11 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

From the time they left Texel, things have not been easy for Jan Pinten, the only Englishman of the ship’s company. He’d be buggered if he could understand a word anyone was saying, and when an order is issued from on high, rather than snapping to it immediately, all he can do is to carefully watch and imitate his fellow soldiers.

As an Englishman, the sole representative of a nation that the Dutch bitterly resented, he found that life at sea was a surprisingly lonely affair, just as it has proved to be on this cursed island. While others have formed small groups, capable at least of looking out for each other, no one wants De Engelsman, the Englishman, in their group. The net result is that, when he falls ill through dehydration and malnutrition in the second week of July, no one realises it for quite some time. It isn’t until he remains in his tent for a number of days in a row that Zevanck bothers to poke his perfumed head around the tent flap to see what might be the matter. Confronted by the grey spectre of what has formerly been a strapping young man, Zevanck quickly reports the matter to the Kapitein-Generaal.

 

In response, Jeronimus nods and then whispers just a few words to the gunner Allert Jansz and Jan Hendricxsz, both of whom nod in keen agreement and quickly head off to Pinten’s tent.

‘Goede morgen aan u, Engelsman, good morning to you, Englishman,’ Hendricxsz greets him upon entering, as the sick man manages to lift an arm in pathetic salutation.

With not another word spoken, Hendricxsz then nods to Jansz, who has followed him in, and the younger Mutineer suddenly drops down and sits with his full weight on the invalid’s chest.

‘Kalmeer u, Engelsman, calm yourself, Englishman,’ Hendricxsz says to him kindly in simple Dutch as he stands over him. ‘It will only make matters worse.’

Too weak to resist, yet a soldier to the last, Pinten arches his back to try to throw Jansz off, his neck automatically forming a tight part of the arch.

Alas, in one smooth action, Jansz draws his dagger with a flourish and slits the taut neck of the sick soldier. The murderers watch in mute fascination as gouts of blood quickly stain the crude deathbed stark red.

And that is the end of Jan Pinten.






CHAPTER SEVEN

Say Your Prayers


It was a busy time of it all right.

Gillis Phillipsz of Malmediers, blacksmith

12 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

As supreme ruler, Jeronimus is now all but in his hay. Apart from the fact that he still has not managed to lure the fragrant Lucretia into his bed, the only thing that has not gone his way is that they haven’t yet managed to kill off Wiebbe Hayes and his men, who have now found water. Although, the fact that Hayes and his soldiers are not with them on Batavia’s Graveyard has proved to be a masterstroke . . .

 

Under different circumstances, there would be an obvious option open to the Survivors: uniting as one and attacking the Mutineers, whom they still greatly outnumber. It would be brutal, it would be bloody, but if such an attack were well organised – striking in the middle of the night, killing first Jeronimus, David Zevanck and Coenraat van Huyssen to deny the Mutineers leadership – there would be a good chance of exacting a bloody triumph. But an attack of that nature on Batavia’s Graveyard, leaving aside the issue of weaponry, requires two things: moral resolution among the men left on the island and sufficient leadership to organise it properly. Neither is present without Wiebbe Hayes and his band.

Instead of rising up against the tyranny of Jeronimus, most of the Survivors on Batavia’s Graveyard simply cower in the face of his reign of terror. Though fearful, the only way out the men can see is to do the tasks that are allotted to them, keep their heads down and remain as inconspicuous as possible, hoping that they will not attract the attention of the Mutineers. As to the women for common service, their best chance of surviving is quite the reverse. They must continue to attract a different kind of attention from all of the Mutineers they can accommodate, and that process continues day and night.

All up, not only is there a lack of organised resistance from the Survivors to the rule of the Mutineers, but Jeronimus and his lieutenants are now inundated by men wanting to join them. In fact, with each fresh brutality they are gaining in strength.

This drive to join them is largely through fear of the consequences of not being with them, partly through a desire to share in the improved rations and exquisite red finery of the Mutineers (while the starving Survivors remain dressed in rags), not to mention their access to the women as well as the boats, and partly because of the still seething anger among the Survivors at their abandonment by Pelsaert and Jacobsz.

Whatever else, Jeronimus has not abandoned them. Ironically, with his departure to Batavia, Pelsaert has provided the very thing that Jeronimus was looking for, the act that would turn the broad mass of the people against the Commandeur.

As soon as they join up, they get to carouse with the other Mutineers in the tent of the Kapitein-Generaal. They love to guzzle his fine wine and eat the best fish and birds that have been caught on the day, together with the remaining delicacies from the stores of the Batavia. They adore running their fingers through the jewels stored in his tent and talking about the gloriously rich future before them – the women they will have, the finery they will wear! – once they have captured the rescue yacht and got away from these infernal islands. And, of course, they delight in gossiping lightly about their most recent killings.

 

The bond between them is tight. For, if there is an honour among thieves, there is a cult among killers, most particularly in an environment where – with the notable exception of Jeronimus – the more you kill, the more you are respected. Stonecutter, Jan Hendricxsz, Coenraat van Huyssen and David Zevanck, particularly, have proved themselves again and again, and take their place at the Kapitein-Generaal’s side, the most powerful men after him.

Jeronimus does not merely want a loose confederation of men who are broadly on his side; he wants a brotherhood of blood, a tightly controlled gang of murderers devoted to each other and to him personally, who will do his bidding without question and who have proved their worth to the Mutineers by committing whatever murders and brutality are asked of them. He knows from his days with Torrentius that once the first corruption of a man’s soul is accomplished, the rest is relatively easy. Let a man commit adultery just once, and the next time his conscience will not trouble him half so much. He is already an adulterer, so the next step is not so great. So, too, let a man but once kill another and he is a murderer, innately bound to other murderers in the very bloody bond that Jeronimus is now cultivating. And, once a man is a murderer here, it is not just that he will no longer be able to bear witness against brother murderers, it is also, in Jeronimus’s view, that in no time he will be able to participate in an orgy of murdering, too! The result is that Jeronimus’s own power will be enhanced as his bloody band grows. By this time, it even includes Hans Hardens, who, despite having had his daughter murdered by the men of Jeronimus and his wife continually leered at by the Mutineers, is fully determined to do whatever it takes to survive.

Curiously, though, even though they are murderers, they are still predominantly Dutch murderers, in the employ of the VOC, so it is important that an official written statement be made. So it is that, on this particular evening – almost a month since Jeronimus arrived on the island – he requires all 25 of his fellow Mutineers to sign the oath he has prepared. The mood is festive as the signing takes place.

‘Sign, sign, sign, sign!’ the two dozen cheer to a man, as each merry Mutineer steps forward, takes the proffered quill from Jeronimus and puts his name or his mark upon the parchment:

 

Click Here


If the last signatory is a little hesitant, a little shame-faced as he commits himself to what he knows to be a murderous band, still, he and Hans Hardens are the only exceptions.

As they sign away their lives, the signatories are presented with the golden goblet filled with wine. ‘Drink, drink, drink, drink!’ the band exhorts once the commitment is made.

And drink they do. Once done, the empty vessel is upturned over their heads, tongues extended to catch the last remnants of red wine dripping down their lupine jowls.

From this point on, each man knows that, should he break the bond he has just put his name to, his own life will be forfeit, practically legally. After all, Jeronimus is the official representative of the Company among them, and he has no less than Salomon Deschamps, the Commandeur’s favourite notary, forming up such documents for him. Their oath is official.

With the signing of that oath accomplished, Jeronimus decides it is time to consolidate the bond between the members of his coterie, by bathing them in yet more blood.

 

 

This particular night is so cold and blustery that even the moon refuses to show its face, and the wind moans a long lament that this infernal island is beyond the edge of the world and all who lie upon it are doomed.

In their tent, the carpenter Jacob Hendricxsz, Passchier van den Ende, a gunner without his gun, and a sick boy are all disconsolately lying on their makeshift sleeping mats, trying in vain to get to sleep, when they hear the sound of approaching footsteps and men talking. Through the canvas flap, they can see a bobbing lantern approaching. All three freeze, willing the footsteps and the voices to move on. But they do not. They can even recognise the voices right outside their tent as belonging to several of the Kapitein-Generaal’s men: David Zevanck, Lenart van Os, Lucas Jellisz and Jan Hendricxsz.

Jan Hendricxsz, holding the lantern, his face grotesque in the light shining from below, enters the tent and addresses them personally, in a voice deliberately loud enough to be heard by all in the immediate vicinity. ‘Jacob Hendricxsz and Passchier van den Ende,’ the swarthy brute intones in his most official and authoritative voice, ignoring the lad. ‘Do you have any stolen goods from the Company?’

Passchier van den Ende, aware of the danger, answers sorrowfully that they do not. Terrified, scarcely believing that this is actually happening, both Jacob Hendricxsz and the ailing lad now join in, begging desperately for their lives to be spared.

For a brief moment, there is total silence but for the lapping of the small, sad waves on the shore, the thundering of the sea in the distance and the constant plaintive cry of the seabirds. From all the hovels nearby, there is nary a whisper as the whole encampment listens in terrified silence, fearing what is about to happen.

And, sure enough, Zevanck finally tires of all this drama, when what he has on his mind is murder, pure and simple.

After a nod from Zevanck, Jan Hendricxsz hands over the lanterns and takes up his dagger – specially selected for this bit of work at close quarters. Again, the two terrified men and the lad lying prone before him deny for their lives that they have any stolen property. Yet, seeing that their situation is hopeless, Passchier begs that he might be permitted to say his prayers. Jan Hendricxsz looks to Zevanck for guidance.

Without a shred of pity, Zevanck shakes his head. Passchier begins to weep and curls up like a baby, trying to make himself as small a target as possible.

It is to no avail. As Passchier is offering no resistance, it is but a simple matter for Jan Hendricxsz to fall upon him, turn him over, lift his head and then simply slit his throat, the blood instantly gushing down over his hand. The gunner is not even able to scream. Instead, he emits something between a cough and a strangled gurgle, before his whole body goes into a violent spasm.

 

Interested in such a reaction, Jan Hendricxsz pauses for a second and then slashes the man’s throat one more time for good measure. In an instant, Passchier is totally still, his head all but severed from his body. The only sounds are those of the sobbing boy and the weeping Jacob Hendricxsz, who is lying there and repeating over and over, ‘Genade, genade, genade, have mercy, have mercy, have mercy.’

And, strangely enough, the usually merciless David Zevanck decides exactly that. Prior to the shipwreck, he had a nodding acquaintance with Jacob Hendricxsz, and it is always more difficult to kill someone when you’ve had even a modicum of polite contact with them first.

So, instructing Hendricxsz to remain in the tent under the guard of the other three Mutineers, Zevanck goes to see Jeronimus, to plead for the carpenter’s life. He finds the Kapitein-Generaal lazing in his tent, sipping merrily on some choice Madeira wine while gazing fondly upon Lucretia, who responds with a stare so icy that it makes even Zevanck uncomfortable. Not at all put out, and not yet deigning to acknowledge Zevanck’s presence, the Kapitein-Generaal offers his concubine some of his malmsey, the sweetest variety of all Portuguese fortifieds, suggesting it will match her comely countenance. But to business . . .

‘Jacob Hendricxsz is a good carpenter,’ Zevanck tells Jeronimus frankly. ‘I think we must let him live.’

Barely looking up, Jeronimus answers, ‘Not at all, he is only a turner. Furthermore, he is half lame. He also must go. He might become a babbler now or later.’

And there it is. Of the many imperatives to kill, and to kill often, not least of them is to remove all those who might one day bear witness against the perpetrators. If the island is filled with only murderers, then, should they ever have to answer to the authorities for what has happened in these parts, they could come up with any story they pleased. But let just one innocent man, woman or child survive, to tell of what has happened, and the guilty would meet a fate worse than those they have killed – torture and then death.

 

So, Jacob Hendricxsz must die. As, ultimately, must most of those who have not joined them thus far. Zevanck nods curtly, exits, returns to the tent and makes a grim slashing movement across his throat to the other Mutineers, still there on guard. First, Lenart van Os sits on Jacob’s body, then the merciless Jan Hendricxsz goes on a stabbing frenzy, planting two knives into his victim’s chest, yet he doesn’t manage to kill him. Finally, using just the blade of one of these now broken knives, he slits Jacob’s throat. A short time later, the dead carpenter is lying in the same shallow grave as his friend Passchier van den Ende, while those who have killed them break open their sea chests and share the contents among themselves. Oh, and there is just one more quick thing to do. They nearly forgot. The murder of the remaining sick boy is now a mere formality, his throat cut with the minimum of fuss and even less ceremony. No one in any of the nearby tents utters a peep.


13 July 1629, Batavia

The speed of it all is stunning. One minute, Skipper Jacobsz, with Zwaantje on one side and Jan Evertsz on the other, is getting rolling drunk in one of the last surviving Batavia taverns, within a musket-shot of the walls of the citadel, and the next minute their entire world caves in.

They hear them before they see them, for the sound of drunken merry-making in the tavern instantly goes from deafening to non-existent. The doorway has suddenly filled with the vision of four men dressed in black, soldiers all, and there is not a man in the tavern who does not fear that they have come for him. No one is left in doubt for long, for the four men head straight for Jacobsz and Evertsz, and, entirely ignoring Zwaantje, come straight to the point.

‘Skipper Jacobsz,’ the shortest and most officious of the soldiers begins, ‘by order of His Excellency, Governor-General Coen, you are hereby arrested, charged with gross negligence in the loss of the Batavia. Bosun Evertsz, you are under arrest, charged with leading an assault on the night of 14 May, on the person of Lucretia Jans.’

At this pronouncement, some 70 men and nigh as many women shudder with relief that they are not the ones the soldiers have come for, though they look with some sympathy as Jacobsz and Evertsz are dragged away. Within two minutes of the arrest, everything is back as it was in the tavern, with the exception of the weeping Zwaantje, sitting slumped in the corner, though she is not left alone by the other men in the tavern for long.

In the meantime, both Jacobsz and Evertsz, manacled, soon find themselves in a stinking dungeon, deep within the bowels of the Batavia citadel.

Whatever Coen’s level of understanding in relation to retaining Pelsaert in the service of the VOC – due in part to the fact that the Commandeur is still needed to guide the rescue – that understanding does not extend, and was never going to extend, to a skipper who was not only in charge of a ship that ended up on a marked reef but was also on watch at the time it happened. As to a high bosun accused of launching an assault on a Dutch lady on a VOC vessel, that is strictly against regulations.

 

13 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

Andries de Vries has not slept and can now barely speak. For three days and nights since he murdered the 11 people in the sick tent, he has wandered aimlessly around the island, reliving the horror of what he has done, hoping it was just a nightmare from which he would soon awake, but finding no relief. The horror would hit him anew. He did that. He personally killed 11 good people, made the blood gush from their necks like butchered pigs and spray all over him. But he was forced to, wasn’t he? It was the one shred of consolation he had in the horror. He had no choice if he still wanted to live, and he did want to live, wanted to survive to get to Batavia and then back to the Dutch Republic to see his family once more. It is all he can think of as he walks around the island, dumb and dazed.

And now another four people have fallen sick in the three days since the first mass murder. Andries, weeping once more, his spirit broken, is led back to the same tent, where he is asked to reprise the very horror that plagues him, asked to do it all over again. Cursing himself that he has neither the moral strength to stab the knife into his own heart to end his agony and save what little might be left of his soul, nor the physical strength to take the proffered knife and turn it on the Mutineers, stabbing them, Andries shakily takes it and goes into the tent . . . emerging a few minutes later.

Crushed, exhausted, stunned that he has done it again, he leaves the tent with the dripping knife and in the moonlight meekly hands it back to Zevanck.

‘Well done, Andries,’ Zevanck says to him. ‘The Kapitein-Generaal will be pleased.’

Head spinning, Andries returns to aimlessly circling the island, through the night and into the morning.

14 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

As the sun comes up, Andries finally hears the screams he always knew he would hear, coming from the sick tent, as the bloodstains of those he has murdered are discovered in the now empty tent. (Their bodies were buried in the night.) The young man falls to the ground and does not move, barely able to comprehend what he has done. Finally, around noon, he rises and all but involuntarily breaks into a brisk trot, quickly heading off he knows not where, but avoiding eye contact, shunning conversation. The Survivors watch the sad figure as he runs past, horrified, for the word has long-since spread that it was him.

 

In the end, for Andries, the compulsion to talk to someone about what he has done, someone he can trust, is overwhelming, and he knows who that someone must be: Lucretia. Whereas it was her beauty that stood out on the Batavia, in the time since the shipwreck it has been her kindness. And she and Andries have really struck up a friendship on the island, talking to each other and occasionally confiding to each other their deep unhappiness and common hatred of Jeronimus. At least, they did until such time as Lucretia was forced to move into the Kapitein-Generaal’s tent. But now, Andries needs to speak to her, needs to confess what he has done and try to make her understand that he had no choice but to do it.

Of course, it is dangerous, as since seizing total control Jeronimus has been very clear in his instructions that no one is to approach Lucretia, ever – and he has specifically made Andries promise not to talk to her, on pain of death – but Andries is at a point well beyond mere desperation.

When he spies Lucretia going for a short, sad walk down by the beach, he dares to approach her, calling out her name softly. She turns, looks into his eyes, realises that her friend is deeply troubled and asks, ‘Scheelt er iets aan? Is something wrong?’ (Because of the edict of Jeronimus that no one is to approach her, she remains ignorant of what has happened in the sick tent.)

Of course, Andries dare not be seen conversing with her. All he can do is stand a short way off, with his head turned in a slightly different direction, so that the casual observer might think they are merely in a rough proximity to each other by happenstance, without talking.

An exceedingly strained conversation takes place, as it all suddenly comes tumbling forth in shards of shattered sentences. The drowning. The fact that he begged for his life and promised he would do anything, the offer put to him by Jeronimus, the fact that he . . . he . . . he actually went into the tent and murdered all those people on two separate occasions.

‘Nee, Andries!’ she cries out. ‘Nee, nee, nee, nee! I cannot believe that you have done this!’

Lucretia has also done what she considers to be a terrible thing in order to stay alive – for moving into the tent of Jeronimus is bad enough, though she still draws the line at sleeping with him – but murder 15 people? She knows she would rather die than do that and makes this view clear to Andries, despite his obvious total devastation and his need for her to understand, to understand, Lucretia, that he had no choice, don’t you see?

No, she doesn’t see at all. She turns away, leaving Andries alone, truly, desperately alone, with no one to whom he can now turn for solace. But there is worse still to come . . .

From a distance of some 50 yards, David Zevanck spots Lucretia and Andries within a short distance of each other, and he hurries to Jeronimus’s tent to tell him.

 

‘Kapitein-Generaal, Kapitein-Generaal!’ he calls when he sees him, parading his new red vestments in the bright sunshine near his tent. ‘A word, if I may, Kapitein-Generaal?’

Excitedly, once Jeronimus has ushered him into his tent, Zevanck starts pouring forth his account. But Jeronimus cuts him short with an upraised hand and coldly thanks him. The Kapitein-Generaal hesitates but a moment. ‘Send me,’ he says, ‘Rutger Fredericxsz, Jan Hendricxsz and Lenart van Os.’

On an island as small as Batavia’s Graveyard, one is always in sight of Jeronimus’s tent, and, as it happens, both Andries de Vries and Lucretia, from different parts, see the three men emerge from it. Andries, sensing danger, begins to walk away, and then run. Spotting him, Lenart van Os laughs lightly and calls out after him, ‘Andries! Oh . . . Andries! Why do you run so? We want no more than a little chat. Kom, Andries, kom, come on back to us.’ And then, entirely unhurriedly, the three men follow him to the end of the island, as the entire population, all of them now alerted as to what is about to happen, watch in either horror or wry amusement as the scene plays out.

When Andries reaches the end of the island and there is nowhere further to go, and he can’t dive into the waters because he can’t swim, he turns to face them and again begins to plead for his life, but this time he can see it is hopeless. Murder is in the eyes of all three men, so Andries does the only thing left – he turns and begins to run through the shallows. And now the three Mutineers swiftly spring into action.

Raising their swords high, they charge after him, fanning out and rounding him up, giving him no means of escape. It is Lenart van Os who gets to him first, bringing his sword down with a searing flash on Andries’s right shoulder and instantly dropping him into the water. And then the others come in to finish the job, piercing his prone body with their swords again and again until the blood flows freely and Andries is no more than a floating corpse bobbing up and down in the waves, upon whom schools of tiny little fish are now taking a sudden interest.

Though most of the Survivors are spared the first-hand horror of seeing the murder up close, they do see the swords flashing up and down in the bright sunshine – for it is a particularly beautiful day, with a for-once gentle sea breeze blowing. The three jolly murderers walk back to the camp, wiping off Andries’s blood on the lower portion of their trousers. Lucretia, shuddering, turns away.

 

 

With such visions as this on Batavia’s Graveyard now a daily occurrence, the atmosphere among the Survivors is one of sheer, barely controlled terror. Often in the course of these weeks, and more frequently as conditions worsen, Survivors can be seen staring wanly out to sea in one of two directions. They are gazing either to a point beyond where the wreck of the Batavia lies, in the direction of their impossibly distant homeland, or towards the last point where they saw the sail of the Commandeur and the skipper with the forty-odd sailors disappear, followed shortly afterwards by Gillis Fransz and his own ten men in the yawl. For minutes at a time, they stare, dreaming of the green fields and bonny flowers of home, the soaring church spires and swirling boulevards of people in the merry towns, or willing a sail to appear, praying that in the far distance they will at last see a sign that their rescue is at hand. And then they just as suddenly snap out of it, get on with their work, keep their heads down and try to make themselves as unobtrusive as possible, as the Mutineers swagger past looking for someone to either bully or kill.

Under such circumstances, it is not surprising that the ranks of the Mutineers continue to swell, as even good men have to make hard decisions about what they are prepared to do to survive.

And so they come. Whereas in the early days on the ship, and then on the island, the core of the Mutineers was those in key positions at the top of the Batavia’s hierarchy – Jacobsz, Jeronimus, Stonecutter, Evertsz, van Huyssen, etc. – and the first recruits came from fore of the mast – Lenart van Os, Ryckert Woutersz, Allert Jansz, Cornelis Jansz, Gijsbert van Welderen – there now appears a new type of recruit. It is the sad, thinking man from aft of the mast, one who has no appetite whatsoever for violence, whose natural disposition does not remotely align with that of the Mutineers . . . but who has come to the conclusion that, while it might be an important ideal to save lives on the island, the most important thing is to save his own life . . . if not his soul.

The epitome of this new type of recruit is to be found in the person of the surgeon Frans Jansz, a decent man who – after everyone under his care in the sick tent was ruthlessly murdered – has come to a very stark conclusion: he has no choice. The Mutineers are, clearly, methodically killing off all men who are not of their number. If Jansz wants to live, it is obvious to him he must join the Mutineers, so he requests an audience with Jeronimus.

The Kapitein-Generaal graciously agrees and even listens to the man’s stumbling, bumbling words of how much he has always admired him and can see that, yes, though it may seem harsh to some, there really is no escaping the logic that there are too many people on the island for too few resources and something has to be done, so . . . if the Kapitein-Generaal thinks that he, the upper-surgeon, could be of any use . . . well . . . well, he would be happy to help.

 

It is a singularly difficult speech for the upper-surgeon to make, made more painful by the fact that, as he makes it, he can feel the eyes of Lucretia upon him. While he cannot bring himself to look back at her, he can guess all too well her thoughts. But is she really so different? Does she not, too, want to live? If not, why is she here in this tent, with this monster?

Charm itself, Jeronimus thanks the surgeon for his kind words and says he is delighted to have his support. Does he understand that being ‘one of us’ means being obedient to him, Jeronimus, in everything that he will be asked to do, that this is a sacred oath upon his very soul, and that all of them are like brothers now, and he will be expected to comport himself thus, and in return he will be so treated as a brother and his protection will be assured? Frans Jansz gravely gives his oath, affirming it all. Good.

Jeronimus can’t help but notice that Jansz’s clothes are looking a bit ragged. Perhaps he might like to see young Pelgrom about his attire, and see if one of the red coats might better suit him? If he does very well among them, he might one day even be able to wear some gold lace upon it, like Zevanck, van Huyssen, Stonecutter et al. Wretchedly, Jansz nods that he will do just that and then takes his leave. Sipping on his wine, Jeronimus watches him go, with sly amusement.

Few things are as pleasing as the power to corrupt good men. The truth of it is that it is highly unlikely that Jansz will be a worthy addition to the Mutineers, as in this environment they have little need of educated men. But, for the moment, he lets it pass. The point is that, by joining them, Jansz has removed himself from those who still might oppose him.

A very few Survivors, however – and the most notable is the upper-surgeon’s offsider Aris Jansz – resolve to do things in a different way. A small, quietly spoken and relatively educated man with equal amounts of empathy and ability, Jansz has no interest in joining the Mutineers, or openly fighting them. He is not even interested in either making himself as inconspicuous as possible or making himself indispensable. A natural loner, he simply wants to go about his own business – alone.


15 July 1629, Batavia

At last, at last, they are on their way. After a week of feverish preparations, which included having the Sardam cleaned from stem to stern, repaired below decks to stem any leaks and entirely revictualled, the yacht’s skipper, Jacob Jacobsz, pronounces that he is happy for them to leave.

 

None is happier to hear it than Pelsaert, together with two others who have made the gruelling trip in the longboat from the Abrolhos and are now returning there with him. They are Claas Gerritsz, the opperstuurman, and Claas Jansz, the upper-trumpeter, who has left his beloved wife Tryn back there with her sister Zussie and has been beside himself with urgency to return since that terrible day they had to leave.

At the very time that the square-rigged Sardam clears the port and begins to make her way back towards the Sunda Strait, before embarking on a course that will lead them to where Pelsaert, in Coen’s chilling words, ‘lost the ship and left the people’, Jeronimus Cornelisz is embarking on a key project of his own . . .

15 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

Having now disposed of all the sick people in the Abrolhos, it is time to focus on getting rid of the rest of the useless mouths eating the food and guzzling the oh so precious fresh water, before focusing fully on the Wiebbe Hayes problem.

‘It is time to tidy up that island,’ Jeronimus says succinctly to David Zevanck, pointing to Seals’ Island across the deepwater channel, where a long streak of white shows the shore and they can see the small figures moving about on it. For nearly a month, there has been no contact between the two islands, and none of the promised supplies have been delivered to them. But, to Jeronimus’s disappointment, the people there have survived regardless – though he is at least pleased to have gained the impression by close observation that they are moving around more slowly, as if they must be ailing.

To be specific, he tells Zevanck exactly what he wants: ‘Kill most of the people, the children as well as the men, and leave alive for the time being only the women who are there.’

Zevanck nods and drinks deeply from the golden goblet of red wine – known among the Mutineers as the ‘killing cup’ – that Jeronimus always proffers while giving such instructions. To help him, Jeronimus has decided to send some of his best men with him, men who are already proven killers.

All of Lenart van Os, Stonecutter, Hans Jacobsz and Jan Hendricxsz are sent for. They are told they must accompany Zevanck and Coenraat van Huyssen in the little boat to Seals’ Island, and then told what they must do when they arrive. All are given weaponry from the stores, consisting principally of daggers, swords and morgensterren, morning stars.

 

And the surgeon, Frans Jansz, is also sent for. Jeronimus explains to him how regrettable it is that the eradication of those on Seals’ Island must be accomplished, but he, Jeronimus, is no more than an instrument of the Company’s will and it was the specific instruction of the Commandeur before he left that their numbers had to be reduced, to allow the survival of at least a few of them.

Pale, Frans Jansz listens to the monstrous lie but nods, agreeing that he will go too. For what choice does he have? He has been presented with the option of forfeiting his own life or signing off on their death, and he has chosen to sign off on their death – and even, tacitly, to help to kill them. He takes hold of the weapon that Jeronimus has offered him in the reluctant manner in which a vampire might take hold of a crucifix. Hollow-eyed, haunted by what he is doing, he goes to join the others . . .

15 July 1629, Seals’ Island

The first that those on Seals’ Island know of possible trouble for them all comes in the late afternoon, when, for the first time since they set foot there nearly four weeks earlier, they see a yawl with seven men in it heading directly their way from Batavia’s Graveyard.

Hearts pounding like the drums of the Hottentots they heard just three months earlier, no fewer than 40 people start to run in desperation, in every direction. Having witnessed the murders just a week earlier of the provost and his people, they can have little doubt that much the same fate is intended for them. And yet, where can they run to? The answer is not obvious on this small, barren island. Though it is nigh on a mile long, there is no shelter, no forest, no hollows or caves, no means of escape. But run they do, trying to keep always to the farthest point on the island from the seven men who, they now see as the boat approaches the shore, are heavily armed.

No sooner does the prow of the boat touch the sand than some of the Mutineers jump ashore and begin to chase after them, brandishing their swords and swinging their morning stars, with the only exception being Frans Jansz, who wretchedly lags behind. Most enthusiastic is Lenart van Os, barely ashore before charging full tilt after the nearest person he can see, a small lad with a terrible limp, who presents an easy kill that van Os just can’t resist opening his account with.

With one mighty thrust, the hulking Mutineer puts his well-prepared sword clean through the lad, who falls to the ground with a scream. Satisfied that the child’s death won’t be long in coming, van Os continues to sprint and soon has another young lad in his sights. This time, he runs the victim through the buttocks, before killing another man with a single deadly thrust.

 

Around and about, others of the Mutineers are picking their marks and going after them, scream after scream attesting to their good work. Jan Hendricxsz is particularly effective and manages to stab, slash and bash no fewer than two men and five cabin boys. This includes the leader of the soldiers, Gabriel Jacobsz, who is cut through while trying to defend his pregnant wife, Laurentia Thomas, and their child.

Coenraat van Huyssen, meanwhile, homes in on his own mark and, raising his weapon to full height, smites the VOC assistant Cornelis Janszoon a body-jarring blow over the shoulder, before wrestling him to the ground. Yet the sword of van Huyssen is as blunt as van Os’s is sharp – he has, after all, been very busy of late with his new wife, Judick – and though Janszoon is wounded, it is not mortal. Janszoon, displaying a fierce will to live, manages to land enough blows on van Huyssen’s head that the Mutineer is obliged to call for help. In an instant, Hans Jacobsz flies into the fray and, with one thrust, drives his pike into Janszoon’s breeches. To his amazement, however, not only does the thrust not go through him but also Janszoon somehow manages to rise, strike blows at van Huyssen and Jacobsz that knock them both to the ground and then disappear into the bushes!

They will search for him later. Watching the whole thing from his own hiding spot in the bushes is another Cornelis, none other than Cornelis the once fat trumpeter. The last four weeks have been a complete hell for him, with his formerly porcine figure now all but wasting away. Perhaps, if he was stronger, he might have been able to come to the aid of Cornelis Janszoon – God knows, he wants to strike back at these monsters – but, as it is, he is glad enough to just lie there undetected, to see the direction that Cornelis Janszoon ran in and resolve to follow him when it is safe.

The carnage still continues apace. Of resistance, there is very little, with only a few brave men following the form of Jacobsz in trying to protect their families as well as they can; however, without weapons there is all but nothing they can do, bar wave a few planks at the Mutineers, trying to keep them at bay. Laughing, because those planks make it interesting, the Mutineers quickly slaughter these brave men, leaving their women and children unprotected. The women, for the moment, are spared, but, as there is no use for the children, when they are caught they are quickly killed.

As the sun wanes, the killing goes on, though it becomes more difficult. Some of the cabin boys manage to hide in the thick brush at the northern end of the island, while others are so fast and nimble it is near impossible for the Mutineers to get close enough to kill them. How can they solve this problem?

It is Zevanck who comes up with at least a partial solution. They need one of the lads, who is as fast as the others, to become a Mutineer and begin chasing and killing for them. And Zevanck knows who.

 

It is young Abraham Gerritsz of Amsterdam whom they picked up back in Sierra Leone, where he had deserted from another ship. Gerritsz has been brought down and is about to be killed when Zevanck steps in. ‘Jongen, boy,’ the young aristocrat addresses him, ‘you must participate in the killing, or you will be fixed yourself.’

Gerritsz nods that he understands, and, carefully, Zevanck hands him a dagger. All the Mutineers are on watch to ensure that Gerritsz will not use it on them, but there is no such problem. In no time, the boy has spotted another lad and chases after him, bringing him to ground. He quickly plunges his knife into his throat, ending his life.

In the madness of the murders, the wanton killing of the Survivors on Seals’ Island as the Mutineers run wild, it is perhaps not surprising that they miss something. For, on the lee side of the island, out of sight of the main killing ground, they neglect to notice that Cornelis Janszoon, with another seven men, including Cornelis the once fat trumpeter, have slipped into the water holding the makeshift boats they have been constructing. Though unfinished, they float, and quietly – oh so quietly, oh so carefully – the men start kicking away, wary of making the tiniest splashing sound that might reach the Mutineers’ ears over the continuing screams from the island.

In the end, the Mutineers feel well satisfied that they have completed the bulk of the task assigned to them. Ten men and six boys have been killed, while another half a dozen are badly wounded. These last are quickly dragged into the water and dispatched by drowning. There are some 15 youths missing, and about eight men, but now that it is dark it will be too hard to find them, and they can be dealt with sometime in the near future. Four women, including the now widow of Gabriel Jacobsz, Laurentia Thomas, have been spared.

16 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

Throughout these blustery days and chilly nights, the bitter calculus of sexual relations on Batavia’s Graveyard is played out: 35 Mutineers over five women – a constant throughout night and day. And, given there is not a whole lot of other amusement to be had on these infernal islands – apart from killing – having at these women is a very popular pastime. Put simply, from the latter days of June it has been made clear to these women by the likes of David Zevanck that everyone on the island has to provide a service to the community or face the consequences, and the chief service of these particular five is to be found between their legs.

 

One who is deeply aggrieved by the new decree – and her husband more so, though he has to accept it if he wants to live – is Anneken Hardens. Six weeks earlier, she was happily married with a beautiful child. Now, that child is dead, her husband has at least nominally joined the Mutineers and she has found herself practically frogmarched to one of the two tents for the women for common service, where she has been obliged to move in with the once haughty but now shattered sisters Tryntgien and Zussie Fredericxs. She has a very clear choice: does she want to live or die? In the last fortnight, there have been so many killings it is obvious that all of their lives hang by a single thread. The older women who were sent to Traitors’ Island were killed before their very eyes just a week earlier, while if the women who went to Seals’ Island are still alive after the attack the day before, it is surely only just.

Here on Batavia’s Graveyard, the sisters Fredericxs decided they wanted to live and so have accommodated the endless stream of Mutineers who treat them as little more than vassals – vessels into which they can empty themselves. Certainly, the sisters had sympathy for Anneken, but, on the other hand, there was no escaping the fact that with her also in service their own burden would be lightened a little.

True, there are other females on the island who are not in common service, such as Mayken Cardoes and the Predikant’s daughter Willemyntgien, but Mayken still has a young baby and is always sickly herself, and, through some unexpected sense of decorum, tiny Willemyntgien, who has only just gone through puberty, is left aside. Wybrecht Claas, the skinny little servant girl of the Predikant, is another who is spared.

And then, of course, there are those two bitches from aft of the mast, Lucretia and Judick, living a life of luxury in their fine tents as they look after the needs of just one man apiece. Jeronimus and Coenraat, of course, are of sufficient status to demand they be kept for their own exclusive use. The sisters Fredericxs can barely bear to look at them, so unfair is it all, though, for the most part, they stifle their rage for fear of the power of the men the bitches are with.

For his part, while Jeronimus has still, in fact, been unable to persuade Lucretia as to his own charms, he is yet confident that she will see sweet reason. Outside his own tent, he also recognises that with so few women to be shared among so many men there is enormous potential for trouble unless it is all strictly regulated. In recent days, some fighting has broken out among the Mutineers over access to the women for common service: who goes first, should fringe Mutineers have access to the more desirable of the women, such as Anneken Bosschieters, and so forth. The only way is to share and share alike. (With the exception of himself and Coenraat, of course, who don’t intend to share their beauties with anyone.)

 

With all this in mind, Jeronimus decides that the oath sworn just four days earlier is now out of date, and so forms up a new one. Gathering his Mutineers to him in front of his tent – for by now there are way too many to get into his tent all at once – Jeronimus reads them the new, improved oath:

Click Here


And so they all sign, as before, including Hans Hardens, who is consecrating a document that formally consigns his own wife to whoredom at the hands of the murderers of their little child.

Still not content that everything is locked down, however, Jeronimus also meets with all of the women for common service, one by one, and obliges them to sign their own oaths, whereby they swear not only eternal fealty to him but also to make their bodies available to whosoever of the Mutineers demands what used to be their sexual favours but are now their sexual duties, whensoever they demand it. They must also promise to be obedient to the men in all they should desire of them, not just in sexual matters. In return, he, Jeronimus, pledges himself on his soul and salvation that all those who sign need no further have any fear or mistrust that they will be killed, as they will be under his personal protection against those forces on the island that might be prone to doing them harm.

What alternative do they have but to obey this man born of the spawn of the Devil? This division of women is duly chronicled in a resolution by which they ‘bind themselves on their soul’s salvation and by the help of God to be true to each other’. Each woman signs, and the sexual activity on the island proceeds on a more ordered basis.

 

For the women for common service, there is now constant sex, around the clock. For the Mutineers, there is also regular sex, although they go about it in different ways. Jan Pelgrom delights in going from woman to woman as his whim takes him. He arrived on these islands a virgin and now has sex on tap like beer from a gushing barrel – life has never been better. The one woman he covets but decides to stay away from, because both Wouter Loos and Lenart van Os growl at him when he looks at her, is Anneken Bosschieters.

Others, like Mattys Beer, have clear favourites. In Beer’s case, he only has eyes for Zussie, despite the fact that this woman is also the regular concubine of Jan Hendricxsz, and Mattys must always ensure that the massive Jan is well sated and well away before he takes his own turn – for Jan is not prone to waiting around for anyone.

Zussie’s sister Tryntgien – whose husband, Claas Jansz, was last seen on the longboat heading north with the skipper and the Commandeur – is not the particular favourite of any of the more powerful men on the island, and for that reason she receives the most attention. Of them all, she is the safest one to be with without arousing the ire of the most powerful Mutineers – and so is the busiest of them all.

As for the non-Mutineer men, of course, there is no sex at all. Ironically, this is one of the very few things they have in common with the Kapitein-Generaal at this point, as, to his stunned amazement – and he is in fact more than a little hurt – Lucretia still refuses him.

16 July 1629, Hayes’s Island

Who on earth can this be, this half-drowned man lying before them on the beach?

Why, it is Cornelis Janszoon of Amsterdam, who aboard the Batavia fulfilled a minor clerical position. Now, Wiebbe Hayes and his men can only just recognise him. When they last saw him, he was a jolly, plumpish type of man, with a friendly word for all and an aspect about him of one who, while perhaps knowing hardship, had not known horror. But that has all clearly changed.

As they haul his exhausted body out of the water and get him onto dry land, not only is Janszoon emaciated and seemingly aged ten years but also his hunted, haunted eyes bespeak a man who has witnessed and experienced things in the last four weeks that he never imagined could exist on this earth, or even in hell.

‘Treachery!’ he croaks at them. ‘Verraad, treason . . . moord, murder . . . bloedbad, bloodbath . . . massacre . . . mutiny . . . dead . . . all dead.’

 

While the soldiers gasp and grimace as Janszoon’s account tumbles out – each story worse than the one preceding until he gets to the last dreadful afternoon and evening, where it seems nearly all but him on the island have been wiped out – Wiebbe Hayes simply listens patiently, digesting every detail. He is stunned that such events have been occurring on Batavia’s Graveyard since their departure, yet it certainly provides an explanation as to why no one has come for them since the lighting of their bonfires. This changes everything.

What Janszoon is revealing to them now, while monstrous in its own right, puts an equally monstrous complexion on their own situation. Can it be that Jeronimus has actually sent them all here to die? Has the Onderkoopman sent them to an island on which he was convinced that no water existed, in the hope they would all perish? That would certainly fit in with what Janszoon is telling them about the ruthless program of elimination that Jeronimus appears to have embarked on.

Within the next few hours, the words of Cornelis are supported by other refugees from Seals’ Island, another six in total, who stagger ashore and tell equally horrifying stories of the reign of Jeronimus and what it has wrought. Each man is welcomed, fed, watered and accommodated the best he can be. Part of it is through simple decency, but part, too, because Wiebbe Hayes is beginning to realise that, for what is coming their way, they will be needing every healthy man they can get.

18 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

While pleased with the death count after the first attack on Seals’ Island, Jeronimus wants the job finished off. There are still four women and 15 boys on the island, each lad a potential danger to them should the rescue yacht perchance arrive and get to them first. And eight men are unaccounted for, too, but though the Mutineers have carefully been watching the shores of Seals’ Island since the first attack, they have not seen a single one, and they have come to the reluctant conclusion that perhaps the men have escaped to the High Islands to join Wiebbe Hayes. They will find out, soon enough.

For this attack, they decide the job is best done at night, and it is to be led by the ever-faithful David Zevanck, together with his accomplices Coenraat van Huyssen, Mattys Beer, Gijsbert van Welderen, Jan Pelgrom de Bye and Jan Willems Selijns. Oh, and one more. Jeronimus has decided it is time for 40-year-old soldier Andries Jonas to get another murder under his belt.

‘Do you have a knife?’ Zevanck asks the old fellow, pleasantly enough.

‘Yes, but it is not very sharp,’ old Jonas replies.

‘Why,’ Zevanck replies, laughing agreeably, ‘you may have mine.’

Jonas gratefully accepts the offer, but on the instant he grasps the hilt of the knife, Zevanck bursts forth in an entirely different tone.

‘Now,’ says he, leaning in closely, ‘take it and cut the throats of the women. Leave the chasing after the young fellows to the others.’

 

18 July 1629, Seals’ Island

Late that evening, well after the sun has gone down and the stars have begun to twinkle in the moonless sky, they set off. This time, they are to give no warning to those on the island. After landing some 100 yards away from where they did the last time, they creep ashore. The only noise is the crunching sound of their clogs on the shards of broken coral and shells that make up the beach as they head slowly towards the glow of the fire they can see about 300 yards to their south.

There! As they crawl over a small dune, they can see the desultory fire and the four women, including the heavily pregnant Mayken Soers, sitting grimly around it, not talking. The familiar, queasy smell of boiling sealion meat fills the air, as they are downwind of the cooking pot atop the fire. Of the cabin boys, there is no sign, though the likelihood is that they will be found sleeping in their two little humpy tents, visible about ten yards distant from the fire. The fact that none of the men are apparent is a probable sign that they really have escaped to the High Islands, but still the Mutineers must proceed with caution. Through the use of hand signals alone, Zevanck directs Gijsbert van Welderen and Mattys Beer to approach the tents. He now lifts a hand, having the men halt, ready to charge into a tent apiece as soon as they launch the main attack. Meanwhile, he takes Andries Jonas and the others and comes at the women from opposite directions to ensure that no one escapes.

It is to be a very easy murder indeed for old Andries Jonas. Staying closely behind Zevanck, he carefully walks towards the fire, and they only go to ground when there is a chance that the fire’s glow will illuminate them. Then, when Zevanck is satisfied that everyone is in position, he points out to Andries who his mark is: the heavily pregnant Mayken Soers – so pregnant, she will be incapable of running far if she tries it. Andries grips his knife tightly and steels himself. This is what has to be done if he is to survive. He is neither a bad man nor a good man, particularly. He is just a man preparing himself to do what has to be done. He has to do this.

Then, Zevanck suddenly steps forward into the light, as Mattys Beer appears from the other side. Two of the women start to scream, but Mayken Soers is not one of them. To Andries, she seems to simply look up resignedly, as if this is no more than what she has been expecting all along.

 

Gently, thus, even as the other women wail all around, Andries takes her by the hand and says to her, ‘Mayken, love, you must die.’ And then he throws her down, puts his knees upon her chest – as opposed to her bulging stomach, because that somehow doesn’t seem right – and then cuts her throat. She appears to be dead within seconds, so heavily does his knife penetrate her neck, to the point that it nearly severs her head.

Jan Pelgrom, meantime, is struggling with another of the wives, who is putting up such a furious fight that he can’t easily get his knife to her throat. But, in the end, it is exactly as Jeronimus says: once you are a murderer, the next one is easy. For Andries Jonas now takes his knife, wipes Mayken’s blood on his trousers, walks over and helps Jan Pelgrom. Two stabs of his knife into this woman and she ceases her struggle entirely. She, too, is soon dead. Not that there is quiet, for all that.

Instead, there is screaming and swearing coming in equal measure from the cabin boys, whom van Welderen, Mattys Beer and the others are laying into with daggers, morning stars and clubs, exacting a fearful toll. In such close quarters, the Mutineers must be careful not to hurt each other, but, by standing far enough apart, that is easily accomplishable, just as by swinging their weapons violently they can’t fail to hit one of the screaming cabin boys.

When it is all over, four women and eight boys have been killed, while, unbeknown to them, three of the cabin boys have managed to escape into the night and have now secreted themselves elsewhere on the island. It has been a good night’s work, and the Kapitein-Generaal will be pleased.

The only downside is speculation that the eight men really have got away and are now in all likelihood with Wiebbe Hayes and his band. That problem will have to be resolved.

20 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

Strange, how rain on one day can make a baby lustily cry for the following three. In the first few days on Batavia’s Graveyard after the wreck, the once bouncing baby of Mayken Cardoes was so weak, so very near death, that it simply had no energy to make a lot of noise. In recent weeks, though, a pattern has developed whereby the rain falls and the baby’s strength briefly improves, as increased sustenance comes from Mayken’s replenished breasts. The usual ration of two pannikins of water per day is not enough for Mayken to make both herself and her baby flourish, though, meaning that in dry times the baby tends to be quiet once more. When a good rain falls again, as it did two days earlier, her milk flows freely again, so the baby is strong enough to wail to her heart’s content.

 

And it drives Jeronimus mad. For an entire day and night, the baby has been wailing, surely catching up on the shrieks it has missed out on, and now the Kapitein-Generaal decides he can stand it no more. He has just the solution. Mercurium sublimatum, this solution is called, and he knows all about it from his days as an apothecary in the Dutch Republic. Fortunately, he has just enough ingredients with him in his bag to enable him to mix it up in a jar, and then he calls for Mayken and her baby to be brought to him.

Mayken feels such a relief when the Kapitein-Generaal kindly asks her why her baby is wailing so! For a mad moment, she had feared he would be angry at her and her baby for the noise the little one was making, but in fact Jeronimus simply could not be nicer.

As the wind softly moans outside the tent, she tells him that her baby daughter simply has a little bit of intestinal trouble and she thinks she should be fine by the morrow. Beaming, Jeronimus replies he thought that might be the problem and quietly directs Mayken to hand the baby to him, as he has mixed up some medicine for her that should soon see her right.

Taking the baby gently in his arms, he personally administers the medicine, the poison slipping down the throat of the junger Cardoes, before handing the baby back. And, sure enough, the crying does almost immediately stop! Her baby is . . . is . . . is now finding it difficult to breathe, and even changing colour before her eyes to a very sickly grey, as Jeronimus continues to watch intently, his eyes strangely glazed.

Before long, the baby is comatose, limp as a rag doll. And yet, as her mother futilely flutters around her – now realising that what the Kapitein-Generaal gave her baby was not medicine at all – her baby daughter still clings grimly to life, little more than a useless shell of a being at her withered right teat, with no longer the strength to suck upon it. After ten minutes, when it seems likely that the baby will not die immediately, as he has hoped, Jeronimus peremptorily dismisses Mayken and sends for his most faithful killers three, to wit David Zevanck, Jan Hendricxsz and Stonecutter, so he can have a few words with them.

Ten minutes later, these three send a messenger to get Salomon Deschamps. This worthy – nominally the second-highest-ranking VOC official on the island after Jeronimus – is awoken and taken to Mayken Cardoes’s tent. There, he finds that devastated woman holding her stricken baby and furiously rocking her as if her love alone could heal her, while Stonecutter, Zevanck and Jan Hendricxsz stare balefully on. When Deschamps arrives, it is time for Zevanck to take the matter in hand. Roughly grabbing the baby from her mother’s arms, he hands her to Deschamps, together with a piece of rope. His words are brutal and hit the VOC official like so many slaps.

‘Deschamps,’ he says, ‘here is a half-dead child. You are not a fighting man. Here is a little noose. Go over there and fix it, so that we on the island do not hear so much wailing.’

 

What does it do to a man to hear such an instruction? Deschamps is a good and fundamentally decent, if also weak, man. And here he is being told to go and kill an almost lifeless child that will soon die anyway. And, though it is unsaid, it is understood – he must do as he is bid or be quickly murdered himself.

For ten seconds, there is no movement among the men, no sound apart from the anguished sobbing of Mayken and the near-death rattles of the baby, as all await his decision. Now, Mayken gathers herself and, having given up on the Mutineers showing any mercy, falls to the ground and puts one arm around Deschamps’s knees, begging piteously for the life of her child.

He must make a decision.

Finally, Deschamps gently extricates himself from Mayken, takes the child, and the rope, and walks outside as Zevanck holds the now prostrate Mayken under his right foot. She, too, now subsides a little, almost as if the last solace left to her is to hear the last sounds of her baby’s life. Twenty seconds later again, there is a quick gurgling, coughing sound and then . . . nothing.


20 July 1629, Batavia

And so, the end.

In Batavia, public hangings are held on public land to the left of the citadel that allows the always large crowd to get a good view of proceedings. The abject Evertsz, followed by an eager procession of townsfolk, is marched to the permanent gallows, situated by the main road in full view of the harbour. For the authorities, it is useful in giving the people an example of what happens to those who flout either Dutch law or VOC regulations, or both. And, for the people, there is something strangely alluring about seeing a man die, particularly when he has done something notorious, and this one is particularly interesting. They say his name is Jan Evertsz and he was the bosun on the ship Batavia, which foundered on the Abrolhos Islands. It has been the talk of the town ever since Commandeur Pelsaert and the others completed their extraordinary journey and arrived in this port over a week ago.

Anyway, before the ship hit the reef, it turns out, Evertsz led an assault on a passenger, a woman by the name of Lucretia, and she was able to identify him by his voice. The reason he wasn’t punished at the time was that Pelsaert was not in complete control of the ship and feared it would rouse the crew against him – imagine! – but there is no such problem now. And here he is!

 

Dressed in stinking rags, Evertsz is dragged into the public square, blinking at the shimmering bright light, trying to steel himself for what he knows is coming. His arms are bound behind him and his legs manacled together, meaning he can only just walk, but with two burly guards on either side he is brought to the scaffold and made to climb the stairs as the crowd murmurs and surges forward a little, the better to get a good look at him. Like most in his position, he has clearly been tortured to the point that the hanging might almost come as sweet relief, but his face betrays little emotion one way or another. Not fear. Not anger. He is not casting his eyes to heaven as if he expects to go to a better place. There is no muttering of prayers, as is so often the case before such hangings, as the criminals frantically try to find the right words to help them overcome a lifetime of sin and be spared harsh judgement from the Lord. No, none of that.

With this fellow Evertsz, practically the only sign that he is conscious at all is that he remains standing, swaying, as the guards guide him to the top of the ladder, where another guard waits to put the noose around his neck. With no ceremony, then, the ladder on which Evertsz is standing is kicked away from beneath his feet, suddenly hurtling him into space. His still manacled feet momentarily scramble in a desperate search for solid ground beneath – of which there is none.

In an instant, the rope snaps taut and a strangled grunt emerges from the condemned, as his legs appear to shake uncontrollably. Apart from that, there is very little to see, bar a stain emerging on both sides of his trousers as his bladder and bowels are voided. Within minutes, it is clear that wherever it is he was going to, he has indeed gone.

However, the body that remains is not cut down. Over the decades, it has become clear to the Dutch authorities that there is nothing better for discipline than to make a memorable example of the nation’s malefactors. As far as the authorities are concerned, Evertsz can stay hanging there until the birds pluck out his eyes, his body shrivels and then bursts, and he is little more than a swinging skeleton in rags.

Meanwhile, deep within the bowels of the citadel, Ariaen Jacobsz simply lies there, slowly rotting away. He is in all but total darkness, both his legs and his hands are manacled, and just once a day, in the evening, some slop is put before him that he must eat in the manner of a dog getting food from a bowl.

He knows that Jan Evertsz has swung on this day. He also knows that, despite Evertsz’s having confessed to the assault on Lucretia, the bosun did not implicate the skipper in the affair. Thus, for the moment, Jacobsz must answer only for his grave error of judgement that saw the Batavia, the flagship of the VOC, sunk. It is a serious charge, but it is possible, just possible, that he will survive it.

Above all, he misses his sweet Zwaantje.

21 July 1629, Seals’ Island

 

As errors go, it is a grievous one. For nearly a week since the second massacre on Seals’ Island, the three terrified cabin boys have survived, just, by shivering in the bushes, eating whatever molluscs they can find and drinking from the brackish pools of water still to be found on the southern shores of the island. But, on this morning, one of them, Claas Harmensz of Campen, starving and in an extreme state of dehydration, steals out from the bushes to briefly try his luck hunting for shell life and fresh water around the rocks on the eastern shore, meaning he is visible to those on Batavia’s Graveyard . . .

21 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

At this very moment, Jeronimus is promenading along the shoreline with the ever reluctant and always quiet Lucretia. The Kapitein-Generaal is just pointing out to her a glorious white-faced heron running with open wings across the shore before it captures and kills a dwarf skink when something catches his eye, over on Seals’ Island. Why, it is a young boy, rooting around the rocks! To this point, in all the confusion, no one is aware that there are still survivors on Seals’ Island. Jeronimus notes it but does not move on it immediately. For the moment, he has some more important projects to get underway . . .

Returning to his tent, he sends for Coenraat van Huyssen. ‘Tonight,’ he tells his key henchman, ‘I wish you and Judick to invite me, together with the Predikant, for dinner. It should be a good, long dinner, and I have here some food from the supplies to make it a good one. You may also take some wijn, wine, so that we may properly enjoy the evening.’

Van Huyssen nods his assent, greedily takes his allotted food and wine, and leaves. No sooner has he departed, however, than Jeronimus sends for Lenart van Os, Jacop Pietersz, Jan Hendricxsz, Wouter Loos, Andries Jonas and Andries Liebent, the last of whom has shown great promise as a killer since pleading for his own life on the raft on their first good day of killings. He tells them that the Predikant and his daughter will be dining with him that evening in Coenraat van Huyssen’s tent. While they are there, he says, he has a very particular task for the men. He tells them precisely how it should be accomplished and the preparations they should make immediately to see that it is done properly. The six men nod their enthusiastic assent.

In light of what has occurred over the previous three weeks, it is obvious that, even if they have their qualms – and at least two of them, including Wouter Loos, do have a couple of threads of decency surviving, despite everything – it would be tantamount to announcing their own death sentences to express them. Such is the control that Jeronimus now exerts over his domain, just six weeks after landing on Batavia’s Graveyard, that his rule is entirely unchallenged by those who want to live.

 

The six men leave, allowing Jeronimus to engage in one of his special pleasures: choosing which of his finery he will wear for the evening’s engagement. Flitting over to the wardrobe the carpenters have built him from driftwood, filled with clothing he has ‘borrowed’ from Commandeur Pelsaert, he runs his hand jauntily among the many fabrics and outfits. After much consideration, he decides he will wear the doublet of embroidered glazed linen and a cape, given the clemency of the weather, and he will fasten his breeches to the doublet with rather fetching point ties whose aiguillettes are set with pearls. He is positive he will cut quite a dashing figure. Still, there is one more important decision that must be made. Should he follow convention and choose his cape to match the breeches, and the lining to match the doublet, or perhaps vice versa: cape to match doublet, lining to match breeches?

Upon much consideration, after delighting in the velvety touch of the cape as he runs his fingers over it, he decides to go with the cape to match the doublet. And to finish the whole effect he chooses his favourite silk stockings, complete with garters with gold laces, and tops the lot with an enormous red velvet hat, from which sprouts nothing less than his favourite accoutrement of all: the ostrich feather!

The Predikant is thrilled with the invitation to dine with the Kapitein-Generaal in his daughter Judick’s and van Huyssen’s quarters. At last, he tells his wife, Maria Schepens, the Good Lord has heard their prayers and things will improve on Batavia’s Graveyard. As their gaggle of offspring gathers round – apart from Judick, who is of course in her own tent, and their oldest boys, Bastiaen and Pieter, who are out hunting sea lions – he tells them all he is confident that if he can just have a strong conversation with Jeronimus, man to man, preacher to sinner, he will be able to convince him that the killings must stop. He will suggest to him – of course, with all due respect – that it is possible to protect the property of the Company and have them all survive without resorting to such violence. At last, he will be able to talk to the Kapitein-Generaal about this and other things. Now, he doesn’t want to give false hope that the Kapitein-Generaal will permit Judick to come back to them, but he at least has some hope he can improve things.

Maria, a generally sullen if notably dutiful woman, agrees that it is good news, as she stirs the pot of stewing seal meat over the fire. The children who are old enough to follow the conversation nod enthusiastically. If Pappie can just talk to the Kapitein-Generaal, then surely he will understand that he must follow the ways of the Lord.

 

Once apprised of the invitation, Judick is similarly pleased and comes to collect her father from their family’s tent just before sunset, as has been agreed. Embracing her mother and her brothers and sisters, she and her father then traipse off to the tent she now shares with van Huyssen, as happy as either of them have been since the shipwreck.

So happy in fact that, as they depart, they neglect to hear the curious sound of digging, disembodied from any visible diggers. In fact, within the bounds of a large and mysterious tent that has recently been erected just 50 yards away – around which many Mutineers appear to be insolently lolling, meaning that no unauthorised person goes remotely near it – two of Jeronimus’s men are digging a largish pit.

That evening, at about eight o’clock, just as the Predikant is downing his sixth wine and making merry conversation with Jeronimus – who is positively charming company this evening, even if he lightly parries all attempts to talk of serious issues – eight Mutineers gather around David Zevanck near the Predikant’s tent.

Stonecutter is there, together with Andries Jonas, the hulking Jan Hendricxsz, Cornelis Pietersz, wild-eyed Mattys Beer, Lenart van Os, Andries Liebent and a grumbling Wouter Loos. The men appear to have several lanterns, but, oddly, in the eyes of one who comes across them and instantly hurries off, they seem to be holding the lanterns on the inside of their rough circle to avoid being seen, as they lean in close to hear Zevanck’s final instructions.

None of them has a sword. All of them have daggers and hatchets. This is to be a very particular, close-quarters job. From the Predikant’s tent, they can hear the sound of light familial conversation, and they can smell the familiarly queasy waft of stewing sealion meat as the family prepares to have its evening meal.

As ever, it is David Zevanck who takes the lead.

Positioning himself at the entrance to the tent, the elegant if vicious young Dutchman calls for the Predikant’s servant girl, Wybrecht Claas, to come out and see him. Immediately, at the dreaded sound of Zevanck’s voice, the conversation in the tent ceases. Wherever that man has gone in the past three weeks, death has been quick to follow. But surely not this time? Surely, with Pappie dining with the Kapitein-Generaal and Judick being with his lieutenant, van Huyssen, they are safe?

Comforted by the thought, the brave young Wybrecht gathers her shawl about her and heads out to meet Zevanck.

She doesn’t even see it coming . . .

No sooner has she appeared outside the tent than Jan Hendricxsz has swung his dagger in a vicious upwards movement to stab it deep within her belly. Her scream is stifled by her fall into him, and, with the now familiar feeling of warm blood gushing all over his hand, he quickly removes the dagger. If she is not yet already dead, it certainly won’t be long. And he has too many other important things to do to tarry now. For the attack on Wybrecht is the signal for the others to act.

 

More wine, Predikant?

 

He doesn’t mind if he does – no, no, that is plenty, dank u. It has been a splendid meal, absolutely splendid, including such delicacies retrieved from the Batavia as rookworst, zoute drop, stroopwafels and pepernoten. Yes, the circumstances have been difficult, not least being present in what is effectively the bedroom his unmarried daughter must share with Coenraat. Despite himself, the father’s eyes keep being drawn back to the rough bed, where he knows she has been obliged to sin against the Lord. Still, drinking the fine wine eases his anguish a little.

For her part, Judick tries to make her father as comfortable as possible. She is aware of his flaws but loves him all the same, as, whatever else, he has been a good and faithful husband to her mother and a wonderfully loving father to them all. She, too, finds that having wine helps to . . . what is that?

Far in the distance, what momentarily sounds like an agonised shriek rings out across the camp, but just as quickly it fades, and Judick decides she must be mistaken. Jeronimus is now in full flight about the importance of maintaining law and order and observing the regulations of the VOC, even if you must risk sometimes appearing harsh. Judick half-heartedly listens to Jeronimus as he beats the drum he has beaten so often from the day he arrived on Batavia’s Graveyard.

 

After Wybrecht falls down, the six Mutineers rush into the tent as one, with only Pietersz and Jonas left outside to make sure no one escapes. Zevanck holds his lantern high, and as the younger children and their mother cower before him, with only the two older boys, Bastiaen and Pieter, trying to get to their feet, Zevanck puts on his most authoritative voice, designed more for the ears of whoever might be listening in nearby tents than the occupants of this tent. ‘Here has been reported hidden goods of the Company that we will search for. And we will get them.’

Without making the slightest move to actually begin the search, he suddenly blows out the lantern, and each Mutineer in the tent, armed with axes and adzes, attacks his assigned target. Before she can even scream, Maria Schepens has been viciously stabbed by Lenart van Os. The German mercenary Mattys Beer goes after the second-easiest target of all, young Willemyntgien, just 14 years old, and puts a hatchet through her skull, the metal crashing through bone making a curious crackling noise. He then tries to kill the youngest of the lot, the screaming eight-year-old Roelant, who ducks between his legs . . . only to be felled by the swinging adze of Zevanck.

 

When, as the man of the tent, the 23-year-old Bastiaen tries to counter-attack, it is Wouter Loos who pushes him back down and works him over with his adze until he is dead. The others fall to similarly vicious attacks. Within 30 seconds, it is only mother Maria who is still alive, emitting a moan a good minute after it was thought she was dead. With three more blows from Mattys Beer, she is indeed. Dead.

Not wanting to waste the family meal so lovingly prepared by the dead woman now lying at his feet, Wouter Loos steals off with the seal-meat stew, to share it with his favourite woman for common service, Anneken Bosschieters. It is over – at least in this tent. Jeronimus will be pleased. Seven useless mouths eliminated in one go. The youngest children contributed nothing; the older two boys – who had continued to glower at Coenraat for sleeping with their sister – could never have been converted to their cause and were definite cacklers if a rescue yacht came. And neither Wybrecht nor the Predikant’s wife were attractive enough to bother putting up for common service. So good riddance to them. After dragging the bodies to the tent where the pit has been prepared for them, the Mutineers move onto their next assigned task for the night.

The man to execute it is Jan Hendricxsz, who, having only been responsible for the dispatch of Wybrecht, feels he has not had his fair share of the killings. So he goes to the tent of one Hendrick Denys, a minor VOC functionary with no skills that are valuable to Batavia’s Graveyard and who has shown no inclination to join the Mutineers.

‘Hendrick Denys, come out from your tent,’ Hendricxsz commands in his most official voice. It takes all of ten seconds, but finally Denys emerges, a once strong and handsome man now suffering the effects of malnutrition and dehydration, and a quivering mess from the terror of hearing Hendricxsz’s summons. He puts up no resistance, cowering uselessly as he sees the blow coming. Crack!

With the entirely merciless sangfroid for which he is known, Hendricxsz stoves in the side of Denys’s head with his adze – brains exposed, blood gushing. Denys’s body, too, is promptly dragged towards the prepared burial pit.

Next!

David Zevanck crooks his finger at Andries Jonas. He has a job for him. Since Salomon Deschamps strangled Mayken Cardoes’s baby the day before, it is Mayken’s wails that have taken the place of her wretched infant’s, and Jeronimus has told Zevanck he can bear it no more and the problem must be fixed. Perhaps if Mayken had been prettier, it might have been worth sparing her to keep the lads content, but unfortunately het lelijke ding, the ugly thing, from the lower deck is far from easy on the eye and, like Wybrecht, none of the Mutineers is attracted to her. So she must die.

 

And Zevanck has decided that Andries Jonas must do the honours, to once more prove his manhood and his commitment to them, just as he did on Seals’ Island by killing one of the pregnant women. He proved himself good at that, and so can do it again.

‘Go and call Mayken Cardoes out of her tent and cut her throat,’ Zevanck says to him simply. Jonas immediately heads off to do as he is bid . . .

‘Mayken . . .’ Jonas says familiarly, outside her suddenly silent tent, for she has instantly stopped her sobbing at the sound of approaching footsteps. ‘Mayken . . . are you asleep? Come, let us go for a walk.’

There is a gasp from inside the tent, and then comes back her tremulous voice. ‘Andries,’ she replies hesitantly, for she recognises his voice, ‘will you do any evil to me?’

‘No, not at all,’ he replies. ‘Don’t be silly. Kom maar, mijn lieveling. Come on, my darling . . .’

Slowly, Mayken comes out from her refuge, trying to determine whether her last moments on earth have arrived or old Andries really does just want to go for a small walk and has perhaps come to comfort her after the tragic loss of her baby.

Andries resolves the question for her. For no sooner has she fully emerged than he attacks her. He throws her down to the ground, onto its cruel shards of coral, and immediately tries to get his razor-sharp dagger to her throat so he can finish her quickly.

But a strong woman of the lower deck is Mayken, and a desperate one at that. Somehow, all the agony of the last six weeks, culminating in the death of her beloved baby the day before, comes out of her as she fights back, managing to scratch and claw Andries’s face with her right hand, even as with her left forearm she fends off his continuous downward thrusts with his dagger. One of his flurried thrusts penetrates her hand so deeply that his dagger becomes jammed, and for the life of him he can’t get it out again! And, despite the blood now pouring out of her, her right hand is still attacking him, even drawing blood as she ravages his face and sticks her fingers in his eyes. The bitch!

In tents nearby, others of the Survivors can hear Mayken screaming for her life, together with the curses of Andries Jonas, but none of them emerges to save her. The only thing to do is to lie there, quietly, and hope that you will not be next.

It is at this point that Wouter Loos suddenly rushes to his fellow Mutineer’s aid. Just as Andries is reeling backwards with Mayken’s fingers in his eyes, rocking and about to lose his balance, Loos steps forward and with two savage blows of his adze ends the life of Mayken Cardoes, one of the Batavia’s bravest daughters. Without a second thought, Loos drags away the evidence by one foot to the Predikant’s family pit and tosses Mayken on top like a bag of so many old spuds.

 

Enough for one night?

Still no. To complete their night’s work, Zevanck summons Allert Jansz and orders him to go with Cornelis Pietersz to kill Aris Jansz, the under-surgeon and deputy to Frans Jansz, who is in a tent at the far northern end of the island.

For Jeronimus does not trust Aris, and never has. It is not just that his dedication to helping keep Pelsaert alive aboard the Batavia was above and beyond the call of duty – which was inconvenient, under the circumstances – it is that, from the beginning of their time on Batavia’s Graveyard, he has kept to himself. He has not made the remotest approach to join the Mutineers and has a way of carrying himself that denotes independence. He has one small tent to himself, speaks to very few, cooks on his own and is mostly to be found fishing. No, he is not one likely to lead a charge against them, but independence always means danger. And so he, too, must die.

Now, Allert follows the established form. Outside Aris’s tent, he calls, ‘Aris . . . Aris . . . kom naar buiten, come outside. We have to go and search for birds for the Kapitein-Generaal.’

Despite Aris’s fear at being so suddenly summoned, he knows better than to keep this man, a member of Jeronimus’s band, waiting and appears quickly. After all, he can draw some reassurance from the fact it is not particularly surprising that Allert has come for him at night. That is when the mature mutton birds return to their nests, particularly on the southern side of the island, and if you know what you’re doing then it is quite possible to be enjoying tender bird meat and perhaps a fried egg or two for breakfast. And, also, that the Kapitein-Generaal has requested some birds for his table is fairly standard. He frequently assigns all kinds of tasks to people on the island and everyone understands that those tasks must be fulfilled without question . . . even for an independent man like Aris.

So Aris slings his large burlap sack, with which they can carry their catch, over his shoulder and goes down to the beach with a couple of the other Mutineers, where the birds’ nests can be found. At the moment they reach it, however, Allert suddenly stops walking, silently draws his sword and, in a massive blow, strikes Aris across his right shoulder. It is his intention to bring him to the ground and then stab him through the heart.

Yet it does not work out like that. For, though Aris is stunned at the first blow, the sword has not penetrated deeply. He falls but does not stay where he drops and starts to roll away! Allert goes after him, as do the others, who manage to strike some of their own blows with their blunt swords, but in an instant Aris is up on his feet and staggering towards the safety of the darkness.

 

Others on the island might be as slow as a sunrise after a frostbitten night, but Aris has always been nimble and feels that he can get away. At this point, Cornelis Pietersz, who has been hovering in the shadows as backup, rushes forward and the two pursue Aris together. But, though their sheer bloodlust makes them fast, the sheer terror of Aris makes him faster. Within a few moments, the two Mutineers can hear him splashing ahead of them through the shallows and into deeper water . . . before the sound of the splashing stops. Spreading out, they ensure that Aris has no means of getting back past them from the shallows to the beach, and they wait.

And wait. And wait. And wait.

With their swords drawn, they peer into the darkness and strain their ears, hoping for the smallest sign as to his whereabouts, if, indeed, he is still alive. After 20 minutes with nothing but the rustling wind, the gurgling waves and the distant roar of the surf hitting the reef, Allert reports to Cornelis that he suspects Aris is dead, as he hit him so hard with his sword that he must be bleeding heavily. Cornelis is not so sure, but, after another 15 minutes with still no sign of Aris, he has to agree.

‘Hij heft het wel gehad, he’s had it,’ they say to each other, and they go back to make their report to David Zevanck.

Some 50 yards out from the beach, lying in the shallows to their far right with just his nose out of the water, is Aris. Shocked and bleeding, he tries to comprehend the enormity of his situation, a marked man marooned on a tiny island with 35 men who will kill him the instant they see him. He has escaped this time in the darkness, but what will happen in the morning? He is trapped!

Or is he? Over the previous four weeks, the carpenters have put a great deal of effort into building a sturdy yawl, as opposed to merely a painfully slow raft. It is lying on the beach just up from the shore on the northern side of the island and appears unattended – whereas usually one or two armed Mutineers guard the approaches. Wading, and then almost crawling through the water so as to not make a splash, Aris makes his way towards the shore. Just 45 minutes later, he can see the small boat in the half-hearted moonlight lying ahead of him. With great stealth, he creeps ashore – at any second expecting to hear a cry that will signal he is discovered and his ruse is up.

And, sure enough, he is just heaving the yawl the last yard towards the water when a scream comes from the direction of the women’s camp. Aris’s heart misses a beat. He has been discovered!

Stunned like a rabbit, he instinctively drops to the sand, placing the boat between himself and what he expects to be the direction from which angry men with serious weapons will shortly materialise. However, his terror is replaced with stunned amazement, as there is absolutely no sound of any Mutineers, swords drawn, rushing down the beach towards him.

 

The screaming continues, and it becomes clear that it has nothing to do with him. With great strength for an exhausted man, he tows the yawl out to where it will float with him inside it. He secures the anchor and begins to row away to the north – north towards the High Islands, north towards safety!

For some reason, the screaming on the island goes on, and on, and on.

And Judick, with her father the Predikant beside her, simply cannot stop screaming. After the dinner, she has come to say goodnight to her mother and siblings, as she does every night – only to find the tent dark and silent. And, once they enter with their lantern, all they can see is blood! On the ground, and splattered all over the walls. Flesh of their flesh, blood of their blood, killed, all of them killed by these monsters! Judick screams and screams and cannot be calmed. These monsters!






CHAPTER EIGHT

Attack!

Will all great Neptune’s ocean wash this blood
 Clean from my hand? No; this my hand will rather
 The multitudinous seas incarnadine,
 Making the green one red.

Macbeth, William Shakespeare, 1611

22 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

A pall of misery, of unmitigated murder most foul, hangs over the island this morning. The Survivors move about with downcast eyes, going about their chores, not speaking, not greeting anyone. Most know of the terrible things that have happened the night before. None wish to speak of them. It is even possible that some of the Mutineers – like drunkards waking with a dreadful hangover from a bacchanalian feast the night before and wondering just what terrible things they have done – feel some shadow of regret. For they, too, are for the most part moving around tentatively. It is one thing to have done what they have done while filled with wine in the night, yet quite another to see the bloodstains they have wrought on the coral in broad daylight.

The exception is Jan Pelgrom, who on this morning struts about like a madman, a makeshift riding crop tapping a beat on the back of his thigh, shouting, ‘A boxing on the ear? Who wants to be boxed on the ear? I will do it for a tot!’ He waves his whip at the passers-by, while continuing his spiel. ‘Come now, devils, with all the sacraments, where are you? I certainly wish I now saw a devil. And who wants to be stabbed to death? I can do that very beautifully! Who wants to be boxed on the ear? I shall certainly manage it!’

 

Even though, to Jan Pelgrom’s regret, he did not have a direct part in the killings the night before, he is proud to be one of Jeronimus’s powerful band, and never have they demonstrated themselves to be so fearsome as they have on this occasion.

‘Come, come now, devils, with all the sacraments, where are you?’ he rambles on. The boy is mad.

 

In his tent this morning, as Lucretia stares balefully at him, Jeronimus is brooding. The stealing of the skiff by Aris Jansz the night before changes everything. For where else could he have gone but to Wiebbe Hayes and his men on the High Islands? This creates an enormous problem that Jeronimus has only just come to realise.

Because the High Islands lie north-west of Batavia’s Graveyard and are geographically closer along the path of any rescue yacht coming from Batavia, there is every chance that Hayes and his men could make initial contact with any rescue ship before Jeronimus Cornelisz and his men. Possession of one of the Mutineers’ skiffs hugely increases this possibility. If this happens, then all of the Mutineers’ plans of subduing the crew of that yacht, of seizing the vessel and getting away from these islands, of being rich buccaneers and sailing the seven seas would come to nothing. Forewarned, the crew would likely be able to resist them. Worse, given what has happened on Batavia’s Graveyard, their own lives would more than likely be forfeit. The only way forward, thus, is to find a new way to solve the Hayes problem.

22 July 1629, Hayes’s Island

Still they keep coming. Following the arrival of Cornelis Janszoon and the refugees from Seals’ Island a week earlier, Aris Jansz in his wonderfully fast skiff – wonderbaarlijk! – is just one of many newcomers. No fewer than five more groups propel themselves from the islands to their south, either holding on to bits of driftwood and paddling for as long as two days and nights or sailing on home-made rafts launched under cover of darkness. But they all emerge from the water to tell the same story.

They have escaped with their lives. Jeronimus and his Mutineers are murdering at will and rarely bother to pretend it is anything other than exactly that.

 

As shocking as it all is, Wiebbe Hayes soon realises it means one particularly significant thing. That is, their own situation on these High Islands has drastically changed. They have known for weeks that, given the fact that Commandeur Pelsaert and Skipper Ariaen have failed to return, they have either perished or made an attempt to go on to Batavia. It is obvious in the latter case that, if they succeed, a rescue ship will soon be on her way – in all likelihood a jacht of shallow draft that could be easily manoeuvred through the shallows in these parts. But, from what Cornelis, Aris and all the others are telling them, Jeronimus and his Mutineers surely have plans in place to ambush that rescue yacht once it arrives. This means that Jeronimus cannot take the chance that Hayes and his men will reach the yacht first – a highly likely danger to the Mutineers because the yacht will be coming from the north and therefore will pass Hayes’s Island first.

The upshot? Clearly, Jeronimus will have to send an attacking force to the High Islands to wipe them out, just as Hayes now knows the Onderkoopman did to the Survivors on both Traitors’ Island and Seals’ Island.

To this point, Hayes has looked at the island they are on solely as a means of ensuring their survival, and, despite its initially unpromising appearance, it has been nothing less than extraordinary in what it has given them. Every day, his men drink their fill of water with no rationing whatsoever. And, now understanding more of their environment and how to prosper in it, they daily dine like kings! They have worked out how best to capture the delicious cats; where to find the equally tasty lizards and snakes; how to get birds’ eggs and the birds themselves; how to get the fish and even the weird zoetwaterkreeft, crayfish – the most extraordinary kind of shelled water-beast, which, once boiled and cracked open, some of the more adventurous men like to eat. But being able to live off the land is no longer enough. Now, aware of the high probability of an attack, Wiebbe Hayes must look upon the island as a fortress, a place they will soon have to defend for their very lives.

Clearly, the massive advantage in any battle would lie with Jeronimus and his men. Though the two sides are roughly equal in numbers, the Onderkoopman and his men have vast superiority in weaponry, including the musketry. And yet, Hayes has more than a little confidence that this considerable disadvantage can be overcome, not only by getting his men properly organised to meet the challenge but also through their commitment to exact revenge on Jeronimus and his Mutineers and to ensure that good triumphs over evil.

The one thing in Hayes’s favour, which he intends exploiting, is that he knows there is only one suitable landing site on the whole of the east coast of the island. (A second landing site on the north coast is unknown to the Mutineers.) This important piece of knowledge is the cornerstone of his defence strategy as he can confidently concentrate all his men in the one area overlooking the harbour.

It is time to prepare for war.

 

Bringing his men together on this sunny morning – from their initial crew of just 20, they are now 50 strong – Wiebbe Hayes sets out his plans. He tells them straight out that Jeronimus and the Mutineers will soon be coming for them, and that time is now of the essence. ‘And this,’ he says softly, ‘is what I want you to do . . .’

 

In short order, all 50 of them are busy as never before, and the work will go on for days, from sun-up, through the full bloom of the day and into the deep twilight of dusk, with the men frequently gazing to the southeast to check whether the Mutineers are now coming their way. Ten men scour the island for lumps of rock, which they gather in piles on the spots that Wiebbe Hayes has designated, just 20 yards back from the top of the cliff face. Another ten men build the bulk of these rocks up into curved walls, or forts, just over a yard high, behind which, in a battle, the Defenders – the third of the informal groupings that those on the Abrolhos have now been divided up into – will be able to take shelter against whatever musket fire might be flying. Still, they are careful not to use all the rocks, and those of a certain size and weight are put aside for another use . . . which Wiebbe Hayes also explains to them.

Those forts have been specifically built on the island’s best vantage points, so it will be all but impossible for the Mutineers to launch any surprise attacks, unthinkable as it is for them to try to navigate the shoals at night. But, as Hayes tells them, this measure is just the beginning of their defence plan.

They need to be able to neutralise the effect of the invaders’ guns well before they get so close as to be able to do them damage. The stone forts are all very well, and will at least provide some scant protection, but ideally the Defenders need to prevent the Mutineers coming within firing range of their positions. But how can they do it?

Hayes explains. Back when he was a kid in the town of Winschoten in the province of Groningen, he and his brothers delighted in playing a certain kind of war game with slings fashioned from flax or hemp. By whirring the sling around and around their heads and letting go of one end of the rope, they were able to fire their stones a remarkable distance, often with great accuracy. Back then, they used to wish for a real battle in which they could prove themselves, ideally in exactly the way that David had been able to bring down Goliath in that wonderful story from the Bible. And maybe, just maybe, this is Hayes’s and his men’s chance!

And so, on this first day of serious preparation, in the late morning light, Hayes, with Otto Smit by his side, is ready to conduct a series of trials on the edge of the southern cliff overlooking the only suitable landing site on the east coast. Before them are five classic slings made of braided cord, as well as the hides of some of the cats and even cloth – some of the Defenders’ long pants have been sacrificed for the purpose – to test for accuracy and distance. Of course, the shorter the sling, the more accurate the shots. However, it is crucial to propel the chunks of coral at least as far as the beginning of the mudflats below, if not further.

 

Hayes loads up the diamond-shaped pouch of a short sling with a projectile about as big as an apple. He swings it progressively faster around his head until, with a gentle whoosh, the sling finds sweet release, sending its projectile far over the cliffs and down into the water below. It makes a good 40 yards but just fails to make the tidal flats. Choosing a longer sling, Hayes lets off another volley. Now, the stone lands comfortably at the beginning of the shallows with a satisfying splash some 50 yards beyond their position.

‘Het is goed, it is good,’ Otto allows, ‘but do you really think it’s a fair counter against men with muskets?’

‘Ja,’ Wiebbe replies with a twinkle, ‘provided those musquetten have been wet through with big splashes from the lumps of coral landing all around them.’

Then Smit understands. If these stones make a direct hit on the invaders, that would be to the good, but that is not the main point. The point is to bombard them with so many stones from so many angles that water is thrown up all around and over them and the powder of their muskets is rendered sodden and useless.

Then, then they would see about a fair fight!

Subsequent trials determine just which kind of sling will be best for the purpose, and then others of the Defenders set about making them, as more and more of them – including Cornelis the once fat trumpeter – are obliged to sacrifice their pants.

Some of the Survivors who have recently joined the Defenders are carpenters, and they are kept particularly busy. Using the longest bits of driftwood that they can find, along with precious 16-inch nails recovered from the wreck, they are able to make pikes – long poles with a spear-like head – ready for action. Still not content, they take some of the barrel hoops from their empty barrels, break them, flatten them, sharpen one side and, by attaching them to small pieces of driftwood, soon have swords!

It looks like there is going to be a battle royal: evil and guns hard up against goodness and rocks. God will see them right, Hayes feels sure.

23 July 1629, on the approaches to Hayes’s Island

Divide et impera.

It worked very well initially, so why not again? The more Jeronimus thinks about it, and he does so constantly, it seems to him that his best chance to destroy Wiebbe Hayes and his men is to turn them against each other.

It is with this in mind that on this day the young cadet and Mutineer Daniel Cornelisz – he who boasted that his sword was so sharp it went through Warner Dircxsz ‘as if he was butter’ – is being rowed across to Hayes’s Island. The firm, if not so precise, instructions of Jeronimus ring in young Daniel’s ears. Divide et impera, divide et impera. Once landed, he is to find a way to make contact with the French soldiers, who Jeronimus reasons will be less faithful to Hayes than his Dutch compatriots. Daniel is to pass them in secret a letter that Jeronimus has penned . . .

 

The closer that Cornelisz gets to the island, the more nervous he becomes. Just how, exactly, is he going to make contact with the six Frenchmen without alerting Wiebbe Hayes and the rest of his men? As a matter of fact, he realises as he is dropped in the shallows of the east coast’s only suitable landing spot and has to wade the rest of the way to the shore, he doesn’t know where to begin his search to find even one of Hayes’s men, let alone the Frenchmen.

He needn’t have worried.

For on Hayes’s Island a cry has just gone up from one of the lookouts whom Hayes has placed on his south-eastern shores. An approaching boatload of men has been spotted, the distant splash from their oars sparkling in the bright sunshine, the straining figures above those oars all curiously dressed in red.

No sooner does Cornelisz arrive on the island and climb the small cliff face to breast the plateau than he finds himself surrounded by six men with rough swords and sharp pikes, all pointed at him! What was Jeronimus, the brilliant strategist, thinking to have him landed on the island like this?

 

Just minutes later, the captive is frogmarched up to Wiebbe Hayes, who looks him over and commands that he be searched. It is Otto Smit who finds the letter secreted in the folds of Cornelisz’s cloak. Far from being seduced by it, the French soldiers are highly amused by it, as they translate it for Hayes, even mimicking Jeronimus’s sometimes lisping Friesan ‘accthent’.

Click Here


Oh, how they laugh! A secret compass? Really? So they ‘can go secretly with the little boat to the high land’ – het Zuidland – that lies to their east? Now, why would anyone want to do that, when they have more than they can possibly eat and drink right here? Jeronimus, clearly, has no idea, and they are all amazed at this ludicrous ploy to turn them from brothers to enemies.

In their skiff anchored in deep water just off the shallows that surround Hayes’s Island, the two Mutineers who have brought Daniel Cornelisz sit and wait, hoping for the smallest sign that the young man might be returning to them, might have accomplished his mission. As the hours pass and the sun begins to wane and then even to set, they are forced to the reluctant conclusion that something has gone wrong. Perhaps Daniel has been captured; fallen over in the mudflats and drowned; been bitten by a poisonous lizard; collapsed from exhaustion? Whatever the explanation, there is no doubt as to their course of action – they must set off back to Batavia’s Graveyard to report to the Kapitein-Generaal, leaving Daniel Cornelisz to his fate.

24 July 1629, Seals’ Island

And now it is time to do the final tidy-up of Seals’ Island. Jeronimus instructs Stonecutter – who, with the Kapitein-Generaal’s blessing, has now promoted himself all the way up to being a Lieutenant-General and insists on being so addressed – and three minor Mutineers who need ‘blooding’ to row the yawl across to the island and finish them off.

 

This time, the hunt is a little different. The island is narrow, it is broad daylight and, by starting at the southern end and systematically combing in a line towards the other, the four murderers efficiently flush out the three boys, who are found cowering together in spindly bushes on the northern tip. Instead of killing them outright, however, Lieutenant-General Stonecutter and the others laughingly capture them, truss them up and put them on the yawl, seemingly to come back to Batavia’s Graveyard. Then, mid-channel, he gives one of the three weeping lads, Claas Harmansz – the very boy who was spotted by Jeronimus searching for molluscs – an opportunity to save himself in the now time-honoured fashion. If he is untied, will he agree to throw his two companions overboard and then join them as a Mutineer? The wild-eyed Claas agrees to do exactly that and is as good as his word. Within two minutes, he has been untied and has pushed his two former friends to their watery graves. They disappear over the sides of the boat, their faces upturned to the light and the air that Claas still enjoys above, even as they sink to the depths. Though troubled, the youngster, Claas, arrives on the shores of Batavia’s Graveyard alive, as a fully fledged Mutineer, for he has killed in cold blood.

As it happens, Harmansz has joined the Mutineers at the very time that it is obvious to Jeronimus they are going to need more killers. Certainly, the best part of the killing on Batavia’s Graveyard, Seals’ Island and Traitors’ Island has been accomplished, but the fact that Daniel Cornelisz has not returned from Hayes’s Island – and has presumably been captured or killed – has highlighted just how critical that situation has become.

It is now urgent, thus, that the Hayes problem be eliminated, and as the last days of July begin to dribble away the way sand used to in the hourglass on the Batavia, Jeronimus and his most trusted lieutenants turn their attention to this very project.

25 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

First things first, however. Eliminating those on Hayes’s Island might well be difficult. Getting rid of the weak on this island is much easier. And, on this morning, Jeronimus is bored. Having the power of life and death over people offers no satisfaction unless it is constantly exercised, and it has now been days since anyone has been killed on Batavia’s Graveyard itself. Thus, arriving unannounced at the tent of his long-time servant Rogier Decker – who is frying some fish – he commands him to come hither, upon which he offers the 17-year-old a glass of his finest wine and then hands him a gleaming silver dagger. ‘Go outside,’ he commands imperiously, ‘en steek Hendrick Jansz door het hart, and stab Hendrick Jansz in the heart.’

No more than two minutes later, the innocent carpenter Hendrick Jansz lies dead at Rogier’s feet, the pool of blood beneath him already beginning to congeal. Jansz was walking with Salomon Deschamps at the time. Though profoundly shocked, Deschamps did nothing to save his friend and does not protest afterwards. Jeronimus is enormously satisfied. This is not such a boring day after all.

 

 

Meanwhile, who is the lonely figure down by the beach, sitting there day after day and barely moving? It is either the Predikant or the man who once was the Predikant, depending on the way you look at it. A shattered, cripplingly lonely man with now only his daughter Judick surviving from his former family of nine, on bad days he can even curse the fact that he has survived at all. The Mutineers have kept him alive to tend to their rafts and boats whenever they launch from the beach or return to the shore. Occasionally, he can hear mutterings that they will ‘let him live a little longer, as we might make use of him to persuade the folk on the other island to come over to us’. The main thing for the moment, they tell him, is that he must not weep, that he must ‘be stil, silent, or you go the same way’.

There are only two occasions when the Predikant does not feel completely desolate. The first is when he reads his Bible – searching for solace among the tear-stained passages – and the second is when he manages to talk to Judick.

Father and daughter contrive to meet once a day for a short time, usually when Coenraat van Huyssen is off somewhere intimidating people. When they do dare to meet, though they try to present to each other as brave a front as possible, usually the fair facade crumbles quickly to reveal the devastation within.

‘Judick, my only child,’ often laments the Predikant, ‘you must look tomorrow to see whether I have been murdered.’

And though Judick shakes her head and sobs, not wanting it to ever be true, she knows in her heart it is every bit possible. The fact that he is Coenraat van Huyssen’s de facto father-in-law will not save him, any more than it saved the rest of her family.

 

That afternoon on Batavia’s Graveyard, all is not right in the world of Jeronimus, despite the morning’s satisfying killing. Yes, he is now the master of the island, unchallenged in his total authority over all those living upon it. And he is enjoying all the privileges of power, from the fawning he receives from his subjects to the wealth that lies in his tent, to his access to the finest wines and foods that the stricken Batavia had to offer – and he particularly enjoys wearing only the finest silks, with a new outfit every day. But something is missing, something that continues to gnaw at him.

It is Lucretia. In his bed. Despite all of his charm, all of his most earnest supplications, she has completely resisted him. Nothing will sway her to his view that her proper place is not just in his tent but right by his side, or beneath him and holding him close. Nothing!

Finally, on this bright, shining day, while he and David Zevanck are walking, preening themselves in their fine red coats as they roam around their domain – it takes 20 minutes to promenade around the whole island and they do it regularly – he confides his angst and his supreme frustration to the younger man.

Zevanck, bemused that Jeronimus could agonise over a problem that can be solved so very, very easily, replies, ‘And don’t you know how to manage that? I’ll soon make her do it.’

That very afternoon, thus, Zevanck walks to Jeronimus’s tent and, without preamble, pushes his way in to confront Lucretia. ‘I hear complaints about you,’ he says, lightly.

 

‘On what account?’ she replies.

‘Because you do not comply with the Kapitein-Generaal’s wishes in kindness. Now, however, you will have to make up your mind. Either you will go the same way as Wybrecht Claas or you will do that for which we have kept the women.’

With the words ‘the same way as Wybrecht Claas’, Zevanck slyly pulls back his cassock to reveal the well-seasoned haft of his dagger, so his meaning is unmistakable. As to ‘that for which we have kept the women’, it is already more than obvious what that means.

And so it is that that very night, Lucretia finally succumbs to Jeronimus’s appalling attentions, albeit only in the manner of a cold and sick seal. Her body is present, but her mind and spirit are entirely absent.

26 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

It is a typically overcast and windswept dawn . . . struggling to turn into anything other than a smudge of light on the distant horizon, let alone full sunshine. For the Mutineers, however, this is not just another day. Rather, this is a day when Jeronimus is extremely angry, and homicidally intent on expressing that anger.

No more Mr Nice Guy.

He gathers 20 of his best Mutineers outside his tent to deliver a speech that simply pours without pause out of him. As they know, their emissary, Daniel Cornelisz, has been taken by Hayes and his 40 traitors. No doubt because of Cornelisz’s incompetence, the previous plan to sow the seeds of treachery among the French ranks of the Defenders has failed, and there is therefore no recourse but to launch an all-out attack. And he knows what he wants with that attack: ‘Maak ze allemaal dood! Kill them all!’

Having concluded, he solemnly nods towards his second in command to take care of the practical matters.

With this, Zevanck reiterates the Kapitein-Generaal’s exhortations and prepares to equip these most loyal men with all the weaponry they have available, including limited musketry. Laying out the battle strategy, he orders the men with musquetten to be in the vanguard of the attack, followed by those brothers armed with their trusty swords and daggers. Gravely, he calls the names of the chosen ones, and each man, with head bowed, approaches the front of the line.

Watching from a silently disgusted distance, the Predikant reflects that it is almost as though they are partaking of communion, but instead of getting bread and wine, representing the body and blood of Christ, they step away holding instruments designed to draw real blood from the real bodies of real men.

 

Those Mutineers holding the standard-issue VOC muskets are privileged but burdened, for they are extremely heavy. No matter, each musket is supported by a vertical fork, and by planting the bottom end of the fork on the ground they will easily be able to fire from the shoulder. Perhaps the most amazing thing is that with these modern VOC muskets, they can be ready to fire again in as little as two minutes!

So it is that, in the late morning, these 20 Mutineers, led by Zevanck and van Huyssen, set off from Batavia’s Graveyard and begin poling and paddling their way to the north. Most look with interest as the islands loom larger before them, as to this point most of them have yet to set foot on either island. They steer broadly towards the direction that they have seen smoke coming from.

26 July 1629, Hayes’s Island

Early that afternoon, Wiebbe Hayes is up by the wells when Otto Smit nudges him and points to the two small vessels that can be seen about four miles away, just off the northern end of Seals’ Island and heading their way.

‘Daar komen ze, they’re coming,’ Otto Smit says simply. There is no panic in his voice, no rush, just a simple recognition that the event they have all been expecting and busily preparing for is now on the point of occurring. ‘Op jullie plaatsen, take up your positions,’ he tells his men.

They do so, though there is no particular hurry as they have plenty of time before the Mutineers arrive. Also, there is no doubt from which direction the attack will come.

 

Getting nearer now . . .

All of the Mutineers are surprised by how forbidding the High Islands look from up close. True, from the far perspective of Batavia’s Graveyard, the islands have always looked rather brooding, distantly disapproving of what is happening around Jeronimus. But, up close, they suddenly have real menace about them, an effect exacerbated by the fact that the Mutineers have no idea just where the Defenders are situated on the island.

Somehow, they imagined that once the enemy was on the run they would be able to see exactly where he was, and so be able to frame an attack on that spot. In fact, however, there is no sign of any life at all – no smoke, no tents, no construction of any sort visible atop the cliffs. Thus, the Mutineers simply navigate towards the most obvious spot, which is the closest point of land. The excited chatter on the journey now dies away as they come ever closer to the shore, looking for the tiniest sign of Wiebbe Hayes and his men. Where are they?

 

 

Lying flat on his belly at the top of those cliffs and peering carefully through the branches, Wiebbe Hayes watches the approach with some satisfaction. Though the Mutineers are not yet close enough for him to determine who exactly is in the boats – he is hoping to see Jeronimus in all his finery, as has been described to him – he can already roughly determine their number and affirm that they will indeed be landing on the shores exactly where he wants them to. To the left and right of him he has a total of 30 of his men, equally prone, and as ingeniously armed as possible. Behind him, another 20 of his men are keeping low and out of sight, armed with their own missiles and weaponry and ready to come forward at his signal. He keeps watching carefully, estimating that within 50 yards the attackers will . . .

 

Hit the bottom.

The rough plan of attack formulated by Zevanck and van Huyssen to this point is no more detailed than their typical modus operandi – landing and then hunting down and killing all the unarmed men with their muskets and swords. As it turns out, however, even before they arrive, things become difficult. A good mile from the island, the boats indeed hit the shallows, and there proves to be no way forward or around. Reluctantly, they come to the conclusion that they will have to wade the rest of the way . . . and there, too, is a problem. The sandy bottom sucks at their feet, making their clogs sink deep with every step, and it is exhausting to suck them out again to take the next step, let alone advance with any speed. And then the sea floor be comes rocky and treacherous. Sometimes, when they step on a rock, it gives way, and they are lucky if they do not fall into the sea, rendering their muskets useless.

Still they continue, grimly determined to do the job that Jeronimus has set for them. With the always aggressive Zevanck in the lead, they approach to within the shadow of the westernmost island.

Strangely, however, there still appears to be not the slightest sign of life, as all the smoke has gone and . . .



And, literally out of a clear blue sky, there is a sudden strange sound, an odd whoooooshing. (And for once, for once, this is a legitimate case of ‘let he who is without sin cast the first stone’.) The Mutineers all look up, just as the first of many stones nearly takes Coenraat’s head off, whizzing past his right ear so closely that he can hear its whistle.

 

Behind Coenraat, a split second later, Stonecutter takes that same stone on his right shoulder, and then another coral missile hits Lenart van Os, so that his musket is knocked out of his hands and is now lying completely useless in the water. On inspection, his right hand now sports a deep gash, from which pours forth gouts of blood. Using teeth and his good hand, he tears a length of material from his tattered cassock and quickly binds tight the wound.

And now, dozens of stones are raining down upon them. They are under attack! While the first wave is composed of larger rocks being hurled by the now whirring slings, the next wave is made up of much smaller rocks, and they seem to be coming from a spot unknown. At this point, the Mutineers have not actually seen a single person on the island – only the hail of stones coming from it. Worse, like fat cows stuck in the mud, it is difficult for them to dodge out of the way of even the stones they can see coming, and it is all they can do to twist their bodies at the last instant – resulting in more of the extremely heavy muskets being accidentally dropped and some abandoned.

Stunned and frequently stung, they stumble forward the best they can, eager to get to grips with their unseen assailants. But the rain of stones continues without end, sometimes hitting and dropping them, other times landing in the water near them and splashing their muskets.

Just ten yards behind where Wiebbe Hayes and his sling-men remain secreted, the 20 men under the command of Otto Smit continue to hurl smaller rocks from over the head of Hayes et al. and onto the Mutineers. Taking their cue from Otto, who is discreetly positioned so he can monitor exactly where the fist-sized stones are landing, they make small adjustments – a little to the right, a little to the left – to ensure their projectiles stay on target. The air is satisfyingly filled with the sounds of the Mutineers’ cries and groans.

Still, they note, Wiebbe Hayes has not given them the next signal they are expecting, so they simply keep showering the rocks upon the invaders. Few do so with more enthusiasm and passion than Cornelis the slightly fatter trumpeter. Over the last week, much of his strength, both moral and physical, has returned, and he is now engaged in what he has long dreamed of – fighting back, in the company of good men.

Take that, you curs, you snakes, you dogs.

And right beside him, throwing all the while, is the former assistant surgeon Aris Jansz. Although he is still substantially wounded on his right shoulder, he is eager to give the Mutineers something back for their trouble and continues to throw with his left arm with all his might.

‘Voorwaarts!’ Zevanck cries, despite now bleeding from a glancing blow he has been struck by a flying stone just above his right ear. And forwards go those who still can, though the less brave have dropped back to look after those who have taken forceful hits on their heads and bodies, who simply cannot go on. Worse still, it now seems that these infernal Defenders are not simply content to throw rocks from afar but are coming down from their cliff tops into the shallows and charging towards them. To their amazement, they are brandishing what appear to be swords and long, vicious pikes! Even from a distance, it is obvious that, as poorly clothed as Wiebbe Hayes and his men are, they are strong, healthy and advancing rapidly.

 

Shocked by the turn of events – this is not at all like the fun they had on Seals’ Island – the Mutineers soon realise that their position is hopeless, and they beat a bloodied retreat, as hasty as it is humiliating, the cheers and jeers of the pursuing Defenders ringing in their ears.

Next time . . . send in the MEN!

27 July 1629, aboard the Sardam, Indian Ocean

Pelsaert sits forlornly staring at the horizon, again contemplating how it is that his once stellar reputation is now lying like the magnificent carved figurehead Lion of Holland that adorned the bow of the Batavia, sunk in the waters of the Abrolhos and in total ruins. Coen’s parting words play over and over in his mind, and he wears them like a hair shirt: ‘The Sardam shall therefore set sail as soon as possible in the name of God, and thou shalt hasten thy journey with all possible diligence in order to arrive most speedily at the place where thou hast lost the ship and left the people.’

Thou hast lost the ship and left the people . . .

Thou hast lost the ship and left the people . . .

Thou hast lost the ship and left the people . . .

Did he abandon them? What else could he have done? What would any other good man have done in the same situation?

Occasionally on this voyage south, he discusses it with the Sardam’s worthy skipper, Jacob Jacobsz, who has been pushing the yacht to its limits to get to Batavia’s Graveyard as quickly as possible.

Jacob Jacobsz has been very soothing in his remarks about Pelsaert’s actions and suitably scathing about Ariaen Jacobsz’s foolishness in having foundered on the Abrolhos in the first place. Every skipper worth his salt knows – just as the phrase ‘abri vossos olhos’ implies – that that is the very spot in this region of the sea where you have to keep your eyes open, in the likelihood that you are further to the east than you have estimated. For Jacob Jacobsz, the whole thing is clearly Ariaen Jacobsz’s fault, and the Batavia skipper is the one who must bear sole responsibility.

Another who gives some comfort is Claas Gerritsz, the former opperstuurman of the Batavia. He knew the situation back on those cursed isles as well as anyone and is constant in his affirmation to the troubled Pelsaert that they have both done the right thing, may the Lord be praised.

 

Mostly, though, Pelsaert talks to the skipper of the Sardam. For Jacob Jacobsz is an honest man, a Company man, and while he may not have Ariaen Jacobsz’s superior skills as an all-round mariner, or have skippered a retourschip quite as glorious as the Batavia, he does have something Pelsaert knows is far more valuable in a skipper: loyalty. Jacob is loyal to the Company, loyal to his superiors and loyal to his men. In return for this, he receives respect from all three parties.

Being around this skipper reminds Pelsaert of just how appalling Ariaen Jacobsz was to deal with for those long months, culminating in the devastating disaster they are now trying to clean up. Pelsaert knows only too well that the resurrection of his career now depends on the resurrection of those 12 chests of money and other VOC valuables that need recovering.

All he can do is wait patiently and watch the markings on the map as each day brings them closer to their destination, to the place where he ‘lost the ship and left the people’.

On this day at noon, the wind is east by southeast with lulls, and they are at a latitude of 18 degrees 55 minutes south, with some 600 nautical miles yet to travel, with the trusty Jacob Jacobsz holding the equally trusty Sardam due south. Broadly, they are making good time.

28 July 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

‘Hendricxsz? Hendricxsz?’ Jan Pelgrom calls carefully before the tent of the man proved to be the most vicious Mutineer of all, for it is early morning. After hearing a rough grunt from within, Pelgrom continues in his most obsequious, eager-to-please tone, ‘The Kapitein-Generaal wishes to see you immediately.’

Hendricxsz, the 24-year-old German mercenary, ordinarily wouldn’t mind being thus summoned – after all, such a request usually indicates there is every possibility of a little blood sport to hand. However, on this occasion, he is otherwise engaged, atop the completely pinioned Zussie Fredericxs. Still, one does not keep the Kapitein-Generaal waiting. Hauling himself off the tragically unfortunate woman, he quickly hitches up his trousers and makes haste, with the diminutive Pelgrom tightly in behind his huge frame, like a yawl in tow behind a massive man-of-war.

Having reached the Kapitein-Generaal’s tent, the two Mutineers follow established form and announce themselves before being permitted to enter. It is always a treat to join Jeronimus in his own tent, notwithstanding the always cold Lucretia, who never fails to make them feel at least slightly uncomfortable with the relentless way she stares them down. They have learned to live with it. It has been easier in recent times, now that they know, courtesy of Zevanck, that Jeronimus is putting it through her. What right does she now have to look down on them, when she is clearly no more than a common whore herself?

 

As it happens, though, on this occasion Jeronimus has given Lucretia leave to walk outside – always a sign that he has some murderous commands to give, because the Mutineers have noticed that he is ever and always reluctant to speak too freely when she is around. Strange, how the Kapitein-Generaal is prepared to have anyone on the island killed for even an imagined slight or slight weakness, but with Lucretia he tolerates nearly anything, up to and including her always obvious and total sneering disdain for him – whatever she allows him to do to her at night.

But, to the issue at hand. As they have suspected, Jeronimus again has murder on his mind, but this time the target is surprising. It is none other than Anneken Hardens, the wife of Hans, mother of the late Hilletje and now concubine to many. Or so they thought.

Apparently, however, Anneken has been less than generous in recent days in dispensing her charms and has even outright refused. Though this is not necessarily a problem, as she can always be raped, Jeronimus has lost patience with her carry-on and would as soon be rid of her. Upon this news, Pelgrom snaps to with great speed and excitement, suggesting he be the anointed one who is given the honour of dealing the death blow. Jeronimus, this time, doesn’t care for details and simply says that it must be done.

The two Mutineers leave immediately, and, being joined on the way by another Mutineer in Gijsbert van Welderen, find Anneken alone in her tent when they enter unannounced. At their first sight, Anneken is not alarmed. It has been her lot in recent weeks to have one man or many barging into her tent at all times of the night and day, always unannounced, and always wanting the same thing. In recent days, she has had enough and tried to stop them – she is not a bitch in heat, happy to take on all comers. There has been no defence by her husband, Hans, who has been told to keep away from her on pain of both of their lives, and he has reluctantly complied, even to the point of nominally joining them as a fellow Mutineer. Her surprise, thus, is not that men have barged in but that it is these men, whom she has not serviced before.

And yet, it does not take long for her to realise that she is in mortal danger. Relishing the moment, Hendricxsz straight out enquires why she regards herself so high and mighty all of a sudden that they have heard complaints about her lack of cooperation. Are those on the island not good enough for her? Stammering, she desperately attempts reasoning with the men, attributing her recent lack of participation to her maandstonden, monthlies.

Meanwhile, van Welderen has been almost absent-mindedly making a strong braid from several hair ribbons he has espied upon the floor. Having finished his handiwork, he hands it across to Pelgrom, suggesting with a chortle that it may prove of some use . . . or another.

Instantly apprising his meaning, Pelgrom suddenly rushes the woman and throws her to the ground, as van Welderen and Hendricxsz also fall upon her. Once again, however, Pelgrom is denied the kill he so desperately wants, as Hendricxsz grabs the braid of hair ribbon from him, wraps it around Anneken’s neck and begins to pull the two ends with all his might, the knot tightening around her neck. Anneken makes a terrible gurgling sound. Her face turns crimson and her whole body begins to twitch, her eyes almost bursting from her face, until she, too, is dead.

 

The job has been done. On the way back to Jeronimus’s tent to submit their report, the mood between the three backslapping men is positively jubilant. It is always like this after a good killing, and this one has been particularly inventive. To strangle the bitch with her own hair ribbons!

That evening, Hans Hardens is seen simply sitting outside his tent, holding his wife’s shabby shawl to his cheek and silently rocking back and forth, not daring to make a sound but not able to stop himself. After first suffering the murder of his child and now his wife, he, like so many on the island, has become a mere shell of a man, a spectre. Justice has no name on these deserted shores, and certainly no presence.

4 August 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

This night, Jeronimus’s handpicked raad sits in conference in his tent, with the Kapitein-Generaal sitting on the only chair – the very one that Pelsaert practically used as his throne in the Great Cabin – while the others sit on cushions in a rough circle at his feet. Lucretia has just boiled a pot of water to make a batch of negus – boiled water mixed with port and grated nutmeg – and the men are partaking of this delightful hot beverage, one of the many privileges exclusively reserved for Jeronimus and his closest cohorts.

On many occasions, such gatherings have turned into jolly evenings, as the Mutineers eat and drink their fill and discuss the events of the day. Jeronimus sometimes allows his fellow Mutineers to fondle the jewellery and the Great Cameo, created on the orders of Emperor Constantine the Great and now in the possession of Emperor Jeronimus. He then leads them in exploring the glorious potential of their future, once they capture the rescue yacht that surely must arrive soon and sail away with their treasure, living as rich men for the rest of their lives.

On this particular night, however, Jeronimus is white with rage that all of their plans remain threatened by Wiebbe Hayes and his men. The problem has been festering for over three weeks now, and given the Mutineers’ superior weaponry Jeronimus cannot comprehend how they failed to obliterate them nine days earlier.

Worse, it seems likely that Hayes is getting stronger, as various of the Survivors are disappearing overnight – usually, it seems, stealing large bits of wood for buoyancy and paddling towards the High Islands. This stealing and absconding must stop! They must finally fix the problem of Wiebbe Hayes and his men – by attacking once more on the morrow . . .

5 August 1629, Hayes’s Island

 

It is as before . . .

Down by the shore of Batavia’s Graveyard, the Kapitein-Generaal is delivering a particularly impassioned dawn speech to his entire gang, seated in the two bobbing skiffs marshalled by the Predikant. He stresses how crucial this mission is to their ultimate success, how vital the winning of the day, how their dreams must be realised not destroyed . . .

In fact, so motivated does Jeronimus become by his own words that, at the last minute, he leaps aboard the lead skiff, making his clumsy place between a somewhat startled Zevanck and van Huyssen.

Perhaps, given the circumstances of their last attack, it would be advisable to choose a different point to land on, but where? Who knows what lies on the other side of the island? Certainly, not one of their 25 has intimate knowledge of the entire island’s geography, despite some having scouted there for water what now seems like many moons ago. And, in this part of the world, filled with cruel, hidden reefs, mudflats and men, familiarity is always preferable to the unknown, even if the familiar is known to be dangerous.

So, they attack exactly as before, shoaling their two skiffs to a grinding halt just off Hayes’s Island. This time, they have the sense to spread out more across the mudflats, so as to diminish the chances of being wiped out by the rocks. Because of this simple strategy, they manage to make the shore of the actual island, and yet, as before, their muskets are completely wet and useless, as the splash of the hurled rocks once more scuppers them.

Manfully, they try to reach and scale the cliffs to stage a battle proper, but it is soon obvious that their situation is again hopeless. The closer they get to the cliffs, the easier it is for Hayes and his men to launch rocks at them, and, as before, the Mutineers are standing targets for Hayes’s men to pick off at will – sometimes with stones, sometimes with hurled pikes, which they effectively use as spears. When, again, Hayes orders his men to charge at them, Zevanck has no choice but to order another retreat, with the now familiar jeers of the Defenders ringing in their ears.

 

Shoulders slumped, they drag their battered and bleeding bodies back across the mudflats to reluctantly report to an impatient Kapitein-Generaal, waiting off at an extremely safe distance. The news is, Kapitein-Generaal, the defence mounted by Hayes and his traitors is even stronger than last time, and there are a lot more of them!

 

 

In the hurly-burly of the battle, they have lost yet more of their muskets beneath the waters, and there is plenty more bad news. The Mutineers recognise many of the Survivors who have disappeared in recent times, and thus have confirmation that this is where they have got to. Most disturbingly of all, far from covering themselves in glory, two of their own, Surgeon Frans Jansz and upper-cooper Jan Willems Selijns, acted like they might go over to the enemy.

Not happy, Jan! Appalled at their failure and the fact that traitors on their own island are going over to support Wiebbe Hayes, an incandescent Jeronimus demands the cowardly cooper Selijns be made an example of. Drawing his inner circle around him in brief consultation, he soon emerges to command Wouter Loos do him the simple honour of immediately, publicly killing the cooper. Blanching, Loos heads off to do exactly that, but, once he comes close, something stops him. He has always liked Jan. They are, if not friends, at least accomplices, and he realises that he simply cannot do it. Taking his own life in his hands, Loos confesses to Jan what he has been sent to do and tells him that he will go back to Jeronimus to plead for his life.

While Jan waits patiently for news of his life or death – there is simply no point making for the mudflats, and there is nowhere to hide – Loos entreats Jeronimus to spare him. Before Loos even ceases pleading the cooper’s case and takes his leave, Jeronimus’s sights have already settled on a fresh target. Surgeon Frans Jansz may have sworn fealty to them three weeks earlier, yet shortly thereafter he has ceased to eat and drink with them, reverting to his former independent ways. What’s more, he has yet to kill anyone! Jeronimus simply does not trust anyone who has not killed. Yes, Jansz accompanied the other Mutineers to Seals’ Island, but it was noted he didn’t so much as raise a weapon, let alone stab anyone dead – not even a child, who are always the easiest to kill. The firm law of these islands, of being a true Mutineer, therefore applies: kill or be killed. This latest troubling report of his intended defection has done little to further Mr Jansz’s cause.

Conferring once again with the tried and true, Jeronimus is blunt about it: ‘Frans Jansz will not dance exactly to our pipes. I have little confidence in him.’ And, clearly, anyone who does not dance to their pipes is liable to soon be dancing to the pipes of Wiebbe Hayes.

‘Leave this one to me,’ assures Zevanck.



Once embarked on the return to Batavia’s Graveyard, it is Zevanck who now calls from the bow of the skiff he commands, in as friendly a voice as he can muster, that they intend taking a small side trip to hunt seals on the nearby higher of the two High Islands. As the skiff draws up on the beach on the southern side of the island, where what is left of the sealion colony is to be found, Zevanck admires the sheer beauty of his plan. What could be more normal than for them all to be carrying weaponry on a friendly seal hunt?

Zevanck gestures to the good surgeon to be his guest and lead the select hunting party comprising Lenart van Os, Mattys Beer, Hans Jacobsz and Lucas Jellisz. With little choice in the matter, Jansz leads off down the beach, making towards the colony of unsuspecting seals.

 

Suddenly, after several hundred yards, all the true Mutineers stop walking. The surgeon is a couple of paces ahead before he knows it. The assassination party remember too well what happened with assistant surgeon Aris Jansz, how he got away because the first strike did not go deep enough to mortally wound him. So it is the notably vicious Lenart van Os who strikes first. With a heavy grunt of effort, he takes his pike and, with that right hand only recently cared for by the surgeon, like Brutus thrusts it deep into the surgeon’s back. Feeling that not quite adequate, Hans Jacobsz now strikes him a devastating blow on the side of the head with his morgensterre.

It all happens so quickly that what might have been a scream is instantly stifled, as the blow of the whistling morning star practically shakes it out of him – an effect little diminished by Mattys Beer splitting the surgeon’s bonce wide open with his sword, like a butcher opening up a carcass with a cleaver. No matter that Jansz is clearly dead before he hits the ground. To show good faith, Lucas now gratuitously stabs him right through with his pike. The former good surgeon, who so singularly devoted himself to their health and held their lives in his capable hands, now lies dead by their hands. However, there is no chance now of the surgeon ever making his way across to Hayes’s Island.

Impressed with himself, sitting in the yawl on the way back to Batavia’s Graveyard, Zevanck leans across to Jeronimus and whispers, ‘Kapitein-Generaal, I have thought of another brilliant plan.’

‘What is that?’ Jeronimus asks.

‘If a yacht comes to rescue us, we should seize it and go pirating and sail to Spain.’

‘Ho, ho, ho!’ Jeronimus shouts. ‘Do you have that only now in mind, that I have long thought of and had in mind?’






CHAPTER NINE

Deliver Us from Evil


So we altogether expected to be murdered at any moment, and we besought God continuously for merciful relief. O cruelty! O atrocity of atrocities! They proved themselves to be nothing more than highwaymen. Murderers who are on the roads often take their belongings from people, but they sometimes leave them their lives; but these have taken both, goods and blood.

The Predikant

6 August 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

 

Still, Jeronimus is not sated! Appalled at the ongoing failure to wipe out Hayes and his men, he needs release. Someone else must pay . . .

Stoffel Stoffelsz. While the carpenter had nothing to do with the failed attack, he has of late fallen lame and is of little further use to the Mutineers.

So, in part to assuage Jeronimus’s rage at the Mutineers’ inability to solve the problem of Wiebbe Hayes, and in part to lift their morale, Jeronimus hands his own dagger to Jan Hendricxsz and casually tells him, ‘Go and cut out the heart of Stoffel Stoffelsz, that lazy lout, who stands there working as if his back is broken.’

Hendricxsz does not need to be told twice.

Just a few minutes later, Stoffel, perched on the edge of one of the little yawls, is slowly and carefully crafting a new tiller.

‘Hallo, Stoffel,’ Hendricxsz says rather pleasantly. ‘I have a message for you from the Kapitein-Generaal.’

‘A message . . . for me?’ Stoffel replies, nervously. For the carpenter, any contact at all with Jeronimus is a worry. All he wants to do is stay clear of the whole red-velvet band, get on with his work and wait until, hopefully, a rescue yacht comes to save them all.

‘Yes, a message, my friend,’ Hendricxsz continues. ‘And here it is!’

With which, Hendricxsz matter-of-factly drives his dagger deep, right up to the hilt, into the very heart of the unsuspecting carpenter. So clean is the incision, so devastating the result, that there is little spurting blood. Stoffel is dead before he hits the ground, with barely a whimper. For his part, Hendricxsz simply wipes his blade on the dead carpenter’s trousers until it gleams clean once more and then nods to Mattys Beer and Jan Pelgrom, standing a short way off, to dispose of the body in the usual fashion – carry it to a nearby tent and bury it in a shallow grave. In the old days, just a month ago, such a murder would have been done under a legal pretext and under the cover of darkness, with the burying of the body done discreetly. Now, they needn’t bother.


10 August 1629, Batavia

Gazing out from the top floor of the Batavia citadel, Governor-General Jan Pieterszoon Coen can now see with his own eyes, in the far distance, what his spies in the countryside have been keeping him informed of for months. The Sultan of Mataram is massing his forces for another attack, this time with far more men than he had the last time. Some in the settlement are saying there will be over 100,000 soldiers coming at them – and it is known that these men are so committed that they are paying their own way, so as not to drain the royal coffers. They began gathering as long ago as May, and though Coen organised for several of the VOC’s men-of-war to destroy their stockpiles of rice and boats at Tegal and Cerebon, still it did not stop them. Still, they kept growing, and now here they are, their mass getting larger and blacker even as he watches them.

 

Such are their numbers, and their confidence – these troops are now brazenly sitting around on the edge of the Javanese jungle, looking at him just as he is looking at them – that Coen suddenly feels very, very tired. This second attack, whenever it comes, will clearly be prolonged and the foe more formidable for the lessons it learned the last time. With that many soldiers, whatever small supplies they have will soon be consumed, so the Sultan will have to unleash them on a death-or-glory charge sooner rather than later.

Does he still have the energy for the fight? Of late, his health, like that of all who spend a great deal of time in the Indies, has begun to wane. He sleeps poorly, wakes in a cold sweat and is exhausted by nine o’clock in the morning. Can he lead his own men to victory again this time? He can only hope so. He has no choice but to try.

16 August 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

An uneasy, undeclared truce now lies over the Abrolhos. Jeronimus and the Mutineers have learned that until such time as they come up with a new method of attack, there is little they can do to destroy Hayes and his men. Meanwhile, much as they would like to, the Defenders do not have the capacity to attack the Mutineers. They are capable of defending themselves on their own island, but if they ever set foot on Batavia’s Graveyard they will surely be shot to pieces. For the moment, thus, both sides are at an impasse.

But it is hard. And perhaps hardest hit by this appalling lack of action is Jan Pelgrom, who has been waiting too long for the opportunity to kill another by his own hand in full view of the men he so reveres. It has been ten days since the last murder on the island and again Pelgrom’s role in it was merely to clean up after the event.

As it happens, however, on this very day it is made known to him that the nettebraijer, net-maker, Cornelis Aldersz Schagen, is to have his head cut off, primarily because Jeronimus feels a little bored and secondly because there has been some discussion among the Mutineers as to whether it is possible to take off a man’s head with a single slash of a sword, as it is said the samurai warriors can do. Jeronimus is happy to indulge them by offering up a victim upon whom they can test out their theories.

Cornelis Aldersz Schagen has been selected as the target because he has been so ailing of late that his work around the island will not be missed. Pelgrom is beside himself with enthusiasm for the task at hand and implores Jeronimus that he be granted the honour of striking the blow. ‘Please, Kapitein-Generaal,’ he entreats, emphasising the title that Jeronimus so adores, ‘I beg this privilege be mine and mine alone, so that I may prove my value to you. I should sooner do this than eat or drink.’

 

Feeling a rare burst of magnanimity, and admiring the sheer heartlessness and ruthlessness of Pelgrom’s plea – was it really only three months ago that he was a mere subservient cabin boy? – Jeronimus acquiesces with a casual nod of his head. This is followed up with the Kapitein-Generaal even handing over his own sword for the task, its gleam reflected in Pelgrom’s bloodthirsty eyes.

The young man’s ecstasy, however, will not last long, for when one of the most bloodthirsty brigands of them all, David Zevanck, hears of it, he is insistent. ‘That boy,’ he sneeringly advises a bemused Jeronimus, right in front of Pelgrom, ‘is simply not strong enough for such a task. He can hardly heft your sword, let alone swing a true blow. Far better to afford young Mattys Beer this pleasure.’

And so it is that Pelgrom is trumped, with Jeronimus reneging on his promise – which is, of course, the Kapitein-Generaal’s privilege – as with another nod of his head he grants Beer the honour of finishing the life of Cornelis Aldersz Schagen.

With this, the ever-eager Mattys Beer asks Pelgrom to hand over the coveted sword. To the great amusement of the gathered Mutineers, however, the latter shakes his head resolutely and, fighting back tears, tries to hold on to the weapon. Ah, how they laugh.

But enough.

Mattys Beer steps forward and, with one vicious cuff to the side of Pelgrom’s head, plucks the sword from the kid’s hand before heading off to see Gillis Phillipsz, the blacksmith, to have it sharpened. Half an hour later, all is ready.

An exceedingly nervous Cornelis Aldersz Schagen is summoned to Jeronimus’s tent, where he is sat down in a chair and immediately blindfolded by the relegated Pelgrom.

‘Be happy, sit nicely, it is just a joke,’ Jeronimus reassures the young cooper. With such soothing words, Schagen does settle a little, as the sense of delicious expectation in the room heightens. Mattys Beer steps forward and, from beneath his red cloak, displays the freshly sharpened, exquisitely honed sword. With a smile, he plays it up for the crowd, imitating the samurai, measuring up the weapon against Schagen’s goosebumped neck, without touching it.

So silent has everything now become, so tight the air of expectation, with only the stifled giggles of Jeronimus to distract from it, that Schagen senses something is amiss. The cooper is just starting to stir, to try to remove his blindfold, when Beer takes a little skip forward and, with one almighty, perfectly aimed horizontal blow, does indeed sever Schagen’s head from his body. Blood immediately gushes from the stump of his neck in a triumphant fountain, before just as quickly subsiding. Schagen’s still terrified head bounces to the floor like a dropped coconut. A roar goes up from the Mutineers as Beer completes the arc of his sword with a final flourish. They crowd around him in congratulation, slapping him on the back and offering him a celebratory wine.

Not all are quite so elated. Tears of jealousy run down Jan Pelgrom’s face. That was meant to be his kill! But no one in the tent cares about Pelgrom’s tears, and it is perhaps the two Germans, Jan Hendricxsz and Mattys Beer himself, who care least of all. Both are looking closely at the torso of the unfortunate Schagen.

 

As Germans who have spent time at sea, they are all too aware of one of the most famous stories of their nation, concerning the fourteenth-century German pirate Klaus Störtebeker, who, in 1401, was captured and sentenced to death by beheading, together with his 73 crew members. The legend has it that Störtebeker managed to negotiate with the mayor of Hamburg that as many of his compadres as he could walk past once he was beheaded would be released. And he did so, famously rising and walking past 11 of his fellow pirates before the executioner put out his foot to trip him up. Annoyed at being so humiliated, the mayor saw to it that those 11 men were executed too, their heads installed on spikes along the banks of the River Elbe.

From yonder Schagen, however, any walking appears highly unlikely. There is not the slightest sign of movement, bar the growing puddle of blood beneath a headless stump.

Mid-to late-August 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

Schagen’s murder is both a great success and a wonderful talking point. Morale is boosted accordingly, at least among the Mutineers. There being for the moment no outlet for their murderous designs against the Defenders, a fresh burst of killings on their own island soon takes place. As the weather begins to warm slightly, the number of Survivors on Batavia’s Graveyard continues to diminish.

This round of murders satisfies both Jeronimus’s bloodlust and his aim of ultimately reducing the island’s population to 40-odd putatively loyal souls, together with Lucretia, Judick and the surviving women for common service – those who don’t suddenly think they’re too good for it. These women have the example of what happened to Anneken before them if they but once try to close their legs, and there is no further trouble from them.

Still, as the target of 40 comes ever closer, the boldness of Jeronimus runs so high that, though he has long ago left behind the name of Onderkoopman in favour of Kapitein-Generaal, he now decides to formalise it.

Accordingly, on 20 August, a third oath-swearing allegiance to each other and to the Kapitein-Generaal is dictated by Jeronimus and, as before, scribed by Salomon Deschamps:

 

Click Here


It is signed by 37 Mutineers, including the Predikant. It is not that he has actually joined them – he is frankly amazed to still be alive – but he feels it is the best thing for Judick and himself to do.

While Jeronimus is pleased at this re-affirmation of his power, he still has the gnawing worry of the problem of Wiebbe Hayes and his men over on the High Islands – a constant thorn in his side. With every passing day, the likelihood has grown that a rescue yacht will appear, and the consequence of Hayes getting to that yacht first will almost certainly be a death warrant for them all.

 

On the High Islands, in the meantime, while Wiebbe Hayes and his men are equally aware of the possibility of that yacht arriving, what they can’t work out is – if Pelsaert and Jacobsz and their men did get through to Batavia – why hasn’t the yacht already arrived? By their reckoning, it would likely have taken four weeks to get from the Abrolhos to Batavia, with perhaps a week to get a yacht organised to return, and then another four weeks to come back. But if that was the case, the yacht should have appeared a fortnight earlier. This indicates that either all the men have perished or the yacht is for some reason delayed, or lost, or somesuch. With each day that passes without sight of a sail, hope fades a little more.

Of course, as a soldier, Hayes still has a plan in place for its arrival, together with a constant lookout, but even he wonders whether they are hoping for something that is simply never going to happen. After all, where can their rescuers be?

25 August 1629, aboard the Sardam, off the coast of het Zuidland

Jacob Jacobsz puts down his astrolabe and quickly does his calculations. ‘We are,’ he reports sorrowfully to Pelsaert, ‘at the latitude of 27 degrees 56 minutes south.’

 

This means that, in the previous 24 hours, despite Jacobsz’s efforts to steer due east as they continue to search for the Abrolhos, the current and wind have carried them northward. It is all Pelsaert can do not to shout out his extreme frustration. For two weeks now, they have been trying to find the islands, but all to no effect. The only thing they have ascertained is that the wretched Ariaen Jacobsz was mistaken when he calculated the latitude of the Abrolhos at 28 degrees 20 minutes south, because the Sardam has been all along that line and found no sign of the islands.

Their only option has been to continue the search by setting a zigzagging course along Ariaen Jacobsz’s latitude, but therein lies another problem. They find themselves in an archipelago extending some 50 miles in the north–south direction, full of reefs, shoals, shallows and small islands, running roughly parallel to the coast of het Zuidland 40 miles to the east, which makes it extremely fraught to do any searching. In front of every zig, there is a barren reef; before every zag lie impassable shallows. The only way to continue is extremely slowly, with Pelsaert’s faithful opperstuurman, Claas Gerritsz, taking constant soundings, in the hope that, by conducting the search as systematically as possible, they will stumble upon the wreck and the Survivors and . . .

And there!

On this sparkling mid-afternoon, the man in the Sardam’s crow’s nest spies some breakers far to their east, which, after consulting his map, Jacob Jacobsz is sure must be the breakers of the very reef the Batavia foundered on. Further, with his eyes straining to the horizon, he is nearly equally convinced that he can see some high islands just beyond that reef, the very thing they have been looking for!

Pelsaert has to resist the urge to exhort Jacob Jacobsz to set the sails to go faster and fidgets with excitement as the Sardam edges ever closer. More excited still is Upper-Trumpeter Claas Jansz, who is willing the yacht to go faster as he at last feels he is back in the environs where he left his beloved wife Tryntgien and her sister Zussie.

Alas, alas, three hours later they are close enough to the breakers to be able to hear them but, to Pelsaert’s infinite distress, the high islands the yacht’s company have spied prove to be no more than reflections of the clouds on the water. There is nothing for it but to continue their search, slowly and carefully, ever conscious that the only thing worse than having lost the Batavia would be to lose the Sardam as well. One couldn’t even bear to think about how the Company would regard that.

1 September 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

Jeronimus and his Mutineers are now at breaking point. With the coming of the southern spring and the end of the rainy season, the water on Batavia’s Graveyard starts to run ever lower, as the tension gets ever higher. A desperate Kapitein-Generaal, uncertain of how much longer he can sustain the life of his charges, and still coveting his stolen yawl – the yawl that is the greatest threat to them should a rescue yacht appear – hatches a plan.

 

Two things are clear to him. One is that he can no longer trust his henchmen to do the job of getting rid of Hayes et al. without his guidance. The other is that by now it seems likely that those on Hayes’s Island are living better than they are. Two months earlier, they could only occasionally see thin and spindly smoke columns coming from the odd cooking fire on the far islands; now they see regular thick plumes. It looks like they must be feasting over there!

The Mutineers, meanwhile, if not starving and dying of thirst, are at least feeling the pinch. Much of the supplies that were salvaged from the Batavia have now been eaten up, meaning they are more reliant than ever on catching fish and birds to sustain them. So many of the Survivors have been killed that a lot of the Mutineers have been reduced to doing this hard work themselves!

As to water, it is really only Jeronimus and his concubine who do not have to ration it, while the others are obliged to suck pebbles and dilute what scant freshwater they are allowed with seawater to get by. Because of all the hardship and the straitened times, some of the Mutineers have become nearly as thin as the few overworked Survivors still left. Both Coenraat van Huyssen and Andries Liebent are particularly insistent that they cannot go on living like this. They affirm, loudly, that they are happy to risk death by attacking Wiebbe Hayes and his men, just so long as they have a chance to get their hands on their water and food. There is a look in their eyes, a stridency to their tone, which even makes Jeronimus feel he is in danger of losing control of the Mutineers if he does not find a solution. Something has to be done.

So it is that, on this day, the Kapitein-Generaal puts all of his 37 Mutineers and their six womenfolk – the four surviving women for common service, together with Judick and Lucretia – into two yawls and carefully heads towards Hayes’s Island with them. Between them, his men carry every bit of weaponry they can get their hands on. Jeronimus, of course, is armed with his wits and, most particularly, his charm, together with some supplies of cloth and red wine that he is sure the Hayes people will be desperate for. He is confident that, if he can just talk to Hayes and gain the soldier’s confidence, he will be able to work the situation to his advantage so that they can kill them all when the time is right.

Against all that, he is still sure, as they approach the High Islands, to sit at the back of the last yawl, just in case Wiebbe Hayes has any surprises for them, while sitting at the front of the first yawl is none other than the Predikant.

And this, of course, the Predikant himself realises, is what he has been kept alive for. If the Defenders won’t deal with the Mutineers, then the Predikant is the perfect go-between. He is a man of God, so the Defenders will be prone to trusting him, and the Mutineers know that, while they have Judick, he must remain at least broadly in their service.

 

1 September 1629, Hayes’s Island

As before, those on Hayes’s Island see the approaching yawls long before they come remotely close, and there are soon 50 pairs of eyes watching them closely, ready to react to whatever they do.

If the Mutineers split up and try to attack from different angles, then so, too, will the Defenders split up and defend the same. If the Mutineers try for the full-frontal attack, then the Defenders will mass their forces right in the way.

Strangely, however, the yawls do neither. To the amazement of the Defenders, the armada of red ragamuffins now draws up on the recalcitrant mudflats of the tiny islet directly opposite Hayes’s Island. What’s more, they are close enough that the Defenders can now see that Jeronimus is among them! There, see, the one in the back of the boat just pulling up now. And there are the women!

With a start, Jan Carstenz realises that, across the water, one of the women he is looking at is none other than his wife, Anneken Bosschieters, and it appears that the distinctively bulky man with his arm around her – his wife – is Wouter Loos!

Barely able to stand it – for he knows from talking to those who have come from Batavia’s Graveyard what his wife and the others have been put through – Jan is more motivated than most to get to grips with these Mutineers. Would that they attack soon so he can properly make reply!

And yet, for the moment at least, the Mutineers show no such inclination. Instead, they simply stand on the opposite shore.

Amazed, disgusted at their seeming cowardice, the Defenders now mass on their own shore and jeer across the water at the new arrivals. Have they come all this way just to stand there, or do they want to fight? The jeers turn to hoots of outright derision when the Defenders see the Predikant wading across to them, clearly an emissary from the big bully boys too scared to do their own dirty work.

Both sides watch as the Predikant wades his weary way across, each step a massive effort. Wiebbe Hayes walks out to greet him and to help him ashore for the last 20 yards or so. When they meet, the young soldier is profoundly shocked at his visitor’s appearance. Whereas, aboard the Batavia, the religious man had been as plump as he was pompous, all too aware of his superior class to most of the ship’s crew, the spectre who now stands before him does so as a broken man. If he’s not quite emaciated, it is nevertheless apparent that the rags of clothes he wears hang loosely off him, and even accomplishing so simple a journey as he has just done has completely exhausted him. What Hayes primarily notices, however, are the Predikant’s eyes. Whereas previously they shone with the light of religious rapture, they are now the eyes of a man whose whole world has been destroyed, including the spiritual world that he has devoted his life to . . . and now questions the very existence of.

 

For his part, the Predikant is stunned to see how strong and fit Hayes appears, and indeed all of his men look the same. Yes, the clothes they wear are all torn to pieces, mere rags, for they took only one set of clothes with them to the High Islands and there has been no way of repairing them – and some who seem to be missing their pants have even been obliged to use some kind of hastily cured animal fur to cover themselves – but there is no doubting the strength of the bodies beneath. It is true, then. These men really have been living well on these islands.

‘I bring you an offer of peace from the Kapitein-Generaal,’ the Predikant hesitantly begins, unsure of how he will be received by Hayes and unconsciously using Jeronimus’s new title.

‘Please proceed, Predikant,’ Hayes replies warmly, as he takes the Predikant’s tentatively outstretched hand in an attempt to put the highly troubled man at ease. Relieved, the Predikant explains that Jeronimus believes there has been a grievous misunderstanding, that all he has wanted from the outset, all that he has aspired to, is that everyone should survive until Pelsaert returns with the rescue yacht. If Hayes is in agreement and desirous of accepting such goodwill, the Predikant is hopeful that they can work out some kind of peace deal, some exchange between them of the things that both sides want. If they can, he reports, Jeronimus himself will come over to seal the deal, leader to leader.

There proceeds to be a good deal of to-ing and fro-ing as the exhausted Predikant tries to broker the deal between the two sides. True, there is a rather long hiatus in the negotiations when, after the Defenders relay through the Predikant that they refuse the terms that Jeronimus is offering, two of the more hot-headed armed Mutineers make a spontaneous attempt to fire on the Defenders. However, after the muskets malfunction yet one more time, the net result is only that the Defenders, less Jan Carstenz, who wants blood and wants it now, fall about laughing. After a few hours – enough for the Predikant to get his breath back – negotiations are resumed.

Finally, a rough deal is reached, decreeing that, in return for the Mutineers giving Wiebbe Hayes and his men a certain amount of cloth and red wine, the Defenders will give back the small makeshift boat that Aris Jansz so grievously stole from them five weeks earlier. An addendum is that, in return for the Mutineers giving over some of their woodworking tools and nails, the Defenders will provide them with barrels of fresh water and fresh meat from the cats. (The irony does not escape Wiebbe Hayes: Jeronimus, having initially sent him and his men to the islands to die for lack of water, is now reduced to bartering with them for what water they have.)

 

In good faith, Wiebbe Hayes informs the Predikant that he is happy to sign the deal and make the exchange on the following morning. There remains one more thing. The Predikant tells Hayes that, on a purely personal level, he wishes to stay with the Defenders. Yes, he will miss Judick, but as one of only a dozen or so non-Mutineers left on Batavia’s Graveyard – no matter what oath he has been obliged to sign – he feels that it is only on Hayes’s Island that he will be safe.

The Defenders agree to the Predikant staying over. However, the Mutineers’ party insists he stay with them that night. The Predikant reluctantly agrees. Hopefully, it will all work out the following morning.

Not all the Mutineers are content with the deal. Coenraat van Huyssen, a hot-head at the best of times, declares in anger that he will fight the next day anyway, whatever happens. Of course, the Kapitein-Generaal is able to settle him down somewhat, explaining that it is all a ruse, and once the Defenders have been lulled into a false friendship he has a different plan entirely.

2 September 1629, Hayes’s Island

The day is sparkling, Jeronimus’s yawl is loaded with goods for barter and finally everything is all set.

This is a seemingly simple arrangement, for a seemingly simple exchange. Hayes has agreed that Jeronimus may be accompanied by five of his men – so, of course, Jeronimus takes, together with the Predikant, five of his most lethal killers: David Zevanck, Gisjbert van Welderen, Cornelis Pietersz, Wouter Loos and Coenraat van Huyssen. They are all heavily armed. Stonecutter Pietersz is ordered to stay on the islet and protect the womenfolk while maintaining order among the remaining Mutineers.

At this point, Jeronimus still has some hope of being able to use his mesmerising charm to bring Hayes around to the idea of joining forces with him, of sharing the treasure between them and jointly attacking whatever rescue yacht might arrive. If that doesn’t work, well, he hopes that his men might be able to make some headway with the others, in their own fashion. All they would need would be to have a few of the Hayes men turn against him and they could win the day, just as with only a few men he was able to seize control of Batavia’s Graveyard.

So, when the tide is at its highest on this mid-morning, Jeronimus and his five men take leave of the 30-odd other Mutineers and the women on the islet where they have spent the night. Together with the Predikant, they travel the short distance across the causeway and finally step ashore to come face to face with Wiebbe Hayes and a half-dozen of his own best men – it has been agreed that it is safer for both sides to have just a small meeting like this. The mood is tense. Only Jeronimus is smiling, charm itself, as he professes his delight to be there. Near giggling, he flutters around, ordering his men to unload the cloth from the skiff so the exchange can be made.

 

From Wiebbe Hayes’s side, there is not an ounce of levity, and certainly not of welcome. Two of Hayes’s men have escaped in extremis from the massacre on Seals’ Island, have seen up close the murderous brutality of these very men, and it is almost more than they can bear to be this close to such murderers and carry on as if this is some normal transaction. Jan Carstenz cannot take his eyes off Wouter Loos, who just the day before he saw with his arm around his wife. Hayes, too, is interested to come across Loos in such circumstances, and the two look at each other with some interest. Strange how things have turned out.

But to business.

Jeronimus begins by making some generally placatory comments, assuring Hayes and his Defenders of their good intent. He further regrets that there has been unpleasantness between their two islands, but it has only been on account of the lack of water, and there is no need to distrust them now there is enough for everyone. Regarding the killings they have heard about, the men put to death were mutineers and scoundrels who thoroughly deserved it.

At these last words, there is a rumbling from the Defenders who know only too well the falseness of them, yet, at a raised hand from Wiebbe Hayes, they instantly stop. He is their leader, not through terror like Jeronimus is, but through respect.

For Jeronimus to be able to properly corrupt Hayes’s soul, he needs some time alone with him, but, from the first, Hayes makes it clear he has no interest in this. Whatever Jeronimus has to say to him can be said in front of all his men.

With that plan thus thwarted, Jeronimus embarks on the actual exchange with Hayes, going through the amount of cloth, etc., while looking over the barrels of water and consignments of freshly killed cat that have been set aside for them. By making himself the centre of attention in this exchange, he is allowing David Zevanck and Coenraat van Huyssen to see if they can work their own black magic by circulating among the Defenders and engaging some of them in just the kind of private conversation that is so necessary for evil to triumph.

It is Zevanck who takes the lead. To the two French Defenders, he whispers the offer of a bribe of some 6000 guilders each plus a share of the jewels if they will come over to their side. What extraordinary luck they have to receive such an opportunity, ja? Zevanck confides that he wants them to remain with Hayes and the others until the word is given, and then, together, they could murder them, ja?

Nee. No.

For it is, in short, panning out exactly the way that Hayes and his men expected it to. None are particularly concerned. All of them keep half an eye on a stout Frenchman, one of those who remained loyal during Daniel Cornelisz’s visit, as he is approached by Zevanck. The Frenchman turns his hat sideways, for all the world as if he is merely shading his eyes from the sun.

Hayes, who has been surreptitiously watching for just such a signal, smiles rather grimly even as he continues to listen to the ongoing blandishments of Jeronimus.

 

‘And that is why, my friend,’ Jeronimus is trying one more time, ‘it will be better for us all if we pool our resources, in the name of both the Company and camaraderie . . .’

Hayes nods, as if this is an interesting notion that he hasn’t yet fully appreciated in his own simple way, but as the Onderkoopman still persists in speaking he slowly and rather ostentatiously lifts his left hand to his ear and begins rubbing it.

Around and about him, his men suddenly stiffen, as if they are tigers about to pounce. Jeronimus, whose acute antennae are quick to pick up on the sudden change in the atmosphere, pauses in his speech . . . and it is at this very moment that Hayes suddenly drops his hand to his upper thigh with a loud slap.

Neither Jeronimus, nor his men, have a chance to defend themselves. At this arranged signal, they are struck with mighty blows and disarmed by Hayes’s men, while the most dangerous of them, the Onderkoopman, is tied up with rope.

If Jeronimus had looked a little on the ludicrous side before, strutting onto their island like a peacock in heat, he is all the more pathetic now, still dressed in the same silk but lying in the dust and trussed up like a turkey.

Instead of gobbling like a turkey, however, he unleashes a stream of imprecations, threats and curses, mixed in with outraged pleas of innocence and shock at the betrayal, yes, betrayal, shown by Wiebbe Hayes.

On and on he goes. For whatever reason, Hayes simply lets him continue, smiling rather benignly down upon him. Behind his indifferent regard, though, Hayes is doing some furious thinking. Now that he has secured Jeronimus and his men, who are being firmly held by the Defenders, what is he actually going to do with them?

Releasing them is out of the question, and it is equally out of the question to place them under guard, given their lack of numbers and resources.

Suddenly, the decision is taken out of his hands. In one mighty lunge, the hugely powerful Wouter Loos frees himself from the hands holding him, knocks over two of Wiebbe Hayes’s men and makes a break for it. He runs like the wind, cuts like a hare, bolts like a nut, first upon the land and then through the shallows and back towards the skiff. The other Mutineers, watching from the islet, take advantage of the momentary confusion and start advancing to save Wouter and perhaps the others, wading rapidly through the shallows towards Hayes’s Island.

Now, there really is no choice.

A collected Hayes coolly orders the captured men, with the exception of Jeronimus, to be killed.

The seething tension and fury that has burgeoned over the previous two months suddenly has another outlet. Needing no further encouragement, the Defenders swoop on the captured Mutineers as one, with serious resolve to kill, as five pikes are suddenly thrust viciously at them.

 

Coenraat van Huyssen lies in a vast pool of blood staining the sands, likely made larger by the blood flowing freely from David Zevanck’s neck. Both are dead within seconds. Gijsbert van Welderen, though not yet dead, is bleeding so profusely – his heaving entrails on full show like those of a half-gutted fish – that there is no question he will soon be dead too. And Cornelis Pietersz, too, has met a deserved grisly end, his head now lying grotesquely along his right shoulder, courtesy of an almighty axe blow that has nearly severed it.

And in the middle of it all Jeronimus just lies there, still trussed up like a turkey, his eyes glazed over, even as the hard-breathing Predikant stands by Hayes, untouched but horrified. ‘Breathe easy, Predikant, you are safe with us. More than can be said for this devil,’ reassures the leader, gesturing towards the wretched man lying at his feet.

‘But what of my daughter, Judick? Can she not be brought over . . .?’ the Predikant begins to beg of Hayes.

But time is now of the essence.

Wiebbe Hayes quickly orders a withdrawal from the shore and up to the cliff tops, dragging Jeronimus with them as they go. There, the rest of the Defenders await them.

The Predikant is caught once more between two camps. How can he leave behind his one and only daughter now that her protector has been killed? Without thinking, he breaks away from the departing Defenders and, following in Loos’s footsteps, makes headlong for the islet. Quickly, he comes upon the Mutineers advanced upon the shallows to rescue Wouter Loos.

‘Judick,’ he shouts across the way, recognising his daughter among them, ‘come across to your father.’

But the Mutineers standing alongside respond to Judick, ‘If you have any thoughts of going to your father, we will cut you to pieces. It is all the doings of your father that these people have been slaughtered.’

With heavy heart, the Predikant turns his back on his downcast daughter, trusting her fate to God.

At this point, it is possible of course that the Mutineers could launch one final attack, but, clearly, the situation is hopeless. Not only do the Defenders have Jeronimus as a hostage, but the Mutineers have tried to make an attack like this twice before, and twice they have failed. None of them really has the stomach to try one more time, after what has just happened.

 

2 September 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

On Batavia’s Graveyard late that afternoon, those few who have remained can see two yawls returning from far away. Strange, what has happened to the other yawl? They closely follow the vessels’ course as they get closer. Jeronimus always likes to be properly farewelled and greeted on the rare occasions when he sallies forth from Batavia’s Graveyard, and under the circumstances no one dares not be on the beach when he returns. But . . . but . . . where is he?

From a mile out, it becomes obvious that beyond there being one boat missing – in fact, it is the one used to transport the cloth to Hayes’s Island – there is also no sign of Jeronimus’s familiar black curls and bright-red vestments with gold lace. The word spreads. Now, they all gather on the beach, but for an entirely different reason. Clearly, something momentous has happened, and everyone wants to know what it is.

‘Dood . . . een slachting . . . schanddaad . . . dead . . . stabbed . . . infamy,’ Wouter Loos croaks as his first words onshore, as they all crowd around. Refusing to speak another word until he has some water – for he is completely spent and parched after the shock of what has happened, followed by his long and exhausting journey – he slowly relates the story between gulps. From what Loos has seen, he is all but positive that Zevanck and van Huyssen are both dead, while the Kapitein-Generaal is definitely at least a prisoner, and possibly dead too. As to Gijsbert van Welderen, he is not sure but he presumes that he, too, has been mercilessly cut down. The Predikant is alive and with Hayes and his men.

As one, the Mutineers and the few remaining Survivors step back, trying to comprehend the news and its ramifications. The most significant thing, of course, is that the Kapitein-Generaal is no longer among them, nor his two most vicious henchmen, which entirely changes the power structure on Batavia’s Graveyard. It gives the Survivors a thin hope that things are about to get better, for whatever happens now it can hardly be worse.

For the Mutineers, too, their entire world has suddenly changed. They will need a new leader, and that leader will have to decide whether or not to continue the attacks on Hayes and his men and try to rescue Jeronimus.

But is he even still alive? It is the subject of many a hushed discussion on Batavia’s Graveyard, with no one – excepting Lucretia – prepared to acknowledge the hope of many, that the evil one has finally been killed.

In fact, Jeronimus lives on, but in circumstances certainly not to his liking . . .

 

After being taken prisoner, he was first taken back to the island’s main encampment, where a discussion took place as to what to do with this hideous murderer. Kill him outright, as he so clearly deserves? Many were in favour of it, though Wiebbe Hayes reserved the final say for himself. By killing Jeronimus and making his death known – perhaps by putting his head on a pike and planting it in the shallows – they would be forestalling any rescue attempts purely to get him, but on the other hand they would be sacrificing the key hostage they have in any possible future negotiations. In the end, Hayes came up with a solution. Jeronimus will be kept alive, for the moment, and will work as their servant.

8 September 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

Despite how lowly and how quickly Jeronimus has fallen, it is just possible that help will soon be at hand. Back on Batavia’s Graveyard, the first of two key decisions is taken, after the 32 remaining Mutineers vote. The first is that their new leader is not Stonecutter, as some had thought inevitable, but instead . . . Wouter Loos. Somehow, with the passing of the Age of Jeronimus, so too has passed the age of vicious violence for the sake of violence, and the more careful approach of Loos is the one required now. So Loos it is, and on the eighth day of September the remaining Mutineers swear an oath of loyalty to that effect.

Nevertheless, no sooner has Loos been installed than he personally takes the second decision: they will attack the High Islands once more, as quickly as possible, and attempt to rescue the Kapitein-Generaal if he is still alive, hopefully ridding themselves of the whole Hayes problem in the process.

Loos’s plan, as he now makes clear to his cohorts, is to launch an all-out attack, throwing into it everything they have, to settle this once and for all. He also makes clear that they simply do not have the luxury of taking their time. They must attack and triumph, for fear that help will soon be at hand for those on the High Islands.

 

In their separate tents, meanwhile, both Lucretia and Judick are having a fearful time. Their initial rejoicing at the news that Coenraat has been killed and Jeronimus at the very least captured has given way to great anxiety. What now, for them? Will the new leader, Wouter Loos, impose his attentions on one or both of them? Will they now be thrown into the foetid pool of women for common service, for the surviving Mutineers to take their pleasure with at will?

The answer is neither. With whatever shreds of decency that remain in him, Wouter Loos gives the order that both women are to be left alone and unmolested, and the order is respected.

As to Judick’s father, the Predikant, he now lives on the island with Wiebbe Hayes and his men, but so intent is he on avoiding further bloodshed that he even tries to draw up a treaty, whereby both sides agree to remain on their own islands and leave the other alone – a treaty that Wiebbe Hayes says he would be happy to honour.

 

Loos feels he has no choice. On Batavia’s Graveyard, notwithstanding the numbers that have been killed, the prediction of Jeronimus is coming true: they are fast running out of water, and their food supply will not hold. They need to attack Wiebbe Hayes and his men: to survive and get their water and food; to prevent them warning any rescue yacht of their plans; and to stop them telling any rescuer what has occurred in the previous months. They must attack.

Mid-September 1629, aboard the Sardam

Francisco Pelsaert has never been so frustrated in his life. They have finally managed to drop anchor in the vicinity of the Abrolhos Islands without yet being able to find a way through the 90-mile stretch of shallows, shoals, reefs and low islands to reach the Survivors.

On 13 September, three hours after sunrise, they come across a series of reefs that looks both promising and familiar. Yet, with the wind blowing hard from the south-south-east, it is difficult to tack their way through the archipelago, which runs broadly north–south. Nevertheless, by taking risks, they manage to get through one layer of them and proceed carefully through the more sheltered waters, taking soundings all the way and watching closely for any more hidden hazards that might open the hull like a split banana.

At noon, they find themselves at the latitude of exactly 28 degrees, and shortly thereafter they see once more het Zuidland. They have come too far on this run and need to turn back to explore the next lower latitude this side of the reef, but the wind is against them, so they drop anchor for the night in 30 fathoms, within earshot of the roar of the breakers. For Pelsaert, the sound of these breakers is particularly chilling, taking him back, as it does, to the horrors of the pre-dawn of 4 June 1629. As the wind keeps blowing hard from precisely the direction they wish to travel in, though, there is no alternative but to stay there for the next two days and nights, until the abating wind releases the Sardam from its grasp.

Heading roughly west once more at a latitude of 27 degrees 54 minutes, they tack all day into the south-south-east wind to get a little further south before dropping anchor on a clear, sandy bottom. On the morning of 16 September, at daybreak, they weigh anchor again and move further to the south, still proceeding gingerly into a now unsympathetic west-south-west wind, which makes the going difficult.

Sensing that they are close, Pelsaert commands the skipper, Jacob Jacobsz, to thread through the breakers on the northern side of the Abrolhos so as to approach the islands from the east.




17 September 1629, Abrolhos Islands
As the sun rises on this sparkling morning, first dancing a merry jig across the Abrolhos’s azure water, drawing countless sparkles from the shimmering surface, it reveals a curious configuration of the ship’s company who survived the shipwreck of the Batavia some 14 weeks earlier. For, whereas on the eve of that shipwreck they were all tightly packed together and all heading in the one direction – towards the capital of the Dutch East Indies, they thought – now, there is much space between them and they are divided in two and ranged directly against each other like night and day.

At daybreak on their island, Wiebbe Hayes and his Defenders look out from their positions to see that the Mutineers are approaching in force. Led by Wouter Loos, some 30 of them are now wading through the shallows towards them. Clearly, the weeks of skirmishes are over and the day of reckoning has come.

But wait! What’s this? Suddenly appearing, climbing down from the cliffs like Moses coming down from the Mount, the tails of his cassock flapping in the breeze, is none other than the Predikant, Gijsbert Bastiaensz, who is proffering peace. Clutched in his trembling hand is the ‘peace treaty’ he has been working on. Wouter Loos signals to his trailing troops that they hold off one minute to hear the man out.

‘Good morning, dear Predikant. What can I do you for?’ he enquires pleasantly.

In reply, the Predikant holds out his treaty to the new leader of the Mutineers and mumbles he only wants God’s peace to be spread among them and that they should not do any harm to each other.

‘Is that the case, Predikant?’ chuckles Loos, with genuine good humour, before ripping up the treaty before the Predikant’s very eyes. ‘Now be gone!’ he demands, before defiantly waving his men voorwaarts! And forwards they go.

And so it is on.

Moving swiftly from position to position, Wiebbe Hayes ensures that his men are ready, that they understand exactly what they have to do and are in the right frame of mind to do it. The key, Hayes knows, is going to be bringing the Mutineers to close quarters, where they can be attacked with pikes and spears before they can take the minute required to reload their muskets. Until then, under no circumstances are the men to expose themselves while within musket range, as otherwise they risk simply being picked off one by one.

 

The problem, of course, is that the Mutineers have learned from their previous skirmishes what the tactics of the Defenders will be, and this time they are taking steps to counter them. As Loos’s men trudge through these infernal and eternal muddy shallows that suck the life out of a man’s legs, he stresses to them that they must not come to close quarters with the Defenders under any circumstances. The great advantage of their two muskets – which is all that remains of their original arsenal after the majority were rendered useless by seawater – is that they can wound and even kill at a distance of 100 yards, while the rocks being hurled at them can only hurt them at 30 and 40 yards. Therefore, all they need to do is to spread out, approach carefully and never get closer than 50 yards to the Defenders, and ultimately they will win the day.

It makes sense. Methodically this time, the Mutineers move forward, pausing only intermittently to bring their muskets to their hips, resting the lower end of the supporting fork in the shallows and firing off shots at whichever Defenders they can see – always resisting the temptation to surge at them as they have done on previous occasions. With each flash of a musket, there is an enormous puff of smoke, giving the curious effect that the whole upper body of the man firing disappears for a couple of seconds, before reappearing.

In reply to the musket fire, Hayes and his men do the best they can. Recognising this to be a different kind of battle, Hayes orders his men to secrete themselves at all costs. He directs them to have their rocks at the ready and to launch them hard and fast, while presenting as small and briefly exposed a target as possible. Following his orders to the letter, the Defenders keep up a constant volley of stones. And so the battle rages . . .

Marshalling his forces well, Loos directs his two gun men to pursue alternate firing, so that whenever a Defender shows himself, at least one musket will be on him, while the other musket is moving forward ten yards and being reloaded.

Fire. Move forward. Fire. Move forward.

In this fashion, Wiebbe Hayes has no choice but to move his men progressively further back, even while they continue to hurl rocks at the Mutineers from unexpected angles. They have some successes, but so, too, do they suffer from this new kind of warfare, as first one, then two, then three, then four of the Defenders are shot and fearfully wounded.

Still, Loos does not press the attack, knowing that patience is everything. They have enough musket balls to be able to do this all day if necessary, and he sees no reason why they shouldn’t.

The battle, beginning at 9 am, rages for the next three hours, with the Defenders being progressively beaten back in the face of the Mutineers’ advances. If the Mutineers should gain a full purchase on the land, then all will be lost for the Defenders – they will have lost all advantage of cliff height, while the invaders will no longer be hampered by being in the water.

With that in mind, Wiebbe Hayes is now feeling an uncharacteristic surge of desperation, racking his brains for the solution. Have they really held out all these weeks only to succumb now? Can they really go on, falling back and being picked off one by one as the Mutineers keep advancing? Is there no way out?

And it is just while he is struggling with this very question, even as the Mutineers push forward on the right flank and are threatening to totally overwhelm them, that Otto Smit cries out and points to the east. Hayes follows the line of his arm and gasps, for now he sees it too.

A sail. A SAIL!

 

At last, at last, their ship has come in.

Some 150 yards away from Wiebbe Hayes and Otto Smit, Wouter Loos and his men see the sail too, but they have a totally different reaction. Certainly, the Mutineers are equally stunned that this yacht has arrived at the very time when they are finally about to effect a great victory, but a ‘rescue yacht’ they know it is not, at least not for them. Rather, unless it can be overcome, this yacht will be bringing them all to a grisly end. For the vessel is an emissary from the outside world, with a devastating cargo, as it brings all the power of the real Company to their own world once more, and a swift meting out of justice will be the likely result.

In an instant, thus, the situation has changed, and for the most part both sides recognise it immediately. Now, the victor of this day’s great battle will not be the one who possesses the High Islands, for that is no longer relevant. The winner will be the one who can get to the yacht first to either – in the case of the Defenders – warn them of the situation and get them to bring their guns to bear, or – in the case of the Mutineers – attempt to seize control of her. If the Defenders win, Loos and his men will die. If the Mutineers win, they will at last have a means of escape from these infernal climes and terrible times, and have a chance to live out their lives as floating kings of the Indies, complete with their great treasures.

On the High Islands, out on the right flank, Otto Smit looks to Wiebbe Hayes for his reaction but is amazed. For Wiebbe has already gone. Within seconds of seeing the sail, Hayes grabbed the four men closest to him and is now running along the rough track that leads along the spine of the western high island and down to the beach on the isolated northern side of the isle, undiscovered by the Mutineers. It is here that, many weeks before, Hayes secreted the precious yawl taken from the Mutineers in a safe place secure from any nightly incursions. In fact, if the very worst had come in the battle with the Mutineers, this boat was to be their last recourse, enabling them to slip away, likely to het Zuidland. A good soldier, with a sound grasp of tactics, Hayes already had an alternative plan in place if the first plan didn’t work. Now, hallelujah, the yawl can be used for a different purpose.

Wouter Loos’s reaction to the yacht, however, is surprising. At the mere sight of the sail, all the fight seems to go out of him. Of all people, it is Jan Pelgrom who recognises the urgency of the situation and the need for instant action. ‘Come now,’ he says to Loos, ‘won’t we now seize the jacht?’

‘No,’ replies Loos, slumping a little and looking wan. ‘I have given up the idea.’

Well, the other Mutineers have not. Led by Stonecutter, and leaving Loos behind, they do what they can to get quickly back to their own boat, though speed is a problem. While it is less than a mile away, it is a hard mile to travel, through mudflats dotted with tripping rocks and gashing coral shards.

 

But Stonecutter ignores all pain and all exhaustion against the need to get himself and the ten men he has taken with him into the fastest boat they have on hand and start rowing towards the yacht, as behind them all vestiges of the battle have entirely stopped.

They must get there first!






CHAPTER TEN

In Justice Reunited


Everything that has been done is not my fault . . .

Jeronimus Cornelisz

What a Godless life it was that has been lived here.

Francisco Pelsaert


17 September 1629, just off the High Islands

On the Sardam, Pelsaert is for a short time feeling as good as he has at any time in the last four months. At last, after four wretched weeks of zigzagging back and forth in the very area Jacobsz reckoned they left in early June, they have not only found the infernal isles where the Batavia went down but are also seeing signs of life! To their south, they suddenly see thin, improbably blue plumes of smoke seared against an impossibly blue sky. As before, for Pelsaert, this can only mean one thing: people! And if some have survived, why not all of them?

For all Pelsaert’s joy, however, he is soon flooded with a fury of frustration. This is focused on the wretched Ariaen Jacobsz, whose calculations as to the site of the shipwreck placed it no less than 30 miles to the north of where they have now actually found it! The time they wasted on the search was unbearable, and now Pelsaert is intent on not wasting a minute more of it.

After Skipper Jacob Jacobsz navigates through the dangerous shoals, constantly shouting orders to Claas Gerritsz and the sailors to sound for depth beneath the keel, they drop anchor just off the nearest island to the ship, which Pelsaert now recognises as the same island he visited three months earlier, straight before departing for the mainland. He decides to go ashore in the yawl and quickly explore this closest island for signs of life, before heading towards the promising smoke on the other island. The yawl is taken from the deck of the Sardam, thus, and Pelsaert and six of the crew climb aboard and head to the shore.

 

 

Row faster! From two directions, the boats of Hayes and Stonecutter race towards the yacht. Though the occupants of both boats know roughly where that yacht is situated, because they can at least see the top of her sail in the distance, peeking over the top of the eastern island, neither Pelsaert nor his men – who cannot see the boats as they start off – have any idea that they are the finishing point for this race.

They are not long in finding out, however. As soon as the Commandeur and his men land on the beach, they are startled to see a boat with five men in it being rowed frantically towards them from around the northern promontory of the far island. Wonderful! People are alive. But why are they rowing with such terrible energy, as if pursued by a shark?

Pelsaert’s crew stiffen and instinctively grip more tightly to their weapons, not knowing what to expect. The makeshift boat now lands on the beach and a man jumps out and rushes towards them.

Why . . . why . . . it is Wiebbe Hayes, the soldier, who Pelsaert remembers was so helpful on the day immediately following the shipwreck. The Hayes of that time, though, had the sallow complexion and slight frame of one who had barely seen the sun for months, as he had spent most of his time cooped up on the orlop deck. This Hayes is burned brown by this southern sun and looks as strong as a bull, even if he is dressed in a combination of rags and some kind of animal fur, while his feet seem to be bound with strips of ragged cloth to give them protection from the sharp coral.

‘Welkom, welkom!’ the soldier cries. ‘But you must return on board as quickly as you can, for there is a band of villains on the islands near the wreck of the Batavia. They have a sloop and intend to seize your vessel!’

Rough parts of the wider story now babble out of Hayes as he tries to communicate the gravity of what has happened in recent months and the urgency of the current situation.

The Commandeur can only just follow the thread of it, but even that thread is clearly bathed in blood, as Hayes gives scant details of what has occurred. There is staggering talk of over a hundred men, women, cabin boys and children being miserably murdered by drowning as well as by strangling, hacking and throat-cutting, and much of it on the orders of none other than the Onderkoopman, Jeronimus Cornelisz, who, apparently, they have captured.

Hayes also speaks of how he has become ‘the captain of 47 people, who, to save their lives, have taken refuge on this island’, how they have been under attack this very morning and how the whole thing now lies in the balance, depending on how quickly he can convince the Commandeur to take urgent action to defend themselves and the yacht.

‘Hurry . . . we must hurry!’ Hayes finishes, exhorting Pelsaert to move.

 

Reeling as he is from the news, and the fact that the Onderkoopman – the Onderkoopman! – appears to be involved in it, Pelsaert decides to believe him. The fact that Hayes and his men have come unarmed is as clear an indication as any that they bear the newcomers no ill will and all they want for the moment is for them to get back to their yacht and prepare for a possible attack by the villains. Pelsaert agrees to do exactly that and orders Hayes in the meantime to go back in his yawl and bring the bound Jeronimus to him on the yacht.

As it turns out, Pelsaert is only just able to get back on the yacht before, exactly as Hayes has said would happen, he and his crew on the Sardam suddenly see a boat fast approaching them, coming around the southerly point of the westernmost High Island. In total, there are 11 men in the boat. Sharply giving orders, Pelsaert makes sure that all those on the Sardam are ready for their potentially villainous visitors.

As the boat comes close, he can see they are nearly all in clothes of the finest red cloth, all of it trimmed with golden lace, that is, Company lace, and they have no right to it! – something that further confirms things are amiss. The men in the boats are heavily armed, with everything from swords and daggers to muskets.

As they pull alongside the yacht, Pelsaert greets them but comes straight to the point: why have they approached the yacht so heavily armed? It is Stonecutter who speaks in reply, saying that they will explain everything once they are on board and even makes to climb up onto the yacht without first being bidden.

There is an insolence in this huge, red-garbed man’s reply and subsequent action that gives Pelsaert final confirmation that everything Wiebbe Hayes has told him is true, and that the men in this boat are dangerous enemies of the Company.

At Pelsaert’s sudden signal, thus, all of those with guns on the Sardam instantly reveal them and train them on the boat of Mutineers. Included in those guns is nothing less than one of the ship’s cannons, packed, primed and ready to fire.

The moment of stunned silence that follows is broken by Pelsaert as he orders all the Mutineers in the boat to throw their weapons into the sea and to carefully come aboard unarmed. As all the Mutineers now discover, the only thing blacker than the blackness of the muzzle of a musket pointed straight at you is the blackness of the barrel of a cannon pointing the same – and in this case it is as black as the Devil’s very soul. Now, like Loos, all of the fight goes out of them. It is Stonecutter who breaks the impasse by slowly standing and doing exactly as Pelsaert has bidden – throwing first his sword, then his dagger and then finally his musket in the water. In short order, all the other Mutineers follow suit and then carefully, oh so carefully, climb the sides of the yacht to the deck, where, with no fewer than ten muskets trained upon them, they are clapped in irons in the ship’s hold for their trouble.

It is over.

 

 

Pelsaert ensures the prisoners are securely guarded as he begins to question the villains one by one, right there and then, to get at the truth.

It is, quite surprisingly, the Mutineer Jan Hendricxsz – wild-eyed and desperate to cooperate with the new power – who proves particularly forthcoming. He not only exposes the Onderkoopman, Jeronimus Cornelisz, together with the skipper Ariaen Jacobsz and the bosun Jan Evertsz in their monstrous scheme to seize the Batavia – to kill Pelsaert and everyone else bar those they needed to run the ship before going off pirating – but also confesses to personally murdering and assisting in the murder of 17 to 20 people. All by order of, that man again, Jeronimus Cornelisz, whom he refers to as Kapitein-Generaal. Pelsaert winces to hear Jeronimus so described but for the moment allows it to pass. A man who has confessed to so many murders could be fairly relied on to be telling the truth about everything else, and Hendricxsz’s outpourings have the air of a purging of what remains of his soul.

And so Hendricxsz continues and Pelsaert continues to listen, appalled, as the width and terrible depths of the whole plot become clear. All of Hendricxsz’s initial testimony points in the same direction: Jeronimus Cornelisz is the Devil incarnate. At least heartening, though, is the story of the heroism of Wiebbe Hayes and his men, confirmation that somehow, through it all, some goodness, decency and loyalty to the Company have prevailed.

 

Evening is falling on this same day as Wiebbe Hayes boards the Sardam with the prisoner he has held captive for the past 15 days. It is Jeronimus, bound in chains and barely recognisable in Pelsaert’s tattered red clothes, unwashed and with his hair matted with filth.

Pelsaert takes pause, and would later record his thoughts in his journal:

Click Here


Somehow, despite the lowly circumstances of Jeronimus, his eyes still burn strong, the more so the instant they light upon the Commandeur.

 

‘Jeronimus Cornelisz,’ Pelsaert begins, ‘why have you allowed the Devil to lead you so far astray from all human feelings to do that which has never been so cruelly perpetrated among Christians – yet without any noticeable hunger or thirst but solely out of cool bloodthirstiness to attain your wicked ends? How have you allowed yourself to be so denuded of all humanity, to be changed into a tiger animal, to let flow so much innocent blood, and also have had the same intention to do that with us?’

Avoiding the question, Jeronimus begins in reply, ‘Commandeur, I thank the Lord and all providence that you are here. There have been outrages committed in your absence, sir, outrages. Infamy, I tell you, sir, infamy!’

And so it goes, Jeronimus denying outright that he has done any wrong and explaining the rest of it away on the evil desires of those who cannot possibly defend themselves because they are dead.

Finally exhausted, the Commandeur holds up his hand to cease the apothecary’s confections; this is not a conversation he can afford to continue. The Commandeur silently nods to Hayes, who frogmarches the manacled Onderkoopman towards the hole, the makeshift prison in the fo’c’sle of the Sardam, roughly depositing him alongside the other merchants from the underworld, the worst of the Mutineers, those Devil’s agents.

18 September 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

And now it is time to truly ‘tidy up’ Batavia’s Graveyard, as Jeronimus might have put it. On this fine morning, Pelsaert and the skipper of the Sardam take some of their best men in the yacht’s yawl and longboat and make their way to Hayes’s Island. Pelsaert is both stunned and proud to see how well these good men and loyal Company employees have acquitted themselves, with their forts, their habitations, their water and food supplies so wonderfully well organised. Arming ten of Hayes’s men with musketry and swords, they row to Batavia’s Graveyard.

Upon that isle, the sight of the boats in the distance provokes instant consternation. For those few remaining Mutineers, the vision of the sun glinting off the forest of musketry and swords raised to the skies is nothing less than their death warrant.

‘Now the noose is around our necks and we are all dead men!’ they say to each other, thinking that the boats will no sooner land than the shooting will start, and yet that is not how it turns out. Pelsaert’s men simply come ashore and begin rounding up the Mutineers – as both parties know that any attempt at resistance from the Mutineers would be futile – before binding them hand and foot.

Two of Hayes’s men, however, have other things on their mind. All Jan Carstenz wants is to be reunited with his wife, Anneken Bosschieters. It has been well over three months since he was last able to embrace her, and from talking to those men who first escaped from this infernal isle he now knows only too well what she has been through.

 

Claas Jansz the Trumpeter is in the same position, having left his wife Tryntgien Fredericxs and her sister Zussie on Batavia’s Graveyard to go with Pelsaert on the longboat all the way to the Batavia citadel, and now he is back. He was first overjoyed to hear that Tryntgien and Zussie are still alive, and then appalled and outraged to hear what has occurred.

And here is Trynnie now. Her eyes having searched for her husband’s from the moment the boat appeared on the water, just as he has been looking for her, she runs up to Claas and embraces him as soon as he steps ashore. Lost in that impact between utter desolation and wild jubilation, where no words can even begin to express their feelings, where both know that for the rest of their lives they will remember this moment, neither speaks.

Just a small way over, Jan Carstenz is lost in a similarly troubled embrace with Anneken Bosschieters. For a long time, there are no words, until slowly, mumblingly, they begin to speak . . . They are words of neither explanation nor expiation – just small words, the bare beginnings of a very long and difficult dialogue.

In the meantime, Pelsaert is pursuing his own private passion. It is obvious from the first which of the tents must have been Jeronimus’s – the grand one – and Pelsaert makes straight for it. He sees Lucretia emerging from the tent at the same instant as she sees him, giving them both a start. For the barest moment, they pause, then Pelsaert rushes the last few steps towards her, taking her hand in his.

‘Commandeur,’ she says simply. ‘You have come. I knew you would.’

‘Of course, madam,’ he replies. ‘I am glad to see you are alive.’

And then he gets to the subject that has long been on his mind, and never more so than right now. ‘The Company’s money chests,’ he says. ‘Are they secure?’

Wordlessly, Lucretia simply waves her hand towards the entrance of the tent, and Pelsaert steps quickly forward to see for himself. Entering, he gasps. It is a near-perfect miniature recreation of his cabin, right down to the carpets on the floor, his old oak desk and the brass lanterns!

And there in one corner is his own, open chest of valuables, complete with the Great Cameo. Instantly crossing to it, Pelsaert quickly establishes that the cameo is undamaged and soon confirms that the four bags of jewels he left inside the case are all still there. It is something, at least. Not the dozen money chests he is hoping for, but certainly a good start.

Quickly opening all of the bags of jewels for further reassurance, Pelsaert ascertains that they are substantially intact.

And then . . .

What is this? Right down at the bottom of the fourth bag of jewels, he finds three pieces of parchment, all with signatures at the bottom of a formal piece of writing. He begins to read the first one . . .
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And so on.

Quickly scanning all of the parchments, Pelsaert again realises that everything he has been told about Jeronimus is true, and here is the proof of that. The names of the signatories to these oaths – Coenraat van Huyssen, Jacop Pietersz, David Zevanck, Jan Hendricxsz, Mattys Beer, Jan Pelgrom – instantly give him a list of those whom it is most urgent to interrogate. The one name that leaps out at him, however, and takes his breath away for its sheer incongruity among what he now knows is a list of murderers, is that of Salomon Deschamps! How could this be? The most loyal Company servant he has ever come across, his colleague and friend for all of the last decade, has his name on the list as a Mutineer?

And so, there will be much work to do in these interrogations, but it is work that will allow Pelsaert to engage in what has always been his strong point in working for the Company. And that is the settling of accounts . . .



In the late afternoon of this day, the bulk of the Mutineers are placed on Seals’ Island under secure guard, where they can be sent for as they need to be interrogated – while Jeronimus, Jan Hendricxsz and a few other particularly dangerous ones are kept in the hole on the Sardam.

Pelsaert can now move on to the urgent matter of retrieving the dozen money chests submerged at the wreck site. It is almost more than he can bear to see the skeletal remains of the wreck first-hand, the once mighty ship now no more than a shattered remnant of what she was. Fully impaled atop the reef, a substantial part of the bulwark at the back of the vessel remains above the water, while lying in the shallows before it is a large piece of the bow of the ship, in which lies iron and brass pieces of cannon. Other bits of the wreck are clearly visible in deeper water, but at first glance it certainly does not look as though it is going to be a simple matter of sending down the divers to retrieve the missing chests.

Against that, upon returning disconsolately to Batavia’s Graveyard, Pelsaert is immensely comforted to hear from one of the Survivors, Chief Steward Reynder Hendricxsz, that a month earlier a day came so fine and calm that he was able to paddle a raft out to the wreck to go fishing, and he no sooner tried to spear his first fish than he hit a money chest by mistake!

It is heartening confirmation that the chests are still out there, and if this fellow could hit one with his spear, then it surely won’t be too hard to find more.

 

 

It is wet and dark in the prison hole this night – so wet and so dark it gives the illusion to the prisoners that they are totally isolated from the rest of the Sardam’s company and can thus speak frankly to each other in complete privacy.

Grunting with the hideous discomfort of the chains and their cramped position, Jeronimus questions the hulking Hendricxsz. ‘What happened? Why did you not take the little boat when you had the chance? Why did you not fire your muskets? Was your powder wet?’

Jan Hendricxsz replies, ‘If we could have fired a musket, we should have captured the boat for certain; but the gunpowder burned away three to four times from the touchhole.’

A groan of frustration comes from Jeronimus before he hisses, ‘If you had used cunning, you would easily have conquered while on the water, and then we should have been all right.’

In the darkness, it is the Sardam’s bosun, Jan Willemsz, one of Skipper Jacob Jacobsz’s best men, who overhears the conversation. He slips away to find someone who can write down what he has just heard . . .

19 September 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

On this morning, Pelsaert is making notes once more on just who should be interrogated and what areas of inquiry should be focused on when his reverie is interrupted by the sound of shouting, coming from the direction of the beach . . .

The Mutineers on the Sardam are being brought ashore onto Batavia’s Graveyard for formal interrogations to begin.

‘Mordenaars! Mordenaars! Murderers! Murderers!’ The cries continue, as months of repressed loathing are now vented at the very men who have been the authors of their misery.

The prisoners’ progress on the island they once strutted over is now replaced by the irregular plod, stumble and shuffle of the vanquished. The irons restraining their arms behind their backs and the chains linking their ankles do not chafe for blood half as hard as the steely crowd gathered around them.

Most of the crowd’s anger is reserved for the first prisoner, a tall, dishevelled figure in the midst of the throng, none other than Jeronimus, still sporting his own tattered red uniform with the inordinate amount of gold trimming. Some of the angry even start throwing stones at him as they continue the cry. Pelsaert approaches to quell the crowd, and, as if by instinct, they part like the Red Sea.

 

Unable to freely move any limb, the apothecary pauses for a brief moment, casting an eye over the mob and the approaching Commandeur, one eyebrow raised as though seeing them all for the first time. Instinctively, a silence falls over the crowd. None dare answer that kiss of death – his gaze – as all stare down at their feet, lost in bitter memory. ‘How wonderful to see you all,’ he says blithely.

Wary by now of Jeronimus’s ability to turn to evil the hearts and minds of his fellow men, Pelsaert quickly nods to Wiebbe Hayes. The prisoner is hurried on to the interrogation tent, while the Commandeur turns away and walks off, without addressing a single word to Jeronimus.

 

The councils aboard all VOC vessels have the same power as a Dutch court on land – a system set up to ensure that all mutineers, murderers and so forth can be dealt with quickly on board, without having to run the risk of keeping them as prisoners for weeks on end.

The key to it is that no one can be executed without freely and fully confessing to his or her crime . . . Of course, rigorous application of torture to obtain the draft of said statement is more than permissible; it is common practice.

That very afternoon, Pelsaert convenes his council, composed of senior personnel from the Sardam and Batavia, and prepares to employ the prescribed method of securing the prisoners’ open confessions. It is time to begin.

The one-time macabre ruler of these islands approaches slowly, his leg chains clanking, his arms manacled tightly behind his back. A burly soldier from the Sardam holds him by one arm and brings him to stand before the Broad Council, as their judiciary is formally titled.

For a moment, no one speaks. The council gazes solemnly at Jeronimus, wondering that it is possible for just one man to be the author of so many evil actions, while Jeronimus merely stares balefully back at them.

It is Jeronimus who gathers himself first to address them. ‘Mijn heeren,’ he begins, in a voice that, despite his ragged and bloody appearance, is still as silky and smooth as ever . . .

The Commandeur, however, immediately lifts his right hand, insisting that Jeronimus cease speaking immediately. It is not proper that he addresses them without being first invited to do so, and he is insistent that it will . . . not . . . happen in this council. Instead, it is the Commandeur who speaks, and he addresses Jeronimus directly.

 

‘Prisoner Cornelisz,’ he begins, ‘our preliminary investigations indicate that you are at the root of all of the terrible things that have happened both on the voyage of the Batavia and on these islands since the wreck; that it is you who first began to organise the mutiny; you who ordered the attack on Lucretia Jans; you who ordered the first murders on these islands; you who not only stole Company goods but encouraged others to do the same; you who is ultimately responsible for over a hundred people being sent to their grisly deaths; you who planned to even seize this very yacht that we have come to rescue the people on and have us all killed to fulfil your evil desires.’

In response, Jeronimus is nothing less than stunned. ‘Mijn Commandeur,’ he protests, the hurt in his eyes enough to break a man’s heart. ‘How can you believe these things of me, me, who worked side by side with you on the Batavia for all those months? You know me, mijn Commandeur. You know me to be a hard-working, good and honest man, always loyal to the Company. How could you believe such things of me? You must not blame me for these things, for like so many others I was forced to do it for fear of losing my life and . . .’

‘And who,’ Pelsaert bursts in scathingly, ‘forced you to do it?’

‘Well . . . David Zevanck and Coenraat van Huyssen really were the worst of them,’ Jeronimus replies, almost reluctantly, as if he has no choice but to confirm his previous testimony.

He goes on to swear on his soul – for all the world as if he actually has one – that these two men came to his tent, armed, and pointed out that the island could only support 40 people. Their intent was to kill all the others in their tents at once, but he, Jeronimus, persuaded them not to do that and suggested they send the people to different islands first. That way, he thought, they would have some chance of surviving. Far from being the murderer of so many people, Jeronimus was nothing less than the saviour of those who survived! But it was hard, oh yes.

‘Each man threatened to either slit my throat or see to it that it was slit if I did not cooperate with them in every particular. Each day and night, I prayed to the Good Lord that they would let me go, or that you, good sir, would return and rescue us, but the days turned into weeks, the weeks into months, and you did not come, sir, you did not come . . .’

Somehow, the last words are said with such gentle and delicate reproach that it is all Pelsaert can do not to defend himself. The fact that he left these isles for the relative safety of Batavia only to return to find them thus is indeed a delicate point with him, and though he remains confident that he did the right thing, there can equally be little doubt that, had he stayed, and stayed alive, Jeronimus would never have been allowed to claim the power of the Company in this way.

Jeronimus goes on. He again outright denies ever having any intention of seizing the Batavia. It is true, he allows, he heard vague talk of it from one Ryckert Woutersz, saying that Skipper Ariaen Jacobsz intended to seize the vessel and throw the Commandeur overboard, which made him wonder if they were ever going to reach Batavia, but in the end he did not take it seriously, something that he is now very sorry for.

 

Certain that he is lying, the Commandeur nods to the guards, who instantly step forward and oblige Jeronimus to kneel, whereupon a large, specially designed canvas collar is secured around his neck so that his head is effectively at the bottom of a bucket. And now fresh water is poured into it above the level of his nose, so the only way he can survive is to drink the water. Does he want to confess now? No, so more water is poured in.

Gurgling and gasping, he soon realises that the only way for the air to come in is if the truth begins to come out. As it does so, all of it is carefully noted down by none other than Salomon Deschamps, though his own name appears on the oaths and he remains unexamined. After a long and agonised conversation where the notary in some way explained himself, Pelsaert decided he needs him on the raad, at least as a signatory to the declarations of truth if not the actual sentencing. Jeronimus acknowledges that he was part of the mutiny and also ordered many of the murders on the island. For the moment, the raad leaves it there. They need to know more from the others and will come back to him.

One by one, the Mutineers are led in to have the canvas attached around their necks before being invited to confess their crimes. Most of them immediately comply, and for those who do resist, water is poured into the canvas until, inevitably, their bellies swell, their eyes water, they near drown and decide that they do want to tell what they know after all.

Another inquiry might have focused only on who was guilty of organising and committing all the murders, but this is a Company inquiry, and while there is due examination as to who has killed the Company’s personnel and paying passengers, there is also a great focus on who is guilty of the all but equally appalling use and abuse of Company goods.

 

Late September 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard and aboard the Sardam

 

Through repeated interrogation and torture of the Mutineers over the ensuing days, a comprehensive picture of the godlessness of their actions emerges: the oaths, the women for common service, the murder of the provost’s party and the Predikant’s family, the murders on Seals’ Island, the acts of treachery and deception, the slaying of women and children, and on and on, a litany of sins testament to the existence of the Devil himself.

Few of the murders have been committed without the assistance of at least one other Mutineer, and each man, eager to save himself, is desperate to report on the others. Those who deny participation in particular murders are contradicted by the corroborated accusations of others.

All, however, are united in one thing: the common dominator, the man wallowing in the middle of every filthy action like a pig in his own excrement – right from the first – is Jeronimus. More and more details of the mutiny aboard the Batavia emerge, confirmed by multiple testimonies: how it was conceived shortly after they left Tafelbaai; how it spread from Mutineer to Mutineer; how each of them was manipulated by Jeronimus.

 

Soon enough, it is time to interrogate him once more. It goes as before. At first, he denies it. As to the plan to seize the rescue yacht, for example, that, too, was all Zevanck’s idea and though he, Jeronimus, pretended to go along with it, for fear of his life, still he did not mean it. It was merely a way of placating the murderous Zevanck, and it did not matter because they were left so long on these islands that it was obvious to everyone that no rescue yacht was coming. Had he, Jeronimus, been free once the yacht finally arrived, of course he would have sounded a warning to Pelsaert and the skipper of the Sardam, but unfortunately, because of this whole dreadful misunderstanding, that was not possible.

The Commandeur has heard enough in the last few days, seen enough horror in the eyes of the Survivors to know beyond any shadow of a doubt that here before him stands evil incarnate, the man who bears the most responsibility, head and shoulders above all the others, for the murderous carnage that the island has witnessed since the shipwreck, even if he did not personally wield the knife. But, listening to Jeronimus speak like this, spinning plausible lie after plausible lie in the most soft and eloquent of voices, it is almost possible – almost – to believe him.

And the charismatic Jeronimus is not even done. He continues to explain his side of the story, all the way through to the terrible day when he finally negotiated a peace settlement between the two islands only to be betrayed: ‘For despite all my best efforts, still I was blamed for what had occurred, and they fell upon us, taking me prisoner, killing Zevanck and van Huyssen and two others, with only Wouter Loos able to escape. This, this after all I had done! Oh, the infamy!’

Those last words of Jeronimus hang there loosely. If it were not for the testimony of all the others – universally pointing the finger of guilt at this most debased of men – it really would be possible to believe that he was the innocent party. It is time once more to stop all of these lies, all of this blame being laid at the feet of conveniently dead men, and get Jeronimus to admit his guilt. It is time to give him the water treatment once more.

Before a drop of water can be added to his canvas collar, however, Jeronimus shouts that he is ready to confess to all if they will just stop immediately. An unspoken shiver of regret sweeps the room, as most present actually want to see Jeronimus suffer another tiny portion of the agony he has meted out, but he has promised to confess, and that is the main thing.

The examination shortly resumes. The Commandeur begins by asking Jeronimus in what manner exactly he intended to seize the rescue yacht.

‘Our plan,’ Jeronimus replies frankly, ‘was to greet such a yacht with open arms and invite the whole crew to come ashore, where we would have proposed great celebrations and made them drunk on our wine, in order to kill them the more easily.’

 

The yacht would undoubtedly have been captured, and Jeronimus and his men would have been free to leave these cursed islands with their treasure and roam the world. After they made the plan, Jeronimus showed his co-conspirators the Company’s jewels, in order for them all to evaluate their share.

Even as the interrogation of the prisoners continues, so, too, are preparations being made to attempt to retrieve the Company’s goods from the wreck site. The broad plan is to fully embark on this retrieval program after the inquiry is completed, but on the evening of 25 September, after that day’s interrogations are over, the weather is so extraordinarily calm that Pelsaert asks both the skipper and the bosun not to waste the opportunity, and to take one of the divers out to the wreck to see how they go.

Wonder of wonders, only a short time later Pelsaert sees that they are indeed pulling something up from the water! Quickly, he sends another boat to their assistance, while he himself follows in the smallest boat. As he approaches, his heart soars to see that they already have one chest of silverware and one of the money chests up on deck!

By the time he arrives, a further chest has been brought to the surface, and the divers from Gujarat joyously report that they have found six more money chests on the sea floor at a quite reasonable depth and that it looks like it will be relatively easy to retrieve them. Two more money chests are brought to the surface that afternoon, before, with little warning, the bad weather returns with a fury, and they must leave quickly.

The next day, another three chests are retrieved, making seven in total, while one more is spied, weighed down by a cannon on which an anchor is resting, which will need considerable force to move. That leaves four money chests still to recover. The twelfth has clearly been lost due to Jean Thiriou’s foul destruction of it and subsequent hurling around of the coins like seed. Soon, three more money chests are brought to the surface, giving a total now of ten chests; and although the eleventh still remains trapped fast, Pelsaert’s heart soars with every successful retrieval.

In the meantime, the Broad Council continues its interrogations. Over succeeding days, the testimonies of the Mutineers are tested not only against each other but also against those of the Survivors. The latter need no encouragement to come forth with their own blood-curdling accounts of the past months, keen as they are to wreak revenge on any and all of the surviving murderers. Though, of course, there are few left alive who have seen the full scope of the carnage, those who remain fight tooth and nail to refute false testimony whensoever afforded the opportunity. Their desire for justice is so great that, if left to their own devices, they would surely tear Jeronimus Cornelisz and his cronies limb from limb.

Among these Survivors, the calm, independent testimony of Aris Jansz, the under-surgeon and barber, is particularly devastating to the Onderkoopman, as he describes in great detail what happened on Batavia’s Graveyard from the first day that Jeronimus arrived and how from late June onwards, after Wiebbe Hayes and his men left, everything so very quickly descended into a hell from which he, personally, only narrowly escaped.

 

Much of the testimony of Aris is directly contradictory to the points of account that Jeronimus has put up in his own defence, and so, yet one more time, the evil one is dragged before the Broad Council in order that a full confession be flushed from him with water.

Slowly but surely, Jeronimus Cornelisz’s defences break down and he acknowledges his role in the murders of no fewer than three dozen or so people. However, to Pelsaert’s ever-building fury, he continues to refuse to accept responsibility for the murders carried out by Zevanck, van Huyssen or van Welderen, maintaining they are at least as guilty as he is, and probably more so.

Wouter Loos, on the other hand, makes some brief initial denials but then frankly admits with regret two direct murders. The raad is at least impressed that once Loos became leader there were no more indiscriminate killings. Also to his credit, by his own orders, Lucretia and Judick were not molested by anyone, including the new leader, even though Jeronimus and Coenraat were no longer there.

Further, Jan Willems Selijns gives evidence that, though Jeronimus gave orders for Wouter to kill him, Wouter interceded and managed to save him. It is possible, just possible, the raad concludes, that even through all the blackness of Wouter Loos’s soul there remains a glimmer of light.

One man who signed the Mutineers’ oath but who is nevertheless quickly deemed innocent after questioning is Hans Hardens. Though the soldier had some minor involvement with some of their acts, it is obvious that this shattered man only nominally joined under the most severe circumstances. For Pelsaert, it is nigh on inconceivable that a man could swear loyalty to a band that first killed his child and then whored his wife before killing her, yet it is clear this is precisely what Hardens has done on the simple grounds that the alternative was his own certain death. In the face of it all, Pelsaert feels that in terms of punishment there is nothing they can visit upon this man that would approach what he has already been through and what his conscience will do to him every day for the rest of his life.

28 September 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard and aboard the Sardam

After ten days of such examination, the guilt of Jeronimus and his closest remaining cohorts – Lenart van Os, Mattys Beer, Jan Hendricxsz, Allert Jansz, Rutger Fredricxsz, Jan Pelgrom and Andries Jonas – has been so firmly established that it is beyond all doubt. Jeronimus, to begin with, has confessed to nearly all of it. The Broad Council is all but ready to wind up its inquiry and deliberate on the appropriate sentences for them when Jeronimus – who else but? – suddenly recants all of his previous confessions and swears he is innocent after all.

 

Pelsaert is stupefied, and addresses him directly. ‘Why, pray tell, do you mock us in this manner? Have you not, on previous occasions, without torture, confessed everything from your plan to foment mutiny and seize the vessel to the murders you ordered?’

Jeronimus could not be more charming in reply, his hands outstretched in supplication, at least as far as his ropes will allow him. ‘I beg for both the Commandeur’s forgiveness and his understanding,’ he says simply. ‘It is true that my words of one time do not match my words of another time. But this is only because it is one of my last two remaining desires on this earth for you to take me to Batavia with you, where I may be examined at your leisure. I know I have done much wrong, and I assure you I crave no mercy for it. But, Commandeur, I still dream that one day, before I die, I may even be able to see my beloved wife Belijtgen in Amsterdam once more.’

Enough! Pelsaert can no longer bear Jeronimus’s erratic testimony. There is nothing for it but to call for the canvas to be reattached around Jeronimus’s neck and for water to be brought – at which point, of course, the evil one again freely admits everything. Jeronimus is obviously as guilty a man as any who ever lived, and he deserves to live no longer.

There remains, however, an important issue to resolve . . . and, after Jeronimus has been led away once more, Pelsaert puts this issue to the Broad Council succinctly: should we take such a gruesome villain as Jeronimus Cornelisz (who is with all unthinkable misdeeds and horror besmirched) in captivity on our yacht to Batavia to bring him before the Honourable Lord General Jan Pieterszoon Coen, who could give him the justly deserved punishment, or should we follow the strict order of our Lord Masters that villains and criminal evil-doers must not be brought to Batavia if doing so will put ships and men in further danger?

The obvious decision is finally reached. To take them back to Batavia is too great a risk – they would, after all, be once again carrying a great treasure, thinly defended, and would have on board hardened criminals impregnated with the bad life, together with others who sipped a little of the poison and may have liked its taste.

The bulk of the punishment must be exacted here on the Abrolhos. And yet, still there is a complication. Jeronimus, suspecting that his days are nearing their end, has sent a message via the Predikant that he desires to be baptised and further begs that he have time to bewail his sins so that at last he might die in peace and in repentance.

If it is simply a ploy by Jeronimus to gain more time, it is nevertheless a clever one. Pelsaert is powerless to refuse such a request from a man who is even seen to be seeking to save his own soul, so he decides that he can indeed be baptised in two days’ time, and then executed the following day – though he keeps the prospective execution date from Jeronimus. Upon the Commandeur’s instruction, the Predikant tells Jeronimus only that he can be baptised – something that appears to ease his troubled mind.

 

 

Just as the sun is about to sink, the wind to pick up and the birds to cry out that they are calling it a day, Pelsaert is ready to announce the formal sentencing. At his behest, all the survivors from the Batavia – there are just under four score of them left from the original ship’s complement of 331 – gather with the crew from the Sardam as the prisoners are brought forth. For most of the survivors, it is the first time they have seen all of the Mutineers together in the last ten days, since the wheels of justice began to crush them.

And yet, rather than screams of anger, shouts of upset and general baying for the blood of the guilty, there is a total stunned silence as the prisoners are lined up before them, as the survivors barely recognise them.

These murderous criminals who once appeared the most ghastly of all beasts, swaggering incarnations of the Devil in red velvet and gold lace, are now no more than raggedy red men held in fetters, emasculated ghosts, spectres not long for this world. They are the walking dead. And the effect is nowhere more pronounced than with Jeronimus. For he is at neither head nor tail of the line, nor even dominant in the middle, but merely three along from the left end, trying to shelter among the men who were once his disciples, but none of his fellow accused bar Pelgrom will even acknowledge him, they simply stare balefully straight ahead.

And now Jeronimus comes to life a little, jeering at the crowd of onlookers with imprecations for a few seconds, before pathetically attempting to win them over with entreaties the next. But, of regret for what he has done, for what he has wrought, there is none.

The Predikant, who is in the crowd, staring intently at Jeronimus himself, mentally forms then and there the words he will later report: ‘if ever there was Godless Man in his utmost need, it was he’.

 

Pelsaert reads out the deliberation of the Broad Council: ‘We have therefore unanimously resolved and found good, in the best service of the Company and our Honourable Lord Masters, and have given the matter our utmost consideration. After long examinations and much searching, in order to turn from us the wrath of God and to cleanse the name of Christianity from such an unheard-of villain because, even under Moors or Turks, such unheard-of abominable misdeeds would not have happened or been left without being punished, I would not speak of Christians, that they should murder each other without extreme hunger or thirst – we have sentenced the foresaid Jeronimus Cornelisz of Haarlem, together with the worst and most willing murderers, who have made a profession of it. Accordingly we sentence and condemn with this, that firstly Jeronimus Cornelisz apothecary, and later Onderkoopman of the ship Batavia, shall be taken to Seals’ Island, to a place made ready for it in order to exercise Justice, and there firstly to cut off both his hands, and after this shall be punished on the gallows with the cord till death shall follow, with confiscation of all his money, gold, silver, monthly wages, and all claims which here in India he may have against the profits of the General East India Company of our Lord Masters . . .’

At this news of his fate, Jeronimus is seen to slump a little but makes no sound. He has been hoping against hope that he will be put on the yacht to get back to Batavia, giving him another six weeks or so of life, in which time anything could happen. Now, he finds, he has but a short time to live.

The other sentences are almost equally grim. Each man will have all his kit and wages confiscated, the implication being that each of their families will receive nothing. Jan Hendricxsz, Lenart van Os, Allert Jansz and Mattys Beer are all sentenced to have their right hands removed before they are hanged, while Jan Pelgrom, Andries Jonas and Rutger Fredricxsz are to be simply hanged with both of their murderous hands intact. When his own sentence is announced, a series of wrenching sobs bursts forth from Jan Pelgrom.

Pelsaert goes on. The following criminals are to be taken to Batavia for further interrogation: ‘Wouter Loos of Maastricht, soldier, but who has been made captain of the rebel troop after the capture of Jeronimus Cornelisz, Jacop “Stonecutter” Pietersz of Amsterdam, petty officer of Jeronimus alongside Zevanck and Coenraat van Huyssen, Hans Jacobsz of Basel, cadet, Daniel Cornelisz of Dort, cadet, Andries Liebent of Oldens, cadet, . . . Cornelis Jansz of Haarlem, sailor, Rogier Decker of Haarlem, formerly boy to Jeronimus, Jan Willems Selijns of Amsterdam, cooper.’

Others, meantime, are to be rewarded for their loyalty and endeavour, none more so than Wiebbe Hayes, who: ‘when he was on the High Island with 47 souls, protected them faithfully and preserved them bravely from the murderous party that intended to put them all together out of the way . . . We have found good, since there are no officers over the soldiers, to appoint the said Wiebbe Hayes a sergeant, with a pay of eighteen guilders a month. Also we make Otto Smit of Halberstadt for his faithful help to Wiebbe Hayes a corporal on a pay of 15 guilders per month.’

With all of the announcements made, Pelsaert lowers the document to a table and publicly signs it, followed first by a troubled-looking Salomon Deschamps and then by the other members of the raad.

 

What to do, what to do?

Finally, it has come to this. After almost two weeks of interrogation and torture, the perfidious Pelsaert – was there ever a man so wretched risen so high? – has Jeronimus in a vice, the hangman’s noose swinging back and forth in readiness before the fevered brow of the Onderkoopman’s imagination, as he spends yet another night in the hole. Somehow making it all worse is that Pelsaert has held back the date of execution, though he has heard the reason he has not been immediately executed is to afford him time to ‘repent’.

 

Repent! Repent for what? After all, he hasn’t personally killed a single soul. His own bare hands have not been sullied by blood; he has merely acted in the best interests of those who would survive. Culling the population was necessary to preserve the short supplies they had, for the alternative was to have them all die a terrible death of starvation within just a few weeks. The situation needed a strong man, and if he was the only one strong enough, then so be it! Do they not know of the chaos he found, and how he imposed the order that was so desperately necessary? They do not. Either that or they do not care.

Nor do they see what is obvious to him, that what he did was neither good nor bad. For, whatever actions he took, God Himself put the same into his heart, and as God is perfect in virtue and goodness, so He is not able to send into the heart of men anything bad, because there is no evil or badness in Himself.

Jeronimus tosses, turns. He cannot sleep, and nor does he want to. For if he has perhaps just a score of hours left to live, why waste them with sleep? Not that this existence, the tight grip of fear in his stomach, the terrible looseness of his sphincter, the shocking awareness that he will soon die, is any existence he cares for. But at least he is conscious, not embarking on that sleep of death that will likely soon be his for all eternity.

Working himself into a frenzy of fear, of self-delusion and self-righteousness in equal measures, Jeronimus pens two letters to his fellow Rosicrucians back home in the Dutch Republic declaring his total innocence, citing the charges as pure fiction, wilfully false accusations, scuttlebutt of the highest order, made by others to save their own souls. Once the letters are completed, he calls out to the under-steersman Jacop Holloch from his tiny prison cell deep below the fo’c’sle, proffering the two missives through the metal grating. ‘See these reach the intended without any other’s knowledge,’ he commands imperiously, still assuming his self-titled position of Kapitein-Generaal, ‘and be quick about you!’

Bemused, Holloch, who has pledged no fealty to Jeronimus, immediately passes on the correspondence to the Commandeur.

29 September 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard and aboard the Sardam

The following morning, a staggered Pelsaert reads out Jeronimus’s distortions and outright fabrications to the Broad Council, who collectively shake their heads in sheer disbelief. Despite countless testimony proving his guilt beyond any doubt, including his own testimony, still this Devil’s spawn continues to claim his innocence! Will he never repent? Is there no destiny for this man other than a hell worse still than the one he created on the Abrolhos?

 

Still, it is troubling enough that Pelsaert decides to again mass everyone on the island and read to them Jeronimus’s wickedly mendacious letters. ‘No, no, all lies,’ the crowd screams in unison, safe now with Jeronimus and his Mutineers behind bars to voice their hate for this man and his cronies. ‘Dood hem! Dood hem! Kill him! Kill him! Dood! Dood! Dood!’

From deep within his hole aboard the Sardam, the malevolent Rosicrucian can hear his countrymen’s cries for his life across the small stretch of water. And, even more chilling, from the direction of Seals’ Island – the only island in the area with enough soil sufficiently deep to build three gallows side by side – comes the regular drumbeat of approaching death, the sound of the eager knocking of hammers driving nails hard into the wood as if into his very skin.

That evening, returned to the Sardam, Pelsaert descends to the forward bowels of the yacht to inspect his number-one prisoner. It takes Pelsaert some time for his eyes to adjust to the darkness, but presently he is able to see at the back of the hole a silent rat-like figure staring back at him. Even more unnerving, however, is the unbearable stench coming from this prison. Pelsaert instinctively covers his nose with a silk handkerchief.

‘Well, when will you have me killed?’ demands the ‘Kapitein-Generaal’ of his legitimate counterpart.

After a pause, Pelsaert decides to tell him. His last day on the earth will be the day after the morrow, Monday 1 October.

Jeronimus Cornelisz reacts with rage. ‘Nothing more? How can one show repentance in so few days? I thought I should be allowed eight or 14 days! Well, you and them all want my blood and my life, but God will not suffer that I shall die a shameful death. I know for certain, and you will all see it, that God will perform unto me this night a miracle, so that I shall not be hanged.’

Forewarned, upon leaving, Pelsaert orders the guard that no one should be allowed close enough to hand the prisoner a knife or anything else with which he could harm himself. However, unbeknown to the Commandeur, Jeronimus has secreted a vial of poison on his person, a soupçon of Mercurium sublimatum, the same poison that he used to try to kill the daughter of Mayken Cardoes. In the darkness, he removes the vial from beneath his tunic and, with a rush and a cry, downs the poison in one gulp.

The result is not as he planned.

About one o’clock in the morning, Jeronimus is doubled over with pain as green vomit projects at regular intervals from one end, even as a watery brown paste further sullies t’other. Twenty times and more, he is assisted from his cell as the poison takes effect, in Pelsaert’s delicate words, ‘from below as well as from above’.

Groaning, realising he is not going to die after all, Jeronimus asks for some Venetian theriac – a mix of opium, sugar and other soothing products. Once it is delivered, it brings some relief.

 

Just as a dose of this poison failed to forever silence the baby, it has only made this man cry like one.

30 September 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

It is 9 am, and on the eastern shore of the desolate island, on the lee side of a large piece of sail that has been set up to give them some shelter from the wind, the Predikant is about to begin his service. The services have been mercifully resumed from the moment of the arrival of the Sardam, yet Pelsaert now realises that the congregation is missing someone who is clearly most in need of God’s salvation through baptism.

With a nod to two particularly burly sailors, Jeronimus is sent for, but within minutes they are back, with a message from the evil one. He refuses to come and will not have anything to do with talk of the Lord, or with the Predikant.

Pelsaert nods with no little satisfaction. See how miraculously the Lord has had Jeronimus again reveal his godlessness before all the people. If there be a remaining scintilla of doubt as to the man’s pure evil, then surely this final infamy from him has shredded it. Pelsaert in turn nods to the Predikant, who begins.

‘Oh, dearly beloved Lord, Father of us all, we, your children, are gathered here to worship Your infinite wisdom and grace . . .’

And yet there are still more messages to come from Jeronimus, each more evil than the last. Finally realising any further attempts to postpone his death are an utter waste of his time, Jeronimus gives full vent to his true feelings. Don’t you see, Commandeur, all he has done was sent into his heart by a God perfect in virtue and justice and so by corollary his actions have only been virtuous and just?

None of it makes any impression on Pelsaert, who merely notes it all down as further proof of Jeronimus’s lack of a soul. He is ever more impatient for the proper punishment to be meted out to this gruesome, murderously misguided man.

1 October 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

Alas, on the day marked for this punishment, Monday 1 October 1629, the wind blows sou’ by sou’-west with such force and with such great stormy showers that it is not possible in the morning to go to Seals’ Island and deliver Jeronimus and the other evil-doers unto death according to their sentences. Throughout the early afternoon, the entire encampment waits tensely for a break in the weather, to determine if today is the day they must die – with none scanning the skies more intently than the condemned men themselves – but by late afternoon it is clear they will be allowed to live for at least another day.

 

2 October 1629, Seals’ Island

At last, the day has come. On this morning, the wind is still blustering from the west, and yet it is quieter than the day before and it looks as if it will be possible to get the eight bound prisoners on longboats and take them to Seals’ Island, where the gallows loom large across the water.

Though the wind remains gusty, and the waves gutsy, the trip across the deepwater channel does not take long. Together, the two boats bringing this gallows party to its destination nudge the shore with a small crunch of coral.

As the heavily manacled Jeronimus comes ashore, guarded closely by Wiebbe Hayes and Otto Smit, his way is suddenly blocked by an unexpected apparition. It is Lucretia, who has gone to Seals’ Island in advance with a boatload of Survivors who insist on witnessing proceedings. She is pale, thin and seems fragile in the buffeting wind.

‘Say it,’ she says to Jeronimus straight out. ‘Say it before these witnesses what you know to be the truth, that never was I with you in your tent willingly but that I was forced to submit to your hideousness by both you and your criminals.’

Jeronimus stares back, momentarily softened at her sudden appearance yet startled at the force of his love’s words. Before, she may have wept, shied away, been totally cold, but never to this point has he seen such fury, such passion in her. He gazes at her beauty in odd wonderment, as though he thinks he might have met her a long time ago but can’t remember where . . . before his eyes look over her head and he focuses, seemingly for the first time, on the gallows in the near distance.

‘Say it!’ she shouts, snapping him back to attention.

Those gathered tightly around Jeronimus are equally startled. Though her intervention has delayed the prisoners’ procession, none of them makes a move to hurry Jeronimus along. Instinctively, all feel that this is not something that can be rushed.

Still Jeronimus has not spoken.

‘Say it, sir, I demand of you, if you have a single shred of anything that is decent within the corruption of your soul. Say it and confirm the truth, before you depart to rot in that hell of your own making. Say it!’

Jeronimus stirs, first bows, then lifts his head before staring her right in the eyes. Finally, he replies, ‘It is true, you are not to blame for it, for you were in my tent for 12 days
before I could succeed.’

Jeronimus is the first to be led to the base of the gallows, as Pelsaert has acceded to the request of the other Mutineers that they be able to see this ‘seducer of men’ put to death not only to give them their last pleasurable sight on earth but also to ensure that it is so.

 

And now the defiant Onderkoopman, his eyes bitter beacons of hate as he stares out at the gathered company, is forced to kneel before his fellow condemned, wincing as his bare knees come into contact with the sharp shards of coral. How the crowd of Mutineers standing in a death row caterwaul against the Onderkoopman. ‘Revenge! Revenge!’ they hiss as one.

‘Revenge! Revenge!’ taunts Jeronimus back at them, unrepentant to the last.

And now his bound hands are placed before him atop a stump, as a burly sailor from the Sardam grips both his shoulders to prevent him from moving. Commandeur Pelsaert steps forward and brings the full weight of the Company to bear on the proceedings. ‘Jeronimus Cornelisz,’ he intones, ‘you have been found guilty of murder. It is the decision of this council that you shall have both your hands severed, and then you shall be hanged by the neck until dead.’

The last word hangs there, the only word in his entire utterance that he gives any emphasis to, but it is the word that is the driving force for the whole scene.

Dead.

The Predikant now attends Jeronimus Cornelisz closely, in the expectation that he will have a last statement to make. However, the Onderkoopman flicks his head in a manner to shoo him away. He has never had any patience for any of the Predikant’s ludicrous beliefs – excepting of course when he wanted to be baptised as a delaying tactic – and certainly doesn’t intend to start now. Stunned at such enduring denial of the Lord, even as Jeronimus’s end is approaching, the Predikant stumbles back, almost as if he has been stung.

And now Pelsaert nods to another hefty sailor from the Sardam, who has been chosen to do the honours, before stepping well back himself for fear of his brocaded uniform being covered in spurting blood.

Jeronimus keeps his eyes wide open, not resiling from witnessing his own bit of horror that is about to come to pass. At this point, the sailor steps forward and places a massive chisel upon Jeronimus’s right wrist, before lifting an even bigger hammer high above his head.

He is ready.

He looks to the Commandeur for the final order.

Pelsaert again nods his head.

First lifting the suspended hammer a couple of inches higher, the sailor now brings it down with a resounding bang, instantly followed by the crunching sound of bone and sinew split asunder.

The Onderkoopman’s hand – almost as if it is overjoyed to at long last be free of the monster that has so long commanded it – flies a good two yards forward in a wild stream of blood burst forth from the butchered stump. Jeronimus pauses a moment to look over at his single, severed hand . . . and screams. In short order, the same process is applied to his left hand, before it, too, goes tumbling off into liberation.

 

And now things move quickly. From long experience, the Dutch know that in situations such as this it is very important that the man being executed be quickly ushered towards the noose, lest he die from loss of blood in the meantime. Three strong men now step forward, pull Jeronimus to his feet and lead him to the gallows, where the loop of a strong rope is put around his neck, before the other end is thrown over one of the three scaffolds – the first solid European structures ever built in what would become known as Australia.

All is in readiness. With one sailor climbing and holding the Onderkoopman firmly by the collar, Jeronimus is hauled up to the top of the wide ladder – capable of holding two men on the same rung – even as the bloody stumps of his hands continue to gush. The other end of the rope is now secured to a post that has been dug into the ground for this very purpose. The sailor atop the ladder holding Jeronimus again looks to Pelsaert, who now gives an all but imperceptible nod.

‘Wait!’ demands Jeronimus, for all the world as if he has some authority in the matter, though still appearing composed. ‘I challenge you all, all of you as well as the council before God. I will receive justice only then because I have not been able to receive it here on earth. Reve–’

Having heard enough, with a rough push of a knee in the back, the sailor shoves Jeronimus into empty space, and his last word is a strangled ‘Revenge!’ before the rope finally tightens around his neck to the point where he can no longer speak.

The fall from the ladder has not been enough to snap his neck, meaning that his death is relatively slow and tortured. Strange guttural sounds come from him as he tries to suck air that won’t come. His body shakes, his legs twitch and it goes on for minutes as all stare mute, mesmerised by the spectacle, quietly exhilarated. One of the Mutineers, Mattys Beer, faints at the prospect of what awaits him in just a few minutes. At last, Jeronimus twitches no more, and his whole body simply twists in the wind, slowly spinning in exact rhythm to that of his life unwinding.
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Pelsaert is satisfied that all justice for Jeronimus rests now in the hands of the good Lord. And, now that Jeronimus is dead, the others follow in quick succession, each man wild-eyed as he nears his end, trying desperately to find a way to make good on earth in preparation for the hereafter.

As the rope is placed around his own neck, the seemingly bloodless Mattys Beer awakes from his dead faint and confesses to the Predikant that, beyond the murders he has already confessed to, he also ended the lives of four other men, as well as a boy, whom he killed by cutting their throats in the presence of Jeronimus one night. He requests that the Predikant pray for him on account of his many sins.

 

And yet, when the Predikant asks Mattys Beer for the names of his victims, the young man is at a complete loss. When the killings were in full swing, names did not matter. And so Beer is himself soon in full swing, his body jerking as the wind whistles and the remaining murderers still look on in full horror of what awaits them.

Andries Jonas is next. With the noose around his neck, he begins to weep and recounts how, one night when a lot of killing was going on, an ill boy came creeping into the tent he shared with Jacop Pietersz, pleading for safe shelter. And on that terrible night, when another of the Mutineers saw what had occurred, he said to Andries, with a wink, ‘Andries, you must help to put the boy out of the way of all this . . .’

‘And so,’ the weeping Andries finishes, the words tumbling out of him as if they have been trapped for so long and can finally escape, ‘I went outside, got my knife, then went back in, grabbed the sick boy by the hair out of the tent, and then I . . . then I . . . cut his throat and killed him. Ik doodde hem. I killed him.’

Andries, too, does not know the lad’s name. There is nothing more to say, and, within a minute of shaking his head that he killed someone that he cannot even name, Andries, too, is in the hereafter, his body swinging beside those of Jeronimus and Mattys.

The one who shows a little fight is Allert Jansz. Like his so-called Kapitein-Generaal, this one makes no plea for mercy, nor utters a single word of regret. His only pronouncement is to turn towards Pelsaert and tell him, with a gleam in his eye, to watch well upon his return journey towards Batavia on the Sardam – aye, watch well – because there are many more Mutineers still alive than swinging here . . . though he does not wish to be called an informer after his death.

Pelsaert nods, though whether it is an acknowledgement to Jansz that he has heard him or a signal to the executioners to get on with it is not certain – but, one way or another, within 30 seconds Jansz’s body is also twisting in the wind.

And so it goes. Next, Lenart van Os, Rutger Fredericxsz and Jan Hendricxsz are hanged, the last nearly toppling the gallows as his full massive weight comes hard down upon it.

Finally, just one man is left: the youngest, Jan Pelgrom, who is still only 18 years old.

Screaming, weeping, unable to stand, Pelgrom pleads for his life, begging Pelsaert to display mercy, a mercy that Pelgrom never remotely showed to his many victims himself, though this point seems to escape him.

. . .

Is enough not finally enough? Have these last months not seen enough bloodshed, enough screaming, enough agony? Something the boy says reaches Pelsaert.

‘Moeder, moeder, my mother, my mother! What of mijn moeder?’ the lad keeps weeping pathetically, even as it becomes obvious that the wretch has soiled his dungarees.

 

Is he not right, though? What of his mother? Somewhere back in the Dutch Republic, that good woman will anxiously be awaiting news of her lad, hoping that all is going well for the child she has borne, suckled, weaned and nurtured thereafter. Could Pelsaert really, as a conscious decision, kill him outright? Especially since it really was not that long ago that this ’un was at his mother’s breast?

Certainly, Pelgrom is beyond vile, hideous in his actions, and at least as bad as most of the rest who have already been executed. But he is only 18 years old. A mere pup in a den of wolves. Is it actually fair to condemn the lad outright because, as a matter of purest survival, he tried to become a wolf too? How many in the same situation would not have done the same?

But how can he let this otherwise death-deserving delinquent live? Taking him back to Batavia is clearly out of the question. With a confession such as his, he would be dead within days once the Dutch judiciary got hold of him . . .

But, maybe, maybe, there is another way out.

Quite uncharacteristically, Pelsaert takes an impulsive decision. ‘Let him go,’ he says resignedly. ‘Clean him up and take him back to the skiff.’

2 October 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

On Batavia’s Graveyard, they gather on the shore in silence as the boats return from Seals’ Island. All eyes scan them as they near. Is it at last true? Is he . . . dead?

For many, it simply does not seem possible that such a man as Jeronimus could be executed by anything less than a flaming stake through his heart, and perhaps with that in mind all eyes search for his face in the boat as they approach the shore. He is not there!

And nor are six others. Of those who have gone, only the snivelling Pelgrom, for some unaccountable reason, is returning to them.

Pelsaert lands with as few words as those that greet him. The Commandeur simply parts the sea of people and makes straight for the tent so recently vacated by Jeronimus.

With the needs of justice now having been substantially served, it is time to focus fully on the other reason they have come here – to recover the Company’s goods. However, almost as if the evil of the men who have been hanged has now overflowed into the elements themselves, from the moment of their deaths a dramatic and relentless wind blows from the south, thwarting any attempts to send down the divers.

But this does not stop Pelsaert personally overseeing the retrieval of every possible bit of the VOC’s property in each and every corner of the islands, a man on a mission. With every little thing that makes its way back into the hold of the Sardam lightening his mental load, lessening the foreboding he feels about facing Governor-General Coen again, he becomes obsessed to the point of ludicrousness.

12 October 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

 

When, at last, the howling southerly abates just a little, Pelsaert sends Skipper Jacob Jacobsz out in the yawl to recover a single cask of vinegar that was sighted by some of their intrepid fishermen on a nearby reef the day before.

The skipper, ever cheerful, promises to do just that and departs with four of his crew members and also Cornelis the Fat Trumpeter, who, having misplaced his trusty trumpet and consequently feeling entirely useless, offers to help. Pelsaert also takes advantage of the momentary respite in the weather to get the native divers to the wreck site to recommence operations.

There, they manage to bring to the surface 75 reals of loose change – a drop in the ocean compared with the tens of thousands of coins originally contained in the Batavia’s 12 money chests – and another cannon. The gasping divers, having held their breaths for as long as two minutes at a time, report that they are just on the point of attaching the ropes to the eleventh trapped money chest when the wind suddenly picks up, then kicks up even more.

Still Pelsaert won’t concede defeat for the day and thinks it might be possible to get that chest up once Jacobsz and his men return from their foray. Where are they, anyway? But, with their continuing absence, Pelsaert finally calls it a day. Due to the mounting seas, he and his divers beat a hasty retreat to the Sardam.

13 October 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

Surprisingly, there is still no sign of the skipper and his men the following morning, though late that afternoon, just two hours before dusk, they see them on the distant horizon, beating their way back towards them against the prevailing sou’-wester! There, do you see?

Some do. Some don’t. Some claim to have had a clear vision of the yawl, its sails billowing; others say it was naught but a mirage – maybe even the phantom ghost of the Batavia herself searching for her earthly remains. What is clear is that, if it was them, they are now gone, for as the cursed wind picks up once more it is soon obvious that wherever they are there will be no return for them to the Sardam that evening. Pelsaert positively glowers in frustration.


20 October 1629, Batavia citadel

And now it is on again. On this morning, just as on two previous occasions, wave after wave of the Sultan of Mataram’s native soldiers charge forward with ‘reckless determination’, as the Dutch soldiers, armed Chinese merchants and Japanese samurai hold their ground, firing muskets and cannons into their very heart and never wavering.

 

The native soldiers, battered, beaten and bloodied, finally withdraw, leaving behind their many dead. Later that afternoon, the attackers have ceased their attack and entirely decamped. In the now deserted encampment, neatly laid out in rows, are the bodies of 800 freshly slaughtered Javanese soldiers and officers. As before, the Sultan of Mataram has exacted a terrible price on those who have failed to do what he commanded them to do.

24 October 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

With the passage of 12 days and still no sign of the lost men, there is little hope left. Pelsaert is obliged to acknowledge in his journal the outcome of this search he has launched for a worthless, relatively insignificant cask of vinegar:
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Indeed.

While Pelsaert is saddened at the disappearance of Jacob Jacobsz, many of the Survivors and Defenders are devastated at the loss of Cornelis the Fat Trumpeter. Their favourite fat blowhard had survived a journey across the ocean, a shipwreck, the attack on Seals’ Island, the perilous journey to the High Islands and four attacks from the Mutineers . . . only to seemingly drown in the ridiculously unnecessary pursuit of a mere trifle.

Early November 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

As poor weather prevails, all but Pelsaert start to weary of the salvage task, and the next opportunity to go after the eleventh remaining money chest comes on 5 November – alas, with the same result. After this latest failure, the divers have had enough. That is it. They declare upon their manly truth that no matter what they do, the money chest jammed under the cannon and anchor will likely remain there forever.

 

After pushing a few days more to collect a few more trifles, Pelsaert finally accepts the obvious and agrees. Waiting longer would only be to the detriment of their Lord Masters. It is time to pack up and prepare to go. God willing, wind and weather permitting, they will leave for Batavia as soon as possible – deviating only briefly from that course to het Zuidland to see if they can pick up any trace of the skipper and the four men missing with him.

A few judicial loose ends have still to be tied up. Chief among these are the punishments to be meted out to the lesser Mutineers . . . such as Salomon Deschamps and Rogier Decker.

Notwithstanding the fact that Deschamps resumed his role as Pelsaert’s favourite functionary from the moment the Commandeur returned to the islands, his own guilt is deliberated on by a raad that includes the very man himself, and he faces the further ignominy of having to record in his very own hand the following:
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Of course, the worst he did was not only to throw in his lot with the Mutineers but also to strangle a child. Against that, as the child had already been poisoned by Jeronimus, there is no doubt that it would have died anyway, and all acts committed by Deschamps were forced upon him. So, take another note, please do, Salomon. ‘Using grace in place of rigour of justice, on the morrow, 13 November 1629, you and Rogier Decker are to be keel-hauled three times and after that be flogged with 100 strokes across the back and buttocks before the mast as an example to others.’

So dictated Pelsaert in summation of the raad’s deliberations, and so did Deschamps himself dutifully sign it, acknowledging it to be fair and true. And so do Deschamps, Decker and several other Mutineers indeed suffer their prescribed fates the following day, with all the ship’s company turning out to witness what happens to those who do not do their utmost to defend the Company’s interests.

In the case of Deschamps, curiously, once his punishment has been meted out he instantly retakes his spot – even if not sitting down – at Pelsaert’s right shoulder, a respected if now rather battered and bleeding member of the raad, as the Sardam makes ready to leave these infernal isles.

 

15 November 1629, Batavia’s Graveyard

As they sail away in the morning, first to the east and then to the north, Pelsaert takes a long look back at the scene they are leaving behind.

Right on the far horizon to the south, he can see the stark silhouette of the gallows rising from the white streak of Seals’ Island, where seven of the monsters who wrought this catastrophe are still twisting in the wind. God knows, they deserved this fate, but still – this morning as every morning – Pelsaert is sickened. He turns away, determined not to look again at these wretched islands where his career has likely ended, and comes face to face with Lucretia.

She, too, has been gazing at the islands that are just starting to blessedly recede and slowly sink back into the waves whence they came. It is all such a dreadful contrast with that terrible night, only five months before, when those same islands reared up so suddenly out of the sea to change their lives forever. She stares back at the infernal strip of coral, barely blinking, with not a murmur, entirely lost in her thoughts.

Pelsaert’s tentative greeting, thus, dies on his lips, and after a courteous bow he moves quietly past her and makes his way back to his cabin.

The job now at last done, and the yacht in the hands of the very capable Claas Gerritsz, following the tragic disappearance of Skipper Jacob Jacobsz, Pelsaert feels an almost overwhelming wave of fatigue roll over him. He does not fight it, letting it take him down, down, down to the depths of his own dark night. The loss of Jacob Jacobsz and the others weighs ever more heavily upon his soul. Would that the dark night be dreamless, but alas, it is far from that.

16 November 1629, aboard the Sardam, off the coast of het Zuidland

Just two days after they have left the Abrolhos, the yacht pulls in close to the coast of the continent and drops off a fully provisioned flat-bottomed yawl – with Wouter Loos and Jan Pelgrom in it.

This, then, is to be their fate. The two Mutineers are not to be put to death, per se, but given at least some sort of a chance to live among the natives on this strange continent. As well as their provisions of water and basic food, they are given trinkets of knives, beads, bells and small mirrors with which they might, hopefully, win over the natives and gain their confidence. Ideally, they will meet their chiefs, learn their ways and live among them, perhaps even prosper.

 

Pelsaert’s instruction to them is firstly to have courage. ‘Man’s luck,’ he sermonises, ‘is found in strange places. If God guides you, you will not suffer damage from the natives. On the contrary, because they have never seen any white man, they will offer you friendship. You must look out for whatever gold or silver there is among the natives, and observe closely what it is that the natives themselves deem valuable.’

And if God should choose to shine his bountiful munificence upon them, it is even possible that one day they will be able to indicate their presence to a passing ship of the VOC, whereupon they will hopefully be picked up and be in a position to let the Company know, as Pelsaert puts it, ‘for certain what happens in these lands’.

With all of that in mind, Pelsaert carefully notes in his journal that their exact latitude – he insists the new skipper, Claas Gerritsz, check it three times over – is 27 degrees 51 minutes south. It is his intention, and he will follow through on it, to have these coordinates spread widely among captains of the VOC fleet so that in future years the Company’s ships can keep an eye out for the marooned Mutineers.

As a last thing, Pelsaert ensures that both men are given loaded muskets, with extra supplies of musket balls and gunpowder. Though it goes against the grain for Pelsaert to put weaponry into the hands of criminals, there seems no way around it. In good conscience, he cannot place them upon these wild shores entirely defenceless.

The last face Wouter Loos focuses on as he pulls on the oars – each stroke taking him further and further away from the last vestige of civilisation he will likely ever see – belongs to Wiebbe Hayes, looking sadly down at him from the poop deck and ruefully shaking his head. How has it come to this?

It is a question that Hayes would contemplate for the rest of his days.

Once on the shore, Loos and Pelgrom scramble out and pull the boat up the beach, before they turn to see the Sardam’s anchor is being pulled back on board, as her crew haul on the mainsail. The yacht begins to slowly, oh so very . . . slowly . . . pull away, as her crew stare back at the two men who have just landed.

Jan Pelgrom, he who cried when he was denied the opportunity of severing a man’s head, begins to snivel and weep. With one mighty paw, Wouter Loos reaches out and slaps him. ‘Genoeg! Enough!’ Loos growls. ‘Genoeg of your damn whimpering!’

The ship’s company’s final vision is of the two Mutineers scaling the small bluff next to the inlet and disappearing over the top, as if this strange continent has simply swallowed them whole.

As to the other Mutineers on board, there are many Survivors and Defenders who are appalled that they have not been dropped off as well. They want justice to be served immediately. The Sardam now carries a mere 80 of the Batavia’s original complement of 331. Nine of these have so disgraced themselves before God that they are certainly criminals, and a further 19 await interrogation once returned to Batavia.

 

The punishment of Loos and Pelgrom now accomplished, the focus falls on the guilty nine. The raad is reconvened and it is decided that the guilty may immediately be dealt with aboard the Sardam. These include Daniel Cornelisz, who boasted that his sword had gone through the first man executed, Warner Dircxsz, as if he was butter; Cornelis Jansz, who threw Pelsaert’s medallion into the ocean as if it was ‘rubbish, even though it be worth so many thousand guilders!’ Jean Thiriou, who cracked the money chests open and uproariously threw the coins at his comrades; and others besides.

While their charges range in severity, their sentences are surprisingly lenient. The Commandeur and council prefer ‘unanimously on account of several considerations to give grace in place of rigour of the Justice’. All are sentenced to one-to two-hundred strokes before the mast, sometimes together with some good old-fashioned mast droppage. This punishment involves tying the victim’s wrists behind his back, attaching them to a line itself attached to a yardarm, and then swinging him from the said yardarm so his shoulders dislocate. To top it all off is the confiscation of six months’ wages to the profit of the VOC and their Lord Masters.

Last weeks aboard the Sardam

The days pass and the weather becomes warmer as they move further to the north and then lose sight of het Zuidland’s coast. They steer nor’ by nor’-west across the still unnamed ocean – though the ‘Sea of the East Indies’ is starting to gain in popularity – towards the Sunda Strait and thereafter Batavia.

For most of the rest of the voyage, Pelsaert remains in his cabin, dividing his time between sleeping, writing in his journal and completing the precious inventory of retrieved treasures he intends to submit as soon as they arrive. And, though in comparison with the last time he made this trip – in a hideously crammed and exposed open-topped boat – the journey is physically easy for him, still the worries he has are so many that they almost blur into one amorphous mass. One fear stands out: that it will happen again.

Whenever there is a strange sound in the night, anything remotely reminiscent of the dreadful screeching that immediately preceded the wrecking of the Batavia . . . it is all he can do to prevent himself crying out.

The weeks pass, and soon Pelsaert sees a familiar coast. Java is on their starboard quarter, meaning the Sunda Strait is dead ahead.


5 December 1629, Batavia

When they finally berth before the citadel of Batavia on this shining late afternoon, most of the ship’s crew are eager to head ashore. Pelsaert takes his time, his steps unsure.

 

The news on the shore, however, is very interesting. In their absence, Governor-General Coen has died. His end came just months before, and the grand funeral proceedings have only just been completed. Despite his gentle nature, Pelsaert – however much he feigns enormous sorrow – can’t help but feel a certain trill of happiness to be told of it. Though he knows little of the man who will replace Coen, there is no doubt that he will be a man less severe.

Pelsaert and Lucretia part on the docks. Pelsaert bows deeply, kisses her hand and tells her of both his sorrow at the ordeal she has been put through and his joy that – despite it all – she has finally arrived here. For her part, she warmly thanks Pelsaert for all he has done, assuring him that in no way does she blame him for what has occurred.

It is with a rather dazed aspect that the Commandeur now farewells Wiebbe Hayes, who has respectfully waited for Pelsaert to finish his fond farewell. And yet, despite the phenomenal difference in their ranks, it is likely Pelsaert who respects Hayes even more. At the beginning of their journey, as they left Texel over a year earlier, Pelsaert had been far and away the most powerful man on the entire fleet, let alone just their ship, while Hayes had been only a little less anonymous than one of the myriad rats scurrying around in the hold.

And yet so capricious have been the winds of fate, so unexpected the turn of events, so differently have the two men reacted to the challenges facing them, that it is now the all-conquering Hayes who steps ashore as the hero, while the shrunken Pelsaert is all too aware that his own future is uncertain and he will have to fight for his very survival in the VOC.

The two key surviving protagonists in this long saga stand there as testament to the fact that in times of extreme crisis, the measure of a man is unlikely to be governed by his position within a said hierarchy and more likely to be determined by his actual ability to lead, his character, his resilience, his moral compass when all others have lost their way, his capacity to react to the changing circumstances and find the best way forward for the common good.

Hayes has demonstrated all of these things far above his lowly rank; Pelsaert not nearly enough to justify his own exalted status.

And yet there is no resentment from Pelsaert towards the younger man. As his subsequent writings will demonstrate, the older man is acutely aware that if not for Hayes, things would have been inestimably worse.

On these docks, thus, where our story ends, he proffers his hand and manages to bestow his thanks one more time, before the two men take their leave of each other and walk off into history. It has been a long trip.






Epilogue

This then, in large outline is the whole story, which would have taken too much time narrated with all circumstances, for one could have written a very Voluminous book on it. So that when this is not written in good order and clarity there are two good reasons; firstly, I had not the time, for the Ships are ready to sail for the Fatherland; secondly, we have just come out of such sorrow that the mind is still a little confused, for I had not in mind to write so much . . .

The Predikant, in a letter he wrote home to his family from Batavia, detailing much of what had happened in the Abrolhos

If there is an irony in the whole saga of the Batavia, it is that of all the myriad people involved, the one who came out of it smiling was Torrentius, whose ideas had infected Jeronimus in the first place and caused such devastating results.

Though initially sentenced to 22 years of prison, he had the colossal good fortune that one of his greatest admirers, the English King Charles I, heard of his plight and intervened with the Dutch authorities on the painter’s behalf. In a move that seemed to confirm there could not possibly be a just God, in the space of less than a fortnight Torrentius went from the lowest of all low dungeons in Amsterdam to living in luxury in nothing less than Windsor Castle, just outside of London, where he was installed as one of the official court painters to the English throne. Torrentius stayed there for 12 years, eventually returning to Amsterdam in 1642. He lived the rest of his days sleek, prosperous and happy, before dying on 17 February 1644, aged 55.

 

What of the rest of them?

On this, history is a lot less certain, except that most died shortly afterwards. This is because Dutch historians and storytellers focused again and again on what had happened on the islands but their focus was somewhere between blurred and blind when it came to the exact fate of the key surviving players after the event.

For his part, Pelsaert lived for less than a year after landing in Batavia, dying in September 1630, aged 35. He does not seem to have taken his seat on the East Indies Council at Batavia, for which he had been selected as extraordinary member in 1629, and it seems that even without Governor-General Coen, the Dutch authorities never forgave him for having ‘lost the ship and left the people’.

 

His reputation suffered greatly in death, as the VOC pursued the question of whether or not he had illicitly dealt in jewels while Commandeur, an activity that was in serious violation of their regulations. Yes, they had sanctioned the trading of the Great Cameo of Gaspar Boudaen, from which they were expecting a 25 per cent cut of the profits, but the jewels were another matter.

While it was never actually proved that Pelsaert engaged in this nefarious trade, strong suspicion was aroused when unexplained gems and other treasures, including a second Gaspar Boudaen cameo, to the tune of 13,500 guilders were discovered among his personal belongings following his death. All these goods were duly confiscated by the VOC on the grounds that they were the result of, or intended for, trade for Pelsaert’s own gain.

When the VOC reviewed all decisions made by Pelsaert on the Abrolhos, for the most part they came to the conclusion he had got it wrong. To begin with, in the case of Wiebbe Hayes, their strong view was that Pelsaert had not been generous enough. In the original document recording his decisions, the Commandeur had written down that Hayes’s monthly salary would be increased to 28 guilders, before scribbling it out and writing 18 guilders. Now, the VOC increased it to 40 guilders and made him an officer and standard bearer of the VOC Army. He returned to Amsterdam, thus, in triumph – virtually the only hero of the whole sorry saga – but then disappears from history’s pages. No further trace is recorded of him.

And then there were the decisions Pelsaert had made about the Mutineers. For most of those spared execution in the Abrolhos, it would prove to be a temporary respite only. When the Sardam reached Batavia on 5 December 1629, the more rigorous examination of these remaining Mutineers immediately began. The new Governor-General, Jacques Specx, launched an entirely fresh investigation at the hands of Batavia’s Council of Justice. The conclusion of this council was that Pelsaert and his Broad Council had been far too lenient, and in late January 1630 they handed down their own sentences.

Daniel Cornelisz, the young cadet who was captured by the Defenders while trying to get a letter from Jeronimus to the French soldiers, was hanged after first having his right hand cut off.

Rogier Decker and Abraham Gerritsz were put at the mercy of fate, the judge deciding who should be executed by the drawing of lots. The unlucky Decker, who had thrust a dagger into the heart of Hendrick Jansz, was first lashed and then executed.

 

Salomon Deschamps, Pelsaert’s favourite clerk, who had been forced to strangle the child of Mayken Cardoes before rehabilitating himself enough, in Pelsaert’s eyes, to sit with the ship’s council in judgement on his fellow Mutineers, had a strange fate. Despite having survived being keel-hauled three times and given 100 lashes before leaving the Abrolhos, it was only so that he could finally be hanged back in Batavia.

As to Stonecutter Pietersz, for his trouble he was broken from ‘under and upwards’ on the wheel. This involved him being first strapped on a bench, before the executioner took a heavy iron bar to . . . carefully . . . break . . . all the principal bones in his body – toes, fingers, thighs, hips, ribs, arms, wrists, elbows, shoulders – without killing him or even making him lose consciousness. After this, Stonecutter’s now extraordinarily pliable body was strapped to a horizontally placed wagon wheel with his belly upwards and his broken limbs folded and tied below the wheel. Then the wheel was raised some yards above the scaffold, where the man could well be seen, dying hours later after suffering incredible pain. Still not satisfied, the executioner then cut Stonecutter’s body open, and his remains were displayed in the Batavia citadel for weeks thereafter.

 

The more minor Mutineers – who it was again judged had been forced into it – were merely flogged, branded or assigned to forced labour and exile.

Whether those Mutineers who had been thrown into the dungeon awaiting their trials came across Skipper Ariaen Jacobsz is not known. One imagines it likely. In any event, Jacobsz’s case was finally put before the Heeren XVII in March 1631. For all that time in custody, Jacobsz had not broken under the ministrations of the torturer and resolutely denied being a part of any mutiny. Though the Heeren decided against releasing him, his ultimate fate is not known – but the great likelihood is that he died in that cesspit of a dungeon shortly afterwards, largely unlamented, with the exception of one heart that still beat for him in one of the Batavia taverns, that of Zwaantje. As to what happened to her, there is no further trace in the records.

 

The records of Zwaantje’s erstwhile mistress, Lucretia, are more complete. She arrived in Batavia only to find that, even before her departure from the Dutch Republic, her husband, Boudewijn van der Mijlen, had been posted to a pestilent trading port in Burma called Arakan, where he had died shortly afterwards of a disease unknown.

Despite it all, Lucretia lived to make old bones. Only a short time later, in late 1630, she married someone well beneath her social class, a lowly soldier by the name of Jacob Cornelisz Cuick of Leyden. The couple returned to the Netherlands in June 1635. Though Lucretia remained childless, she was deeply loved by many families and became the godmother of no fewer than six children. The author Henrietta Drake-Brockman found a record of death in Amsterdam of a Lucreseija van Kuijick on 6 September 1681, which, if it is the same person, would mean that Lucretia survived to the extraordinary age for the time of 71 – an old, old woman with the most unspeakable memories of what happened one time when she was young and fair . . .

 

 

The Predikant, Gijsbert Bastiaensz, wanted to return to the Netherlands as soon as possible, but the council of the Indies managed to pressure him into staying. In 1631, he married Maria Cnijf and was appointed as minister on Banda, dying there shortly after of an extreme case of dysentery in March 1633. His daughter, Judick, also married in 1631. Her husband was a minister and was posted to the growing flock of Dutch settlers on the island of Ambon. He died in 1634. With the deaths of their husbands, Judick and her stepmother, Maria, were given permission to return to the Netherlands. They sailed from Batavia in the final months of 1634 on the vessel Zutphen and . . . wouldn’t you know it? . . . there was soon trouble brewing on board.

A small boy from the marriage of the Predikant to his second wife was travelling with his mother, and a constant point of heated discussion was whether the women and the boy should be allowed to stay and eat in the main cabin with the officers. None other than the Batavia’s former chief trumpeter, Jan Carstenz, insisted that they and the child not be allowed. He was especially hostile towards the widow of the Predikant.

At one point, far out on the Indian Ocean, Jan – who had never been quite right in his head from the moment he had discovered the extent of what his wife Anneken Bosschieters was put through – even became violent and turned on the young lad. The boy was wearing a linen shawl to protect him from the cold. Jan Carstenz grabbed the cloth and smacked the boy down onto the deck, hit him in the face and then kicked him, before chasing after his mother, who fled into the cabin.

Jan was severely punished: he was ‘dropped from the yardarm’ three times and given 100 lashes.

The women were only really safe when they arrived back in the Netherlands, which, for Judick, was nearly six years after she left. One can only imagine the emotion with which she saw the tall spires of Amsterdam once more, reflecting on the things that had occurred in that time, the family members she had lost. As the widows of ministers, Judick and her stepmother were entitled to 300 guilders a year each as a base rate from the VOC. Judick, however, received double that amount from the Heeren XVII
because of all the trouble she had suffered after the shipwreck of the Batavia.

 

 

The cause of the death of Governor-General Coen was never finally established. It is only known that he died in late 1629 at the age of 42, likely from typhus contracted during the second uprising from all the corpses rotting in the river that ran through the middle of Batavia, or perhaps dysentery or cholera – maybe even an excess of bile? Another theory, however, floated by Charles Corn in his outstanding book The Scents of Eden, has it that ‘another less plausible source suggests that Coen died of sheer terror over the impending confrontation with his successor, Governor-General Specx’. Specx happened to be the father of a young girl whom Coen had had flogged for making love to a 15-year-old soldier, whom he had subsequently executed. Corn suggests that perhaps he was poisoned, though concurs with most that the cause of death was more than likely fatal illness. Whatever it was, for a man who had been the cause of the deaths of so many, he was singularly fortunate to die in his bed and not at the point of a sword or an arrow.

When Specx retired, he was replaced by none other than Hendrick Brouwer, who had so famously pioneered Brouwer’s Route straight across the Indian Ocean in 1611.

 

And what, then, of the two men dropped on the Australian continent? Nothing is known of the fate of Wouter Loos and Jan Pelgrom, and neither man was ever seen again, at least not by European eyes. Against that, the famed ‘Bush Tucker Man’, Les Hiddins – a man with a deep knowledge of both the Australian bush and its history – claims that a camel trader some 200 years later came back with a story about an all-white Aboriginal woman he had met there, maybe a sign that Dutch blood had entered the Indigenous gene pool.

In addition, the Dutch-born Australian historian Rupert Gerritsen makes a strong case in his book And Their Ghosts May Be Heard that Aboriginal dialects in the area where the two Dutchmen were dropped contain words that were originally Dutch. Gerritsen also maintains that the first British explorer in the area, Augustus Gregory, noted that some Aboriginal people around what are today Shark Bay and Murchison had strikingly European features. Gerritsen says that no less than Daisy Bates – the famed latter-nineteenth-century welfare worker and student of Aboriginal tribes – was of the belief that this resemblance could be traced back to their Dutch forebears.

His final piece of evidence for their survival is a curious fact. In all the world, the second-highest incidence of polydactylism (extra fingers and toes) is to be found among north-western Aboriginal people. The highest – are you way ahead of me? – is among an insular Dutch religious sect known as the Mennonites.

 

 

Despite the move by the Dutch in 1624 to eradicate all the clove trees on the islands of Ternate and Tidore, one such tree actually survived high on Ternate’s impenetrable volcanic slopes. In 1770, it was from that tree that a Frenchman by the name of Poivre managed to secure some tiny seedlings and then replant them in the Seychelles, Réunion and Zanzibar. When those seedlings began to grow, and then flourish, and then produce, it was the beginning of the end for the monopoly of the Spice Islands on the production of spices.

In 1654, after long and arduous negotiations, it was none other than England’s ‘Lord Protector’ Oliver Cromwell who successfully negotiated with the Dutch Republic to pay 300,000 guilders as compensation to the descendants of those who had been killed in the Ambon Massacre, but that was only a beginning of the Dutch making good for what had happened long before.

The issue of the island of Run – for so long occupied by the English until they were overrun by the Dutch in 1621 – had long festered too and needed to be resolved. As detailed in Giles Milton’s wonderful book, Nathaniel’s Nutmeg, the bitter resentment of the English at what had transpired was only resolved in 1667 when the Dutch and British Governments finally achieved a settlement of sorts. In return for the British relinquishing to the Dutch all claims to the island of Run, the Dutch would relinquish all of their own claims to another small island, which lay at the mouth of the Hudson River in the Americas, a place they had named New Amsterdam, though previously occupied by the Manhatta Indian tribe, hence the name it would take in modern times . . . Manhattan. (For the Dutch, this would not prove to be one of the more astute trades in the history of the world.)

 

The VOC came to a bad end. Though it survived right up until the end of the eighteenth century, and in that time had delivered an average annual 20 per cent return to its investors, by the 1790s it was frequently maintained, mockingly by the Dutch, that VOC now stood for Vergaan Onder Corruptie, Perished by Corruption. It finally collapsed in 1800, with all of its positions – geographical and financial, including debt – taken over by the government of the Dutch Batavian Republic. All of its former territories, thus, formally became a part of the Dutch East Indies territory that grew through the course of the 1800s to take in all of the Indonesian archipelago.

The Dutch East Indies survived right up until 1942, when the invading Japanese crushed it. Afterwards, of course, the Republic of Indonesia was declared.

 

The small trading post of Jacatra, which the Dutch renamed Batavia in the early part of the sixteenth century, has now become the teeming city of Jakarta. It had a population of 27,000 by 1673, 115,000 by 1700 and has 13,000,000 living in it today. These days, the chief barrier to journeying there is Jakarta customs, but for this little black duck that is barrier enough. (Three hours in the one queue! But don’t get me started.)

 

In the modern era, the Molucca Islands (Spice Islands) are no more than obscure specks on Indonesia’s eastern tip. When I enquired about visiting them in April 2010, the travel agent remarked she had never fielded such an enquiry in her 40-year career, and the answer eventually came back that, while I could get there by hitching a ride on a slow boat to China, it would be a minimum 17-day turnaround from Australia. By the account of Giles Milton in Nathaniel’s Nutmeg, the people who live there now have next to no idea how control of their islands was once so important that it could affect the destiny of nations.

As to the original settlement of Batavia, it survives, in part, right in the very heart of throbbing downtown Jakarta. What used to be its city hall, hall of justice and major warehouse are now respectively a museum, art gallery and maritime museum. The old citadel was the VOC headquarters for the whole of its operations in Asia, which included subsidiary VOC offices in Malacca, India, Bengal, Sri Lanka and Deshima (Nagasaki), until the Company was declared bankrupt at the end of the eighteenth century. The original building was torn down and replaced by a new one that was completed in 1850. In the late 1890s and early 1900s, it too was torn down, block by block, with each block thrown into the festering canal to fill it up. Still, with a good guide, a visitor to those parts can get a rough reckoning of where everything lay.

 

In the decades immediately after the wreck of the Batavia, the missing money chest was not forgotten. In 1644, one Dutch mariner, Abel Tasman, was given very specific instructions by the governor of the East Indies, Antonie van Diemen:

Click Here


A worthy goal, but the exhausted Tasman never got there, and in the end ignored those parts of his orders.

 

The decades passed, the centuries clicked over, and still the wreck of the Batavia lay beside the reef that she had struck, entirely undisturbed. The first small breakthrough in finding the wreck came in the late 1890s. At that time, a Western Australian businessman by the name of Florance Broadhurst had taken over one of his father’s ventures, mining some of the Abrolhos Islands for their guano deposits, and in the course of it had come across a number of old Dutch artefacts that, upon inquiry, he concluded must have come from the 1629 shipwreck of the Batavia.

A man of some wealth, on a subsequent trip to London he managed to secure an original copy of Jansz’s 1647 Ongeluckige Voyagie, Van’t Schip Batavia, the book that first put the whole saga in the public domain. Upon Broadhurst’s return to Perth, he commissioned a Dutch-born Australian, Willem Siebenhaar – a chess-writer for The Western Mail – to do a translation, and on 24 December 1897 the translation first appeared in that paper. The English-language account was eagerly scoured for decades afterwards, providing many clues for subsequent researchers as to which specific islands the whole ordeal had taken place on and where the wreck might be found.

Leading the charge was Henrietta Drake-Brockman, the amateur historian and well-born Perth journalist with the Western Mail – daughter of Western Australia’s first female doctor – who first heard the story when she was 12 years old, from her friend, the daughter of Florance Broadhurst, and became smitten with it.

As an adult, Drake-Brockman began following leads, writing to authorities in the Dutch Republic to get more information and talking to those she could find who were familiar with the islands off Australia’s west coast in the rough latitudes described, and she drew her conclusions on a map. Now, the most obvious place to start looking for the wreck was the ‘Pelsaert Group’, the southernmost of the three groups of islands that make up the Houtman Abrolhos island chain, which includes locations such as Wreck Point and Batavia Road. These names were bestowed back in the 1840s by the British survey ship HMS Beagle – which had previously risen to fame by carrying a young British botanist by the name of Charles Darwin to Australian climes – after her officers discovered ancient ship wreckage there and assumed it must be the remains of the Batavia.

The more Drake-Brockman looked into it, though, the more she became convinced the wreck would be found in the Wallabi Group, some 30 miles to the north, where there were indeed a couple of islands that had some native wallabies on them, and one of those islands had water. She began to search, even as she continued to write about it.

 

When her fictional account of what had happened, The Wicked and the Fair, was published in 1957, followed by her non-fiction account (borne from original research) in 1963, it heightened interest further, most particularly among the Western Australian locals. And yet there was still no breakthrough, not that Drake-Brockman let up for a minute. A young friend of her family’s was the rising journalist at the Daily News, Hugh Edwards, a keen diver in his spare time, whose favourite book as a youngster was Treasure Island.

‘You must find the Batavia for me,’ she would say whenever they met, peering through the cigarette smoke she had just blown in his general direction, before tapping her long cigarette holder on the ashtray. A formidable woman was Henrietta Drake-Brockman. Hugh, too, was very interested, but he was flat out working as a journalist, raising his young family and diving on other wrecks.

Nevertheless, the clues were building. In 1960, an old man known as ‘Pop’ Marten was on the island in the Wallabi Group called Beacon Island, when he decided to dig a hole to put a clothes line in. As soon as this father of a local cray fisherman pressed his shovel beneath the surface, it hit something solid, whereas the surrounding soil was soft. He got down on his hands and knees to investigate and discovered . . . a human skull.

Well, what was a man to do? Of course, he covered it up again and decided to do nothing. They didn’t like visitors in these parts, and calling the police and enduring all the attendant carry-on, perhaps of filling out forms and making statements, giving testimony at the Coroner’s Court and all the rest, was just more trouble than it was worth. Still, it was a cracker of a story to tell the few visitors they did have, and it wasn’t long before the police got wind of it anyway. Two policemen from the nearest mainland town of Geraldton duly arrived and investigated, without coming to any solid conclusion other than that the bones were likely very old indeed.

The find did, however, generate a small item in the Perth Daily News, where it was quickly spotted by Hugh Edwards. He knew it on the instant: the body had to have come from the shipwreck of the Batavia!

Edwards was soon able to convince his editor at the Western Mail that it was worth mounting an expedition to Beacon Island – not that any of that excited Henrietta Drake-Brockman.

‘It’s the wrong island, you silly boy. Goss Island is where you should be looking!’ she said, many times, naming an island about two miles from Beacon Island, where she was convinced the whole thing had occurred. As to the wreck itself, she was certain that would be found on nearby Noon Reef.

 

Hugh headed off with his newspaper-photographer colleague Maurie Hammond with Henrietta Drake-Brockman’s exhortations ringing in his ears. Alas, with just two of them on this expedition they weren’t able to find anything of significance, though they were at least able to convince themselves, after some exploration, that Goss Island was not the right one. Some quick digging around Beacon Island, near where Pop had found the skeleton, revealed nothing but a bone that proved upon examination to have come from the wing of a large seabird. They briefly dived out on nearby Morning Reef but found nothing and, with time running short on their ill-equipped expedition, returned to Perth with little to show for their trouble, bar a few ‘colour’ articles that Hugh was able to write for his paper.

Not long afterwards, though, Pop was digging again, burying some rubbish, when his shovel connected with something metallic. It proved to be brass, looked a lot like the base of a lamp and had some writing on it, spelling out the year in Roman Numerals, MDCXXVIII, with the name CONR AT DROSCHE. It was some years before it was realised that this last was the name of a noted German trumpet maker . . .

(Me? I would love to think it was the very trumpet once blown by my favourite: Cornelis the Fat Trumpeter!)

For the moment, though, all the finding of the ‘lamp base’ did was heighten talk among the cray fishermen that there was something strange about these islands.

Enter Geraldton builder and diving enthusiast Max Cramer, a man of equal parts capacity and enthusiasm for any interesting ventures – most particularly if they involved going underwater in search of shells, then his great passion. In early 1963, Hugh Edwards invited Cramer to join him on a highly successful expedition to find and dive on the 1727 wreck of the Zeewyk in the southern Abrolhos, where Cramer proved to be a good diver, team member and man.

So, when Max suggested that Hugh hand to him all the information he had on the likely whereabouts of the Batavia, Hugh decided to trust him. He handed over a folder of cuttings and documents on the shipwreck, got out his Admiralty map and pointed to the most likely place where he thought the wreck would be found, saying he should particularly concentrate on Morning Reef, which, on his own recce two years earlier, he had only been able to search for a short time. It was just a mile or so from Beacon Island, which Hugh still felt was the site for the whole seventeenth-century drama.

A short time later, Cramer was on Beacon Island with his brother Graham and friend Greg Allen, getting ready to dive on the morrow, when a cray fisherman by the name of Dave Johnson, who lived there, asked them what they were up to. Max told him they were going out to Morning Reef to look for a wreck he thought was there.

 

Dave looked at Max. Paused. Max looked back. ‘I know where it is,’ Dave said slowly. For years, he had noticed what looked to be blocks of stone and some cannons on the seabed at a particular spot on Morning Reef where he sometimes set his pots, and, if these fellows were looking for it, well, that was where it was. Like Pop, he was not crazy about visitors, but if they were going to discover it anyway, he might as well tell them.

The following day, Dave took them out to the approximate spot. Max put on his face mask and was the first to dive below. As he records in his book Treasures, Tragedies and Triumphs of the Batavia Coast, this is what awaited him:

My first thought was that a bomb had gone off. There was nothing of the wonderful ship left to see. Six bronze cannons sat four metres up on both sides of the six-metre depression which was partially filled with sand. There were also mysterious objects covered in seaweed which soon materialized into old anchors and iron cannons scattered towards the reef . . .

Eureka!

It was early June 1963.

Hugh Edwards was at home having dinner when he heard the news over the ABC Radio. A reporter from the Geraldton bureau of the ABC was intoning in those classically emotionless tones of the broadcaster born, ‘Max Cramer and a group of Geraldton divers have located a shipwreck in the Abrolhos Islands, believed to be the 1629 Dutch East Indiaman Batavia.’

In response, Hugh had just one thing to say: ‘TAXI!’

Or near as dammit. (‘Bloody Max!’ might have also figured.) By dawn the following morning, Hugh was at the airport and then on his way to Geraldton to meet up with Max and cover the story for his newspaper before returning to Perth and beginning to organise a major diving expedition on the wreck himself.

On the sparkling morning of 29 July 1963 – Hugh’s 30th birthday, by the by – he was able to dive on the reef himself and see the vision splendid before him, just as Max Cramer, who was with him on this expedition, had described it. Cannons, coins, artefacts, anchors, navigation instruments, all there, even more impossibly beautiful and achingly evocative than he had long dreamed.

A few days later, at her insistence, they were even joined beneath the waves by the 60-year-old Henrietta Drake-Brockman! Only upon surfacing did she agree with Hugh that the site of the atrocities wasn’t Goss Island after all, though she could legitimately take a bow for having moved the whole focus of the search 30 miles north from where the wreck was long presumed to be.

Of all the things drawn up from the floor of the ocean among the Batavia’s debris on this campaign – Edwards’s first to discover her secrets – was a bronze object that initially looked like a bell. Yet the Latin inscription around its rim made it obvious that the opening should be placed uppermost, at which point they realised what it was.

 

‘An apothecary’s mortar!’ cried one of the diving party.

Hugh Edwards knew instantly to whom it had almost certainly belonged – the only apothecary on the ship, Jeronimus.

And what did the inscription say?

Click Here


Love conquers all.

On this same expedition, they discovered sword-chopped skeletons in shallow graves on Beacon Island, proving beyond any doubt that this tiny patch of land was indeed the site of Batavia’s Graveyard.

Dave Johnson had long known about the existence of those graves. ‘You can tell where the skeletons are,’ he explained to his startled companions. ‘I find them when I am burying rubbish. The soil has a characteristic dark greasiness.’

Research on the site has gone on for the last 50 years, and new discoveries are still being made. In 1999, six bodies were unearthed from just the one pit by the Western Australian Museum – Maritime. There were three adults, a teenage lad, a small child and a baby aged eight to nine months.

The expert view was that a lack of trauma marks on the bones suggested the victims’ throats had been cut, or they were strangled in their sleep, before being dumped in the prepared grave that could have been hidden under a tent temporarily ruled and guarded by mutiny leader Jeronimus.

Surely, 370 years on, the handiwork of poor Andries de Vries, following the design of Jeronimus to be rid of all those in the hospital tent, had finally been discovered.

 

And what, though, of the wreck itself? While a good chunk of it is now in the Western Australian Museum – Maritime, bits and pieces still lie forlorn, cradled in a grave of the Batavia’s own making, while endless rollers crash overhead onto the very reef she impaled herself on, one night so long ago. Somehow, of all the images that I have come across in the course of researching and writing this book, of all the poignant scenes I have described – many of them violent and distressing – the one that comes back to me the most is what I saw from a plane right above the wreck site.

 

Stunningly, even nearly 400 years on and from a hundred metres in the air, you can still see clearly the exact imprint of the shape of the ship, a pale shadow on the ramparts of the reef in the bluey-greenness all around. It is an imprint of a once mighty ship, built for mighty things by some of the finest marine craftsmen in all of the world, only to be done under, torn asunder by the failings of a few men. That exact shape on the reef is like a photographic negative, the reverse image of something vibrant and fantastic, which gives you a strong clue of what once was. In how many other spots on earth do we see the evidence, still, of a major man-made mishap of four centuries ago? Personally, I can count them on the fingers of one finger: the Batavia.

Nature can’t quite obliterate the image of that ship from the planet, any more than mankind can collectively forget what happened – for the story, and the impact of the story, is simply too strong.

Vale, the Batavia, and all who sailed upon her, even Jeronimus.






The coats of arms of the Dutch East India Company (left) and the city of Batavia. The VOC coat of arms depicts a trophy of armoury, nautical instruments, flags and man-of-war supported by Neptune and Providentia (holding a mirror) with the VOC cipher at the top. The Batavia coat of arms shows a sword crowned with a laurel wreath and lions on both sides armed with seven arrows and a sword, the whole surrounded by two crossed palm branches. (Rijksmuseum)




 



The flag of the VOC featuring the initial ‘A’ for Amsterdam together with the VOC cipher adopted by the Heeren XVII on 28 February 1603 (flying from the replica ship Amsterdam). (Photolibrary)




 



In what was to become known as the Bandanese Massacre, Governor-General Coen mercilessly ordered six of his Japanese samurai to behead and quarter 44 chiefs in front of family and friends before mounting their heads on pikes. (Doug Meikle, Dreaming Track Images)




 



Protected by 24-feet-high stone walls and a series of canals, the nascent settlement of Batavia quickly grew into the political, financial and military nerve centre of the VOC’s entire East Indies spice-trade operation. (Mitchell Library, State Library of New South Wales)




 



Looming over the harbour, the heavily fortified citadel of Batavia served to remind both friend and foe of the supreme might of the VOC in the Dutch East Indies. (Rijksmuseum)




 



Responsible for establishing the VOC’s seventeenth-century domination of the Spice Islands, company man Jan Pieterszoon Coen served two terms as Governor-General of the Dutch East Indies. (Rijksmuseum)




 



Hendrick Brouwer, brother-in-law of Commandeur Francisco Pelsaert, pioneered the Brouwer Route, which took advantage of the Roaring Forties and reduced the voyage from Amsterdam to Batavia by six months. (Rijksmuseum)




 



A swan surrounded by her cygnets, the Batavia replica sailed into Sydney in 1999, where she served as the flagship for the Dutch Olympic team the following year. (Australian National Maritime Museum)




 



Ornately painted in pale green, with red and gold ochre trimmings, the towering stern of East Indiaman Batavia (faithfully reproduced here on the replica) rose 40 feet above the waterline. (Photolibrary)




 



The carved figure of a magnificent scarlet Lion of Holland adorned the lowlying prow of the Batavia (seen here on the replica), leaping out at all who would dare to get in her way. (Newspix/Peter Barnes)




 



The Batavia replica’s mainmast was so high that when she arrived in Sydney for the Olympic Games, she could only pass beneath the Sydney Harbour Bridge during exceptionally low tide. (Sydney Heritage Fleet)




 



Lest she fall prey to enemies and pirates alike, the Batavia was defended by a total of 30 cannons (reproduced on the replica), ranging in size from eight-up to 24-pounders and individually up to two tons in weight. (Newspix/Bob Barker)




 



The title page of Ongeluckige Voyagie, Van’t Schip Batavia, illustrating the stricken Batavia broken upon the reef. (Mitchell Library, State Library of New South Wales)




 



Showing no mercy to this day, cruel breakers crash down upon the defenceless reefs and barren islands of the Abrolhos. (Photolibrary/Bill Bachman)




 



In 1960, local Pop Marten’s discovery of a skull here on Beacon Island (formerly Batavia’s Graveyard, the scene of so much bloodshed) proved a vital clue in locating the Batavia three years later. (Newspix/Andy Tyndall)




 



Illustrations from Ongeluckige Voyagie, Van’t Schip Batavia. Under full sail and at rapid clip, the unsuspecting Batavia approaches the reef (top); the longboat and yawl lowered and heading away (bottom right); the Batavia with mainmast cut away lies stricken as the longboat and yawl shuttle survivors to the nearby tiny island, later known as Traitors’ Island (bottom left). (National Library of Australia, nla.aus-vn2323054)




 



An outraged Pelsaert is held back from swimming to the aid of survivors on Batavia’s Graveyard by bosun Jan Evertsz – from Tales of Old Travel (1869), by Henry Kingsley. (Mitchell Library, State Library of New South Wales)




 



High seas preventing Pelsaert from reaching the Batavia, he steers for the smaller of the islands, where Jacobsz and his men await them – from Ongeluckige Voyagie, Van’t Schip Batavia. (National Library of Australia, nla.aus-vn2323054)




 



The waterhole that enabled the soldiers abandoned on Wiebbe Hayes’s Island to survive. (Newspix/Andy Tyndall)




 









An array of seventeenth-century Dutch weaponry – musket, pike and dagger (Rijksmuseum) and morning star (Photolibrary) – the likes of which Jeronimus’s men used to murder the innocent.




 



A soldier without a musket is effectively no soldier at all. (Note the U-shaped musket rest, used to support the gun when fired at shoulder height.) (Photolibrary)




 



The first and largest massacre on Seals’ Island, where Jeronimus’s ‘tidying up’ led to the cold-blooded murder of over 40 innocent Survivors – from Ongeluckige Voyagie, Van’t Schip Batavia. (Mitchell Library, State Library of New South Wales)




 



One of the Defenders’ limestone forts strategically located above the Mutineers’ landing site. (Newspix/Andy Tyndall)




 



Row faster! From two directions, the boats of Hayes and Stonecutter race towards the rescue ship the Sardam, which was alerted to the Survivors’ location by plumes of smoke rising from Hayes’s Island – from Ongeluckige Voyagie, Van’t Schip Batavia. (Mitchell Library, State Library of New South Wales)




 



Execution day on Seals’ Island (from Ongeluckige Voyagie, Van’t Schip Batavia): Jan Hendricxsz prepares to have his right hand removed before climbing the gallows and being hanged alongside six of his fellow Mutineers (top). Pelsaert and his council do not hesitate in applying torture to obtain ‘free and willing’ confessions from the very worst of the Mutineers (bottom). (National Library of Australia, nla.aus-vn2323054)




 



On Beacon Island in 1999, six bodies were unearthed from just the one pit by the Western Australian Museum – Maritime. (Western Australian Museum)




 



The workboat Henrietta raising one of the massive stern timbers from the wreck of the Batavia. (Western Australian Museum)




 



Part of the excavated timber structure of the Batavia at Morning Reef. (Western Australian Museum)




 



This pre-1629 Rijksdaalder coin is one of several thousand objects recovered from the wreck of the Batavia. (Australian National Maritime Museum)




 



Pieces of silver-service tableware recovered from the wreck of the Batavia and possibly intended for the Indian ‘toy’ trade. (Western Australian Museum)




 



The inscribed brass trumpet bell found by Pop Marten on Beacon Island added to the evidence that this was indeed the scene of murder most foul. (Western Australian Museum)




 



The Batavia display at the Shipwreck Galleries in the Western Australian Museum, Fremantle, including timbers from the boat and a gateway constructed from the stones she was carrying. (Western Australian Museum)




 



Pelsaert intended turning a profit trading the Great Cameo of Gaspar Boudaen – a priceless agate stone over 1000 years old – at the Mogul Court of India. It is still one of the finest cameos in the world and now safely resides in the Royal Coin Museum, The Hague. (Geldmuseum, Utrecht)




 



An astrolabe – an early navigational instrument – posed on the otherwise desolate shore of Beacon Island. (Western Australian Museum)




Notes and References


Preface

Corroborated by primary documents: Dash, p. ix.

It is not a narrative history: Review by Mike Dash on Amazon: www.amazon.com/voyage-disaster-henrietta-drake-brockman/dp/1875560327.

Introduction: The Spice Trade

No man should die: ‘Spices and the Spice Islands’, Duyfken 1606 Replica Foundation: www.duyfken.com/original/spice-islands.html.

600 times its original price: Milton, p. 267.

A faraway land peopled by warriors: Milton, p. 4.

Eight different companies dispatched 65 ships: Jacobs, p. 11.

Labourers, housemaids and clergymen: Ibid., p. 16.

Various islands, found uninhabited: Heeres, p. 65.

We unexpectedly came upon a lowlying coast: De Houtman to Managers of the East India Company, 7 October 1619, quoted in Heeres, p. 78.

We saw no high land or mainland: Heeres, p. 69.

It was an added warning: There is, however, controversy over the interpretation of this term, with other experts saying that the word ‘Abrolhos’ actually meant ‘spiked obstruction’ in the Portuguese language of the time. Either way, it was a warning.

Your Honours should know by experience: Boxer, p. 96.

 

At liberty to destroy their town: From a letter to the Dutch Company, dated Bantam, 1 January 1614, printed in Tiele, Part I, p. 42.

A furore throughout the Indies: Milton, p. 311.

Lords of the land of Java: Corn, p. 160.

Begin their day with gin and tobacco: Ibid., p. 98.

Ardently addicted to the pleasures of love: Ibid., p. 189.

Maintenance of ten clove trees: Jacobs, p. 74.

Women of the Moghul nobles: Dash, pp. 61–2.

Not quite everyone was in his thrall: Godard, p. 52.

Scarface and Hook: At the very least, Jacobsz was rough and ready and mixed with a crowd exactly like that.

Not the manner in which to sail: Pelsaert, 19 September 1629.

A moot point: Dash, pp. 27–8.

Haarlem no place for him to be: Ibid., p. 31.

Other raw kashoobs: Jacobs, p. 39.




Chapter One: Across the Seven Seas

Mighty East Indiaman: An East Indiaman was the largest, most heavily armed of the VOC merchant ships engaged in trade with the East Indies.

Still she wants to be with him: Dash, p. 78.

Heave the sheets: Witsen, pp. 406–9.

Pompous prig that he was: The fleet was originally meant to sail as a convoy of 18 ships, with Jacques Specx as Commandeur. Very late in the piece, however, Specx was delayed in Amsterdam on Company business, so it was decided that the fleet would, effectively, be split in two, with the first half sailing immediately with Pelsaert as Commandeur, while Specx would follow shortly thereafter with the second half.

Very good reports of his previous services: H. T. Colenbrander, J. P. Coen, Levensbeschrijving, 1934, Vol. V, quoted in Drake-Brockman, Voyage to Disaster, p. 32.

That profit will have to be shared: Dash, p. 165.

Swear their own oath of allegiance: Jacobs, p. 41.

You cursed dogs: Ibid.

Heave to, I say: Witsen, pp. 406–9.

I will give you a beating: Meister.

Come, move like one man: Ibid.

As tightly as a school of herring: Dash, pp. 173–4.

The crew are all fit and well: Corn, p. 190.

I suggest you forthwith retire: While this particular clash is not documented, it is beyond doubt that there were clashes of this nature in this first part of the journey, as Pelsaert’s strait-laced ways clashed with Jacobsz’s rambunctiousness.

Cursed with an equally sensitive stomach: Andries de Vries’s seasickness here is an instance of poetic licence. We only know that Andries was of a sensitive nature.

 

Projectile vomiting green bile: This scene has been created from a combination of the evidence of de Vries’s character in Pelsaert’s Journal and descriptions of daily life aboard a VOC Indiaman in texts such as Godard’s and from expert consultants. I have concluded that de Vries was a weak yet honest man, susceptible to seasickness and given to experiencing horror at a typical butchery scene aboard an Indiaman such as this.

In Amsterdam there lived a maid: This version was first noted in The Rape of Lucrece by Robert Heywood in 1608.

Bound to the victim and thrown overboard: Milton, p. 60.

Powders, pills and potions: Pelsaert, 18 September 1629; Drake-Brockman, Voyage to Disaster, p. 67. Pelsaert’s use of the address ‘Mr’ before the surgeon’s name was a sign of respect for his vocation. This sixteenth-century honorific was the origin for today’s practice of referring to surgeons as ‘Mr’ rather than ‘Dr’.

He who can’t fart: Meister.

Het Zuidland:
Het Zuidland, translated as the Southland, is the name Pelsaert uses to describe Australia throughout his journal, and similarly it will be used throughout this book. The name ‘New Holland’ in reference to Australia was not used until 1644, by Abel Tasman. As a point of interest, it was Tasman’s voyage around the bottom of Australia in 1642 that proved Australia and Antarctica were not joined as part of a hypothesised supercontinent referred to as Terra Australis.

Because Pelsaert is paying her: Godard, p. 85.

Talking point for days to come: Meister.

Taken three times around the mast: Jacobs, p. 47.

Chapter Two: Cry Mutiny!

They proceed towards Tafelbaai: Godard, p. 78.

The fewest trinkets, fans, plates: Pelsaert, Declaration (in Journal); Godard, p. 79.

Closes the door firmly and moves on: Pelsaert, 19 September 1629.

Gone ashore to promenade: By another account in Pelsaert’s Journal, the trio went to the Assendelft, not the Sardam.

Very beastly with words: Pelsaert, Declaration (in Journal).

And how would you do that?: Ibid.

Hottentot dance: From an eyewitness account provided by soldier David Tappe in 1688, describing a visit to the Hottentots at the Cape: Van Gelder and Roeper, pp. 89–90.

I am still for the Devil anyhow: Ibid.

Most famous pirate of their time: Snelders, p. 41.

It can be done if handled right: Pelsaert, 17 September 1629.

Even worth risking your life for: Ibid., 19 September 1629; Dash, p. 115.

 

With his hand on the whip-staff: The whip-staff was a stout piece of timber passing through a hole in the deck to a pivot and from there to the end of the tiller.

The mighty Batavia gradually alters course: We only know for certain that Jacobsz was the one who contrived to separate the Batavia from the rest of the fleet. The account given here is my best assumption as to how he achieved it. The altering of the ship’s course would have taken place gradually, rather than suddenly, because nothing goes suddenly when manoeuvring a sail-powered ship of this magnitude. For example, to make a 180-degree turn, the Batavia needed about five miles’ space and took about half an hour.

The skipper shrugs off his concerns: Godard, p. 80.

The sickness he picked up in India: Drake-Brockman, Voyage to Disaster, p. 28.

Godless to such an extent: Bastiaensz (Predikant’s Letter), p. 254.

Indecently maltreat her body: Batavia website, Western Australian Museum, http://202.14.152.30/collections/maritime/march/DHI-site/bat-hist-01.html.

Over here! I need help!: Was Lucretia indeed raped? I frankly suspect so. Given the character of the men attacking her and the fact that none of them had been with a woman for at least seven months, that is at least the likelihood. But the record is unclear.

Chapter Three: The Shine of the Moon o’er the Waves

The shine of the moon o’er the waves: Pelsaert, 4 June 1629. As eminent an authority as Mike Dash has it the other way, that it was Hans who spotted the disturbance on the water and Jacobsz who assured him it was okay. I have remained true to Pelsaert’s Journal, which quotes the skipper as saying it was Bosschieter who made this most grievous error.

This is not of my doing!: Ibid.

What can that be?: Ibid.

Some coral reef, miles from het Zuidland: Here, Jacobsz is attempting to cover up the fact that they may well have travelled too far before they turned northwards to Batavia. The risk taken travelling Brouwer’s Route was compounded by the inability to accurately calculate longitude – and certainly the Batavia was making good time. Underestimating the distance travelled led to numerous ships foundering off the coast of the Southland.

They are able to take further soundings: Pelsaert, 4 June 1629.

Only the skipper can strike the first blow: Edwards, Islands of Angry Ghosts, p. 25.

Our back is surely as broken as the Batavia’s: Pelsaert, 4 June 1629.

Just before nine in the morning: Ibid.

The bread-locker: Ibid.

There is a way this man carries himself: Given how well Wiebbe Hayes performed on the islands, he is highly unlikely to have been one of the soldiers who panicked or refused to obey orders, and the likelihood is that he really would have been noticed at this point as a good man in a crisis.

Together worth well over 50,000 guilders: Pelsaert, 4 June 1629.

You have been masters here long enough: Ibid., 19 September 1629.

Just as if he were sowing seeds: Pelsaert, ‘The guilty sentenced and punished aboard the Sardam on the return leg’.

Hard shards of coral for their bed: Pelsaert, 4 June 1629.

 

Lucretia Jans knows naught: This is essentially a summation of the things that Pelsaert knew at this time and would likely have committed to his journal.

There goes the rubbish: Pelsaert, ‘The guilty sentenced and punished aboard the Sardam on the return leg’.

He has come with a message: Pelsaert, 4 June 1629.

There is no one who will sail with you: Ibid., 5 June 1629.

We are not going to run any risk: While this is not a verbatim quote from Pelsaert’s Journal, it is a reasonable extrapolation from the Commandeur’s description of events.

Pelsaert is entirely powerless: Pelsaert, 5 June 1629.

Chapter Four: Batavia’s Graveyard

Pelsaert must cede: While this scene is not written about in Pelsaert’s Journal, I have assumed this is the case given the limited space and weight restrictions in the departing longboat and the fact the valuables chest is later referred to as being onshore.

Myself and the others named below: The text of this letter has been created from Pelsaert, 6 June 1629.

He arrives at an estimation of their latitude: Henrietta Drake-Brockman posits an interesting theory at this point, in her book Voyage to Disaster. That is that once Jacobsz realised the reef he had hit was precisely the reef he had been told to avoid, he consciously bodgied up the latitude so as to make it appear he had hit another reef entirely. And this, in turn, explained why Pelsaert made such hard work of finding the ship again.

Funnelling it down into a barrel: Without knowing specifics such as this, at the very least we know that Hayes comported himself so well in the first fortnight on the island that he emerged as the leader.

We have signed this with our own hand: Pelsaert, 8 June 1629.

A seemingly dry cursed country: Ibid., 12 June 1629.

The two are walking along the southern shore: It is known, at least, that the two established a friendship on the island.

Wybrecht Claas volunteers to swim to the ship: Dash, pp. 137–8.

There is no dissent: Ibid., p. 135.

They are into the storm proper: Pelsaert, 9 June 1629.

The blessed rain!: Dash, p. 138.

Without spilling any of the precious water: This is the most likely method of having gathered the water, and Wiebbe Hayes is the most likely person to have instigated and commandeered such a system.

The detritus spews out into the ocean: Dash, p. 139.

The rocks now seem redder than before: Pelsaert, 13 June 1629.

Mundooroo’s own mighty arm: This, and what follows, is my best attempt to recreate what happened from the information that is known, which comes from Pelsaert’s Journal.






Chapter Five: The Grip Tightens
The sick ones are far more important to her: The Lucretia who emerges after the assault is a far more humble, empathetic person. We know she has worked closely with Frans Jansz to try to cure Pelsaert aboard the Batavia and that Frans Jansz would have been the one to establish the sick tents. Lucretia, without family or other duties on the island, would have been the obvious person to help Frans Jansz in the sick tent.

Drinking themselves to the point of bursting: Pelsaert, 15 June 1629.

He requires everyone to sign a document: Ibid., 16 June 1629.

You are the highest-ranking official: Dash, p. 141.

Trusted with the Company’s most precious property: Ibid., pp. 141–2.

A scarlet tunic brightly trimmed with gold braid: Godard, p. 139.

A veritable promenading peacock: Pelsaert, 19 September 1629.

They are even given some of the red velvet: Ibid.

Woutersz was mouthing off about the mutiny: Ibid.

And I’ ll tell you why: Edwards, Islands of Angry Ghosts, p. 40.

This wonderful sound often comes from Cornelis: It was common for trumpeters to play for the amusement of ships’ companies as well.

It is Ryckert Woutersz: We know that Ryckert Woutersz was indiscreet on Batavia’s Graveyard, telling everyone about the mutiny, and that this greatly annoyed the other Mutineers. We also know that, shortly after Jeronimus arrived on the island, there is no further mention of Ryckert. Though it is not specifically stated in Pelsaert’s Journal, my assumption is that he was murdered, and that this was very likely the first murder ordered by Jeronimus.

The wrath of the council: Again, if Woutersz was murdered, I think it would have been the perfect excuse for Jeronimus to tighten his control. It fits with his prior plan to use the assault of Lucretia to turn the ship’s company against Pelsaert.

Be sure to take Jan Carstenz with you: Though there is no record of Jeronimus specifically ordering Hayes to take Carstenz to the High Islands, it makes sense that that was the case, to separate him from his beautiful wife, who would soon be a ‘woman for common service’.

Their whiskers quivering: When Pelsaert was on this island a fortnight earlier, he had dissected the native Tammar wallabies and written up quite detailed notes on these curious ‘cats’, which were subsequently published in his journal (15 November 1629). The islands were later renamed ‘East Wallabi Island’ and ‘West Wallabi Island’, one assumes due to this fact. East and West Wallabi Island are the only islands in the Abrolhos upon which the Tammar wallaby lives. Thus, the soldiers had access to sources of both food and water (later discovered) that were unavailable to the Mutineers.

Hayes orders his men to move at low tide: Dash, pp. 150, 376.

In which case they would all be lost: From the moment that Pelsaert arrived alive in Batavia, both Jacobsz and Evertsz would be in great danger, as Pelsaert was always going to make the report he did, incriminating the skipper and his high bosun. Under those circumstances, it is surprising that Pelsaert met with no harm, and we may take it as given that this was because it was just too hard to murder him in such a packed vessel, surrounded by his loyalists.

This green and fertile coast: Pelsaert, 27 June 1629.

Until he thinks his belly will burst: Ibid.

Jeronimus Cornelisz has made an oath: Ibid., 19 September 1629.






Chapter Six: Bloody Oath
It is a ship entering the same strait: Pelsaert, 2 July 1629.

What extraordinarily whimsical winds: Ibid., 3 July 1629.

It is one thing to put Hendricxsz to death: Pelsaert, Declaration (in Journal).

While Ariaensz seems to have somehow escaped: It is possible he is ‘Ariaen the Gunner’, named in the letter Daniel Cornelisz was to deliver to the French soldiers on Hayes’s Island on 23 July 1629.

There is a job of work to be done: In Pelsaert’s Journal, this is noted as occurring at Traitors’ Island, but I believe this to be a mistake. Traitors’ Island is not in the direction of the High Islands, and it was populated by the provost and his people, who were as yet unaware of the full murderous mayhem being orchestrated by Jeronimus. There are, however, islands just beyond Seals’ Island that entirely fit with the rest of the account.

A good deal of thrashing and bucking: Pelsaert, 19 September 1629.

The Mutineers fall about with laughter: Dash, pp. 204–5.

Avail yourself of my hospitality: There is no record of their conversation at this point, but this would be the obvious justification for what Lucretia is being forced to do. Women for common service: Pelsaert, 19 September 1629.

Woman for common service: Bastiaensz (Predikant’s Letter), p. 252.

That is enough for her to soon lead the howling: Dash, p. 174.

Looking right into the other man’s soul: As a point of interest, the author Mike Dash, the greatest authority on the subject, has it that because the day after Pelsaert arrived was a Sunday, he did not come before Coen until the Monday, 9 July, when he made a full report to both Coen and the Council of the East Indies (Dash). I accept the importance of Sundays to Dutch religion at this time but find it difficult to believe that on such an important matter Pelsaert would have been kept waiting for 36 hours to make his report.

The ship was turned in time: Heeres, p. 148.

Stab her dead: Pelsaert, 28 September 1629.

His face and the bright blue sky: Ibid., 17 September 1629.

They are saved: In a visit to the Abrolhos Islands in late March 2010, I was shown this very hole by a local called ‘Spags’, who, despite having haunted those parts for the previous 40 years, had only discovered it himself a year earlier. The rock covering the hole looks no different to any of the other rocks that are scattered for hundreds of yards in every direction. Yet this one really does sound hollow when you step on it, and I believe this is exactly the way they must have discovered it.

Everyone who was once on Traitors’ Island: Pelsaert, 19 September 1629.

He will do anything they ask: Ibid., 22 September 1629.






Chapter Seven: Say Your Prayers

Whatever it takes to survive: Pelsaert, 19 September 1629. Not even a week after the death of his daughter Hilletje on 8 July, Hardens signed the Mutineers’ oath on 12 July, presumably in the hope this would help protect his wife and himself.

Salomon Deschamps, UnderMerchant: Ibid. Although Deschamps was officially an assistant, Pelsaert honours his old friend with the title ‘UnderMerchant’. Strictly speaking, only one UnderMerchant travelled on each retourschip. Of course, in the Batavia’s case, this was none other than Jeronimus Cornelisz.

Passchier begins to weep: Ibid., 28 September 1629.

He might become a babbler: Ibid., 19 September 1629.

The doorway has suddenly filled: H. T. Colenbrander., J. P. Coen, Levensbeschrijving, 1934, Vol V, quoted in Drake-Brockman, Voyage to Disaster, p. 41.

Andries is at a point well beyond desperation: Pelsaert, 28 September 1629.

Send me Rutger Fredericxsz: Ibid.

He would be happy to help: Ibid., 19 September 1629. Though Frans Jansz joined the Mutineers, there is no evidence that he had any enthusiasm for his membership whatsoever.

A key project of his own: J. P. Coen’s Order to Pelsaert, in Drake-Brockman, Voyage to Disaster, p. 243.

They must accompany Zevanck and Coenraat van Huyssen: Pelsaert, 19 September 1629.

You must participate in the killing: Ibid., 12 November 1629.

Their own burden would be lightened: Ibid., 19 September 1629. In the Commandeur’s words, ‘Jeronimus made several articles to which the women had to be put on oath if they wanted to remain alive, and that they had to be obedient to the men in all that they should desire of them.’

We undersigned persons: Ibid.

Treachery!: Ibid. We know at least that Cornelis Janszoon got away from the murderers on Seals’ Island and subsequently showed up on Hayes’s Island as he is mentioned in Jeronimus’s letter to the French dated 23 July 1629. It would have been him, or his confrères, who first informed Hayes of what was happening on Batavia’s Graveyard.

Cut the throats of the women: Ibid., 24 September 1629.

It nearly severs her head: Ibid.

His eyes strangely glazed: Ibid., 12 November 1629.

Go over there and fix it: Ibid.

Marched to the permanent gallows: Hugh Edwards in conversation with the author.

No, none of that: Drake-Brockman, Voyage to Disaster, pp. 38, 58–9.

He is visible to those on Batavia’s Graveyard: Pelsaert, 30 November 1629. We know from Pelsaert’s Journal that the boys had shown themselves.

 

You may also take some wine: Bastiaensz (Predikant’s Letter), p. 251.

Crack!: Pelsaert, 28 September 1629.

Will you do any evil to me?: Ibid.

A bag of so many old spuds: Ibid.

Aris is up on his feet: Ibid., 27 September 1629.

He’s had it: Ibid.

Chapter Eight: Attack!

The boy is mad: Pelsaert, 26 September 1629. Bearing in mind Pelgrom’s obvious lack of sanity, his crazed demand appears to be goading the Survivors (devils), with all their sacraments (religious beliefs and customs), to show themselves to him.

They all emerge from the water: Ibid., 17 September 1629; Dash, p. 178.

They take some of the barrel hoops: Bastiaensz (Predikant’s Letter), p. 253.

Let alone the Frenchmen: Pelsaert, 30 November 1629.

Signed, Jeronimus Cornelisz: Ibid., 19 September 1629.

He has killed in cold blood: Ibid., 30 November 1629.

Stab Hendrick Jansz in the heart: Ibid., 24 September 1629.

Let him live a little longer: Dash, p. 251.

Judick, my only child: Bastiaensz (Predikant’s Letter), p. 251.

I’ll soon make her do it: Drake-Brockman, Voyage to Disaster, p. 63, quoting Ongeluckige Voyagie, 2 October 1629.

That for which we have kept the women: Ibid.

Rendering their muskets useless: Pelsaert, 17 September 1629; Dash, p. 221.

Continue to hurl smaller rocks: There is little information available on the mechanics of the battle, but on close inspection of the terrain, together with what details there are, this is the way I think it must have played out. I do not give credence to any talk of catapults being made from bending trees or the like, all of it born of the curious notation in the Predikant’s Letter that they had constructed a ‘gun’. There are no trees. There are only shrubs. Nor do I believe that planks bent back could have achieved enough power to propel the rocks very far. The only thing that fits is slings.

Strong, healthy and advancing rapidly: Pelsaert, 17 September 1629; Dash, p. 221.

The place where thou has lost the ship: J. P. Coen’s Order to Pelsaert, in Drake-Brockman, Voyage to Disaster, p. 243.

Anneken has been less than generous: This seems the most plausible explanation as to why this valued woman for common service was murdered.

It may prove of some use: Pelsaert, 19 September 1629.

He leaps aboard the lead skiff: Ibid., 28 September 1629. Pelsaert’s Journal contains conflicting testimony as to whether Jeronimus did attend this second attack. Having weighed the evidence, I concur with Pelsaert’s final sentencing that Jeronimus was indeed on the attack.

 

The now familiar jeers of the Defenders: Ibid., 17 September 1629.

Taking his own life in his hands: Ibid., 14 November 1629.

I have little confidence in him: Ibid., 19 September 1629.

Hans Jacobsz now strikes him a devastating blow: Ibid., 14 November 1629.

Do you have that only now in mind: Ibid., 28 September 1629.




Chapter Nine: Deliver Us from Evil

Now, they needn’t bother: Pelsaert, 6 August 1629.

I beg this privilege be mine: Ibid., 23 September 1629.

Be happy, sit nicely: Ibid., 28 September 1629.

Their heads installed on spikes: Konstam, p. 29.

Thus given and signed on the island named Batavia’s Graveyard: Pelsaert, 19 September 1629.

27 degrees 56 minutes south: Ibid., 25 August 1629.

The others are obliged to suck pebbles: Bastiaensz (Predikant’s Letter), p. 251.

Too scared to do their own dirty work: Ibid., p. 252.

They are all heavily armed: Pelsaert, 17 September 1629.

Wouter Loos frees himself: Ibid.

A collected Hayes: Ibid.

Can she not be brought over?: Bastiaensz (Predikant’s Letter), pp. 252–3.

Trusting her fate to God: Ibid., p. 253.

Jeronimus will be kept alive: Pelsaert, Declaration (in Journal).

So Loos it is: Pelsaert, 24 September 1629.

The order is respected: Ibid.

Open the hull like a split banana: Ibid., 13 September 1629.

They weigh anchor again: Ibid., 15 September 1629.

Now be gone!: Bastiaensz (Predikant’s Letter), p. 253.

Picked off one by one: Dash, p. 228.

The great advantage of their two muskets: Pelsaert, Declaration (in Journal).

A safe place secure from nightly incursions: Pelsaert, 17 September 1629. While there is no direct evidence that this is why he had put the boat there, when you look at the lie of the land, it makes sense as the beach would not have been visible to the Mutineers passing down the east coast of Hayes’s Island. As a trained soldier, Hayes would always have had an exit strategy.

I have given up the idea: Ibid., 28 September 1629.




Chapter Ten: In Justice Reunited

They have a sloop: Pelsaert, 17 September 1629.

The captain of 47 people: Ibid.

The heroism of Wiebbe Hayes: Ibid.

I looked at him with great sorrow: Ibid.

Before binding them hand and foot: Ibid., 18 September 1629.

I am glad to see you are alive: We know, at least, that Lucretia has remained in the tent of Jeronimus, and that this is where Pelsaert’s chest was found. Given Pelsaert’s subsequent determination to track down every last bit of Company property, it stands to reason that his first port of call would be where his own chest lay.

 

We the undersigned: Pelsaert, 19 September 1629.

If you had used cunning: Ibid., 18 September 1629.

The prisoner is hurried on to the interrogation tent: All indications are that Pelsaert found it extremely uncomfortable to be around Jeronimus upon his return. He was horrified by what he had done and yet still wary of his capacity to charm his way out of trouble.

He goes on to swear on his soul: Pelsaert, 17 September 1629.

Something that he is now very sorry for: Ibid., 19 September 1629.

Our plan was to greet such a yacht: Ibid., 28 September 1629.

Giving a total of ten chests: Although surprisingly not recorded in Pelsaert’s Journal, three more money chests were obviously recovered after these first seven because Pelsaert says they retrieved a total of ten before departing the Abrolhos.

Lucretia and Judick were not molested: Pelsaert, 13 November 1629.

Foment mutiny and seize the vessel: Ibid., 28 September 1629.

I still dream that one day: Ibid.

Ships and men in further danger: Ibid.

He desires to be baptised: Ibid.

If ever there was Godless Man: Bastiaensz (Predikant’s Letter), pp. 253–4.

All claims which here in India he may have: Pelsaert, 28 September 1629.

Jans Willems Selijns of Amsterdam, cooper: Ibid.

On a pay of 15 guilders per month: Ibid. Another of Wiebbe Hayes’s men was similarly rewarded with an increased salary. However, for ease of storytelling, his name has been omitted.

Because there is no evil or badness in Himself: Ibid., 30 September 1629.

Scuttlebutt of the highest order: Ibid., 29 September 1629.

Bemused, Holloch: Ibid.

Still, it is troubling enough: Ibid.

God will perform unto me this night a miracle: Ibid.

From below as well as from above: Ibid.

He refuses to come: Ibid., 30 September 1629.

Say it before these witnesses: Drake-Brockman, Voyage to Disaster, pp. 62–3, quoting Ongeluckige Voyagie, 2 October 1629.

You were in my tent for 12 days: For what it’s worth, I believe that Jeronimus would have used here the Dutch word ‘dozijn’, as in dozen, which is not strictly ‘twelve’ but thereabouts.

Before I could succeed: Drake-Brockman, Voyage to Disaster, p. 62, quoting Ongeluckige Voyagie, 2 October 1629.

Seducer of men: Pelsaert, 2 October 1629.

And so Jeronimus dies stubborn: Ibid.

There are many more Mutineers still alive: Ibid.

Feeling entirely useless, offers to help: Ibid., 12 and 24 October 1629.

The wind suddenly picks up: Ibid., 12 October 1629.

There, do you see?: Ibid., 18 October 1629.

 

Reckless determination: St John, p. 324.

The Sultan of Mataram has exacted a terrible price: Ibid., pp. 323–7.

So that, by God’s Truth: Pelsaert, 24 October 1629.

They declare upon their manly truth: Ibid., 12 November 1629.

The further ignominy of having to record: To this point, Deschamps has only been required as a signatory to the declarations of truth. The following day, he is to deliberate on and record his own sentencing.

This is the mark of Jan Willemsen Visch: Pelsaert, 12 November 1629.

Flogged with 100 strokes: Ibid.

Man’s luck is found in strange places: Ibid., 13 November 1629.

For certain what happens in these lands: Ibid., 16 November 1629.

It is a question that Hayes would contemplate: Though there is no formal record of interaction between Hayes and Loos, there are similarities between the two – and likely, therefore, an empathy – in that both rose to positions of pre-eminence among their fellows by the force of their personalities alone. By this point, it is more than credible that each would have reflected on the fate of the other and noted that destiny had marked out such entirely different paths for them.

Jean Thiriou, who cracked the money chests open: Pelsaert, 2 December 1629.

In place of rigour of the justice: Pelsaert, ‘The guilty sentenced and punished aboard the Sardam on the return leg’.

She warmly thanks Pelsaert: Despite her ordeal, there is never any sense emerging from the primary documents that Lucretia in any way blamed Pelsaert for what had occurred. One can’t help but feel that every ounce of venom she had in her would have been reserved for Jeronimus, in any case, the monster from whom Pelsaert rescued her.




Epilogue

This then, in large outline: Bastiaensz (Predikant’s Letter), p. 249.

Lost the ship and left the people: J. van Lohuizen, entry on Pelsaert, Australian Dictionary of Biography Online Edition, http:// adbonline.anu.edu.au/biogs/A020287b.htm?hilite=pelsaert.

All these goods were duly confiscated: Drake-Brockman, Voyage to Disaster, p. 52.

Scribbling it out and writing 18 guilders: Ibid., p. 145.

No further trace is recorded of him: Dash, pp. 274–5; Godard, p. 218.

Pelsaert and his Broad Council had been far too lenient: Dash, p. 263.

Having his right hand cut off: Godard, p. 215.

The unlucky Decker: Ibid.

Despite having survived being keel-hauled: Dash, pp. 262–6.

Were merely flogged, branded: Edwards, Islands of Angry Ghostsp. 80; Godard, p. 215.

 

As to what happened to her: Godard Drake-Brockman, Voyage to Disaster, p. 58.

The couple returned to the Netherlands: Corn, p. 195.

An old, old woman: Drake-Brockman, Voyage to Disaster, pp. 64–5.

Dropped from the yardarm: Dash Drake-Brockman, Voyage to Disaster, pp. 74–5.

Because of all the trouble she had suffered: Drake-Brockman, Voyage to Disaster, pp. 75–6.

Corn suggests that perhaps he was poisoned: Corn, p. 195.

Singularly fortunate to die in his bed: Ibid.

Replaced by none other than Hendrick Brouwer: Drake-Brockman, Voyage to Disaster, p. 46.

Dutch religious sect known as the Mennonites: Gerritsen, pp. 287–90.

When those seedlings began to grow: Milton, p. 198.

Not prove to be one of the more astute trades: Ibid., p. 363.

All of the Indonesian archipelago: Peter Reynders, ‘Why Did the Largest Corporation in the World Go Broke?: An Economic Review’ (abridged version), http://gutenberg.net.au/VOC.html.

By the account of Giles Milton: Milton, p. 373.

Further continue your course: Edwards, ‘Dead Men’s Silver’, p. 2.

A Western Australian businessman by the name of Florance Broadhurst: Henrietta Drake-Brockman, entry on Florance Broadhurst, Australian Dictionary of Biography Online Edition, http://adbonline.anu.edu.au/biogs/A030527b. htm?hilite=broadhurst.

Leading the charge was Henrietta Drake-Brockman: Cramer, p. 81; Edwards, Islands of Angry Ghosts, p. 95.

He got down on his hands and knees: Edwards, Islands of Angry Ghosts, p. 99; Jeremy Green and Myra Stanbury, ‘Report and Recommendations on Archaeological Land Sites in the Houtman Abrolhos’, Department of Maritime Archaeology, Western Australian Maritime Museum, No. 29, 1988, p. 9.

They didn’t like visitors in these parts: Cramer, p. 81.

Two policemen from the nearest mainland town: Edwards, Islands of Angry Ghosts, p. 100.

As to the wreck itself: Ibid., p. 104.

It proved to be brass: Cramer, p. 81.

Cramer proved to be a good diver: Edwards, ‘Dead Men’s Silver’, p. 3.

He was not crazy about visitors: Ibid., p. 2.

My first thought was that a bomb had gone off: Cramer, p. 84.

Max Cramer and a group of Geraldton divers: Edwards, Islands of Angry Ghosts, p. 111.

Cannons, coins, artefacts, anchors: Ibid., pp. 143–151.

60-year-old Henrietta Drake-Brockman!: Edwards, ‘Dead Men’s Silver’, p. 12.

Amor Vincit Omnia: Ibid., p. 4.

Indeed the site of Batavia’s Graveyard: Edwards, Islands of Angry Ghosts, pp. 165–8.

The soil has a characteristic dark greasiness: Edwards, ‘Dead Men’s Silver’, p. 6.
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murders Traitors’ Island survivors
takes de Vries to murder sick people
 

India

Indian Ocean

Indonesia, Republic of

 

Jacatra see Batavia (Java)

Jacobsz, Ariaen (skipper Batavia)

alters course to lose fleet
Batavia, arrested for loss of
Batavia, skipper
on Batavia’s longboat
character
fate
fells the mainmast
ferries passengers and crew to islands
horse-thief game
on Houtman Abrolhos Islands
Jeronimus Cornelisz
Jeronimus, plots mutiny with
latitude and longitude calculations
Lucretia Jans
Pelsaert
Pelsaert blames for disaster
Pelsaert places on final warning
reconnoitres in yawl
sighting of reef
VOC orders
Zwaantje Hendrix

Jacobsz, Corporal Gabriel

Jacobsz, Hans

Jacobsz, Jacob (skipper Sardam)

Jacop Remmessens river

Jahangir, Mogul Prince

Jans, Lucretia see Lucretia

Jans van der Mijlen

Jansz, Allert of Assendfelt

attempts to murder Aris Jansz
Batavia

 

Broad Council
executed on Seals’ Island
murders Jan Pinten
sentencing

Jansz, Aris (surgeon)

Batavia
Batavia’s Graveyard
escapes to Hayes’s Island
Jeronimus orders murder of
testimony to Broad Council

Jansz, Bessel

Jansz, Claas (upper-trumpeter)

Jansz, Cornelis (‘Little Bean’, Mutineer)

Jansz, Mr Frans (surgeon) attack on Hayes’s Island

Batavia
Batavia’s Graveyard
Jeronimus orders murder of
joins Mutineers
ordered to murder Seals’ Island survivors

 

Jansz, Hendrick

Jansz, Pieter (provost)

Batavia
Batavia’s Graveyard
High Islands, smoke signals from
Jeronimus orders murder of
Traitors’ Island
Traitors’ Island, sets off in rafts from

Jansz, Admiral Willem

Janszoon, Cornelis (VOC assistant)

Japanese mercenary samurai

Jellisz, Lucas

Jeronimus Cornelisz

apothecary
career with VOC
Rosicrucianism

Jeronimus Cornelisz: Batavia

horse-thief game
Ariaen Jacobsz
Ariaen Jacobsz, plots mutiny with
lashes himself to bowsprit

 

Lucretia Jans
Pelsaert
Rogier Decker
survivor on board
Tafelbaai, records supplies at

Jeronimus Cornelisz: Batavia’s Graveyard

attire on
bans religious services
demands death penalty
dismisses council
disperses survivors
Frans Jansz
High Islands, smoke signals from
joins VOC council
Kapitein-Generaal
Lucretia Jans
Mutineers, plans for
Mutineers, requires to sign oaths
Mutineers, use of
orders murder of Anneken Hardens
orders murder of Batavia’s Graveyard survivors
orders murder of Cornelis Aldersz Schagen
orders murder of Frans Jansz
orders murder of Hendrick Jansz
orders murder of Hilletje Hardens

 

orders murder of Jacob Hendricxsz
orders murder of Jan Pinten
orders murder of Mayken Cardoes’s baby
orders murder of Predikant’s family
orders murder of Ryckert Woutersz
orders murder of Seals’ Island survivors
orders murder of sick people
orders murder of Stoffel Stoffelsz
orders murder of Traitors’ Island survivors
poisons Mayken Cardoes’s baby
takes control
tent
washes up on
women for common service

Jeronimus Cornelisz: Hayes’s Island

negotiates with Defenders
orders Mutineers to attack
sends letter to French soldierson
taken prisoner by Defenders
takes Mutineers to

Jeronimus Cornelisz: prisoner

Broad Council
executed on Seals’ Island
hands cut off
imprisoned on Sardam
Lucretia Jans
Pelsaert interrogates
recants his confession
requests baptism
sentencing
takes vial of poison
writes letters to Rosicrucians

 

Johnson, Dave

Jonas, Andries

Broad Council
executed on Seals’ Island
murders Mayken Cardoes
murders Predikant’s family
murders survivors on Seals’ Island

Judick (Predikant’s daughter)

 

Kleine David

 

Laurentia Thomas

Liebent, Andries

longboat see Batavia’s longboat

Loos, Wouter

Batavia

 

Batavia’s Graveyard
Bosschieters, Anneken
Hayes’s Island
Jan Carstenz
leads final attack on Hayes’s Island
murder of Predikant’s family
murders Mayken Cardoes
Mutineers, elected leader of
Pelsaert interrogates
pleads for Jan Willems Selijns’s life
possible descendants of
put to shore on het Zuidland
rescue yacht

Louijs, Marretje

Lucretia Jans van der Mijlen Andries de Vries

Ariaen Jacobsz
assault on
Batavia
Batavia’s Graveyard
David Zevanck
Jeronimus Cornelisz
later life
make-up
Pelsaert
Sardam
Zwaantje Hendrix

 

 

mace

Manhatta Indians

Marten, ‘Pop’

Mataram, Sultan of

Mauritius

medical practice

Mijlen, Boudewijn van der

Molucca Islands see Spice (Molucca) Islands

Morning Reef

Mundooroo of Yinggarda

muskets

 

Neck, Jacob van

Noon Reef

Nusa Kambangan Island

nutmeg

 

Os, Lenart Michielsz van Batavia

Batavia’s Graveyard
Broad Council
executed on Seals’ Island
murders Andries de Vries
murders Frans Jansz
murders Jacob Hendricxsz
murders Predikant’s family
murders Seals’ Island survivors
murders Traitors’ Island survivors
sentencing
 

 

Pangeran of Jacatra

Patoys, Claudine

Pelgrom de Bye of Bemmel, Jan

Batavia
Batavia’s Graveyard
Broad Council
buries Stoffel Stoffelsz
goes mad
Jeronimus Cornelisz
murder of Anneken Hardens
murder of Cornelis Aldersz Schagen
Pelsaert reprieves
possible descendants of
put to shore on het Zuidland
rescue yacht
sentencing

Pelsaert, Francisco

Ariaen Jacobsz and
bandoleer
career with VOC
character
chest of jewels and cameo
Council of the Indies
death

 

Frederick Hendrick
gold medallions
illness
interview with Coen
trade for own gain

Pelsaert, Francisco: Batavia

Ariaen Jacobsz
Ariaen Jacobsz, blames for disaster
Ariaen Jacobsz, places on final warning
attempts to reboard
Commandeur
Houtman Abrolhos Islands
Jeronimus Cornelisz
journal
Lucretia Jans
Lucretia Jans, response to assault on
Mutineers’ plan to murder
in nightshirt
staff
trades with Hottentots
Wiebbe Hayes

Pelsaert, Francisco: Batavia’s Graveyard

Jeronimus, interrogates
Jeronimus, publicly reads letters to Rosicrucians
Jeronimus, tells him execution date

 

loss of Jacob Jacobsz
Mutineers, finds oaths to Jeronimus
Mutineers, interrogates
Mutineers, sentences
retrieves VOC property
Wouter Loos, interrogates

Pelsaert, Francisco: Batavia’s longboat

Pelsaert, Francisco: Sardam

Abrolhos Islands, finds
Abrolhos Islands, searches for
commands rescue yacht
Hayes
inventory of retrieved treasures
invited aboard
Lucretia Jans
Mutineers’ attempt to seize
Mutineers, interrogates
Mutineers left on het Zuidland
Mutineers placed on Seals’ Island

pepper

Phillipsz, Gillis

pieces of eight (reals)

Pietersz, Cornelis (Mutineer)

Pietersz, Cornelis of Bolswart (Cornelis the Fat Trumpeter)

Batavia
Hayes’s Island
lost at sea
plays the trumpet
Seals’ Island
trumpet

Pietersz, Jacop (‘Stonecutter’)

Batavia

 

Batavia, taken as prisoner to
Batavia’s Graveyard
broken on the wheel in Batavia
Hayes’s Island
Hayes’s Island, killed on
murders Seals’ Island survivors
rescue yacht
Sardam

Pietersz, Pieter

Pinten, Jan

Poivre (Frenchman)

Predikant (Gijsbert Bastiaensz)

Batavia
Batavia’s Graveyard
discovers his murdered family
Hayes’s Island
Jeronimus, awaits his confession
Jeronimus bans religious services
Jeronimus, dines with
Jeronimus requests baptism
Jeronimus, signs oath of allegiance to
later life
Mattys Beer confesses to
peace treaty
resumes services
sentencing
tends rafts and boats
 

Radder, Hans

Raemburgh, Hon. Crijn van

Rijksen, Jan

Roaring Forties trade winds

Roelofsz, Egbert

Rosenkreuz, Christian

Rosicrucians

Rubens, Peter Paul

Run

 

 

Santa Maria

Sardam

Batavia fleet of eight
Batavia survivors
Batavia’s longboat
Broad Council sentences Mutineers
Defenders and Mutineers try to reach
Lucretia Jans
mast droppage
Mutineers attempt to board
Mutineers in prison hole
Mutineers keel-hauled and flogged
off coast of het Zuidland
reaches Abrolhos Islands
reaches High Islands
rescue yacht

Schagen, Cornelis Aldersz

Schepens, Maria

scurvy

Seals’ Island

Gabriel Jacobsz and Batavia survivors on
gallows built
Hayes’s Island, survivors of massacres wash up on
Jeronimus Cornelisz executed on
Jeronimus disperses survivors to
Jeronimus, naming by
Jeronimus orders Mutineers
to murder survivors on
location
Mutineers murder survivors on

 

Pelsaert holds Mutineers on
smoke from
survivors of massacres on
witnessing murder of Traitors’ Island survivors

Selijns, Jan Willems

shipworm

Siebenhaar, Willem

Smit, Otto

East High Island
Hayes’s Island defence
Hayes’s Island, organises move to
rewarded by Broad Council
sights Sardam

Soers, Mayken

Specx, Jacques

Spice (Molucca) Islands

in modern era
location
Portuguese in
prosperity from spice trade
relationship of war with spice trade

 

spice-crop harvest
spices
Ternate and Tidore
value of spice trade
VOC, end of monopoly
VOC monopoly
VOC routes to
VOC subjugation of
VOC trade in

Stoffelsz, Stoffel

Störtebeker, Klaus

Sultan of Mataram

 

Tafelbaai

Tasman, Abel

Theunissen, Ariaen

Thiriou, Jean

Tondogoro of Yinggarda

Torrentius

trade winds

Traitors’ Island

 

 

VOC (Vereenigde Oost-IndischeCompagnie) (see also Dutch East Indies)

as a monopoly
Broad Councils on VOC vessels
collapse of
confiscation of prisoners’ goods
Council of the Indies
East India House
fleets
formation of company
Heeren XVII
history of mutiny
in India
pensions to widows of ministers
powers granted by Dutch Republic
religious beliefs
salaries
six trading towns
torture, use of
trade for own gain
trade with Mogul courts

VOC money chests Batavia

Pelsaert’s instructions to Jeronimus
Pelsaert’s inventory of retrieved treasures
retrieval from wreck site
search for missing chest
Thiriou breaks open
worth

Vos, Jacob de

 

Vries, Andries de

 

Walcheren Banks

Wallabi Group

Wapen van Hoorn

Wapen van Zeeland

Welderen, Gijsbert van

Andries de Vries
Batavia
Batavia’s Graveyard
Broad Council
Hayes’s Island, attack on
Hayes’s Island, killed on
murders Anneken Hardens
murders survivors on Seals’Island

Wensel, Thomas

Western Australia

Aboriginal communities of Shark Bay and Murchison
Batavia’s longboat landings on
Batavia’s longboat sails up coast of
Dirk Hartog Island
Hartog charts coast
Houtman charts coast
Sardam leaves Mutineers
Yinggarda nation

 

Willemsz, Jan

Willemyntgien (Predikant’s daughter)

Winckelhaack, Nicklaas

women for common service

Woutersz, Ryckert

Batavia
Batavia’s Graveyard
murdered on Batavia’s Graveyard
 

Yinggarda nation

 

Zeewyk

Zevanck, David

Andries de Vries
Batavia
Hayes’s Island
Hayes’s Island, attack on
Hayes’s Island, killed on
Jan Pinten
Jeronimus, chief lieutenant to
joins council
joins Mutineers
Lucretia Jans
murder of Cornelis Aldersz Schagen
murders Predikant’s family
murders Ryckert Woutersz
murders Seals’ Island survivors
murders survivors

 

murders Traitors’ Island survivors
orders murder of Aris Jansz
orders murder of Frans Jansz
orders murder of Mayken Cardoes
orders murder of Mayken Cardoes’s baby
orders murder of sick people
pleads for Jacob Hendricxsz
takes Wiebbe Hayes to High Islands

Zuidland, het see Western Australia

Zutphen
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N2 undersigned. persons, in order to remerve all distrust that may be amongst us
or that may aris Fetween us, and. nevermore to hive any reaolection of s, will
promisc with ths written unbreakable agreement, making to cach otber the greatest
cath that anyene can take, to be fuithful in everything, so belp us God, and on ur
soul’ sabvation, abo that God shall punish s here and. hereafer in eternity, in a5
much as e sndersigned yersons may undertake any plan without revealing it to ach,
and that none hall undertake any plan separately be it by faroour or by Gatwed, ut
in all matters that may happen asit cach etber in brotherly affction for the commen.
welfare. And to maintain the given lows with the fllowing women, Geretia
ans, Auncken Handens, fudick Gifeerts, Tryntgien and Zasie Frderics,
_/[m[m Besscicters and Harretje Luis. To'be certain, e bare wmitten our
names with our own and. bere below.
Thus deided on the idand “Batarvia's Grarveyard, the 16 Fuly anno xérg.
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Jis certain that this victory and the fleing of the Cnglish vill reate quite a furore
throughout the Fadics ... “This will enbance the bonour and.the reputation of the
“Dutch nation. “Now everyome will want to be our friend.
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Nt saw no bigh land. or mainland, so that this shoal is to be carcfully arveided as
very dangeraus to ships that wish to touch at this coust. s fully ten miles in length,
lying in 28 46"
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Betrayal. Shipwreck. Murder. Sexual Slavery. Courage.
__ A Spine-Chilling Chapter in-Australian History
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The crew are all fit and well, and we lack nothing save so many filthy strumpets
who e b may G amcnd ) ol s Thiy are s mmerus ad

srful tat o astmed 1 say anytFing more dbact ¢
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Faurther continue your course along the gnd of Coendracht as far as Houtman’s

Mfﬂmmm&um&mﬁmﬁgimlamm&
effrts to bring up from. the bottom. the chest ith 8000 Rixe dtlars sunk from the
lost ship “Bataviain 1629 ...
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So that, by God's “Truth, the boat must bave been turned over by the storm o
the 14th, or must hizve been drivven avay, to wit, ith the skipper Focoh Focobszs
of Sardam, Picter Pistersz of Cusenierop, quartermaster, Marten Claass. of
Teel, gunner, Gornelis Pieterszs of “Bolswart, late under-trumpeter on the ship
Batavia, Lrisen Theunisen of Harderwijc, lte gunner en the sbip Batavia,
g God the Lord biroe been merciful to thir Sous, Amen.
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Considering bis office by which be bas bound. bimself to the Ton. gt Aasters
[ Deschamps} acquitted bimself very weakly in fostering the intersts of the Ton.
Company's servings and. the saving of the poor people who hirve feen so pitfuly
murdered. T4z has permitted. the evil to toke its arse without saping anything
against it, shutting b eyes and dissimulating in order to prolong bis owm (.

Fncic P, Clss Gt Slonon Do, Sinon._pes
This s th mark of Fon "R Mlmsen Tk
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N the undersigned, in order to take away all distrust that exists or might arise
amangst s, bind ourseboesberewith, o the saboation of our suls, and. o thesolema
aath that God shall truly belp v, o b tra to cach other in cverything, and to lroe
cach other as brotbers; also promising ot to do each otper any injury whatsorver in
Jeren or posssion without firt declaring verball to cch tfer the breach of the
eacs in knowledge whereof we barve sgned this cntract o the vath of il 16rg,
on theicland Batrviac's Kercklof-

Sy,

i G, mebint; Gt vn Hhsn il Fop
Pt G, wanclr; Dol s Zioonh sl Bt vt
asitant; Qs an e, cdet; Gt o "Rl et o
P e Byeof Poen; s sty Mk f Brom,
llin; Gt v O adt; Hays B of Moy sl Al
s of eadf, e Hs e of D, grae; Raer
Trdscss of Greninge, kot Gorie &l of G, sl
i Pt of Ot silin; b Hoonc of B, s
s _oll of Higus, s Regdir i of Burklter, tmark
Darid Crnivs of Dt et Wter fsof st sl Gt
s of Santen,silr;_on "W olins Seljs of stedan, o, Foaion
o of P, sl Phadie, e of Mt sl Seomss
Decherz, Onder- Mo,
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“The want of a continmuous record. has prevented my polishing this story in such good
onder a5 had wished,_ would, therefre, request anyone who should be in pessession
of further information or notes to place them in the hands of the printer, s that they
may be adied to a send. editon. ir thesame reasom, trust that the deficiencies of
my work will be excused. R/t this Jbid the reader faresell recommending fim
to read all with judgment and discrimination.





images/00010.jpg





images/00013.jpg





images/00012.jpg
"Vd("l@m tothe Cust ﬁA«






images/00002.jpg
“Delroed brothers and friends, fean Tongaar, fean “Reijnarw de Aiambri,
Thomas de illr, ean Boniver and Sosard G The more e ansider
amengst ourschoesyour previes fatbfuless and. brotherly friendiip, the more e
wonder that you o lft willingly at the request of the merdhant to survey the
Figh Jlinds do not return to bring s wrd, for e birve aboays amsidened, you
our gratist and trest brbers and friends, and Five desivd s more bonds and
atsbip (wbich ve cnsider as vluabl 5 eur own lioes), and séll endesoour o
strive threfore. Hove, e think i strage that you semed. o give fearing o the
tale-baring of o cvil-dors o e bud deerved deatf o st of atin, and
thereore weresent by us to anotber island, bt came to you witheut our nowledye ...

Now thn, belrved brthers and fricnds .. ame to s, belp 15 o maintin
jistice and to punish the coil-durs in particlar to gioe indo cur Bands alioe thoe
uho o tracherusly the day beor yostenlay obbed s and Your T (e
weand o ae ne) of ur greatit el he it yard, and e give to cur unds
s thestenad's mate, Comels the “Fit “Trumpeter, Gorncis te asistant, def
on WG, Ariaen the e, spuinting Hondrich, Tenis Class, Gonelis
Tl ad ofcr sailers o ar it Yo o, for they e i thir psesion
(unknown o ou) a compuss,inoder this t o ey it te el oat to te Bigh
land. The mercbant, o s W&ﬂg]ndh«m, W cbbe Hayes
veshs and requets that you should inform b scetly of this. Fithermare, we efer
coaythng to repot Your T confrere ‘Danic Gornclic will nake verhlly, f
Your Hens. il gioe bim fre uaring. Hireie,belroed brothers and friends, e
it Your Hon. algeter o the protction and saflecpin of e Fighet. This
3 _fily anso stag e the isend Batrvia's Grvegrd.

Sl
s Gt
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N the undersigned, in order to take away all distrust that exists or might arise
amongst us, bind ouseboes Bereith, on the saboation of ur saus, and on the solema
aath that God shall truly belp us, t be true to cach other in cverything, and to lroe
cach otfer as brothers; also promising t to do each other any injury whatsoever in
person or pessession without first declaring verbally to each other the breach of the
race,in knowledge wheref e Brve signed this amtract on the nath of ol o
on the island “Bataiae's Kerkbof.
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Mijne Feeren, Sirs,

HMyself and the others named below are going out with the boat to find
Jresh water on the neighhouring islands or the mainlend in the south.
R ill make haste to return to you with water as soon as possible.

Gommandeusr Francisco Ploaert
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“But a day having transpired since  rose from my sickbed, a shameful deed. has
baswnttl by ol madd il .yt o ooy o
oming it ofthe st b fom the bl s bt dovn ot s ik
Ty b s o o ol e o s it i g i
il thy cll i ol st with sl otfr wanen ks i oy o
it i R
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“ N, the undersigned, all bere present on this island, being councillors,soldiers, ship s
matis and. abo ur minister, nobody homsocver excepted, acept as our chieftin,
s Kapitein-Generad, Feroimus Cornelic, to whom. we swear sevenally and
wunanimausly in the name of God to be fathful and obedient in whatever e shall
command us; and whosoever shall do g to the mtrary shall e the Dol s o
berenith we cancel and retract all previous public and private promises and s
comprising all secret comradeships, tent-mateships and otber alliances of whatever
name or nature they may be. R4 further desre that the ip's crew amenyg us shall
no longer b called ship's mates, bt shall equally vwith the other soldiers b named and
reckoned as felonging to one and. the same company.

Ths given and. signed on the island named Batavia's Graroeyard on the
20tf Mgmf 69
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[ looked at bim with great sorrow: such a seoundrel, cause of so many disasters and
e shbling of uman Hood.Besirclin oy way et enly ithdominabl
istocds bt o e domable ey . and sl o bud e iention o go .
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‘AMOR VINCIT OMNIA?
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Since, on all the islands and. diffs round. about our foundered ship  Batarvia, thereis
0 freshuater to b found,in order to feed and. keep the people who are saved, therefore
the Commandeur has earnestly requested and. proposed. that an expedition should be
made to the main southland to see whether it is God's gracious will that fresh water
shall be found, of whichso much may be taken tothe peoplethat they shall be crtai of
bving enough provision for a cnsiderable time; that then, meanrohile,someone shall
be commanded o go to “Batarvia,in order to et the Ll General and his councilors
enoww of aur disaster and.to ask him for early asistance, T which e the undersigned
bave all voluntarily conented, since necessty fores us therete, and sin, if we acted
athervise, we could ot answer for our cnduct before God and the figh authorities.
Thenfore, ve harve unanimously agreed and resoboed to try our utmest and do our
duty and to assst cur poor brethren in thei great need_Jh crtain knovledge of the
truth we haroesigned ths with our own hand, and hirve on this page allof s sworn
toit on the 8th of Fune, xbrg, signed—

Fndso Part, Clus Gorits ok finss gy Clas s Do,
i ok, Hi ks Bindr, fin oty Clias "Rl
Grucht, Hhal Claass
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They are all most ardently addicted to the sensual pleasures of lrve; and, goaded on
by the hottest fires of lrve, are ingenious in every refinement of amorous enjoyment
.. s van Pleuren, who had resided bere for ight yrars and several other credibl
eople informed e, that amany these women, and those of Haiassar, were many who,
i conman it} some of the Portuguese women ... possesied the seret of beng abl,
by certain berbs and otber means, to disqualify their inconstant lorvers from repeating
the affrnt to them,insomach that the offending part shrunk entirely away; with otper
circumstances, which decency requires that Tsbould suppress
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Jucretia _fans knows naught of the identity of the majority of ber attackers, though
saps o haroe ecognised the voiceof the bosun, _on Crvertsz. “RAile Tideplore this
most malicious of acts, my suspicions that thee are forces aboard ranged against me
vith foul motives ae further increased. For now, keep my own counsel, until such
time as e physically better able to administer justice . ..





images/00021.jpg





images/00024.jpg





images/00023.jpg





images/00015.jpg





images/00014.jpg
ON 25 OCTOBER ARRIVED THE SHIP EENDRACHT, OF AMSTERDAM:
SUPERCARGO GILLES MIEBAIS OF LIEGE, sKIPPER DircH HATICHS
OF AMSTERDAM. ON 27 DITTO SHE SET SAIL AGAIN FOR BANTAM.
DEPUTY SUPERCARGO JAN STINS, UPPER-STEERSMAN PIETER
Dorkes oF Bii. IN THE YEAR 1616
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ndso_Feronimus dies stubborn.
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Jour Henours should know by experience that trade in ALsia must be driven and
maintained nder theprotection and farvour of Your Hanours'ovm weapons, and that
the weapons must be paid for by the profits from the trade,so that we cannot carry on
trade without war, nor war without trade.
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“Breause we have beard very good. reports of bis previous services, we therefore
recommend fim. to your Hmour, bereby asking you to keep in mind s person and
to note future services ... and advance the said “Plaet .. . to such position as s
onduct and quality shall merit.





